# **EXAMPLE 1**

# BRAIN EFFECTS OF NICOTINE AND DERIVED COMPOUNDS

# Topic Editor Valentina Echeverria Moran





#### FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2013 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by Ibbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-141-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-141-3

#### **ABOUT FRONTIERS**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **DEDICATION TO QUALITY**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# BRAIN EFFECTS OF NICOTINE AND DERIVED COMPOUNDS

Topic Editor:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA



This figure is the result of the creative work of Dr. Alexandre Iarkov

Epidemiological studies have associated tobacco consumption with a lower incidence of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD). The neuroprotective effect of tobacco has been mainly attributed to the stimulation by nicotine of the a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs), which are implicated in neuronal survival, attention, and memory. A reduction in cholinergic function including lower levels of the expression of nAChRs in the hippocampus correlates with memory impairment in AD and schizophrenia. nicotine main metabolite cotinine shows similar neuroprotective and mnemonic properties. Also cotinine reduced Alzheimer's pathology in a mouse model of the disease. Tobacco-derived compounds can

be beneficial in a broad range of neurological disorders such as schizophrenia, AD, attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder, and PD as well as in diminishing tobacco withdrawal. In the latest years numerous new discoveries in this research area have been achieved and a Research Topic publication is needed.

# Table of Contents

04	Brain Effects of Nicotine and Derived Compounds
	Valentina Echeverria Moran

- Offspring of Prenatal IV Nicotine Exposure Exhibit Increased Sensitivity to the Reinforcing Effects of Methamphetamine
   Steven B. Harrod, Ryan T. Lacy and Amanda J. Morgan
- **16** *Cigarette Smoking and Brain Regulation of Energy Homeostasis* Hui Chen, Sonia Saad, Shaun L. Sandow and Paul P. Bertrand
- Associations of Cigarette Smoking and Polymorphisms in Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Catechol-O-Methyltransferase with Neurocognition in Alcohol Dependent Individuals during Early Abstinence
   Timothy C. Durazzo, Kent E. Hutchison, Susanna L. Fryer, Anderson Mon and Dieter J. Meyerhoff
- 33 Rapid Effect of Nicotine Intake on Neuroplasticity in Non-Smoking Humans Jessica Grundey, Nivethida Thirugnanasambandam, Kim Kaminsky, Anne Drees, Angela C. Skwirba, Nicolas Lang, Walter Paulus and Michael A. Nitsche
- 42 The Yin and Yang of Nicotine: Harmful during Development, Beneficial in Adult Patient Populations

Danielle S. Counotte, August B. Smit and Sabine Spijker

48 Re-Evaluation of Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Rat Brain by a Tissue-Segment Binding Assay

Mao-Hsien Wang, Hatsumi Yoshiki, Abu Syed Md Anisuzzaman, Junsuke Uwada, Atsushi Nishimune, Kung-Shing Lee, Takanobu Taniguchi and Ikunobu Muramatsu

- 56 Nicotine, Auditory Sensory Memory, and sustained Attention in a Human Ketamine Model of Schizophrenia: Moderating Influence of a Hallucinatory Trait Verner Knott, Dhrasti Shah, Anne Millar, Judy McIntosh, Derek Fisher, Crystal Blais andVadim Ilivitsky
- 69 Cotinine: Beyond that Expected, More than a Biomarker of Tobacco Consumption

Valentina Echeverria Moran

78 Beta Amyloid Differently Modulate Nicotinic and Muscarinic Receptor Subtypes which Stimulate in vitro and in vivo the Release of Glycine in the Rat Hippocampus

Stefania Zappettini, Massimo Grilli, Guendalina Olivero, Elisa Mura, Stefania Preda, Stefano Govoni, Alessia Salamone and Mario Marchi

87 Potential Contribution of Aromatase Inhibition to the Effects of Nicotine and Related Compounds on the Brain

Anat Biegon, Nelly Alia-Klein and Joanna S. Fowler



### Brain effects of nicotine and derived compounds

#### Valentina Echeverria Moran \*

Research and Development, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, Bay Pines, FL, USA \*Correspondence: echeverria.valentina@amail.com

#### Edited by:

Nicholas M. Barnes, University of Birmingham, UK

#### Reviewed by:

Nicholas M. Barnes, University of Birmingham, UK

Recent evidence in the field of tobacco research has provided new insights about the mechanisms underlying the effects of nicotine and its derivatives (NAD) in human and animal behavior and pathology. This topic covers several areas of clinical and basic research focused on the effect of NAD on brain function and behavior during development and adulthood. As expressed by Spijker and colleagues (Counotte et al., 2012), there is a Ying and a Yang in the effect of nicotine and its metabolites on the brain (Figure 1).

The influence of NAD on addictive behavior and the mechanisms involved are of great interest for public health. One of our articles explores the molecular mechanisms associated with the differences in addiction to tobacco between genders. They investigated the effect of nicotine, cotinine, and anabaseine on the estrogen biosynthesis in the brain. They show experimental evidence that these compounds affect estrogen synthesis in the brain via the modulation of the last enzyme of the estrogen biosynthesis named aromatase. Based on this evidence they discussed the hypothesis that brain aromatase mediates the effect of nicotine in the brain resulting in sex differences in smoking behavior. Prenatal NAD exposure may affect addictive behavior



later in life, several studies have shown that maternal smoking and prenatal nicotine affect brain development and motivated behavior. In here, Harrod et al. show evidence that prenatal nicotine exposure have reinforcing influence over the addictive properties of methamphetamine, affecting vulnerability to addictive behavior in the adulthood (Harrod et al., 2012). Similarly Chen et al. discuss the influence of prenatal nicotine from tobacco smoking on feeding behavior in adulthood as well as the potential of nicotine as a weight loss treatment (Chen et al., 2012). Furthermore, other addictive behaviors such as alcohol dependence may heavily influence the effect of NAD on cognitive abilities. For example, Durazzo et al. found increased neurocognitive deficits in alcohol dependent individuals that also were smokers when compared to non-smokers (Durazzo et al., 2012).

On the other hand, the effect of nicotine on neuroplasticity is controversial, and its improvement and deterioration by NAD have been described. In fact, the investigation by several research groups about the effect of nicotine on attention (Kadir et al., 2006) and learning and memory have given heterogeneous results (Smith et al., 2006). Grundey et al. (2012) show new evidence of a negative effect of nicotine spray on facilitatory plasticity and a diminished reduction in excitability after transcranial direct current stimulation. These results differ from the effects observed after chronic nicotine administration. They attributed these differences to the adaptive nicotinic receptor changes induced by continue nicotine exposure. These heterogeneous effects can be the result of a differential effect of NADs according to the brain state. Counotte et al. (2012) discuss the diverse responses to nicotine on attention, depending on several factors including the extent of exposure (acute vs. chronic), smoking behavior, the developmental stage at which the brain is exposed to nicotine and the presence of psychiatric conditions such as, schizophrenia and Alzheimer's Disease (AD). Psychiatric conditions and/or chronic nicotine exposure may also alter the expression or responsiveness of the cholinergic receptors in the brain and consequently the effect of nicotine on higher order cognitive functions.

Some epidemiological studies have shown data suggesting an inverse relationship between tobacco consumption and the development of AD (Lee, 1994). It has also been found post-mortem that the levels of b-amyloid peptides  $(A\beta)$  (considered the neurotoxic agents in AD brains) were significantly decreased in the brains of smoking AD patients compared to non-smokers with the disease. The putative beneficial effect of tobacco has been

mainly attributed to nicotine, which has been reported to improve cognitive abilities and reduce plaques in a mouse model of AD (Nordberg et al., 2002). However, nicotine has not demonstrated in clinical studies to be a useful treatment for AD (Lopez-Arrieta et al., 2001). Since nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) play an important role in attention and learning and memory, the positive effects of nicotine on memory have been mostly credited to the activation of these receptors (Sabbagh et al., 2002). A change in the function of nAChRs will influence the release and activity of other neurotransmitters whose release is controlled by these receptors including glutamate, dopamine, serotonin, glycine, and g aminobutyric acid (GABA) (Livingstone and Wonnacott, 2009).

Knott et al. show evidence implicating the N-methyl-daspartate receptor (NMDAR) in the beneficial effect of nicotine over auditory, sensory, memory and attention in a human ketamine model of schizophrenia (Knott et al., 2012). In addition, it is discussed the beneficial effect of cotinine, the main metabolite of nicotine, improving memory and attention in several psychiatric conditions including AD (Echeverria et al., 2011), posttraumatic stress disorder (Zeitlin et al., 2012), and schizophrenia (Buccafusco and Terry, 2009). This evidence permits to hypothesize that many of the beneficial effects of nicotine may be at least

#### REFERENCES

- Buccafusco, J. J., and Terry, A. V. Jr. (2009). A reversible model of the cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia in monkeys: potential therapeutic effects of two nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 78, 852–862.
- Chen, H., Saad, S., Sandow, S. L., and Bertrand, P. P. (2012). Cigarette smoking and brain regulation of energy homeostasis. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:147. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00147
- Counotte, D. S., Smit, A. B., and Spijker, S. (2012). The Yin and Yang of nicotine: harmful during development, beneficial in adult patient populations. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:180. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00180
- Durazzo, T. C., Hutchison, K. E., Fryer, S. L., Mon, A., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2012). Associations of cigarette smoking and polymorphisms in brain-derived neurotrophic factor and catechol-O-methyltransferase with neurocognition in alcohol dependent individuals during early abstinence. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:178. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012. 00178
- Echeverria, V., and Zeitlin, R. (2012) Cotinine: a potential new therapeutic agent against Alzheimer's disease. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* 18, 517–523.

- Echeverria, V., Zeitlin, R., Burgess, S., Patel, S., Barman, A., Thakur, G., et al. (2011) Cotinine reduces amyloid-beta aggregation and improves memory in Alzheimer's disease mice. J. Alzheimers Dis. 24, 817–835.
- Grundey, J., Thirugnanasambandam, N., Kaminsky, K., Drees, A., Skwirba, A. C., Lang, N., et al. (2012). Rapid effect of nicotine intake on neuroplasticity in non-smoking humans. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:186. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00186
- Harrod, S. B., Lacy, R. T., and Morgan, A. J. (2012). Offspring of prenatal IV nicotine exposure exhibit increased sensitivity to the reinforcing effects of methamphetamine. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:116. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00116
- Kadir, A., Almkvist, O., Wall, A., Langstrom, B., and Nordberg, A. (2006). PET imaging of cortical 11C-nicotine binding correlates with the cognitive function of attention in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 188, 509–520.
- Knott, V., Shah, D., Millar, A., McIntosh, J., Fisher, D., Blais, C., et al. (2012). Nicotine, auditory sensory memory, and sustained attention in a human ketamine model of schizophrenia: moderating influence of a hallucinatory

in part the result of cotinine's actions in the brain (Echeverria and Zeitlin, 2012). The involvement of nicotine action in AD is a complex scientific question, and still needs to be defined whether cognitive impairment in AD is mainly induced by a decrease in the number of nAChRs and/or their function induced by neurotoxic forms of A $\beta$ . In this topic, Zappettini et al. show evidence suggesting that A $\beta$ 1-40 inhibits the release of glycine in the hippocampus throughout a mechanism involving the nAChRs but not the muscarinic receptors (Zappettini et al., 2012).

All together this topic gives an actualized view of the NAD effects in aspects of addictive behavior, attention, neuroplasticity, and learning and memory under physiological and pathological conditions.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This material is the result of work supported with resources and the use of facilities at the Bay Pines VA Healthcare System and the James A. Haley Veterans' Hospital. The contents do not represent the views of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the United States Government. This work was also supported by the Bay Pines Foundation, Inc., and a grant obtained from the James and Esther King Biomedical Research Program 1KG03-33968 (to Valentina Echeverria Moran).

trait. Front. Pharmacol. 3:172. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00172

- Lee, P. N. (1994). Smoking and Alzheimer's disease: a review of the epidemiological evidence. *Neuroepidemiology* 13, 131–144.
- Livingstone, P. D., and Wonnacott, S. (2009). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the ascending dopamine pathways. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 78, 744–755.
- Lopez-Arrieta, J. M., Rodriguez, J. L., and Sanz, F. (2001). Efficacy and safety of nicotine on Alzheimer's disease patients. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD001749.
- Nordberg, A., Hellstrom-Lindahl, E., Lee, M., Johnson, M., Mousavi, M., Hall, R., et al. (2002). Chronic nicotine treatment reduces betaamyloidosis in the brain of a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (APPsw). J. Neurochem. 81, 655–658.
- Sabbagh, M. N., Lukas, R. J., Sparks, D. L., and Reid, R. T. (2002). The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, smoking, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 4, 317–325.
- Smith, R. C., Warner-Cohen, J., Matute, M., Butler, E., Kelly, E., Vaidhyanathaswamy, S., et al. (2006). Effects of nicotine nasal spray on cognitive function in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 637–643.

- Zappettini, S., Grilli, M., Olivero, G., Mura, E., Preda, S., Govoni, S., et al. (2012). Beta amyloid differently modulate nicotinic and muscarinic receptor subtypes which stimulate *in vitro* and *in vivo* the release of glycine in the rat hippocampus. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:146. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00146
- Zeitlin, R., Patel, S., Solomon, R., Tran, J., Weeber, E. J., and Echeverria, V. (2012). Cotinine enhances the extinction of contextual fear memory and reduces anxiety after fear conditioning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 228, 284–293.

Received: 12 March 2013; accepted: 18 April 2013; published online: 14 May 2013.

Citation: Echeverria Moran V (2013) Brain effects of nicotine and derived compounds. Front. Pharmacol. 4:60. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00060

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2013 Echeverria Moran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# Offspring of prenatal IV nicotine exposure exhibit increased sensitivity to the reinforcing effects of methamphetamine

#### Steven B. Harrod \*, Ryan T. Lacy and Amanda J. Morgan

Behavioral Neuroscience Program, Department of Psychology, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, USA

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Katie A. Jennings, Oxford University, UK Boris B. Quednow, University Hospital of Psychiatry, Switzerland

#### \*Correspondence:

Steven B. Harrod, Behavioral Neuroscience Program, Department of Psychology, University of South Carolina, 1512 Pendleton Street, Columbia, SC 29208, USA. e-mail: harrods@mailbox.sc.edu

Maternal smoking during pregnancy is associated with increased substance abuse in offspring. Preclinical research shows that in utero exposure to nicotine, the primary psychoactive compound in tobacco smoke, influences the neurodevelopment of reward systems and alters motivated behavior in offspring. The present study determined if prenatal nicotine (PN) exposure altered the sensitivity to the reinforcing and aversive effects of methamphetamine (METH) in offspring using a low dose, intravenous (IV) exposure method. Pregnant dams were administered nicotine (0.05 mg/kg/injection) or prenatal saline (PS) 3×/day on gestational days 8–21, and adult offspring were tested using METH self-administration (experiment 1) or METH-induced conditioned taste aversion (CTA; experiment 2) procedures. For METH self-administration, animals were trained to respond for IV METH (0.05 mg/kg/infusion; fixed-ratio 3) and they were tested on varying doses of the reinforcer (0.0005–1.0 mg/kg/infusion). For METH CTA, rats received three saccharin and METH pairings (0, 0.3, or 0.5 mg/kg, sc) followed by 14 daily extinction trials. Experiment 1: PN and PS animals exhibited inverted U-shaped dose-response curves; however, the PN animal's curve was shifted to the left, suggesting PN animals were more sensitive to the reinforcing effects of METH. Experiment 2: METH CTA was acquired in a dose-dependent manner and the factor of PN exposure was not related to the acquisition or extinction of METH-induced CTA. There were no sex differences in either experiment. These results indicate that IV PN-exposed adult offspring exhibited increased sensitivity to IV METH. This suggests that PN exposure, via maternal smoking, will alter the reinforcing effects of METH during later stages of development, and furthermore, will influence substance use vulnerability in adult human offspring.

Keywords: maternal smoking, prenatal nicotine, intravenous, methamphetamine, self-administration, conditioned taste aversion

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Maternal smoking during pregnancy imparts multiple health risks on the fetus (Castles et al., 1999; Ernst et al., 2001; Winzer-Serhan, 2008; Cornelius and Day, 2009). Aside from the well documented effects of maternal smoking to produce low birth weight, restricted intrauterine growth, and increased incidence of sudden infant death syndrome, it is also apparent that offspring are at increased risk of developing substance use disorder. According to clinical research, tobacco smoke-exposed offspring exhibit an increased likelihood of drug abuse if they initiate drug taking behaviors during adolescence (Kandel et al., 1994; Weissman et al., 1999; Brennan et al., 2002; Buka et al., 2003).

Various animal models of prenatal nicotine (PN) exposure have been used to elucidate the influence of nicotine on the neurobehavioral development of offspring (Dwyer et al., 2009; Heath and Picciotto, 2009). In these models, PN is administered to rodents either continuously via osmotic minipump (Slotkin et al., 1987; Levin et al., 1996; Franke et al., 2007), orally, through drinking water (Zhu et al., 1996; Pauly et al., 2004; Paz et al., 2007; Schneider

et al., 2010), or through intravenous (IV) injection (LeSage et al., 2006; Harrod et al., 2011; Lacy et al., 2011). Multiple experiments demonstrate that PN exposure alone produces alterations in the neurodevelopment of the mesocorticolimbic dopamine (DA) system, which in part mediates motivated behavior. Such PN-induced changes are hypothesized to mediate alterations in the behavioral repertoire of adolescent and adult offspring exposed to PN (Pauly et al., 2004; LeSage et al., 2006; Franke et al., 2008; Lacy et al., 2011). For example, experiments using the continuous route of PN exposure resulted in decreased striatal DA content in weanling rats (Richardson and Tizabi, 1994), increased *c-fos* expression in the infralimbic cortex and nucleus accumbens core (Park et al., 2006), and decreased nicotine-evoked DA release in the nucleus accumbens shell of adolescent rats (Kane et al., 2004). In drug self-administration experiments, adolescent offspring exposed to continuous PN acquired cocaine self-administration at a higher unit dose of drug relative to prenatal saline (PS) controls. This finding suggests that PN exposure altered the reinforcing effects of cocaine (Franke et al., 2008). Adult, PN-exposed female offspring

self-administered a greater number of nicotine infusions than PS rats following a period of forced abstinence, which suggests that PN-exposed offspring exhibited increased motivation to respond for nicotine (Levin et al., 2006). Together, these experiments indicate that continuous PN exposure alters the neurodevelopment of the mesocorticolimbic DA system and that such changes impact the motivation for drug reward.

The present experiments determined if IV PN exposure altered the motivational effects of the highly abused drug methamphetamine (METH) in adult offspring. It is of interest to use the IV route of administration to deliver nicotine because it closely models the nicotine pharmacokinetics of tobacco smoke inhalation (Russell and Feyerabend, 1978; Mactutus, 1989; Booze et al., 1999; Benowitz et al., 2009). The elimination half-life for nicotine 0.05 mg/kg/injection is approximately 50 min (Booze et al., 1999), and so this method represents a unique exposure model in that the dam and fetuses experience the bolus delivery of nicotine to the brain followed by a rapid and precipitous clearance (Russell and Feyerabend, 1978; Mactutus, 1989). Moreover, this method may be used to deliver less overall daily amounts of nicotine relative to other exposure models, while still providing a translationally relevant exposure (see Dwyer et al., 2008). IV PN exposure produced changes in brain-derived neurotrophic factor throughout the mesocorticolimbic DA system of adolescent offspring (Harrod et al., 2011). Pre-weanling offspring exhibited hypoactive locomotor activity in response to a novel context (LeSage et al., 2006), and showed deficits in sensorimotor gating of the acoustic startle response (Lacy et al., 2011). Furthermore, adult offspring showed increased motivation for sucrose reward, relative to controls, when rats responded according to a progressive-ratio schedule of reinforcement; and in this study there were no effects of prenatal treatment when fixed-ratio (FR) schedules of reinforcement were used (Lacy et al., 2012). These findings demonstrate that administration of PN via the IV route produces changes in the neurodevelopment of motivational brain systems, and that offspring exhibit behavioral deficits during various stages of neurodevelopment, relative to controls.

The present experiments tested the hypothesis that IV PN exposure will result in offspring that exhibit altered sensitivity to the rewarding and aversive effects of METH using two conditioning procedures: drug self-administration and conditioned taste aversion (CTA). Previous research shows that PN-exposed offspring exhibited altered responding for IV nicotine (Levin et al., 2006) and IV cocaine (Franke et al., 2008), according the drug self-administration procedure. To date, no experiments have determined the effects of PN on the rewarding or aversive effects of METH in offspring. Investigating METH is of interest because amphetamines alter synaptic monoamine levels in the mesocorticolimbic system differently than other abused drugs, such as nicotine and cocaine. Amphetamines redistribute DA and other monoamines from the presynaptic terminal to the synapse by producing neurotransmitter release from vesicular monoamine transporters; by inhibiting monoamine oxidase, and by reversing DA transporter function (Sulzer et al., 2005). Cocaine and nicotine increase synaptic DA levels by blockade of the DA transporter and nicotinic receptor stimulated DA release, respectively (Laviolette and van der Kooy, 2004; Gether et al., 2006).

Two separate experiments were therefore conducted to determine if PN offspring exhibit altered appetitive or aversive conditioning to METH during adulthood. In experiment 1, PN animals prenatally exposed to IV nicotine were trained to self-administer METH (0.05 mg/kg/infusion) according to a FR schedule of reinforcement. Animals were then tested on multiple doses of IV METH, ranging from 0.0005 to 1.0 mg/kg/infusion, to assess adult offspring's sensitivity to the reinforcing effects of the drug. Experiment 2 determined if IV PN exposure alters acquisition and/or extinction of METH-induced CTA, the standard method used to assess the aversive effects of an unconditioned stimulus (US). Potential differences in the sensitivity to the aversive effects of METH were of interest because the trajectory for the escalation of drug use may be determined, in part, by the relative response to the aversive and rewarding effects of a drug (Davis and Riley, 2010). This is the first experiment to assess drug-induced CTA in offspring of PN exposure. Adult offspring consumed a saccharin conditional stimulus (CS), which was paired with the METH US (0, 0.3, or 0.56 mg/kg; sc) to produce CTA learning, and extinction of the conditioned response (CR) was measured, as well.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS ANIMALS

A total of 80 female and 30 male adult, nulliparous Sprague-Dawley rats were acquired from Harlan Industries, Inc., (Indianapolis, IN, USA). All rats were transported to the animal care facilities in the psychology department at the University of South Carolina and rodent food (ProLab Rat/Mouse/Hamster Chow 3000) and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the course of the experiments, except when otherwise specified. All animal cages were provided with Nylabones (Nylabone, Inc.; long lasting durable chew-original; Neptune, NJ, USA) and Nestlets (NestletsT; Ancare, Bellmore, NY, USA), for purposes of environmental enrichment throughout the duration of the study. A Nylabone was replaced if it was thoroughly chewed, and one Nestlet nesting product was placed in the animals' cage when the cage was changed, which occurred 2×/week. The animal colony was maintained at  $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C,  $50 \pm 10\%$  relative humidity, and a 12L:12D cycle with lights on at 07:00 hours. The protocol for this research methodology was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the University of South Carolina.

#### BREEDING

Following a 7-day habituation period, female rats were housed three per cage, and one male was placed with each triad from approximately 17:00–09:00. Vaginal lavage samples were analyzed daily with a microscope to determine if a sample was sperm-positive. When a sample was identified as sperm-positive, the corresponding female was single-caged and that day was considered gestational day (GD) 0. The weights of the pregnant dams were recorded daily during pregnancy.

#### SURGERY: INDWELLING, INTERIORIZED JUGULAR CATHETERS

The internalized jugular catheters used in the present experiment are commercially available from Harlan Industries. The catheterization was performed at Harlan Industries (Indianapolis, IN, USA) according the methods of Mactutus et al. (1994) prior to breeding. Briefly, animals were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine hydrochloride (100 mg/kg/ml) and xylazine (3.3 mg/kg/ml). Following anesthesia a sterile Intracath IV catheter (Becton, Dickinson and Co., Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) with a Luer-Lok injection cap (Medex, Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA) was implanted dorsally in a subcutaneous pouch. The distal end of the catheter was inserted into the left jugular vein, advanced toward the heart, and the catheter was bound with sterile suture. Animals were kept under periodic post-operative observation and returned to the colony upon recovery. On the day following surgery, catheters were flushed with 0.2 ml of heparinized saline.

#### PN AND PS ADMINISTRATION

Pregnant dams were randomly assigned to either the PN (0.05 mg/kg/ml) or PS groups. Nicotine or saline was administered 3×/day via internalized IV catheters from GD 8-21. An organism's susceptibility to a teratogen can vary depending on the stage of development (Vorhees, 1986). Implantation occurs on approximately GD 6, and teratogens generally have an all-ornone effect on the organism during the preimplantation phase of development, which is considered to be approximately GD 1-7. GD 8-21 was chosen as the period of IV nicotine administration because this time includes the initial stages of neurogenesis and migration, synaptogenesis, gliogenesis, and myelination. Thus, this period represents a window of prenatal susceptibility for nicotine's teratogenic effects on neural development (Dwyer et al., 2008). Intravenous injections were delivered through the Luer-Lok injection cap of the subcutaneously implanted injection port. Following the first and second injections catheters were "postflushed" with 0.2 ml of 0.9% physiological saline because 0.2 ml represents the approximate volume of the catheter. Post-flush of 0.2 ml of heparinized saline was used to flush the catheter and to maintain catheter patency after the third, daily nicotine injection. All IV nicotine, saline, and post-flush injections were 20 s in duration. All injections were performed during the light portion of the photoperiod, and injections were administered daily at approximately 1000, 1300, and 1600.

# SURROGATE FOSTERING, LITTER COMPOSITION, AND POSTNATAL TESTING

The day of birth was considered postnatal day (PND) 0. On PND 1 litters were culled to 10 with five males and five females whenever possible. All pups were surrogate-fostered to timed-pregnant, drug naïve dams to prevent poor maternal care (Vorhees, 1986). The developmental milestones of the righting reflex, negative geotaxis, and eye opening was assessed on PND 3-5, 8-10, and 13-17, respectively. For each experiment, only one male and one female randomly selected from each litter were assigned to each treatment group (Holson and Pearce, 1992). The righting reflex was assessed by placing animals on their backs; upon releasing the animals the latency to right themselves to their stomachs was recorded. The righting reflex was assessed in blocks of three trials across three consecutive days with a maximum latency of 25 s per trial. During negative geotaxis testing animals were placed on a wire mesh grid, positioned in a 25° downward angle. The latency (30 s maximum) for animals to turn 180° to face up the slope was recorded.

Negative geotaxis was measured in blocks of three trials across three consecutive days. Each animal's eyes (left and right) were checked for degree of openness across five consecutive days. The degree of openness was rated on a scale of 0-3: 0 = completely closed; 1 = any opening exposing the cornea, regardless of how small; 2 = cornea and pupil are exposed but eye lids are not fully open; 3 = fully open. All animals' weights were recorded on PND 1, 7, 14, and 21. Rats were weaned and pair housed, same sex, on PND 21.

#### EXPERIMENT 1: METH SELF-ADMINISTRATION APPARATUS

Operant chambers (ENV-008; Med-Associates, St. Albans, VT, USA), housed within sound-attenuating enclosures, were controlled by Med-PC computer interface software. The front and back panels of the chamber were stainless steel and the sides and top were constructed of polycarbonate. The front panel of the chamber allowed access to a recessed food dipper (ENV-202M) through a 5-cm × 5-cm opening. Two retractable metal levers (ENV-112BM) on either side of the opening were located 7.3 cm above a metal grid floor. A dipper equipped with a 0.1-ml cup attached to the end of the dipper arm was raised into the food receptacle, which allowed access to sucrose following the completion of a response requirement. A 28-V white cue light, 3 cm in diameter, located above each response lever was used to signal time-outs. An infrared sensor (ENV-254-CB) was used to detect head entries into the food receptacle. During drug selfadministration sessions a syringe pump (PHM-100) was used to deliver intravenous infusions through a water-tight swivel (PHM-115).

#### SUCROSE-MAINTAINED RESPONDING: PRELIMINARY TRAINING

Prenatal nicotine (n = 13 males; n = 9 females) and PS (n = 9 males; n = 7 females) offspring were food restricted in order to maintain 85% of free-feeding weight for 3 days prior to the beginning of dipper training. Dipper training and autoshaping were conducted according to previous research (Reichel et al., 2008; Lacy et al., 2012). Sucrose (26% w/v), was used as the reinforcer during initial training sessions. Offspring were between 65 and 75 days of age at the beginning of preliminary training.

#### SUCROSE-MAINTAINED RESPONDING: FR TRAINING

Both levers were presented in the chamber, and rats learned to respond for continuous reinforcement during 30-min sessions. A response on the active lever resulted in 4 s of access to sucrose, whereas responding on the inactive lever was recorded, but not reinforced. After the first day on continuous reinforcement, food was returned to the animal's home cage allowing *ad libitum* access for the remainder of the experiment. Animals were maintained on the FR-1 schedule for 1 day and then transitioned to a FR-3 for 2 days. Stable responding was operationally defined as greater than 2:1 ratio of active to inactive responses, and a minimum of 50 reinforcements by the second day of FR-3.

#### SURGERY: INDWELLING, EXTERIORIZED CATHETERS

Following acquisition of operant responding for sucrose reward animals were allowed to free-feed for a minimum of 5 days before

undergoing catheterization surgery. Animals were anesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg/ml) and diazepam (5 mg/kg/ml) then implanted with a catheter into the right jugular vein. The catheter exited through a dental acrylic head mount. The head mounts are secured to the skull with metal screws according to the methods of Harrod et al. (2001). Animals were allowed to recover from surgery for a minimum of 6 days during which time their catheters were flushed with heparinized saline (0.2%). Animals were weighed daily in order to monitor post-operative recovery.

#### **METH SELF-ADMINISTRATION: FR TRAINING**

During 60-min sessions, both the right and left levers were presented in the operant chamber. For FR-1 training each response on the active lever resulted in a 5.9-s, intravenous infusion of METH (0.05 mg/kg/infusion), which delivered approximately 0.1 ml of solution. Responding on the inactive lever was recorded but not reinforced. A 20-s signaled time-out, i.e., the illumination of both cue lights, was initiated with the onset of the syringe pump. Animals were not reinforced for responding on either lever during the signaled time-out. Animals were maintained on the FR-1 schedule for a minimum of 5 days. Once stable responding was exhibited, animals were transitioned to a FR-3 schedule of reinforcement. Stable responding was operationally defined as less than 20% variability of active lever responding across two consecutive sessions, greater than 2:1 ratio of active to inactive responses, and a minimum of 10 reinforcements per session. Offspring were 95-105 days old when METH self-administration began.

#### **FR TESTING**

After animals had displayed two consecutive days of stable responding on a FR-3 schedule the rats began testing on the same schedule for five different concentrations of METH. The concentrations were 0.0005, 0.0025, 0.005, 0.025, and 0.1 mg/kg/infusion, which were presented according to a Latin-square design. Animals returned to a FR-3 schedule and responded for 0.05 mg/kg/infusion for a minimum of 1 day between each FR testing session, and these were referred to as maintenance days. All sessions were a maximum of 1 h in length.

#### EXPERIMENT 2: METH-INDUCED CTA MATERIALS

During testing sessions animals received access to water or sucrose via 100 ml graduated cylinders equipped with a #6.5 rubber stopper and 2.5" straight drinking tube on the home cage (OT-100; Ancare, Bellmore, NY, USA). During the water recovery period standard drinking bottles were used.

#### PROCEDURE

#### Acquisition

Conditioned taste aversion was assessed using 124 adult animals, 65 males, and 59 females. Offspring were between 92 and 114 days of age at the beginning of the experiment. Two doses of METH (0.3 and 0.56 mg/kg/ml) were injected subcutaneously (sc) as the US. Control animals were injected with saline (Sal; sc) rather than METH. Animals were assigned to one of the following six groups: PS-0.3 (male, n = 11; female, n = 9), PN-0.3 (male, n = 11; female, n = 11), PS-0.56 (male, n = 11; female, n = 9), PN-0.56 (male, n = 11; female, n = 11), PS-Sal (male, n = 10; female,

n = 9), PN-Sal (male, n = 11; female, n = 10). All rats received water restriction for 4 days prior to conditioning. During water restriction rats were given access to water for 15 min/day in 100 ml graduated cylinders. Conditioning began on day 5. Animals were presented with the saccharin (0.1% w/v) CS for 30 min, and were then injected with either METH 0.3 or 0.56 mg/kg as the US or Sal. On day 6, animals were given access to regular drinking water in standard bottles for 30 min, and no injections were administered following water consumption. This procedure was repeated three times in total. Thus, rats were conditioned on days 5, 7, and 9, and water recovery days occurred on days 6, 8, and 10. CS-US pairings occurred between 1400 and 1800. The dependent measure was the amount saccharin consumed on each of the three conditioning days. Saccharin consumption was weight-corrected [(ml consumed)/(body weight in grams)] because of the baseline sex difference in body weight.

#### Extinction

Repeated exposure to the CS in the absence of the US will result in a progressive attenuation of the CR. In order to generate extinction curves for the PS and PN rats, all animals were administered a daily, two-bottle test on days 11–24. During two-bottle testing, the bottles contained either water or saccharin, and the bottles were placed on the cage in a balanced manner across groups. Animals were given access to the bottles for 30 min. Preference scores were derived by dividing the amount of saccharin consumed by the combined amount of saccharin and water consumed. The scores derived from this measure range from 0 to 1.0. Scores greater than 0.5 indicate a preference for saccharin, and scores below 0.5 show a preference for water. Males and females from each prenatal treatment and drug treatment were represented during each of the conditioning and testing sessions. Extinction tests occurred between 1400 and 1800.

#### DRUGS

Nicotine hydrogen tartrate and METH hydrochloride were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich Pharmaceuticals (St. Louis, MO, USA). Nicotine (base weight) and METH (salt weight) were dissolved in physiological saline (0.9%; Hospira, Inc., Lake Forest, IL, USA). The pH of the nicotine solution was neutralized to approximately 7.0 with NaOH. Heparin (APP Pharmaceuticals, Schaumburg, IL, USA) was added to saline and the heparinized saline solution (2.5%) was used to flush the IV catheters.

#### DATA ANALYSIS

#### General: litter parameters

The between-subjects factors for the litter parameter analyzes were Sex and Prenatal treatment (PN or PS). The within-subjects factors were PND and GD. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted for the total number of pups born to PN and PS dams. A Sex  $\times$  Prenatal Treatment factorial ANOVA was used to analyze the ratio of males to females born to PN and PS dams. A Sex  $\times$  Prenatal Treatment  $\times$  PND mixed-factorial ANOVA was conducted for the pup weight gain, righting reflex, negative geotaxis, and eye opening data. A Prenatal Treatment  $\times$  GD mixed-factorial ANOVA determined if there were differences between PS and PN dams on the measure of maternal weight gain.

#### Experiment 1: METH self-administration

The dependent measure for the METH self-administration study was active lever presses. Analysis of the FR-3 testing data utilized a  $2 \times 2 \times 5$  mixed-factorial ANOVA. The between-subjects factors were Prenatal Treatment and Sex, and the within-subjects factor was Dose (METH dose; 0.0005, 0.0025, 0.005, 0.025, 0.1 mg/kg/infusion). The same factorial ANOVA was also conducted on the inactive lever data. These analyses were considered significant at p < 0.05.

#### Experiment 2: METH-induced CTA

The acquisition data were analyzed with a  $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 3$  mixedfactorial ANOVA. The between-subjects factors were Prenatal Treatment, Sex, and Dose (0, 0.3, 0.56 mg/kg METH). The withinsubjects factor was Day, which represents the 3-days of conditioning trials. The dependent measure for the acquisition data was saccharin consumption (ml/g). Because there was a significant main effect of sex on the weight-corrected data, which indicates that females consumed more saccharin relative to males, the percent of control data were analyzed with a  $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 2$ mixed-factorial ANOVA (the factor of dose was reduced to two) in order to account for the baseline sex difference in saccharin consumption.

A  $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 14$  mixed-factorial ANOVA was used to analyze the two-bottle, extinction data. The between-subjects factors were Prenatal Treatment, Sex, and Dose. The within-subjects factor was Day. For the extinction data, the dependent measure was saccharin preference score [(saccharin)/(saccharin + water)]. Following a significant Dose  $\times$  Day interaction, dependent *t*-tests were conducted on days 1 and 14 of extinction to confirm if animals in the SAL, METH 0.3, and METH 0.56 groups exhibited a change in preference, i.e., extinction, from day 1 to day 14. Dunnett's tests (Bonferroni correction), which compare treatment groups to a single control, were conducted on day 14 data to determine if the preference scores exhibited by the METH 0.3 and METH 0.56 groups differed from controls. These analyses are important to determine if treatment groups exhibited full or partial extinction. All analyzes were considered significant at p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### LITTER PARAMETERS

Data gathered from the PN and PS-exposed pups revealed no significant effect of prenatal treatment on the number of pups born, the ratio of male vs. female pups, righting reflex, negative geotaxis, or eye opening (data not shown). Further, there was no significant effect of Prenatal Treatment on dam weight gain (**Figure 1A**) or pup weight gain (**Figure 1B**). These findings indicate that PN exposure did not disrupt postnatal development according to the ontogenetic measures used in the present study.

#### **EXPERIMENT 1: METH SELF-ADMINISTRATION**

A  $2 \times 2 \times 5$  mixed-factorial ANOVA revealed main effects of Dose [F(1, 34) = 43.6, p < 0.001] and Prenatal Treatment [F(1, 34) = 43.6, p < 0.001]34) = 4.3, p < 0.05], and a significant Dose × Prenatal Treatment interaction [F(1, 34) = 4.9, p < 0.05]. Sex was not a significant factor in the analyses. The METH self-administration data are presented as two separate dose-response curves in Figure 2. As can be seen in Figure 2, varying the unit dose of IV METH produced the standard "U" shaped curve for the PN and PS groups, which is commonly observed when animals self-administer psychostimulant drugs, such as amphetamines or cocaine (Yokel, 1987). Furthermore, the PS and PN groups exhibited similar means of active lever presses when allowed to respond for the lowest and highest unit doses of IV METH tested. However, PS rats clearly showed peak responding at the 0.025-mg/kg/infusion dose, whereas the PN animals exhibited peak responding between the 0.005- and 0.025-mg/kg/infusion doses. The main effect of Prenatal Treatment indicates that PN animals responded more for METH compared to the PS rats. The significant Dose × Prenatal Treatment interaction indicates that the PN dose-response curve shifted to the left. Analysis of inactive lever responding revealed a significant effect of Dose [F(1, 34) = 26.9, p < 0.001] and no other significant effects were found. The means  $(\pm SEM)$  for inactive lever responding were 10.0 ( $\pm$ 1.6), 8.9 ( $\pm$ 1.3), 6.5 ( $\pm$ 0.9), 5.0 ( $\pm$ 0.8), and 3.9 ( $\pm$ 0.6; data not shown) for the 0.0005, 0.0025, 0.005, 0.025, and 1.0 doses, respectively. The main effect of dose shows that rats responded more on the inactive lever when the dose was 0.0005



and responding on this lever decreased as the unit dose of METH increased.

These results indicate that the PN rats exhibited a leftward shift in the dose-response curve relative to rats in the PS treatment group. This indicates that PN rats were more sensitive to the reinforcing effects of IV METH compared to the PS animals.

#### EXPERIMENT 2: METH-INDUCED CTA Acquisition of CTA

A Sex  $\times$  Prenatal Treatment  $\times$  Dose  $\times$  Day (2  $\times$  2  $\times$  3  $\times$  3) mixedfactorial ANOVA was conducted on the weight-corrected data. The analysis revealed a main effect of Sex: [F(1, 224) = 114.9,p < 0.001], which indicates that females consumed more saccharin relative to males. According to this analysis females consumed an average of 0.06 ml/g of saccharin (SEM = 0.001), whereas males consumed an average of 0.04 ml/g of saccharin (SEM = 0.001; data not shown). Percent of control values were calculated, and a Sex  $\times$  Prenatal Treatment  $\times$  Dose  $\times$  Day (2  $\times$  2  $\times$  2  $\times$  3) mixedfactorial ANOVA was conducted on these data in order to adequately assess potential sex differences in CTA. The analysis revealed no significant effects of Sex or Prenatal Treatment. Figure 3 shows the acquisition curves (% of control) for PN and PS groups injected with METH 0.3 or 0.56 mg/kg by conditioning trials. The PN and PS groups represent both males and females; however, the factors of Prenatal Treatment are represented on Figure 3 because prenatal treatment was the focus of the experiment. The significant main effect of Day shows that animals treated with the METH US exhibited decreased saccharin consumption as a function of conditioning day [F(2, 152) = 484.8,p < 0.001] and the main effect of Dose indicates that overall the magnitude of CTA was greater in the METH 0.56 mg/kg group [means ( $\pm$ SEM) = 0.667 ( $\pm$ 0.018)], relative to the METH 0.3 mg/kg group [0.798 ( $\pm$ 0.018); *F*(1, 76) = 26.9, *p* < 0.001]. Moreover, repeated saccharin-METH pairings produced a progressive increase in the magnitude of CTA, and greater avoidance behavior was observed from animals injected with the higher dose of METH, according to the significant Day × Dose interaction [*F*(2, 152) = 20.5, *p* < 0.001].

#### Extinction of CTA

A  $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 14$  mixed-factorial ANOVA was conducted on the extinction data. There were no significant main effects or interactions with the factors of Sex or Prenatal Treatment. **Figure 4** shows the saccharin preference data for the PN and PS groups injected with SAL or METH 0.3 or 0.56 mg/kg US as a function of extinction trials. The PN and PS groups represent both males and females; however, the factors of Prenatal Treatment are represented on **Figure 4** because prenatal treatment was the focus of the study. Scores above 0.5 indicate a preference for saccharin, whereas scores below 0.5 indicate a preference for water.

According to the significant main effect of Dose [F(2, 112) = 103.8, p < 0.001], different magnitudes of CTA were exhibited by animals treated with SAL, METH 0.3, and METH 0.56 mg/kg. Thus, overall, rats treated with SAL or METH 0.3 mg/kg exhibited saccharin preference of 0.86 ( $\pm 0.03$ ) and 0.58 ( $\pm 0.03$ ), respectively; whereas the METH 0.56 mg/kg group showed an overall water preference 0.29 ( $\pm 0.03$ ). The main effect of Day [F(13, 1456) = 38.9, p < 0.001] shows that preference scores changed following repeated, non-reinforced exposure to the saccharin/water test stimuli; and the Day × Dose interaction [F(26, 1456) = 7.5, p < 0.001] indicates that the preference scores changed across testing days and was dependent on whether the conditioning dose was 0.3 or 0.56 mg/kg.

In order to assess responding following repeated, nonreinforced exposure to the CS, within-subjects comparisons





(ml/g) data from the acquisition phase of the experiment. The CS was saccharin (0.1%, w/v) and the US was METH (SAL, 0.3 or 0.56 mg/kg). Data are shown as percent of control for the PS and PN animals treated with METH across conditioning days 1–3. There were no significant effects or interactions with the factor of Prenatal Treatment or Sex.



between day 1 and 14 were conducted for the SAL, METH 0.3, and METH 0.56 groups, as described by the Day × Dose interaction. Animals in the SAL group showed a consistent preference for saccharin between testing days 1 and 14 [t(39) = 1.49,p > 0.05]. Rats treated with METH 0.3 initially showed a preference for water on day 1, and repeated exposure to the CS/water resulted in extinction, which is represented as a saccharin preference on day 14 [t(41) = 9.37, p < 0.001]. The change in responding represents a 91% increase in the preference score. Animals in the METH 0.56 group exhibited a preference for water on day 1, and despite a similar 91% increase in preference score, these animals maintained an overall preference water on day 14 [t(41) = 4.62, p < 0.001; Figure 4]. Dunnette's tests were conducted for data from the three groups on day 14 to determine if either the METH 0.3 or 0.56 groups were different than controls on the final day of extinction training. The preference scores from both the METH 0.3 and 0.56 groups were significantly lower than the SAL group (p < 0.05 and p < 0.001, respectively). These findings show that non-reinforced presentation of the CS produced extinction of the CR for both doses of the METH US and 14 days of extinction did not fully extinguish the CR relative to the SAL controls. These data indicate that PN exposure did not result in differential acquisition or extinction of METHinduced CTA when rats were conditioned and tested during adulthood.

#### DISCUSSION

The present experiments determined if IV PN exposure altered the reinforcing and/or aversive effects of METH in adult offspring. In experiment 1, PS and PN rats were trained to self-administer METH according to a FR-3 schedule of reinforcement. Following stable responding, rats were tested on varying doses of METH and dose-response curves were generated for both groups. Although both the PN and PS treatment groups exhibited the standard "U"shaped dose-response curve (Yokel, 1987), PN rats exhibited more active lever responses for doses of METH, relative to controls. The leftward shift in the PN rats' dose-response curve, as indicated by a significant main effect of prenatal treatment and a prenatal treatment  $\times$  dose interaction, indicates that these animals were more sensitive to the reinforcing effects of METH compared to rats in the PS group.

The enhanced sensitivity to IV METH exhibited by offspring in the present study may be related to nicotine's ability to induce transcriptional activation of genes associated with drug reward and sensitization of the mesocorticolimbic system (Zhu et al., 2007; Levine et al., 2011). In a study by Levine et al. (2011), mice were preexposed to oral nicotine or water and then were treated with either saline or cocaine. Nicotine-treated mice exhibited enhanced cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization and cocainemediated conditioned place preference, and increased cocaineinduced expression of accumbal FosB relative to controls that did not receive nicotine treatment. The nicotine-mediated increase in cocaine-induced FosB expression was associated with changes in histone acetylation, suggesting an epigenetic explanation of the findings (Levine et al., 2011). These and other findings suggest that PN may modulate histone acetylation of FosB during neurodevelopment, potentially leading to alterations in other transcription factors, and D<sub>1</sub> mediated signaling proteins (Teegarden et al., 2008). Indeed, previous research demonstrates that PN alters MAPk and PI3k signaling pathways (Wei et al., 2011) and increases levels of mRNA and protein of brain-derived neurotrophic factor throughout the mesocorticolimbic DA system (Harrod et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2011). Thus, determining the effects of IV PN on histone acetylation at FosB expression in offspring is of interest for future investigation.

Adolescent offspring of continuous PN exposure were previously reported to exhibit altered responding for IV cocaine. In that study Franke et al. (2008) investigated cocaine selfadministration using two different concentrations of the reinforcer, 200 or  $500 \,\mu$ g/kg/infusion, and focused on the acquisition of FR-1 responding using adolescent offspring. These findings are important because they demonstrate that rats treated with continuous PN acquired self-administration at different concentrations of cocaine: PN-treated rats acquired stable responding when the concentration was 500, but not 200  $\mu$ g/kg/infusion, whereas the opposite relationship was observed for controls. Thus, these data show that PN rats required a concentration of cocaine that was 2.5 times higher than the dose needed for controls to acquire the response. Thus, the Franke et al. (2008) experiment suggests that during the developmental period of adolescence, the PN animals were less sensitive to the stimulus properties of IV cocaine than PS offspring.

The present experiment focused on changes in the relative sensitivity to IV METH after adult offspring acquired stable responding on a FR-3 schedule of reinforcement. Thus, offspring were tested intermittently with various novel doses of the reinforcer after maintenance of the CR was demonstrated. That adult PN rats self-administered a lower dose of METH relative to controls demonstrates that PN exposure alters the stimulus properties of IV METH. Moreover, these effects of IV PN exposure appear to endure, as offspring did not receive exposure to any drug between birth and METH self-administration, which began during adulthood. This is an important point because nicotine exposure during adulthood can alter gene expression and this can lead to an altered response to other drugs of abuse, such as cocaine (Levine et al., 2011). Further experiments need to determine if PS and PN animals show differences in METH self-administration when progressive-ratio schedules of reinforcement are used (Richardson and Roberts, 1996). Such data will be necessary to determine if IV PN exposure results in motivational differences for the reinforcing effects of METH. Moreover, these findings suggest that PN exposure may alter the function of various molecular targets for METH, such as VMAT and DAT, through which this drug changes synaptic monoamine levels (Dwoskin and Crooks, 2002). Overall, PN exposure alters the appetitive stimulus properties of psychostimulant drugs like cocaine, nicotine, and METH, and these findings suggest that such alterations in the reinforcing effects of abused drugs could be one factor that underlies the increased vulnerability to drug abuse that is documented in offspring of in utero tobacco smoke exposure.

The aversive effects of abused drugs may play an important role in offsetting the transition from recreational drug use to chronic drug taking behavior (see Davis and Riley, 2010). Preclinical research shows that nicotine exposure during early stages of development (e.g., periadolescence) can alter learning about the aversive effects of abused drugs in adulthood (Rinker et al., 2011). Therefore it was also of interest to determine if PN exposure affects the acquisition and expression of METH-induced CTA. Experiment 2 showed that PN exposure did not alter METH-induced CTA. PN and PS animals acquired CTA in a dose-dependent manner and both treatment groups exhibited similar magnitudes of conditioned responding, as measured by the acquisition and extinction procedures. Thus, PN exposure did not alter the aversive effects of METH when measured by the CTA procedure. Further research needs to determine if a higher dose of IV PN will impact the acquisition and expression of METH-induced CTA in offspring in order to fully determine if in utero nicotine exposure can alter learning about the aversive effects of METH.

Low birth weight in offspring of maternal smoking is well documented (Ernst et al., 2001). These effects are produced, in part, from nicotine, because PN exposure alone produces lower birth weights in exposed rodent offspring relative to controls. This effect has been observed in animal models using the continuous, IV, and drinking water methods of nicotine exposure (e.g., Slotkin, 2004; LeSage et al., 2006; Levin et al., 2006; Schneider et al., 2010), and in general, the differences in weight are resolved with maturity. Lowering the dose of PN avoids birth weight deficits in offspring across all of the abovementioned exposure models (e.g., Franke et al., 2008; Schneider et al., 2010; Harrod et al., 2011), yet these studies report neurochemical and behavioral alterations in the offspring. The low dose, IV model of PN administration used in the present experiment has not produced altered birth weight or weight gain in offspring (Harrod et al., 2011; Lacy et al., 2011, 2012), according to the described procedures. The current findings add to a growing literature, which shows that PN exposure produces neurochemical and behavioral changes in offspring born of normal birth weight (Pauly et al., 2004; Franke et al., 2007, 2008; Schneider et al., 2010).

Taken together, the present findings indicate that IV PN exposure altered the stimulus properties of METH when an appetitive conditioning procedure was used. This finding adds to a growing literature, which shows that IV PN can alter the behavior of offspring in later stages of development (LeSage et al., 2006; Harrod et al., 2011; Lacy et al., 2011). An advantage to using the IV route of administration is that IV injection allows for 100% bioavailability of nicotine absorption and near instantaneous distribution. And, as previously mentioned, the IV route of administration closely mimics the pharmacokinetics of nicotine produced through cigarette smoke inhalation. Another advantage is that this exposure method may be used to deliver less daily amounts of nicotine relative to other exposure models (Russell and Feyerabend, 1978; Mactutus, 1989; Booze et al., 1999; Benowitz et al., 2009). Lacy et al. (2011) showed that the IV exposure method used in the present study produced deficits in prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response that are consistent with that induced by a continuous GN exposure model (i.e., Popke et al., 1997), for example. There are clearly disadvantages to all methods of PN exposure. A disadvantage of the present model may be that it requires direct interaction with the dam in order to administer the daily prenatal injections. On the other hand, this method affords a unique opportunity to monitor the animals' progression through pregnancy without adding what would otherwise be considered additional stress. Another disadvantage is that the present model uses nicotine to mimic maternal smoking when there are approximately 4,000 active compounds in cigarette smoke.

The present experiments indicate that offspring of IV PN exposure showed increased sensitivity to the reinforcing effects of the highly abused drug METH. This finding suggests that women who smoke a "low" number of daily cigarette during pregnancy may alter the development of motivational systems in their offspring. Increased sensitivity to the reinforcing properties of abused drugs may be one important factor that mediates the increased vulnerability toward substance abuse in the offspring of women who smoke tobacco throughout pregnancy.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Lauren Ballina, Rachel Singleton, and Bonnie Barte for their technical expertise on this study. We also would like to acknowledge Rick Bevins, Ph.D. and Nichole Neugebauer, Ph.D. for their expert consultation on the operant experiments. This research was supported by a Research Productivity Scholar grant from the University of South Carolina (KA-21) and a grant from the National Institute for Drug Abuse (DA 021287).

#### **REFERENCES**

- Benowitz, N. L., Hukkanen, J., and Jacob, P. III. (2009). Nicotine chemistry, metabolism, kinetics and biomarkers. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 192, 29–60.
- Booze, R. M., Welch, M. A., Wood, M. L., Billings, K. A., Apple, S. R., and Mactutus, C. F. (1999). Behavioral sensitization following repeated intravenous nicotine administration: gender differences and gonadal hormones. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 64, 827–839.
- Brennan, P. A., Grekin, E. R., Mortensen, E. L., and Mednick, S. A. (2002). Relationship of maternal smoking during pregnancy with criminal arrest and hospitalization for substance abuse in male and female adult offspring. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 159, 48–54.
- Buka, S. L., Shenassa, E. D., and Niaura, R. (2003). Elevated risk of tobacco dependence among offspring of mothers who smoked during pregnancy: a 30-year prospective study. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 160, 1978–1984.
- Castles, A., Adams, E. K., Melvin, C. L., Kelsch, C., and Boulton, M. L. (1999). Effects of smoking during pregnancy. Five meta-analyses. Am. J. Prev. Med. 16, 208–215.
- Cornelius, M. D., and Day, N. L. (2009). Developmental consequences of prenatal tobacco exposure. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 22, 121–125.
- Davis, C. M., and Riley, A. L. (2010). Conditioned taste aversion learning: implications for animal models of drug abuse. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1187, 247–275.
- Dwoskin, L. P., and Crooks, P. A. (2002). A novel mechanism of action and potential use for lobeline as a treatment for psychostimulant abuse. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 63, 89–98.
- Dwyer, J. B., Broide, R. S., and Leslie, F. M. (2008). Nicotine and brain development. Birth Defects Res. C Embryo Today 84, 30–44.
- Dwyer, J. B., McQuown, S. C., and Leslie, F. M. (2009). The dynamic effects of nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 122, 125–139.
- Ernst, M., Moolchan, E. T., and Robinson, M. L. (2001). Behavioral and neural consequences of prenatal exposure to nicotine. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 40, 630–641.
- Franke, R. M., Belluzzi, J. D., and Leslie, F. M. (2007). Gestational exposure to nicotine and monoamine oxidase inhibitors influences cocaineinduced locomotion in adolescent rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 195, 117–124.

- Franke, R. M., Park, M., Belluzzi, J. D., and Leslie, F. M. (2008). Prenatal nicotine exposure changes natural and drug-induced reinforcement in adolescent male rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 2952–2961.
- Gether, U., Andersen, P. H., Larsson, O. M., and Schousboe, A. (2006). Neurotransmitter transporters: molecular function of important drug targets. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 27, 375–383.
- Harrod, S. B., Dwoskin, L. P., Crooks, P. A., Klebaur, J. E., and Bardo, M. T. (2001). Lobeline attenuates d-methamphetamine self-administration in rats. J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 298, 172–179.
- Harrod, S. B., Lacy, R. T., Zhu, J., Hughes, B. A., Perna, M. K., and Brown, R. W. (2011). Gestational IV nicotine produces elevated brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the mesocorticolimbic dopamine system of adolescent rat offspring. *Synapse* 65, 1382–1392.
- Heath, C. J., and Picciotto, M. R. (2009). Nicotine-induced plasticity during development: modulation of the cholinergic system and long-term consequences for circuits involved in attention and sensory processing. *Neuropharmacology* 56(Suppl. 1), 254–262.
- Holson, R. R., and Pearce, B. (1992). Principles and pitfalls in the analysis of prenatal treatment effects in multiparous species. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 14, 221–228.
- Kandel, D. B., Wu, P., and Davies, M. (1994). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and smoking by adolescent daughters. *Am. J. Public Health* 84, 1407–1413.
- Kane, V. B., Fu, Y., Matta, S. G., and Sharp, B. M. (2004). Gestational nicotine exposure attenuates nicotine-stimulated dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens shell of adolescent Lewis rats. J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 308, 521–528.
- Lacy, R. T., Hord, L. L., Morgan, A. J., and Harrod, S. B. (2012). Intravenous gestational nicotine exposure results in increased motivation for sucrose reward in adult rat offspring. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.01.025. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lacy, R. T., Mactutus, C. F., and Harrod, S. B. (2011). Prenatal IV nicotine exposure produces a sex difference in sensorimotor gating of the auditory startle reflex in adult rats. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 29, 153–161.
- Laviolette, S. R., and van der Kooy, D. (2004). The neurobiology of nicotine addiction: bridging the gap from

molecules to behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5, 55-65.

- LeSage, M. G., Gustaf, E., Dufek, M. B., and Pentel, P. R. (2006). Effects of maternal intravenous nicotine administration on locomotor behavior in pre-weanling rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 85, 575–583.
- Levin, E. D., Lawrence, S., Petro, A., Horton, K., Seidler, F. J., and Slotkin, T. A. (2006). Increased nicotine selfadministration following prenatal exposure in female rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 85, 669–674.
- Levin, E. D., Wilkerson, A., Jones, J. P., Christopher, N. C., and Briggs, S. J. (1996). Prenatal nicotine effects on memory in rats: pharmacological and behavioral challenges. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 97, 207–215.
- Levine, A., Huang, Y., Drisaldi, B., Griffin, E. A. Jr., Pollak, D. D., Xu, S., Yin, D., Schaffran, C., Kandel, D. B., and Kandel, E. R. (2011). Molecular mechanism for a gateway drug: epigenetic changes initiated by nicotine prime gene expression by cocaine. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3, 107ra109.
- Mactutus, C. F. (1989). Developmental neurotoxicity of nicotine, carbon monoxide, and other tobacco smoke constituents. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 562, 105–122.
- Mactutus, C. F., Herman, A. S., and Booze, R. M. (1994). Chronic intravenous model for studies of drug (Ab) use in the pregnant and/or group-housed rat: an initial study with cocaine. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 16, 183–191.
- Park, M. K., Loughlin, S. E., and Leslie, F. M. (2006). Gestational nicotine-induced changes in adolescent neuronal activity. *Brain Res.* 1094, 119–126.
- Pauly, J. R., Sparks, J. A., Hauser, K. F., and Pauly, T. H. (2004). In utero nicotine exposure causes persistent, gender-dependant changes in locomotor activity and sensitivity to nicotine in C57Bl/6 mice. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 22, 329–337.
- Paz, R., Barsness, B., Martenson, T., Tanner, D., and Allan, A. M. (2007). Behavioral teratogenicity induced by nonforced maternal nicotine consumption. *Neuropsychopharmacol*ogy 32, 693–699.
- Popke, E. J., Tizabi, Y., Rahman, M. A., Nespor, S. M., and Grunberg, N. E. (1997). Prenatal exposure to nicotine: effects on prepulse inhibition and central nicotinic receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 843–849.
- Reichel, C. M., Linkugel, J. D., and Bevins, R. A. (2008). Bupropion differentially impacts

acquisition of methamphetamine self-administration and sucrosemaintained behavior. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 89, 463–472.

- Richardson, N. R., and Roberts, D. C. (1996). Progressive ratio schedules in drug self-administration studies in rats: a method to evaluate reinforcing efficacy. J. Neurosci. Methods 66, 1–11.
- Richardson, S. A., and Tizabi, Y. (1994). Hyperactivity in the offspring of nicotine-treated rats: role of the mesolimbic and nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathways. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 47, 331–337.
- Rinker, J. A., Hutchison, M. A., Chen, S. A., Thorsell, A., Heilig, M., and Riley, A. L. (2011). Exposure to nicotine during periadolescence or early adulthood alters aversive and physiological effects induced by ethanol. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 99, 7–16.
- Russell, M. A., and Feyerabend, C. (1978). Cigarette smoking: a dependence on high-nicotine boli. Drug Metab. Rev. 8, 29–57.
- Schneider, T., Bizarro, L., Asherson, P. J., and Stolerman, I. P. (2010). Gestational exposure to nicotine in drinking water: teratogenic effects and methodological issues. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 21, 206–216.
- Slotkin, T. A. (2004). Cholinergic systems in brain development and disruption by neurotoxicants: nicotine, environmental tobacco smoke, organophosphates. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 198, 132–151.
- Slotkin, T. A., Orband-Miller, L., Queen, K. L., Whitmore, W. L., and Seidler, F. J. (1987). Effects of prenatal nicotine exposure on biochemical development of rat brain regions: maternal drug infusions via osmotic minipumps. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 240, 602–611.
- Sulzer, D., Sonders, M. S., Poulsen, N. W., and Galli, A. (2005). Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines: a review. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 75, 406–433.
- Teegarden, S. L., Nestler, E. J., and Bale, T. L. (2008). Delta FosBmediated alterations in dopamine signaling are normalized by a palatable high-fat diet. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 941–950.
- Vorhees, C. V. (1986). "Principles of behavioral teratology," in *Handbook* of *Behavioral Teratology*, eds E. P. Riley and C. V. Vorhees (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 23–48.
- Wei, J., Wang, J., Dwyer, J. B., Mangold, J., Cao, J., Leslie, F. M., and Li, M. D.

(2011). Gestational nicotine treatment modulates cell death/survivalrelated pathways in the brains of adolescent female rats. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 14, 91–106.

- Weissman, M. M., Warner, V., Wickramaratne, P. J., and Kandel, D. B. (1999). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and psychopathology in offspring followed to adulthood. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 38, 892–899.
- Winzer-Serhan, U. H. (2008). Longterm consequences of maternal smoking and developmental chronic nicotine exposure. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 636–649.
- Yokel, R. A. (1987). "Intravenous selfadministration: response rates, the effects of pharmacological challenges, and drug preference," in *Methods of Assessing the Reinforcing Properties of Abused Drugs*, ed. M. A. Bozarth (New York: Springer-Verlag), 1–33.
- Zhu, H., Lee, M., Agatsuma, S., and Hiroi, N. (2007). Pleiotropic impact of constitutive fosB inactivation on nicotine-induced behavioral alterations and stress-related traits in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 820–836.
- Zhu, J., Takita, M., Konishi, Y., Sudo, M., and Muramatsu, I. (1996). Chronic

nicotine treatment delays the developmental increase in brain muscarinic receptors in rat neonate. *Brain Res.* 732, 257–260.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 18 January 2012; paper pending published: 20 February 2012; accepted: 30 May 2012; published online: 18 June 2012. Citation: Harrod SB, Lacy RT and Morgan AJ (2012) Offspring of prenatal IV nicotine exposure exhibit increased sensitivity to the reinforcing effects of methamphetamine. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:116. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00116

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Harrod, Lacy and Morgan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

#### frontiers in PHARMACOLOGY



# Cigarette smoking and brain regulation of energy homeostasis

#### Hui Chen<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Sonia Saad<sup>3</sup>, Shaun L. Sandow<sup>4</sup> and Paul P. Bertrand<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Science, School of Medical and Molecular Biosciences, University of Technology, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, School of Medical Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>3</sup> Renal Research Group, Kolling Institute, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

<sup>4</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Enrico Sanna, University of Cagliari, Italy

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Hui Chen, School of Medical and Molecular Biosciences, University of Technology, PO Box 123, Broadway, Sydney, NSW 2007, Australia. e-mail: hui.chen-1@uts.edu.au

Cigarette smoking is an addictive behavior, and is the primary cause of cardiovascular and pulmonary disease, and cancer (among other diseases). Cigarette smoke contains thousands of components that may affect caloric intake and energy expenditure, although nicotine is the major addictive substance present, and has the best described actions. Nicotine exposure from cigarette smoke can change brain feeding regulation to reduce appetite via both energy homeostatic and reward mechanisms, causing a negative energy state which is characterized by reduced energy intake and increased energy expenditure that are linked to low body weight. These findings have led to the public perception that smoking is associated with weight loss. However, its effects at reducing abdominal fat mass (a predisposing factor for glucose intolerance and insulin resistance) are marginal, and its promotion of lean body mass loss in animal studies suggests a limited potential for treatment in obesity. Smoking during pregnancy puts pressure on the mother's metabolic system and is a significant contributor to adverse pregnancy outcomes. Smoking is a predictor of future risk for respiratory dysfunction, social behavioral problems, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and type-2 diabetes. Catch-up growth is normally observed in children exposed to intrauterine smoke, which has been linked to subsequent childhood obesity. Nicotine can have a profound impact on the developing fetal brain, via its ability to rapidly and fully pass the placenta. In animal studies this has been linked with abnormal hypothalamic gene expression of appetite regulators such as downregulation of NPY and POMC in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. Maternal smoking or nicotine replacement leads to unhealthy eating habits (such as junk food addiction) and other behavioral disorders in the offspring.

Keywords: smoking, nicotine, appetite regulation, reward, programming

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Cigarette smoking is the leading preventable cause of death and disability from respiratory disease. Smoking causes addiction and is negatively correlated with body weight and caloric intake; an effect which appears to be nicotine-mediated (Hajek et al., 1988). It is this action of nicotine on energy homeostasis that is attracting attention as a potential weight loss treatment during the current global obesity pandemic. However, the fat loss associated with nicotine has not been confirmed in human subjects under wellcontrolled experimental conditions. This review will decipher the neurophysiological mechanisms that underlie the regulation of cigarette smoking/nicotine on energy homeostasis based on both animal and human studies. The impact of maternal smoking on fetal energy homeostatic regulation will also been discussed, as there is a relatively high rate of smoking during pregnancy. Finally, whether or not nicotine is a good candidate as a weight loss treatment will be discussed.

#### **CIGARETTE SMOKING AND WEIGHT CONTROL**

Cigarette smoking is an addictive behavior with the consequences being the leading preventable cause of death and disability worldwide. It is a primary cause of cancer and cardiovascular and pulmonary disease. There are >1 billion people who smoke around the world (DeMarini, 2004), with ~6 million deaths each year being due to tobacco/cigarette smoking-related disease; resulting in significant social and economic cost to Society (World Health Organization, 2011). It has been estimated that in less than 40 years, deaths due to smoking-related illness will rise to ~10 million per year (DeMarini, 2004; Hussein et al., 2007).

Smoking induces a negative energy state, characterized by reduced energy intake and body weight, which has been well documented across species (Perkins, 1992; Strauss and Mir, 2001; Bellinger et al., 2003; Fulkerson and French, 2003; Chen et al., 2006, 2007, 2008). The lowered body weight has been shown to be independent of diet type, with a similar proportion of weight loss displayed in mice consuming a diet with either low or high-fat concentrations after 7 weeks of cigarette smoke exposure (Chen et al., 2007). Unfortunately, these and similar observations have led to the public perception that smoking is associated with weight loss, and it is commonly used as a weight control strategy, especially among the young, and females (Camp et al., 1993; Wiseman, 1998; Fulkerson and French, 2003). Weight gain and increased craving for high caloric junk food on cessation of smoking without nicotine supplementation is one of the reasons given by people that prevents them from ceasing smoking (Stamford et al., 1986; Grunberg et al., 1988; Filozof et al., 2004), and this is also supported by the literature, with >75% of former smokers gaining weight after cessation (Williamson et al., 1991; Leischow et al., 1992).

Cigarette smoke contains at least 6000 components that may directly or indirectly affect caloric intake and energy expenditure. Nicotine, the major addictive substance within cigarette smoke, is the best described for its suppressive effects on body weight and appetite in both humans and animal models (Wager-Srdar et al., 1984; Grunberg et al., 1986; Bellinger et al., 2003). Furthermore, cigarette smoke stimulates the inflammatory response associated with elevated circulating levels of inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor a and interleukin 6, which are associated with the development of disease states related to smoking (Fernandez-Real et al., 2003). These cytokines have been shown to inhibit appetite and affect lipid metabolism (Langhans and Hrupka, 1999; Jansson et al., 2003). Overall, studies using cigarette smoke exposure have improved insight into the effects of cigarette smoking-related anorexia and weight loss.

An important question that arises from such studies is whether lower caloric intake is the main contributor to the generally lower body weight in smokers. This question can be answered by the use of pair-fed animals, which receive the same amount of food as that consumed by smoke-exposed litter-mates. According to the results of such studies, the weight loss effects of cigarette smoke exposure were not only due to the predicted reduction in energy intake, but also to an enhanced capacity for energy expenditure (Chen et al., 2006, 2008). Increased energy expenditure and thermogenesis can occur when the proton gradient of the inner mitochondrial membrane dissipates; a state which occurs via the action of mitochondrial carrier proteins termed uncoupling proteins (UCPs; Dalgaard and Pedersen, 2001). Uncoupling of the mitochondrial proton gradient is thought to be important for the maintenance of cellular respiration, activation of substrate oxidation, and prevention of the generation of reactive oxygen species (Lee et al., 1999). There are several homologs of UCPs including UCP1, which, when active in brown fat is responsible for non-shivering thermogenesis in newborn humans, in cold acclimatization, and hibernating mammals (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). In contrast, UCP3 is implicated in the regulation of shivering and other forms of thermogenesis, mitochondrial fatty acid transport, and basal metabolic rate (Samec et al., 1998; Argyropoulos and Harper, 2002; Schrauwen and Hesselink, 2003). Fasting or chronic food restriction normally results in the downregulation of UCP1 expression in brown fat (Champigny and Ricquier, 1990) while nicotine induces UCP1 mRNA expression, which likely leads to enhanced energy expenditure (Yoshida et al., 1999; Arai et al., 2001). In mice directly exposed to cigarette smoke, both UCP1 and three mRNA expression was increased compared with pair-fed animals (Chen et al., 2006, 2008), suggesting that increased energy expenditure occurred despite their reduced energy intake. This theory has also been supported by data from humans, where energy expenditure was increased by nicotine administration (Perkins et al., 1989).

#### **CIGARETTE SMOKING AND ADIPOSITY**

Although smokers are generally thought to weigh less than nonsmokers, smoking is actually a predisposing factor for abdominal obesity, glucose intolerance, and insulin resistance (Canoy et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2007), which is a situation not well recognized by the general public. In a rodent model, we have shown that the reduction in fat mass after cigarette smoke exposure occurred only if the mice consumed a low-fat balanced diet. In addition, this weight loss was accompanied by lean body mass wasting, including that associated with some major organs such as liver, kidney, and skeletal muscle (Chen et al., 2005, 2006, 2008). Cigarette smoke exposure failed to cause fat loss when the mice consumed a highfat cafeteria style diet consisting of foods such as fried potatoes, cakes, and sweet biscuits; whereas lean body mass loss became the prominent cause of weight loss in these mice (Chen et al., 2007). We speculate that this observation was due to a change of food preference induced by cigarette smoke exposure or, perhaps that the nature of the high-fat diet to induce over accumulation of fat mass, even with restricted caloric intake. In both human and animal studies, food high in refined sugar and fat is more preferred when they are exposed to cigarette smoke (Marangon et al., 1998; Chen et al., 2007). Consuming such food can increase fat mass, blood lipid levels, and glucose intolerance even when the total calorie intake does not exceed the daily requirement (Shiraev et al., 2009). In contrast, when smoke-exposed mice consume a high-fat diet, they consume twice the energy of the recommended daily requirement (Chen et al., 2007). Thus, we can speculate that adiposity induced by consumption of a high-fat diet, together with the loss of lean body mass found exclusively after cigarette smoke exposure may increase the risk of metabolic disorders.

In fact, both active and passive smoking contribute to glucose intolerance and insulin resistance, leading to type-2 diabetes; and smoking cessation has been demonstrated to improve insulin sensitivity (Facchini et al., 1992; Eliasson et al., 1997). It has been suggested that insulin resistance among smokers may be due to the direct impact of nicotine, carbon monoxide, or other agents in the tobacco smoke (Facchini et al., 1992). Nicotine infusion stimulates lipolysis to increase triglyceride levels in both human and animal studies (Sztalryd et al., 1996; Andersson and Arner, 2001), while hyperlipidemia is strongly associated with the onset of insulin resistance (Stannard and Johnson, 2004). Anorexia developed in long-term smokers also contributes to muscle wasting, especially in those with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Morrison et al., 1988; Jagoe and Engelen, 2003). Skeletal muscle is one of the major sites for insulin-dependent glucose deposition when blood glucose rises. Thus, in smokers, the reduction in muscle mass can directly impair systemic glucose uptake, contributing to postprandial hyperglycemia, and an elevated risk of developing type-2 diabetes. Vascular changes associated with prolonged smoking may also lead to reduced blood flow to skeletal muscle and decreased insulin-mediated glucose uptake (Facchini et al., 1992).

#### NEUROLOGICAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING SUPPRESSED APPETITE

#### **CLASSICAL FEEDING REGULATORS**

The reduction in energy intake associated with smoking shows a relationship to the effects of several brain appetite regulators, and

indeed, nicotinic receptors have been demonstrated in the appetite regulating area of the hypothalamus (Jo et al., 2002). The most widely studied appetite regulator is neuropeptide Y (NPY), a 36 amino acid peptide. NPY is a member of the pancreatic polypeptide family, and is abundant throughout the central nervous system and the periphery (Tatemoto et al., 1982; Allen et al., 1983). NPY is a powerful neurochemical stimulator of feeding in many species (Vettor et al., 1994; Raposinho et al., 2001), with its levels reflecting the nutritional status of the body, and contributing to the longterm regulation of energy homeostasis. Administration of NPY into different brain regions, including the hypothalamus, frontal cortex, hindbrain, and hippocampus, induces hyperphagia (even in a satiated state), decreased sympathetic activity and thermogenesis, increased fat deposition, and promotion of weight gain and obesity (Clark et al., 1984; Billington et al., 1991; Egawa et al., 1991; Raposinho et al., 2001).

In studies of a mouse model of cigarette smoke exposure, the hypothalamic NPY concentration was significantly suppressed by smoke exposure, compared with food restriction (pair-feeding; Chen et al., 2006, 2008). This effect appears to be predominately nicotine-mediated, as a similar suppression of NPY has been observed in nicotine-treated animals (Jo et al., 2002). Physiologically, the decreased hypothalamic NPY levels can upregulate the expression of orexigenic NPY receptors. However, the hypothalamic density of the NPY Y1 receptor is reduced by chronic nicotine treatment (Kane et al., 2001). Thus, it is possible that a voluntary reduction in energy intake in smokers can be attributed to suppressed NPY signaling in both the presynaptic production of the peptide and at the postsynaptic receptor level. This inhibitory effect of nicotine on appetite may be an important clue for therapy development for the treatment of obesity. This is of significant relevance, as clinical trials targeting NPY pathways have failed in obese patients due to redundancy in the mechanisms regulating energy homeostasis.

Neuropeptide Y is not the only neuropeptide in the central nerve system that can regulate appetite and energy balance. Agouti-related protein (AgRP) is another potent orexigenic molecule, which co-localizes with NPY in hypothalamic neurons (Hahn et al., 1998). In addition, there are also melanocortins, including adrenocorticotropin and melanocyte-stimulating hormones (MSH), which are peptide cleavage products of proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and exert their effects by binding to the melanocortin receptors (MCRs). The melanocortin system is thought to be one of the most important pathways involved in food intake and energy regulation, with mutations contributing to  $\sim 4\%$  of genetic obesity in humans (Horvath et al., 2004). Neurons expressing orexigenic NPY and AgRP cooperate with neurons expressing anorexigenic POMC and cocaineamphetamine-regulated transcript (CART). In the diet-induced obese mouse, when hypothalamic NPY mRNA expression was reduced, AgRP and POMC mRNA were also downregulated (Lin et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2002). This suggests that the anorexigenic neurons containing POMC respond synchronously with orexigenic neurons to maintain the balance between orexigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptides. However, in nicotine-treated mice, the hypothalamic level of CART and POMC derived α-MSH has been shown to be increased (Marty et al., 1985; Kramer et al., 2007), in the face of suppression of NPY and AgRP levels (Chen et al., 2006; Martínez de Morentin et al., 2012). In addition, it has been shown that nicotine withdrawal is linked to increased hypothalamic NPY and AgRP, although with reduced UCP3 expression (Fornari et al., 2006) resulting in an increased drive to eat, and reduced capacity for energy expenditure.

#### **PSYCHOLOGICAL REGULATORS**

Feeding is not only controlled by homeostatic mechanisms, which theoretically would allow an individual to maintain an ideal body weight in the long term. Feeding is also controlled by brain reward systems and psychological states, which reinforce the motives for excessive eating without homeostatic value (Saper et al., 2002); namely, those independent of energy expenditure. The consumption of highly palatable foods is now considered to be an addictive behavior (Heilig et al., 1989). In this respect, food and nicotine addiction may share the same central pathways. Addictive eating behavior has been suggested to be predominantly controlled by the interactions between the classical "feeding center" in the lateral hypothalamus and the nucleus accumbens within the mesolimbic system, and coordination between the neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, serotonin, and the opioid system (Saper et al., 2002). Nicotine administration releases dopamine in many brain regions involved in reward, such as the mesolimbic area, the corpus striatum, the frontal cortex, and ventral tegmental area in the brain stem (Gilbert et al., 1989; Benowitz, 2010). Increased brain release of serotonin and endogenous opioid peptides, as well as the upregulation of opioid receptors, have also been reported in various animals models following nicotine administration (Marty et al., 1985; Martínez de Morentin et al., 2012). Eating, especially binge eating, is considered to be a physiological reaction to counteract stress in some individuals (Polivy et al., 1994). Nicotine has been shown to reduce anxiety in a dose-dependent manner (Gilbert et al., 1989; Pomerleau and Pomerleau, 2007), which may also overpower the desire to eat, in addition to its suppressive ability of central orexigenic pathways. Nicotine withdrawal can cause anxiety and stress (Picciotto et al., 2002), and both can serve as powerful incentives for former smokers to either overeat or smoke again.

Tolerance due to chronic nicotine use may potentially affect its activation of the brain reward pathway. To date, only the impact of nicotine tolerance on brain dopamine release is well studied, which is also site dependent (Damsma et al., 1989; Izenwasser and Cox, 1992). Nicotine tolerance is only seen in subjective mood effects, such as dizziness and confusion as reviewed by Perkins (2002). However, this tolerance may still lead to an increased demand for nicotine if it is used as an appetite suppressant.

# SMOKING DURING PREGNANCY AND THE IMPACT ON OFFSPRING

Smoking during pregnancy puts physiological pressure on the mother's metabolic system and is a significant contributor to adverse pregnancy outcomes, including miscarriage, low birth weight, preterm birth, and perinatal death (Ng et al., 2006; Nielsen et al., 2006; Raatikainen et al., 2007). Moreover, it significantly

interrupts fetal development and predicts the future risks for respiratory dysfunction, social behavioral problems, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and type-2 diabetes (Whincup et al., 1989; Orlebeke et al., 1999; Stocks and Dezateux, 2003; Burke et al., 2004; Al Mamun et al., 2006; Bruin et al., 2008b). Despite the disadvantages of maternal smoking, reports still show that  $\sim$ 25–29% pregnant women smoke during pregnancy (Contal et al., 2005). Some of these processes along with the underlying neurophysiological changes are shown diagrammatically in **Figure 1**.

#### EFFECTS ON BODY WEIGHT AND EATING BEHAVIOR IN OFFSPRING

In Western countries, it is maternal smoking during pregnancy rather than poverty that is the major cause of low birth weight (Power and Jefferis, 2002). Even maternal obesity cannot counteract the infant growth retardation due to smoking during pregnancy (Haworth et al., 1980). Studies in humans and other primates suggest that lower birth weight associated with maternal smoking is mainly nicotine-mediated (Haworth et al., 1980; Grove et al., 2001; Collet and Beillard, 2005). However, brain weight does not appear to be affected by intrauterine nicotine exposure (Grove et al., 2001); an observation that may be due to the redistribution of nutrients to preserve brain growth, at the cost of the development of other organs such as the liver and pancreas (Ernst et al., 2001).

Catch-up growth is normally observed in children exposed to intrauterine maternal smoking, and there is evidence linking maternal smoking and childhood obesity in offspring, especially



those from the mothers who smoke during early pregnancy (Power and Jefferis, 2002; Al Mamun et al., 2006). It has been reported that children of mothers who smoked during pregnancy started to display an increased risk of being overweight at 5 years of age (Wideroe et al., 2003). Adolescents who are the offspring of mothers who smoked had an increased risk of being among the highest percentile for body mass index (Power and Jefferis, 2002; Al Mamun et al., 2006). Interestingly, smoking cessation after the first trimester does not appear to reduce this risk to the offspring (Toschke et al., 2003), suggesting that the first 3 months of pregnancy are critical for long-term impacts on the wellbeing of the offspring. However, children from former smoking mothers did not show increased risk of obesity (Oken et al., 2005).

Smoking mothers tend to have a shorter breastfeeding period, which deprives the offspring of the protection provided by breast milk against future eating disorders (Gilchrist et al., 2004; Mayer-Davis et al., 2006). On this basis, it can be suggested that the rapid weight gain during the early postnatal period may be due to the effect of nicotine withdrawal, in a similar manner to the increased craving for food and subsequent weight gain seen in smokers after smoking cessation (Lerman et al., 2004). Furthermore, as children also tend to copy the eating habits of their parents, this will be detrimental in the children of smokers, as smokers are more likely to choose foods low in fiber, vitamins and minerals, and high in monounsaturated fatty acids, starch, as well as sugar-sweetened soft drinks (Crawley and While, 1996; Rogers et al., 2003). Indeed, the children of smokers are more likely to be exposed to passive smoking, with ongoing detrimental effects of the chemicals in the cigarette smoke.

#### **EFFECTS ON BRAIN ENERGY HOMEOSTATIC REGULATORS**

Nicotine can have a profound impact on the developing fetal brain, via its ability to rapidly and fully pass across the placenta, with fetal concentrations ~115% of maternal levels (Walker et al., 1999). When the fetus leaves the womb, the supply of nicotine is removed, and the impact of nicotine withdrawal can be observed in these newborns, as they show increased signs of stress and dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (Huizink and Mulder, 2006). Studies in humans, other primates, and mice have observed some neuronal abnormalities relevant to feeding regulation that result from maternal smoking or exposure to nicotine (Mantzoros et al., 1997; Grove et al., 2001; Bruin et al., 2008a). However, the impact of maternal smoking during gestation on brain energy homeostatic pathways in the offspring requires further study.

Maternal smoking is clearly linked to abnormal hypothalamic gene expression of appetite regulators, with NPY and POMC gene expression in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus being significantly downregulated in the newborn primate following intrauterine nicotine exposure (Grove et al., 2001); a state that may reflect an under-developed brain. This state is similar to observations in adult animals with nicotine or cigarette smoke exposure, as clarified above. Indeed, it can be suggested that without the continuing inhibition of nicotine, NPY, and POMC gene expression can rebound to that equal to an early postnatal age, leading to hyperphagia and future obesity. As yet there is no direct data to date to support this hypothesis. However, studies of mouse

models have examined the adult offspring from mothers exposed to cigarette smoke and/or those consuming a high-fat diet during the pregnancy (Chen et al., 2011). Surprisingly, despite increased adiposity in offspring from smoke-exposed mothers, their daily caloric intake was actually lower than the offspring from control mothers, regardless of postnatal diet type. Although the levels of POMC were not different between groups, NPY gene expression was only suppressed by maternal consumption of a high-fat diet, and not intrauterine smoke exposure per se. However, NPY Y1 receptor gene expression was significantly downregulated by both maternal smoke exposure and a high-fat diet, with this being reflected by reduced food intake in those offspring (Chen et al., 2011). In addition, other components of cigarette smoke, such as carbon monoxide and ingredients in tobacco tar, can also directly affect the fetal brain, and thereby contribute to the above changes in the fetal brain (Ernst et al., 2001). It can be suggested that at adulthood, the changes in brain appetite regulators may be an adaptation to increased adiposity, rather than a prolonged impact of intrauterine smoke exposure.

Another important appetite regulator is the adipocyte-derived hormone leptin, which is critical for the development of neurons and neural projections between hypothalamic nuclei involved in appetite control in early life (Bouret et al., 2004). In mice, a lack of leptin during the early postnatal period results in sparse neuronal projections in the hypothalamus, and later in life, an obese phenotype (Zhang et al., 1994; Chua et al., 1996; Bouret et al., 2004). Leptin supplementation during this early postnatal period can partially restore the reduced hypothalamic neural projections in the leptin-deficient ob/ob mouse, and partially reverse the hyperphagic phenotype (Bouret et al., 2004). In humans, cord blood leptin concentrations in both full-term and preterm newborns from smoking mothers are reported to be significantly decreased compared to those from non-smoking mothers (Mantzoros et al., 1997). It has been suggested that smoking might increase the production of catecholamines in the infants leading to lipolysis and fat loss, which can be associated with decreased leptin levels (Mantzoros et al., 1997; Ozkan et al., 2005), as circulating leptin levels are in relative proportion to fat mass. In a similar manner, in

primates serum leptin levels are reduced by  $\sim$ 50% in newborns from nicotine-treated mothers compared with those from control mothers (Grove et al., 2001). One hypothesis that may account for this observation is that reduced leptin in newborns from smoking mothers may interrupt the development of the neurons controlling energy homeostasis, contributing to unhealthy eating behavior at adulthood. As with smokers, it may be that the reward pathways override the energy homeostatic control in such offspring, resulting in a preference for junk foods. Studies of offspring from nicotine-treated animals show that dopamine receptor binding affinity is increased, despite reduced receptor density; while brain serotonin turnover was reduced, whilst its transporter was increased in such offspring (Fung and Lau, 1989; Muneoka et al., 1997, 2001). In the original studies of this topic, this finding was used to explain the abnormal social behavioral problems, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or addiction, as found in offspring with intrauterine nicotine exposure. However, changes in the reward pathway may also underlie the unhealthy eating behavior.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Nicotine can change brain feeding regulation to reduce appetite via both energy homeostatic and reward mechanisms. In animal models, the effects of cigarette smoke exposure on energy homeostasis are clearly both time and dose dependent. As such, the higher the dose, the greater the reduction in caloric intake and body weight. However, the marginal effect of nicotine at reducing abdominal fat in high-fat diet fed animals may shed light on its potential application in the treatment of obesity. Maternal smoking or nicotine replacement can clearly lead to unhealthy eating habits (such as junk food addiction) and other behavioral disorders in the offspring. Thus, smoking cessation without nicotine replacement during pregnancy is recommended. Although the direct use of nicotine for fat loss in the obese is not plausible, the appetite suppressive and energy expenditure promoting effects of nicotine may still be useful. The development of nicotine analogs should be encouraged which avoid addiction, but retain the fat burning-obesity reduction effect.

#### REFERENCES

- Al Mamun, A., Lawlor, D. A., Alati, R., O'Callaghan, M. J., Williams, G. M., and Najman, J. M. (2006). Does maternal smoking during pregnancy have a direct effect on future offspring obesity? Evidence from a prospective birth cohort study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 164, 317–325.
- Allen, Y. S., Adrian, T. E., Allen, J. M., Tatemoto, K., Crow, T. J., Bloom, S. R., and Polak, J. M. (1983). Neuropeptide Y distribution in the rat brain. *Science* 221, 877–879.
- Andersson, K., and Arner, P. (2001). Systemic nicotine stimulates human adipose tissue lipolysis through local cholinergic and catecholaminergic receptors. *Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord.* 25, 1225–1232.
- Arai, K., Kim, K., Kaneko, K., Iketani, M., Otagiri, A., Yamauchi, N., and Shibasaki, T. (2001). Nicotine infusion alters leptin and uncoupling protein 1 mRNA expression in adipose tissues of rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 280, E867–E876. Argyropoulos, G., and Harper, M. E. (2002). Uncoupling proteins and thermoregulation. J. Appl. Physiol.
- 92, 2187–2198.
  Bellinger, L., Cepeda-Benito, A., and Wellman, P. J. (2003). Meal patterns in male rats during and after intermittent nicotine administration. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 74,
- 495–504. Benowitz, N. L. (2010). Nicotine addiction. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 2295–2303.

- Billington, C. J., Briggs, J. E., Grace, M., and Levine, A. S. (1991). Effects of intracerebroventricular injection of neuropeptide Y on energy metabolism. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 260, R321–R327.
- Bouret, S. G., Draper, S. J., and Simerly, R. B. (2004). Trophic action of leptin on hypothalamic neurons that regulate feeding. *Science* 304, 108–110.
- Bruin, J. E., Petre, M. A., Lehman, M. A., Raha, S., Gerstein, H. C., Morrison, K. M., and Holloway, A. C. (2008a). Maternal nicotine exposure increases oxidative stress in the offspring. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44, 1919–1925.
- Bruin, J. E., Petre, M. A., Raha, S., Morrison, K. M., Gerstein, H. C., and Holloway, A. C. (2008b). Fetal and

neonatal nicotine exposure in Wistar rats causes progressive pancreatic mitochondrial damage and beta cell dysfunction. *PLoS ONE* 3, e3371. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003371

- Burke, V., Beilin, L. J., Simmer, K., Oddy, W. H., Blake, K. V., Doherty, D., Kendall, G. E., Newnham, J. P., Landau, L. I., and Stanley, F. J. (2004). Predictors of body mass index and associations with cardiovascular risk factors in Australian children: a prospective cohort study. *Int. J. Obes.* 29, 15–23.
- Camp, D. E., Klesges, R. C., and Relyea, G. (1993). The relationship between body weight concerns and adolescent smoking. *Health Psychol.* 12, 24–32.

- Cannon, B., and Nedergaard, J. (2004). Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 277–359.
- Canoy, D., Wareham, N., Luben, R., Welch, A., Bingham, S., Day, N., and Khaw, K. T. (2005). Cigarette smoking and fat distribution in 21,828 British men and women: a population-based study. *Obes. Res.* 13, 1466–1475.
- Champigny, O., and Ricquier, D. (1990). Effects of fasting and refeeding on the level of uncoupling protein mRNA in rat brown adipose tissue: evidence for diet-induced and cold-induced responses. J. Nutr. 120, 1730–1736.
- Chen, H., Hansen, M. J., Jones, J. E., Vlahos, R., Anderson, G., and Morris, M. J. (2007). Detrimental metabolic effects of combining long term cigarette smoke exposure and high-fat diet in mice. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 293, E1564–E1571.
- Chen, H., Hansen, M. J., Jones, J. E., Vlahos, R., Anderson, G. P., and Morris, M. J. (2008). Long-term cigarette smoke exposure increases uncoupling protein expression but reduces energy intake. *Brain Res.* 1228, 81–88.
- Chen, H., Hansen, M. J., Jones, J. E., Vlahos, R., Bozinovski, S., Anderson, G. P., and Morris, M. J. (2006). Cigarette smoke exposure reprograms the hypothalamic neuropeptide Y axis to promote weight loss. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 173, 1248–1254.
- Chen, H., Iglesias, M. A., Caruso, V., and Morris, M. J. (2011). Maternal cigarette smoke exposure contributes to glucose intolerance and decreased brain insulin action in mice offspring independent of maternal diet. *PLoS ONE* 6, e27260. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027260
- Chen, H., Vlahos, R., Bozinovski, S., Jones, J., Anderson, G. P., and Morris, M. J. (2005). Effect of short-term cigarette smoke exposure on body weight, appetite and brain neuropeptide y in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 713–719.
- Chua, S. C. Jr., Chung, W. K., Wu-Peng, X. S., Zhang, Y., Liu, S. M., Tartaglia, L., and Leibel, R. L. (1996). Phenotypes of mouse diabetes and rat fatty due to mutations in the ob (leptin) receptor. *Science* 271, 994–996.
- Clark, J. T., Kalra, P. S., Crowley, W. R., and Kalra, S. P. (1984). Neuropeptide Y and human pancreatic polypeptide stimulate feeding

behavior in rats. *Endocrinology* 115, 427–429.

- Collet, M., and Beillard, C. (2005). Consequences of smoking on fetal development and risk of intra-uterine growth retardation or in utero fetal death. J. Gynecol. Obstet. Biol. Reprod. 34 3S135–S145.
- Contal, M., Masson, G., Boyer, C., Cazevielle, C., and Mares, P. (2005). Neonatal consequences of maternal smoking during pregnancy. J. Gynecol. Obstet. Biol. Reprod. 34 3S215–S222.
- Crawley, H. F., and While, D. (1996). Parental smoking and the nutrient intake and food choice of British teenagers aged 16–17 years. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 50, 306–312.
- Dalgaard, L. T., and Pedersen, O. (2001). Uncoupling proteins: functional characteristics and role in the pathogenesis of obesity and Type II diabetes. *Diabetologia* 44, 946–965.
- Damsma, G., Day, J., and Fibiger, H. C. (1989). Lack of tolerance to nicotine-induced dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 168, 363–368.
- DeMarini, D. M. (2004). Genotoxicity of tobacco smoke and tobacco smoke condensate: a review. *Mutat. Res.* 567, 447–474.
- Egawa, M., Yoshimatsu, H., and Bray, G. A. (1991). Neuropeptide Y suppresses sympathetic activity to interscapular brown adipose tissue in rats. *Am. J. Physiol.* 260, R328–R334.
- Eliasson, B., Attvall, S., Taskinen, M. R., and Smith, U. (1997). Smoking cessation improves insulin sensitivity in healthy middle-aged men. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 27, 450–456.
- Ernst, M., Moolchan, E. T., and Robinson, M. L. (2001). Behavioral and neural consequences of prenatal exposure to nicotine. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 40, 630–641.
- Facchini, F. S., Hollenbeck, C. B., Jeppesen, J., Chen, Y.-D., and Reaven, G. M. (1992). Insulin resistance and cigarette smoking. *Lancet* 339, 1128–1130.
- Fernandez-Real, J. M., Broch, M., Vendrell, J., and Ricart, W. (2003). Smoking, fat mass and activation of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha pathway. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 27, 1552–1556.
- Filozof, C., Fernandez Pinilla, M. C., and Fernandez-Cruz, A. (2004). Smoking cessation and weight gain. *Obes. Rev.* 5, 95–103.
- Fornari, A., Pedrazzi, P., Lippi, G., Picciotto, M. R., Zoli, M., and

Zini, I. (2006). Nicotine withdrawal increases body weight, neuropeptide Y and Agouti-related protein expression in the hypothalamus and decreases uncoupling protein-3 expression in the brown adipose tissue in high-fat fed mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 411, 72–76.

- Fulkerson, J. A., and French, S. A. (2003). Cigarette smoking for weight loss or control among adolescents: gender and racial/ethnic differences. *J. Adolesc. Health* 32, 306–313.
- Fung, Y. K., and Lau, Y.-S. (1989). Effects of prenatal nicotine exposure on rat striatal dopaminergic and nicotinic systems. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 33, 1–6.
- Gilbert, D. G., Robinson, J. H., Chamberlin, C. L., and Spielberger, C. D. (1989). Effects of smoking/nicotine on anxiety, heart rate, and lateralization of EEG during a stressful movie. *Psychophysiology* 26, 311–320.
- Gilchrist, D., Woods, B., Binns, C. W., Scott, J. A., Gracey, M., and Smith, H. (2004). Aboriginal mothers, breastfeeding and smoking. *Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health* 28, 225–228.
- Grove, K. L., Sekhon, H. S., Brogan, R. S., Keller, J. A., Smith, M. S., and Spindel, E. R. (2001). Chronic maternal nicotine exposure alters neuronal systems in the arcuate nucleus that regulate feeding behavior in the newborn rhesus macaque. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 86, 5420–5426.
- Grunberg, N. E., Bowen, D. J., and Winders, S. E. (1986). Effects of nicotine on body weight and food consumption in female rats. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 90, 101–105.
- Grunberg, N. E., Popp, K. A., and Winders, S. E. (1988). Effects of nicotine on body weight in rats with access to "junk" foods. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 94, 536–539.
- Hahn, T. M., Breininger, J. F., Baskin, D. G., and Schwartz, M. W. (1998). Coexpression of Agrp and NPY in fasting-activated hypothalamic neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 1, 271–272.
- Hajek, P., Jackson, P., and Belcher, M. (1988). Long-term use of nicotine chewing gum. Occurrence, determinants, and effect on weight gain. *JAMA* 260, 1593–1596.
- Haworth, J. C., Ellestad-Sayed, J. J., King, J., and Dilling, L. A. (1980). Relation of maternal cigarette smoking, obesity, and energy consumption to infant size. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 138, 1185–1189.
- Heilig, M., Soderpalm, B., Engel, J. A., and Widerlov, E. (1989). Centrally

administered neuropeptide Y (NPY) produces anxiolytic-like effects in animal anxiety models. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 98, 524–529.

- Horvath, T. L., Diano, S., and Tschop, M. (2004). Brain circuits regulating energy homeostasis. *Neuroscientist* 10, 235–246.
- Huizink, A. C., and Mulder, E. J. (2006). Maternal smoking, drinking or cannabis use during pregnancy and neurobehavioral and cognitive functioning in human offspring. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 30, 24–41.
- Hussein, J., Farkas, S., Mackinnon, Y., Ariano, R. E., Sitar, D. S., and Hasan, S. U. (2007). Nicotine dose–concentration relationship and pregnancy outcomes in rat: biologic plausibility and implications for future research. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 218, 1–10.
- Izenwasser, S., and Cox, B. M. (1992). Inhibition of dopamine uptake by cocaine and nicotine: tolerance to chronic treatments. *Brain Res.* 573, 119–125.
- Jagoe, R. T., and Engelen, M. P. (2003). Muscle wasting and changes in muscle protein metabolism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur. Respir. J. Suppl.* 46, 52s–63s.
- Jansson, J. O., Wallenius, K., Wernstedt, I., Ohlsson, C., Dickson, S. L., and Wallenius, V. (2003). On the site and mechanism of action of the anti-obesity effects of interleukin-6. *Growth Horm. IGF Res.* 13(Suppl A), S28–S32.
- Jo, Y. H., Talmage, D. A., and Role, L. W. (2002). Nicotinic receptor-mediated effects on appetite and food intake. *J. Neurobiol.* 53, 618–632.
- Kane, J. K., Parker, S. L., and Li, M. D. (2001). Hypothalamic orexin-A binding sites are downregulated by chronic nicotine treatment in the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* 298, 1–4.
- Kramer, P. R., Kramer, S. F., Marr, K., Guan, G., Wellman, P. J., and Bellinger, L. L. (2007). Nicotine administration effects on feeding and cocaine–amphetamineregulated transcript (CART) expression in the hypothalamus. *Regul. Pept.* 138, 66–73.
- Langhans, W., and Hrupka, B. (1999). Interleukins and tumor necrosis factor as inhibitors of food intake. *Neuropeptides* 33, 415–424.
- Lee, F. Y., Li, Y., Zhu, H., Yang, S., Lin, H. Z., Trush, M., and Diehl, A. M. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor increases mitochondrial oxidant production and induces

expression of uncoupling protein-2 in the regenerating mice [correction of rat] liver. *Hepatology* 29, 677–687.

- Leischow, S. J., Sachs, D. P., Bostrom, A. G., and Hansen, M. D. (1992). Effects of differing nicotine-replacement doses on weight gain after smoking cessation. *Arch. Fam. Med.* 1, 233–237.
- Lerman, C., Berrettini, W., Pinto, A., Patterson, F., Crystal-Mansour, S., Wileyto, E. P., Restine, S. L., Leonard, D. G., Shields, P. G., and Epstein, L. H. (2004). Changes in food reward following smoking cessation: a pharmacogenetic investigation. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 174, 571–577.
- Lin, S., Storlien, L. H., and Huang, X. F. (2000). Leptin receptor, NPY, POMC mRNA expression in the diet-induced obese mouse brain. *Brain Res*. 875, 89–95.
- Mantzoros, C. S., Varvarigou, A., Kaklamani, V. G., Beratis, N. G., and Flier, J. S. (1997). Effect of birth weight and maternal smoking on cord blood leptin concentrations of fullterm and preterm newborns. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 82, 2856–2861.
- Marangon, K., Herbeth, B., Lecomte, E., Paul-Dauphin, A., Grolier, P., Chancerelle, Y., Artur, Y., and Siest, G. (1998). Diet, antioxidant status, and smoking habits in French men. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 67, 231–239.
- Martínez de Morentin, P. B., Whittle, A. J., Fernø, J., Nogueiras, R., Diéguez, C., Vidal-Puig, A., and López, M. (2012). Nicotine induces negative energy balance through hypothalamic AMP-activated protein kinase. *Diabetes* 61, 807–817.
- Marty, M. A., Erwin, V. G., Cornell, K., and Zgombick, J. M. (1985). Effects of nicotine on beta-endorphin, alpha MSH, and ACTH secretion by isolated perfused mouse brains and pituitary glands, in vitro. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 317–325.
- Mayer-Davis, E. J., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Zhou, L., Hu, F. B., Colditz, G. A., and Gillman, M. W. (2006). Breastfeeding and risk for childhood obesity: does maternal diabetes or obesity status matter? *Diab. Care* 29, 2231–2237.
- Morrison, W. L., Gibson, J. N., Scrimgeour, C., and Rennie, M. J. (1988). Muscle wasting in emphysema. *Clin. Sci.* 75, 415–420.
- Muneoka, K., Ogawa, T., Kamei, K., Mimura, Y., Kato, H., and Takigawa, M. (2001). Nicotine exposure during pregnancy is a factor which influences serotonin transporter density in the rat brain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 411, 279–282.

- Muneoka, K., Ogawa, T., Kamei, K., Muraoka, S.-I., Tomiyoshi, R., Mimura, Y., Kato, H., Suzuki, M. R., and Takigawa, M. (1997). Prenatal nicotine exposure affects the development of the central serotonergic system as well as the dopaminergic system in rat offspring: involvement of route of drug administrations. *Dev. Brain Res.* 102, 117–126.
- Ng, S. P., Steinetz, B. G., Lasano, S. G., and Zelikoff, J. T. (2006). Hormonal changes accompanying cigarette smoke-induced preterm births in a mouse model. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 231, 1403–1409.
- Nielsen, A., Hannibal, C. G., Lindekilde, B. E., Tolstrup, J., Frederiksen, K., Munk, C., Bergholt, T., Buss, L., Ottesen, B., Gronbaek, M., and Kjaer, S. K. (2006). Maternal smoking predicts the risk of spontaneous abortion. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 85, 1057–1065.
- Oken, E., Huh, S. Y., Taveras, E. M., Rich-Edwards, J. W., and Gillman, M. W. (2005). Associations of maternal penatal smoking with child adiposity and blood pressure. *Obes. Res.* 13, 2021–2028.
- Orlebeke, J. F., Knol, D. L., and Verhulst, F. C. (1999). Child behavior problems increased by maternal smoking during pregnancy. *Arch. Environ. Health* 54, 15–19.
- Ozkan, B., Ermis, B., Tastekin, A., Doneray, H., Yildirim, A., and Ors, R. (2005). Effect of smoking on neonatal and maternal serum and breast milk leptin levels. *Endocr. Res.* 31, 177–183.
- Perkins, K. A. (1992). Effects of tobacco smoking on caloric intake. *Br. J. Addict.* 87, 193–205.
- Perkins, K. A. (2002). Chronic tolerance to nicotine in humans and its relationship to tobacco dependence. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 4, 405–422.
- Perkins, K. A., Epstein, L. H., Stiller, R. L., Marks, B. L., and Jacob, R. G. (1989). Acute effects of nicotine on resting metabolic rate in cigarette smokers. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 50, 545–550.
- Picciotto, M. R., Brunzell, D. H., and Caldarone, B. J. (2002). Effect of nicotine and nicotinic receptors on anxiety and depression. *Neuroreport* 13, 1097–1106.
- Polivy, J., Herman, C. P., and Mcfarlane, T. (1994). Effects of anxiety on eating: does palatability moderate distress-induced overeating in dieters? J. Abnorm. Psychol. 103, 505–510.
- Pomerleau, O. F., and Pomerleau, C. S. (2007). "Behavioural studies in humans: anxiety, stress and

smoking," in *Ciba Foundation Symposium 152 – The Biology of Nicotine Dependence*, eds G. Bock and J. Marsh (Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.), 225–254.

- Power, C., and Jefferis, B. J. (2002). Fetal environment and subsequent obesity: a study of maternal smoking. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 31, 413–419.
- Raatikainen, K., Huurinainen, P., and Heinonen, S. (2007). Smoking in early gestation or through pregnancy: a decision crucial to pregnancy outcome. *Prev. Med.* 44, 59–63.
- Raposinho, P., Pierroz, D. D., Broqua, P., White, R. B., Pedrazzini, T., and Aubert, M. L. (2001). Chronic administration of neuropeptide Y into the lateral ventricle of C57BL/6J male mice produces an obesity syndrome including hyperphagia, hyperleptinemia, insulin resistance, and hypogonadism. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 185, 195–204.
- Rogers, I., Emmett, P., and Alspac Study Team (2003). The effect of maternal smoking status, educational level and age on food and nutrient intakes in preschool children: results from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 57, 854–864.
- Samec, S., Seydoux, J., and Dulloo, A. G. (1998). Role of UCP homologues in skeletal muscles and brown adipose tissue: mediators of thermogenesis or regulators of lipids as fuel substrate? FASEB J. 12, 715–724.
- Saper, C. B., Chou, T. C., and Elmquist, J. K. (2002). The need to feed: homeostatic and hedonic control of eating. *Neuron* 36, 199–211.
- Schrauwen, P., and Hesselink, M. (2003). Uncoupling protein 3 and physical activity: the role of uncoupling protein 3 in energy metabolism revisited. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 62, 635–643.
- Shiraev, T., Chen, H., and Morris, M. J. (2009). Differential effects of restricted versus unlimited highfat feeding in rats on fat mass, plasma hormones and brain appetite regulators. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 21, 602–609.
- Stamford, B. A., Matter, S., Fell, R. D., and Papanek, P. (1986). Effects of smoking cessation on weight gain, metabolic rate, caloric consumption, and blood lipids. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 43, 486–494.
- Stannard, S. R., and Johnson, N. A. (2004). Insulin resistance and elevated triglyceride in muscle: more important for survival than 'thrifty' genes? J. Physiol. 554, 595–607.

- Stocks, J., and Dezateux, C. (2003). The effect of parental smoking on lung function and development during infancy. *Respirology* 8, 266–285.
- Strauss, R. S., and Mir, H. M. (2001). Smoking and weight loss attempts in overweight and normal-weight adolescents. *Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord.* 25, 1381–1385.
- Sztalryd, C., Hamilton, J., Horwitz, B. A., Johnson, P., and Kraemer, F. B. (1996). Alterations of lipolysis and lipoprotein lipase in chronically nicotine-treated rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 270, E215–E223.
- Tatemoto, K., Carlquist, M., and Mutt, V. (1982). Neuropeptide Y – a novel brain peptide with structural similarities to peptide YY and pancreatic polypeptide. *Nature* 296, 659–660.
- Toschke, A. M., Montgomery, S. M., Pfeiffer, U., and Von Kries, R. (2003). Early intrauterine exposure to tobacco-inhaled products and obesity. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 158, 1068–1074.
- Vettor, R., Zarjevski, N., Cusin, I., Rohner-Jeanrenaud, F., and Jeanrenaud, B. (1994). Induction and reversibility of an obesity syndrome by intracerebroventricular neuropeptide Y administration to normal rats. *Diabetologia* 37, 1202–1208.
- Wager-Srdar, S. A., Levine, A. S., Morley, J. E., Hoidal, J. R., and Niewoehner, D. E. (1984). Effects of cigarette smoke and nicotine on feeding and energy. *Physiol. Behav.* 32, 389–395.
- Walker, A., Rosenberg, M., and Balaban-Gil, K. (1999). Neurodevelopmental and neurobehavioral sequelae of selected substances of abuse and psychiatric medications in utero. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 8, 845–867.
- Wang, H., Storlien, L. H., and Huang, X. F. (2002). Effects of dietary fat types on body fatness, leptin, and ARC leptin receptor, NPY, and AgRP mRNA expression. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 282, E1352– E1359.
- Whincup, P. H., Cook, D. G., and Shaper, A. G. (1989). Early influences on blood pressure: a study of children aged 5–7 years. *BMJ* 299, 587–591.
- Wideroe, M., Vik, T., Jacobsen, G., and Bakketeig, L. S. (2003). Does maternal smoking during pregnancy cause childhood overweight? *Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol.* 17, 171–179.
- Williamson, D. F., Madans, J., Anda, R. F., Kleinman, J. C., Giovino, G.

A., and Byers, T. (1991). Smoking cessation and severity of weight gain in a national cohort. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 324, 739–745.

- Wiseman, C. V. (1998). Smoking and body image concerns in adolescent girls. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 24, 429–433.
- World Health Organization. (2011). WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2011: Warning about the Dangers of Tobacco. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2011/9789240687813\_ eng.pdf
- Yoshida, T., Sakane, N., Umekawa, T., Kogure, A., Kondo, M., Kumamoto, K., Kawada, T., Nagase, I., and Saito, M. (1999). Nicotine induces uncoupling protein 1 in white adipose tissue of obese mice. *Int.* J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 23, 570–575.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., and Friedman, J. M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* 372, 425–432.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 May 2012; accepted: 09 July 2012; published online: 25 July 2012.

Citation: Chen H, Saad S, Sandow SL and Bertrand PP (2012) Cigarette smoking and brain regulation of energy homeostasis. Front. Pharmacol. 3:147. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00147

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Chen, Saad, Sandow and Bertrand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

#### frontiers in PHARMACOLOGY



# Associations of cigarette smoking and polymorphisms in brain-derived neurotrophic factor and catechol-*O*-methyltransferase with neurocognition in alcohol dependent individuals during early abstinence

#### Timothy C. Durazzo<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Kent E. Hutchison<sup>3</sup>, Susanna L. Fryer<sup>1,2</sup>, Anderson Mon<sup>1,2</sup> and Dieter J. Meyerhoff<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Imaging of Neurodegenerative Diseases, San Francisco VA Medical Center, San Francisco, CA, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Radiology and Biomedical Imaging, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

<sup>3</sup> University of Colorado, Boulder, CO, USA

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Rodrigo Machado-Vieira, University of São Paulo, Brazil Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Timothy C. Durazzo, Center for Imaging of Neurodegenerative Diseases (114M), San Francisco VA Medical Center, 4150 Clement Street, San Francisco, CA 94121, USA. e-mail: timothy.durazzo@ucsf.edu

Chronic cigarette smoking and polymorphisms in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) are associated with neurocognition in normal controls and those with various neuropsychiatric conditions. The influence of BDNF and COMT on neurocognition in alcohol dependence is unclear. The primary goal of this report was to investigate the associations of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in BDNF Val66Met (rs6265) and COMT Val158Met (rs4680) with neurocognition in a treatmentseeking alcohol dependent cohort and determine if neurocognitive differences between non-smokers and smokers previously observed in this cohort persist when controlled for these functional SNPs. Genotyping was conducted on 70 primarily male treatment-seeking alcohol dependent participants (ALC) who completed a comprehensive neuropsychological battery after  $33 \pm 9$  days of monitored abstinence. After controlling for COMT and BDNF genotypes, smoking ALC performed significantly worse than non-smoking ALC on the domains of auditory-verbal and visuospatial learning and memory, cognitive efficiency, general intelligence, processing speed, and global neurocognition. In smoking ALC, greater number of years of smoking over lifetime was related to poorer performance on multiple domains after controlling for genotypes and alcohol consumption. In addition, COMT Met homozygotes were superior to Val homozygotes on measures of executive skills and showed trends for higher general intelligence and visuospatial skills, while COMT Val/Met heterozygotes showed significantly better general intelligence than Val homozygotes. COMT Val homozygotes performed better than heterozygotes on auditory-verbal memory. BDNF genotype was not related to any neurocognitive domain. The findings are consistent with studies in normal controls and neuropsychiatric cohorts that reported COMT Met carriers demonstrated better performance on measures of executive skills and general intelligence. Results also indicated that the poorer performance of smoking compared to non-smoking ALC across multiple neurocognitive domains was not mediated by COMT or BDNF genotype. Overall, the findings lend support to the expanding clinical movement to make smoking cessation programs available to smokers at the inception of treatment for alcohol/substance use disorders.

Keywords: cigarette smoking, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, catechol-O-methyltransferase, neurocognition, alcohol dependence

#### **INTRODUCTION**

A number of premorbid and/or comorbid factors may contribute to the pattern and magnitude of neurocognitive abnormalities demonstrated by those with alcohol use disorders (AUD; Parsons and Nixon, 1993; Oscar-Berman, 2000; Sher et al., 2005; Rourke and Loberg, 2009). In our previous work assessing the neurocognitive consequences of AUD, we investigated the influence of chronic cigarette smoking, sociodemographic factors, alcohol consumption levels, as well as comorbid substance abuse, psychiatric and medical conditions (Durazzo et al., 2006, 2007b,c, 2008, 2010a). Among these variables, chronic cigarette smoking was the sole factor that consistently and robustly predicted neurocognition in our AUD participants. Specifically, chronic smoking was associated with significantly poorer performance on measures of executive skills, processing speed, and learning and memory. Additionally, longer duration of smoking over lifetime in these studies was consistently related to poorer performance on multiple domains of neurocognition after controlling for age, alcohol consumption, and other potentially mediating variables.

Human neurocognition is a complex phenotype that is a function of psychosocial, environmental, biological, and genetic factors. With respect to genetic factors, multiple studies have reported that the Val66Met single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF; rs6265) and the Val158Met SNP of the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT; rs4680) genes are associated with several domains of neurocognitive functioning. Specifically, studies have reported that the BDNF Met allele carriers (i.e., Val/Met, Met/Met) of the BDNF demonstrated poorer verbal memory (Egan et al., 2003; Hariri et al., 2003; Dempster et al., 2005; Tan et al., 2005; Schofield et al., 2009), processing speed (Miyajima et al., 2008; Raz et al., 2009), and general intelligence (Tsai et al., 2004; Miyajima et al., 2008) in controls and individuals with various neuropsychiatric conditions (e.g., schizophrenia). The observed relationships between BDNF genotypes and neurocognition, however, were not uniform across all studies (Harris et al., 2006; Savitz et al., 2006). For COMT, studies with controls and individuals with various neuropsychiatric conditions reported that Met homozygosity was related to better performance on measures of executive skills, working memory, and general intellectual functioning. Alternately, several studies found no relationship between COMT genotype and neurocognition and some reported Val homozygosity was associated with better neurocognitive performance (for review see Savitz et al., 2006; Barnett et al., 2008; Dickinson and Elvevag, 2009; Enoch et al., 2009; Wishart et al., 2011). While the cumulative body of research appears to suggest COMT Met homozygosity is generally associated with better performance on working memory and executive function tasks, the influence of the COMT Val158Met polymorphism on neurocognition has yet to be fully elucidated (Barnett et al., 2008; Goldman et al., 2009). Overall, the majority of research on BDNF has focused on memory function and for COMT on measures of executive skills and working memory in healthy controls and individuals with neuropsychiatric disorders (e.g., schizophrenia-spectrum and bipolar disorders). We are not aware of any study that specifically investigated the association of BDNF and COMT polymorphisms with neurocognition in AUD. Therefore, it is unclear to what extent polymorphisms in BDNF and COMT are related to neurocognitive function in AUD.

The primary goal of this report was to investigate the associations of SNPs in BDNF Val66Met (rs6265), COMT Val158Met (rs4680) with neurocognition in our treatment-seeking alcohol dependent participants and determine if neurocognitive differences between non-smokers and smokers previously observed in this cohort persist when controlled for these functional SNPs. We predicted that smoking alcohol dependent participants compared to non-smokers perform significantly worse on the domains of executive skills, processing speed, and learning and memory after controlling for BDNF and COMT genotypes, alcohol consumption, age, and predicted premorbid intelligence. We also hypothesized that the inverse relationships between lifetime years of smoking and neurocognitive performance we observed in our previous studies are independent of the effects BDNF and COMT polymorphisms in the current study cohort. Finally, we predicted that BDNF Val homozygotes perform significantly better than Val/Met heterozygotes and COMT Met homozygotes show better performance than Val homozygotes on measures of executive

skills, learning, memory, and processing speed, after controlling for smoking status, alcohol consumption, age, and predicted premorbid intelligence.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS PARTICIPANTS

Individuals seeking treatment for AUD (n = 70; four females) were recruited from the VA Medical Center Substance Abuse Day Hospital and the Kaiser Permanente Chemical Dependence Recovery Program outpatient clinics in San Francisco. All participants provided written informed consent prior to study according to the Declaration of Helsinki, and the informed consent document and procedures were approved by the University of California San Francisco and the San Francisco VA Medical Center. Participants were between the ages of 28 and 68 at the time of study and all met DSM-IV criteria for alcohol dependence (95% with physiological dependence). The alcohol dependent participants (ALC) completed a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment battery after  $33 \pm 9$  days of monitored abstinence. Smoking (n = 39) and non-smoking (n=31) ALC did not differ in the duration of abstinence prior to assessment. All smoking ALC were actively smoking at the time of assessment and no participant changed their cigarette consumption from the onset of abstinence to the time of assessment. Five non-smoking ALC reported a previous history of chronic smoking, with four quitting more than 8 years and one more than 3 years prior to enrollment. The performance of the former smokers was within  $\pm 0.5$  standard deviations of the non-smoking ALC group mean across neurocognitive domains. The vast majority of ALC in this study were participants in our previous research (Durazzo et al., 2008, 2010a). Demographics, indices of alcohol consumption, smoking severity, depressive and anxiety symptomatology, and frequency of medical, psychiatric, and substance use comorbidities for ALC are given in Table 1.

Primary inclusion criteria were current DSM-IV diagnosis of alcohol dependence or abuse, fluency in English, consumption of greater than 150 alcoholic drinks per month (one alcoholic drink equivalent = 13.6 g pure ethanol) for at least 8 years prior to enrollment for men, and consumption of greater than 80 drinks per month for at least 8 years prior to enrollment for women. Primary exclusion criteria are fully detailed in our previous work (Durazzo et al., 2004). In summary, no participant had a history of a neurologic (e.g., non-alcohol-related seizure disorder, neurodegenerative disorder, demyelinating disorder; traumatic brain injury with loss of consciousness >15 min), general medical (e.g., myocardial infarction, Type-1 diabetes, cerebrovascular accident), or psychiatric (e.g., schizophrenia-spectrum, bipolar disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, substance dependence within 5 years prior to study) conditions known or suspected to influence neurocognition. The following comorbidities were permitted due to their high prevalence in AUD (Gilman and Abraham, 2001; Stinson et al., 2005): hepatitis C, type-2 diabetes, hypertension, unipolar mood (major depression, substance-induced mood disorder), and anxiety (generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder). ALC who met DSM-IV criteria for current or past substance abuse were included. Current opioid replacement therapy (e.g., methadone) was exclusionary.

Table 1 | Participant demographics and clinical measures.

Measure	ALC ( <i>n</i> = 70)
Age	$51.0\pm10.0$
Education	$14.0 \pm 2.2$
Days abstinent	$33\pm9$
AMNART	$114 \pm 9$
1-year average drinks/month	$398\pm206$
8-year average drinks/month	$314\pm163$
Lifetime average drinks/month	$208\pm100$
Months of heavy drinking	$259\pm116$
Age onset heavy drinking	$26\pm10$
FTND	$5.5 \pm 2.7$
Cigarette pack years	$25\pm18$
Lifetime years of smoking	$25\pm12$
Beck Depression Inventory	$11.1 \pm 9.0$
STAI-trait	$43.1\pm11.0$
% smokers	56
% with psychiatric comorbidity	44
% with substance comorbidity	24
% with medical comorbidity	44
GGT	$44\pm25$
Prealbumin	$27\pm 6$

AMNART, American National Adult Reading Test; FTND, Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence; GGT, gamma glutamyltransferase, normal range 7–64; institutional units; prealburnin (proxy measure of nutritional status), normal range 18–45 mg/dl; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; (mean± SD).

#### MEDICAL, PSYCHIATRIC, SUBSTANCE, AND DRINKING HISTORY ASSESSMENT

Participant medical history was obtained from self-report and confirmed via available medical records. Participants completed the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I disorders, Patient Edition, Version 2.0 (SCID-I/P; First et al., 1998), and standardized questionnaires assessing lifetime alcohol consumption (Lifetime Drinking History, LDH; Skinner and Sheu, 1982; Sobell et al., 1988) and substance use (in-house questionnaire assessing substance type, and quantity and frequency of use). From the LDH we derived average number of alcohol-containing drinks per month over 1 and 8 years prior to enrollment, average number of drinks per month over lifetime, number of lifetime years of regular drinking (i.e., consuming at least one alcoholic drink per month), number of months of heavy drinking (i.e., total number of months over lifetime of drinking in excess of 100 drinks per month), age of onset of heavy drinking and total kilograms of ethanol consumed over lifetime. Participants completed selfreport measures of depressive (Beck Depression Inventory, BDI; Beck, 1978) and anxiety symptomatology (State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, form Y-2, STAI; Spielberger et al., 1977), and nicotine dependence [Fagerstrom Tolerance Test for Nicotine Dependency (FTND; Fagerstrom et al., 1991)]. The total number of cigarettes currently smoked per day, number of years of smoking at the current level and over lifetime were also recorded, and pack years [i.e., (number of cigarettes per day/20)  $\times$  lifetime number of years of smoking] calculated for smoking ALC.

#### NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT

Participants completed a comprehensive battery, which evaluated domains of neurocognitive function previously reported to be affected by AUD (Oscar-Berman, 2000; Rourke and Loberg, 2009) and chronic cigarette smoking (Durazzo et al., 2007a; Swan and Lessov-Schlaggar, 2007). Smoking ALC were allowed to smoke ad libitum prior to assessment and to take smoking breaks during testing if requested. The neurocognitive domains evaluated and the constituent measures were as follows: Executive skills: Short Categories Test (Wetzel and Boll, 1987), color-word portion of the Stroop Test (Golden, 1978), Trail Making Test part B (Reitan and Wolfson, 1985), Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale 3rd Edition (WAIS-III) Similarities (Wechsler, 1997), Wisconsin Card Sorting Test-64: Computer Version 2-Research Edition (Kongs et al., 2000) non-perseverative errors, perseverative errors, and perseverative responses General intelligence: Ward-7 Full Scale IQ (Axelrod et al., 2001; based on WAIS-III Arithmetic, Block Design, Digit Span, Digit Symbol, Information, Picture Completion, and Similarities subtests; Wechsler, 1997). Learning and memory: Auditory-verbal: California Verbal Learning Test-II (Delis et al., 2000), Immediate Recall trials 1-5 (learning), Short and Long Delay Free Recall (memory). Visuospatial: Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (Benedict, 1997), Total Recall (learning), and Delayed Recall (memory). Processing speed: WAIS-III Digit Symbol, Stroop Color and Word (Golden, 1978), WAIS-III Symbol Search (Wechsler, 1997), Trail Making Test-A (Reitan and Wolfson, 1985). Visuospatial skills: WAIS-III Block Design; Luria-Nebraska Item 99 (Golden et al., 1978). Working memory: WAIS-III Arithmetic, WAIS-III Digit Span. Cognitive efficiency: this domain consisted of all tests that were timed, or in which the time to complete the task influenced the score achieved, and was calculated by averaging the individual z-scores of those measures (see below). Timed tests included the Luria-Nebraska Item 99 ratio, Stroop word, color, and color-word tests, Trails A and B and WAIS-III Arithmetic, Block Design, Digit Symbol, Picture Completion, and Symbol Search. Higher scores on these measures reflect better speed and accuracy on principally non-verbal tasks. The cognitive efficiency domain is an approximation of the concept of cognitive efficiency previously described by Glenn and Parsons (1992) and Nixon et al. (1995, 1998). Premorbid verbal intelligence was estimated with the American National Adult Reading Test (Grober and Sliwinski, 1991). For the Luria-Nebraska Item 99, the number correct (maximum possible = 8) was divided by the time required to complete the task. This ratio was used due to the low ceiling for the number of correct responses (i.e., most participants achieved a score of 6 or better), which resulted in a highly skewed and non-Gaussian distribution. The ratio of number correct to time to complete the Luria 99 was normally distributed.

Raw scores for all neurocognitive measures, except the Luria– Nebraska Item 99 ratio, were converted to age-adjusted standardized scores via the normative data accompanying the particular measure (i.e., BVMT-R, CVLT-II, Short Categories Test, Stroop Color-Word Test, WAIS-III subtests) or age and education [(WCST-64 variables; Trails A and B via Heaton Compendium Norms (Heaton et al., 1991)]. Standardized scores were transformed to *z*-scores for all measures. For the Luria–Nebraska Item 99 ratio, raw scores were converted to z-scores based on the performance of 32 non-smoking light drinking controls, as there are no published norms available for this measure. A global neurocognitive functioning score was calculated from the arithmetic mean of z-scores for all of the individual domains.

#### GENOTYPING

Genomic DNA was isolated from whole blood. The SNPs were assayed using TaqMan genotyping assays from Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA. SNP assays were performed using a reaction volume of 15  $\mu$ l, which consisted of 7.5  $\mu$ l of TaqMan 2X universal master mix, 0.38  $\mu$ l of 20X TaqMan pre-designed SNP genotyping assay, 6.14  $\mu$ l of nuclease-free water, and 1  $\mu$ l genomic DNA. After PCR amplification as per manufacturer's recommendations, SNP genotypes were determined by allelic discrimination using the ABI-7500 instrument. BDNF ( $\chi^2 = 0.79, p = 0.37$ ) and COMT ( $\chi^2 = 0.01, p = 0.92$ ) were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (see **Table 2**).

#### DATA ANALYSES

Multivariate analyses of covariance (MANCOVA) examined effects of BDNF and COMT genotypes and smoking status on the 11 domains of neurocognition (see Table 3 for list of domains), with age, AMNART, and lifetime average drinks per month as primary covariates. In our previous work with this alcohol dependent cohort, age accounted for a significant amount of the variance in neurocognition despite the use of age-corrected norms (Durazzo et al., 2008, 2010a); therefore, age was also used as a covariate in this study. Significant MANCOVA omnibus effects (p = 0.05) for genotypes and smoking status were followed-up with pairwise ttests. To control for the potential influence of medical (primarily hypertension and positivity for the hepatitis C antibody), psychiatric (primarily unipolar mood disorders), and substance abuse history on neurocognition, pairwise comparisons achieving statistical significance were reanalyzed using medical, psychiatric, and substance use comorbidities, individually, as additional covariates. Significance levels of all pairwise comparisons were adjusted for multiplicity of tests. Alpha levels (p = 0.05) for pairwise comparisons for BDNF and COMT genotypes and smoking status were adjusted for the number of neurocognitive domains evaluated (i.e., 11) and the average intercorrelation among the domains (i.e., r = 0.55), resulting in a corrected *p*-values of 0.017 (see Sankoh et al., 1997). Effect sizes (ES) for pairwise comparisons were

Table 2   Genotype frequency for BDNF Val66Met, COMT Val158Met
--

SNP	Genotype	Frequency	Percent
BDNF (rs6265)	Val/Val	47	67.1
	Val/Met	22	31.4
	Met/Met	1	1.5
COMT (rs4680)	Val/Val	21	30.0
	Val/Met	35	50.0
	Met/Met	14	20.0

SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism. All genotypes were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium ( $\chi^2 < 0.83$ , p > 0.36).

calculated via Cohen's d (Cohen, 1988). For smoking ALC, associations (i.e., semi-partial correlations) between the 11 neurocognitive domains, genotypes, lifetime average drinks per month, and lifetime years of smoking were examined with multiple linear regression (all predictors simultaneously entered into the model). Analyses were completed with SPSS v18.0.

#### RESULTS

#### PARTICIPANT CHARACTERIZATION

Participants were  $51.0 \pm 10.0$  years of age, had  $14.0 \pm 2.2$  years of formal education and were abstinent for  $33 \pm 9$  days at the time of study. Eighty percent of ALC participants were Caucasian, 13% African American, 4% Latino, 2% Native American, and 1% Pacific Islander. See **Table 1** for additional demographics and clinical measures.

## SMOKING STATUS, COMT AND BDNF GENOTYPES, AND NEUROCOGNITIVE FUNCTION

Multivariate analyses of covariance indicated significant omnibus effects for smoking status [F (10, 53) = 3.18, p < 0.003], COMT genotype [F (20, 108) = 1.77, p = 0.042], age [F (10, 53) = 2.97, p = 0.005], and AMNART [F (10, 53) = 11.74, p < 0.001]. BDNF genotype and lifetime average drinks per month were not significant predictors of neurocognition. Inspection of pairwise tests across domains for BDNF Val homozygotes versus heterozygotes revealed all comparisons were p > 0.15, with trivial ES (all <0.16).

Pairwise comparisons indicated smoking ALC performed worse than non-smoking ALC on the following domains of functioning: auditory-verbal learning (p < 0.001; ES = 0.83), auditory-verbal memory (p < 0.001; ES = 0.87), cognitive efficiency (p < 0.001; ES = 0.97), general intelligence (p < 0.001; ES = 0.92), processing speed (p < 0.001; ES = 0.97), visuospatial learning (p = 0.001; ES = 0.75), visuospatial memory (p = 0.007; ES = 0.60), and global neurocognition (p < 0.001; ES = 1.09). Smoking ALC showed a trend for lower executive skills (p = 0.05;

Table 3   Associations between neurocognitive domains
(age-corrected) and lifetime years of smoking for smoking ALC
( <i>n</i> = 39).

Neurocognitive domain	Lifetime years of smoking
Auditory-verbal learning	-0.39**
Auditory-verbal memory	-0.38*
Cognitive efficiency	-0.37**
Executive skills	-0.23
General intelligence	-0.27*
Processing speed	-0.30*
Visuospatial learning	-0.50**
Visuospatial memory	-0.45**
Visuospatial skills	-0.43**
Working memory	-0.16
Global neurocognition	-0.49**

p < 0.05; p < 0.05; p < 0.01; all tests two-tailed. Correlations are semi-partial coefficients controlling for AMNART, lifetime average drinks per month, BDNF, and COMT genotypes.

ES = 0.40). Controlling the above listed pairwise tests for COMT, medical, psychiatric, and substance abuse comorbidities did not appreciably alter the above *p*-values or ES for differences between smoking and non-smoking ALC.

Pairwise comparisons showed COMT Met homozygotes (i.e., Met/Met) were superior to Val homozygotes (i.e., Val/Val) on executive skills (p = 0.013, ES = 0.75) and showed trends for higher general intelligence (p = 0.035, ES = 0.61) and visuospatial skills (p = 0.022, ES = 0.69) than Val homozygotes. Val/Met heterozygotes demonstrated a significantly better performance on the general intelligence domain than Val homozygotes (p = 0.014, ES = 0.45). Val homozygotes performed significantly better than Val/Met on auditory-verbal memory (p = 0.012, ES = 0.65). Controlling the above listed pairwise tests for smoking status, medical, psychiatric, and substance abuse comorbidities did not alter the above reported results.

# ASSOCIATIONS OF GENOTYPES WITH ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AND LIFETIME YEARS OF SMOKING

No significant associations were observed among BDNF and COMT genotypes, alcohol consumption measures, and the 11 neurocognitive domains. For smoking ALC, higher lifetime years of smoking showed moderate to strong inverse relationships with performance on multiple neurocognitive domains after controlling for AMNART, lifetime average drinks per month, BDNF and COMT genotypes (see **Table 3**). There were no relationships between FTND score (i.e., level of nicotine dependence) and any neurocognitive domain.

#### DISCUSSION

The primary findings from this cohort of primarily male, treatment-seeking alcohol dependent individuals with approximately 1 month of abstinence from alcohol were as follows: (1) smoking ALC demonstrated significantly poorer performance than non-smoking ALC on multiple domains of neurocognition *after* controlling for COMT and BDNF genotypes and medical, psychiatric, and substance abuse comorbidities; (2) in smoking ALC, greater number of lifetime years of smoking was associated with worse performance on multiple neurocognitive domains; (3) COMT genotype was significantly associated with measures of executive skills, general intelligence, and visuospatial memory; and (4) the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism was not a significant predictor of any neurocognitive domain.

Chronic cigarette smoking in this cohort of alcohol dependent individuals in early recovery was a robust predictor of performance in multiple domains of neurocognition after controlling for BDNF and COMT genotypes, lifetime alcohol consumption, age, and AMNART. The pattern of inferior performance of smoking ALC relative to non-smoking ALC and the moderate to strong ES for the group differences are consistent with our previous research (Durazzo et al., 2008, 2010a) as well as with findings from other studies (e.g., Glass et al., 2006, 2009). Additionally, in smoking ALC, the relationships of greater number of years of lifetime smoking to age-adjusted scores on multiple neurocognitive domains remained significant and robust after controlling for BDNF and COMT, lifetime alcohol consumption, and comorbid conditions. Taken together, this suggests that the inferior performance of smoking compared to non-smoking ALC and the moderate to strong associations of lifetime years of smoking with neurocognition in smoking ALC were not mediated by the SNPs investigated, cumulative amount of alcohol consumed over lifetime, or conditions that are highly comorbid with AUD.

When assessing the effects of chronic cigarette smoking on neurocognition, it is important to distinguish between the effects of acute ingestion, metabolism and withdrawal of nicotine, and the influence of chronic exposure to the multitude of noxious compounds contained in cigarette smoke. Acute nicotine administration has been found to transiently improve some areas of neurocognition in healthy non-smokers and individuals with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and schizophrenia-spectrum disorders, predominantly on measures of sustained attention and working memory (Rezvani and Levin, 2001; Sacco et al., 2004; Mansvelder et al., 2006). Acute nicotine administration in nicotine deprived smokers is associated with improved cognitive task performance (Mendrek et al., 2006; Parrott, 2006), whereas several studies report decrements in neurocognitive performance with nicotine administration to non-smokers (see Mansvelder et al., 2006 for review). A recent meta-analysis conducted by Heishman et al. (2010) suggests that acute smoking or nicotine consumption, independent of withdrawal effects, are associated with enhanced performance in the following domains of function: fine motor skills, alerting attention accuracy and response time, orienting attention reaction time, short-term episodic memory accuracy, and working memory reaction time (but not accuracy). There is limited placebo controlled research assessing the effects of acute nicotine administration in AUD. In alcohol dependent smokers with  $40 \pm 17$  days of abstinence, a high acute nicotine dose administered via transdermal patch (14 and 21 mg for females and males, respectively), was related to greater accuracy on a measure of vigilance and working memory than a low nicotine dose (7 mg; Boissoneault et al., 2011), but neither the high nor the low nicotine dose influenced immediate or delayed auditory-verbal memory performance (Gilbertson et al., 2011). Greater pack years (a composite measure of smoking intensity and chronicity), was related to longer reaction times and lower accuracy on the vigilance and working memory task (Boissoneault et al., 2011). Similarly, in community-based samples of men with a lifetime history of alcohol dependence, higher pack years were inversely related to measures of cognitive proficiency and general intelligence (Glass et al., 2006) and both smoking and alcoholism severities were inversely related to executive function (Glass et al., 2009). In this study, longer lifetime smoking duration was associated with poorer performance on multiple neurocognitive domains, which is consistent with the findings for pack years in the above studies. sALC in this study were allowed to smoke ad libitum prior to assessment and to take smoke breaks during the assessment. The plasma halflife of nicotine is about 2 h (Nakajima and Yokoi, 2005), and, with a 2 h half-life, plasma nicotine levels will accrue (e.g., 3 or more halflives) with regular smoking during waking hours (Hukkanen et al., 2005); therefore, nicotine withdrawal likely did not confound any of our findings (for review see Sacco et al., 2004). Taken together, acute nicotine administration in smoking AUD may facilitate performance on some aspects of neurocognition; however, it appears

that increasing smoking intensity and/or chronicity in AUD is robustly related to poorer performance on multiple neurocognitive functions and may mitigate any enhancing effects of acute nicotine consumption, particularly with greater levels of smoking severity and/or chronicity. For further discussion of potential mechanisms associated with the neurocognitive and neurobiological effects of chronic cigarette smoking in AUD and non-clinical samples (see Durazzo and Meyerhoff, 2007; Durazzo et al., 2010b).

The most consistent finding for COMT in this alcohol dependent cohort was that Met allele carriers performed better than Val homozygotes on measures of executive skills and general intelligence. Specifically, Met homozygotes and Val/Met heterozygotes performed significantly better than Val homozygotes on the executive skills and general intelligence domains, respectively. Met homozygotes showed trends for better performance than Val homozygotes on the general intelligence and visuospatial skills domains. Moderate ES were apparent for the differences between COMT Met carriers and Val homozygotes. There were no significant differences between COMT Met homozygotes and Val/Met heterozygotes, and Val homozygotes were not superior to Met homozygotes on any neurocognitive domain. Our COMT findings for the executive skills domain in this alcohol dependent cohort are consistent with studies of the COMT rs4680 SNP in normal controls and individuals with neuropsychiatric disorders, which reported that Met homozygotes were superior to Val homozygotes on measures of executive skills (Savitz et al., 2006; Wishart et al., 2011). With respect to specific measures of executive skills, studies have found Met homozygotes made significantly less perseverative responses or perseverative errors on the WCST than Val homozygotes across cohorts of normal controls, individuals at risk for schizophrenia, and schizophrenics (Joober et al., 2002; Malhotra et al., 2002; Mattay et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2004). COMT Met homozygotes in this report also made less perseverative errors and perseverative responses on the WCST than Val homozygotes (p < 0.05), after controlling for BDNF genotype, smoking status, lifetime alcohol consumption, age, and AMNART (data for individual tests not shown). The influence of the COMT Val158Met SNP on neurocognition may be related to its effects on the regulation of tonic and phasic dopamine activity (DA) in the frontal lobe neocortex. The  $G \rightarrow A$  missense mutation in this SNP translates into a substitution of Val by Met at codon 158. Physiologically, the Val158Met SNP affects the thermostability of the COMT enzyme in a Met dose-dependent fashion such that Met homozygotes demonstrate approximately 50% reduction in enzymatic activity in the frontal lobe cortex (see Dickinson and Elvevag, 2009). The decreased enzymatic activity of COMT Met allele carriers is thought to result in higher tonic and more stable DA concentrations at paralimbic and neocortical D1 receptors and lower phasic alterations in subcortical DA levels, which is suggested to relate to better and more consistent performance on abilities subserved by the anterior frontal-subcortical circuits, particularly executive skills and working memory (see Bilder et al., 2004; Dickinson and Elvevag, 2009). The superior performance of Met carriers relative to Val homozygotes on measures of executive and intellectual skills is consistent with the suggested effects of COMT genotype on tonic-phasic DA neurotransmission in anterior frontal-subcortical circuits subserving higher order

neurocognitive functions. Contrary to previous studies, the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism was not a significant predictor of any neurocognitive domain. ES for pairwise comparisons of BDNF genotypes across the 11 domains were trivial (0.01–0.15), which suggests the lack of significant findings in Val homozygotes and Met Carriers were not a function of insufficient statistical power.

Age was a significant predictor of all domains except of auditory-verbal learning and memory and working memory, despite the use of age-adjusted norms. Fast, flexible, and accurate responses are required for better scores on the predominantly non-verbal/visuospatial tasks comprising the cognitive efficiency, processing speed, and visuospatial skills domains, as well as on WAIS-III non-verbal tasks contributing to the general intelligence domain. Research on normal age-related changes in neurocognition suggests decreasing information processing speed is significantly related to the declines in learning, memory, and visuospatial abilities with increasing age (Salthouse, 1996, 2000; Christensen, 2001; Finkel et al., 2007; Kochunov et al., 2010). Overall, the age effects observed in this study are congruent with the "premature aging" hypothesis in AUD (Oscar-Berman, 2000). It is also noteworthy that, in this report, and in our earlier work (Durazzo et al., 2007c, 2008, 2010a) measures of alcohol consumption were not associated with neurocognition. This is consistent with other research that found measures of alcohol consumption quantity/frequency were weakly or not related to neurocognition (Schafer et al., 1991; Beatty et al., 1995, 2000; Eckardt et al., 1998; Horner et al., 1999; Sullivan et al., 2000).

This study has limitations that may influence the generalizability of the findings. The sample size of this study was modest, which did not permit a full factorial examination of all predictors (e.g., gene  $\times$  gene interactions) and possibly led to inadequate power to detect other potential relationships between COMT and the neurocognitive domains investigated. We did not assess for personality disorders, which may contribute to the neurocognitive and neurobiological abnormalities observed in AUD (Eckardt et al., 1995; Kuruoglu et al., 1996; Giancola and Moss, 1998; Costa et al., 2000). Results may have also been influenced by factors not directly assessed in this study, such as diet, exercise, and exposure to environmental cigarette smoke or other premorbid/genetic variables. Finally, the majority of participants were males recruited from the San Francisco VA Medical Center, which did not allow for the examination of the potential effects of sex on neurocognition.

In summary, chronic cigarette smoking was strongly related to poorer performance on multiple neurocognitive domains, while the COMT Val158Met polymorphism showed significant associations with three domains (executive skills, general intelligence, and auditory-verbal memory) in this cohort of short-term abstinent alcohol dependent individuals. Importantly, our results indicate that the inferior performance demonstrated by smoking compared to non-smoking ALC was not mediated by the SNPs investigated, alcohol consumption, or comorbid medical and psychiatric conditions. The current findings reinforce our previous work that indicates consideration of smoking status and other prevalent comorbid conditions in AUD is critical to fully appreciate how this clinical syndrome influences neurocognition. Our results for the relationships of COMT polymorphism to neurocognition in AUD were consistent with findings in normal controls and individuals with schizophrenia-spectrum disorders. Research investigating the influence of BDNF and COMT on neurocognitive recovery during sustained abstinence from alcohol in this cohort is clearly indicated. Cigarette smoking is a modifiable health risk that is directly associated with at least 440,000 deaths in the United States alone and 10 million annual deaths worldwide, with greater mortality and morbidity among those with substance use disorders, mood disorders, and schizophrenia (see Durazzo and Meyerhoff, 2007 for review). This study provides clinicians with additional information on the adverse consequences of chronic smoking in those seeking treatment for AUD. In the face of high mortality from cigarette smoking in AUD (Hurt et al., 1996), the data from this report in conjunction with other neurocognitive and neuroimaging studies (see Durazzo and Meyerhoff, 2007; Durazzo et al., 2010b), lend strong support to the expanding clinical movement (which is standard practice at the San Francisco VA Medical Center) to make smoking cessation programs available to smokers at the inception of treatment for alcohol/substance use disorders.

#### REFERENCES

- Axelrod, B. N., Ryan, J. J., and Ward, L. C. (2001). Evaluation of seven-subtest short forms of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III in a referred sample. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 16, 1–8.
- Barnett, J. H., Scoriels, L., and Munafo, M. R. (2008). Meta-analysis of the cognitive effects of the catechol-O-methyltransferase gene Val158/108Met polymorphism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 137–144.
- Beatty, W. W., Katzung, V. M., Moreland, V. J., and Nixon, S. J. (1995). Neuropsychological performance of recently abstinent alcoholics and cocaine abusers. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 37, 247–253.
- Beatty, W. W., Tivis, R., Stott, H. D., Nixon, S. J., and Parsons, O. A. (2000). Neuropsychological deficits in sober alcoholics: influences of chronicity and recent alcohol consumption. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 24, 149–154.
- Beck, A. T. (1978). Depression Inventory. Philadelphia: Center for Cognitive Therapy.
- Benedict, R. (1997). Brief Visuospatial Memory Test – Revised: Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Bilder, R. M., Volavka, J., Lachman, H. M., and Grace, A. A. (2004). The catechol-O-methyltransferase polymorphism: relations to the tonic-phasic dopamine hypothesis and neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29, 1943–1961.
- Boissoneault, J., Gilbertson, R., Prather, R., and Nixon, S. J. (2011). Contrasting behavioral effects of acute nicotine and chronic smoking in

detoxified alcoholics. *Addict. Behav.* 36, 1344–1348.

- Christensen, H. (2001). What cognitive changes can be expected with normal ageing? Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 35, 768–775.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Costa, L., Bauer, L., Kuperman, S., Porjesz, B., O'connor, S., Hesselbrock, V., et al. (2000). Frontal P300 decrements, alcohol dependence, and antisocial personality disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 47, 1064–1071.
- Delis, D. C., Kramer, J. H., Kaplan, E., and Ober, B. A. (2000). *California Verbal Learning Test*, 2nd Edn. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Dempster, E., Toulopoulou, T., McDonald, C., Bramon, E., Walshe, M., Filbey, F., et al. (2005). Association between BDNF val66 met genotype and episodic memory. *Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatr. Genet.* 134B, 73–75.
- Dickinson, D., and Elvevag, B. (2009). Genes, cognition and brain through a COMT lens. *Neuroscience* 164, 72–87.
- Durazzo, T. C., Fryer, S. L., Rothlind, J. C., Vertinski, M., Gazdzinski, S., Mon, A., et al. (2010a). Measures of learning, memory and processing speed accurately predict smoking status in shortterm abstinent treatment-seeking alcohol-dependent individuals. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 45, 507–513.
- Durazzo, T. C., Meyerhoff, D. J., and Nixon, S. J. (2010b). Chronic cigarette smoking: implications for neurocognition and brain neurobiology.

**ACKNOWLEDGMENTS** 

This material is the result of work supported by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (AA10788 to Dieter J. Meyerhoff; AA012238 to Kent E. Hutchison) and the National Institute on Drug Abuse (DA24136 to Timothy C. Durazzo) with resources and the use of facilities at the San Francisco Veterans Administration Medical Center, San Francisco, CA, USA. We thank Mary Rebecca Young, Kathleen Altieri, Ricky Chen, and Drs. Peter Banys and Ellen Herbst of the Veterans Administration Substance Abuse Day Hospital (which routinely offers smoking cessation with substance abuse treatment), and Dr. David Pating, Karen Moise, and their colleagues at the Kaiser Permanente Chemical Dependency Recovery Program in San Francisco for their valuable assistance in recruiting participants. We thank Dr. Wendy Ooteman for assistance in collecting blood samples for DNA extraction. We also wish to extend our gratitude to the study participants, who made this research possible.

Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 7, 3760–3791.

- Durazzo, T. C., Gazdzinski, S., Banys, P., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2004). Cigarette smoking exacerbates chronic alcohol-induced brain damage: a preliminary metabolite imaging study. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 28, 1849–1860.
- Durazzo, T. C., Gazdzinski, S., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2007a). The neurobiological and neurocognitive consequences of chronic cigarette smoking in alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 42, 174–185.
- Durazzo, T. C., Rothlind, J. C., Cardenas, V. A., Studholme, C., Weiner, M. W., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2007b). Chronic cigarette smoking and heavy drinking in human immunodeficiency virus: consequences for neurocognition and brain morphology. Alcohol 41, 489–501.
- Durazzo, T. C., Rothlind, J. C., Gazdzinski, S., Banys, P., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2007c). Chronic smoking is associated with differential neurocognitive recovery in abstinent alcoholic patients: a preliminary investigation. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 31, 1114–1127.
- Durazzo, T. C., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2007). Neurobiological and neurocognitive effects of chronic cigarette smoking and alcoholism. *Front. Biosci.* 12, 4079–4100.
- Durazzo, T. C., Rothlind, J. C., Gazdzinski, S., Banys, P., and Meyerhoff, D. J. (2006). A comparison of neurocognitive function in nonsmoking and chronically smoking shortterm abstinent alcoholics. *Alcohol* 39, 1–11.
- Durazzo, T. C., Rothlind, J. C., Gazdzinski, S., and Meyerhoff, D.

J. (2008). The relationships of sociodemographic factors, medical, psychiatric, and substance-misuse co-morbidities to neurocognition in short-term abstinent alcohol-dependent individuals. *Alcohol* 42, 439–449.

- Eckardt, M. J., File, S. E., Gessa, G. L., Grant, K. A., Guerri, C., Hoffman, P. L., et al. (1998). Effects of moderate alcohol consumption on the central nervous system. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 22, 998–1040.
- Eckardt, M. J., Stapleton, J. M., Rawlings, R. R., Davis, E. Z., and Grodin, D. M. (1995). Neuropsychological functioning in detoxified alcoholics between 18 and 35 years of age. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 152, 53–59.
- Egan, M. F., Kojima, M., Callicott, J. H., Goldberg, T. E., Kolachana, B. S., Bertolino, A., et al. (2003). The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activity-dependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. *Cell* 112, 257–269.
- Enoch, M. A., Waheed, J. F., Harris, C. R., Albaugh, B., and Goldman, D. (2009). COMT Val158Met and cognition: main effects and interaction with educational attainment. *Genes Brain Behav.* 8, 36–42.
- Fagerstrom, K. O., Heatherton, T. F., and Kozlowski, L. T. (1991). Nicotine addiction and its assessment. *Ear Nose Throat J.* 69, 763–765.
- Finkel, D., Reynolds, C. A., McArdle, J. J., and Pedersen, N. L. (2007). Age changes in processing speed as a leading indicator of cognitive aging. *Psychol. Aging* 22, 558–568.

- First, M. B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M., and Williams, J. B. W. (1998). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders – Patient Edition (SCID-I/P, Version 2.0, 8/98 revision). New York, NY: Biometrics Research Department.
- Giancola, P. R., and Moss, H. B. (1998). Executive cognitive functioning in alcohol use disorders. *Recent Dev. Alcohol.* 14, 227–251.
- Gilbertson, R., Boissoneault, J., Prather, R., and Nixon, S. J. (2011). Nicotine effects on immediate and delayed verbal memory after substance use detoxification. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 33, 609–618.
- Gilman, S. E., and Abraham, H. D. (2001). A longitudinal study of the order of onset of alcohol dependence and major depression. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 63, 277–286.
- Glass, J. M., Adams, K. M., Nigg, J. T., Wong, M. M., Puttler, L. I., Buu, A., et al. (2006). Smoking is associated with neurocognitive deficits in alcoholism. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 82, 119–126.
- Glass, J. M., Buu, A., Adams, K. M., Nigg, J. T., Puttler, L. I., Jester, J. M., et al. (2009). Effects of alcoholism severity and smoking on executive neurocognitive function. *Addiction* 104, 38–48.
- Glenn, S. W., and Parsons, O. A. (1992). Neuropsychological efficiency measures in male and female alcoholics. *J. Stud. Alcohol* 53, 546–552.
- Golden, C. J. (1978). Stroop Color and Word Test. Chicago, IL: Stoelting Company.
- Golden, C. J., Hammeke, T. A., and Purisch, A. D. (1978). Diagnostic validity of a standardized neuropsychological battery derived from Luria's neuropsychological tests. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 46, 1258–1265.
- Goldman, D., Weinberger, D. R., Malhotra, A. K., and Goldberg, T. (2009). The Role of COMT Val158Met in Cognition. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, e1– e2.
- Grober, E., and Sliwinski, M. (1991). Development and validation of a model for estimating premorbid verbal intelligence in the elderly. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 13, 933–949.
- Hariri, A. R., Goldberg, T. E., Mattay, V. S., Kolachana, B. S., Callicott, J. H., Egan, M. F., et al. (2003). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor val66met polymorphism affects human memory-related hippocampal activity and predicts memory performance. J. Neurosci. 23, 6690–6694.

- Harris, S. E., Fox, H., Wright, A. F., Hayward, C., Starr, J. M., Whalley, L. J., et al. (2006). The brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism is associated with age-related change in reasoning skills. *Mol. Psychiatry* 11, 505–513.
- Heaton, R. K., Grant, I., and Matthews, C. G. (1991). Comprehensive Norms for an Expanded Halstead-Reitan Battery Demographic Corrections, Research Findings, and Clinical Applications. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Heishman, S. J., Kleykamp, B. A., and Singleton, E. G. (2010). Metaanalysis of the acute effects of nicotine and smoking on human performance. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 210, 453–469.
- Horner, M. D., Waid, L. R., Johnson, D. E., Latham, P. K., and Anton, R. F. (1999). The relationship of cognitive functioning to amount of recent and lifetime alcohol consumption in outpatient alcoholics. *Addict. Behav.* 24, 449–453.
- Hukkanen, J., Jacob, P. III, and Benowitz, N. L. (2005). Metabolism and disposition kinetics of nicotine. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 79–115.
- Hurt, R. D., Offord, K. P., Croghan, I. T., Gomez-Dahl, L., Kottke, T. E., Morse, R. M., et al. (1996). Mortality following inpatient addictions treatment. Role of tobacco use in a community-based cohort. *JAMA* 275, 1097–1103.
- Joober, R., Gauthier, J., Lal, S., Bloom, D., Lalonde, P., Rouleau, G., et al. (2002). Catechol-Omethyltransferase Val-108/158-Met gene variants associated with performance on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 59, 662–663.
- Kochunov, P., Coyle, T., Lancaster, J., Robin, D. A., Hardies, J., Kochunov, V., et al. (2010). Processing speed is correlated with cerebral health markers in the frontal lobes as quantified by neuroimaging. *Neuroimage* 49, 1190–1199.
- Kongs, S., Thompson, L., Iverson, G., and Heaton, R. K. (2000). WCST-64: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test-64 Card Version, Professional Manual. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Kuruoglu, A. C., Arikan, Z., Vural, G., Karatas, M., Arac, M., and Isik, E. (1996). Single photon emission computerised tomography in chronic alcoholism. Antisocial personality disorder may be associated with decreased frontal

perfusion. Br. J. Psychiatry 169, 348–354.

- Malhotra, A. K., Kestler, L. J., Mazzanti, C., Bates, J. A., Goldberg, T., and Goldman, D. (2002). A functional polymorphism in the COMT gene and performance on a test of prefrontal cognition. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 159, 652–654.
- Mansvelder, H. D., Van Aerde, K. I., Couey, J. J., and Brussaard, A. B. (2006). Nicotinic modulation of neuronal networks: from receptors to cognition. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 184, 292–305.
- Mattay, V. S., Goldberg, T. E., Fera, F., Hariri, A. R., Tessitore, A., Egan, M. F., et al. (2003). Catechol Omethyltransferase val158-met genotype and individual variation in the brain response to amphetamine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 6186–6191.
- Mendrek, A., Monterosso, J., Simon, S. L., Jarvik, M., Brody, A., Olmstead, R., et al. (2006). Working memory in cigarette smokers: comparison to non-smokers and effects of abstinence. *Addict. Behav.* 31, 833–844.
- Miyajima, F., Ollier, W., Mayes, A., Jackson, A., Thacker, N., Rabbitt, P., et al. (2008). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor polymorphism Val66Met influences cognitive abilities in the elderly. *Genes Brain Behav.* 7, 411–417.
- Nakajima, M., and Yokoi, T. (2005). Interindividual variability in nicotine metabolism: C-oxidation and glucuronidation. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 20, 227–235.
- Nixon, S. J., Paul, R., and Phillips, M. (1998). Cognitive efficiency in alcoholics and polysubstance abusers. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 22, 1414–1420.
- Nixon, S. J., Tivis, R., and Parsons, O. A. (1995). Behavioral dysfunction and cognitive efficiency in male and female alcoholics. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 19, 577–581.
- Oscar-Berman, M. (2000). "NIAAA Research Monograph No. 34: Neuropsychological vulnerabilities in chronic alcoholism," in *Review of NIAA's Neuroscience and Behavioral Research Portfolio*, eds A. Noronha, M. Eckardt, and K. Warren (Bethesda: NIAAA), 437–472.
- Parrott, A. C. (2006). Nicotine psychobiology: how chronic-dose prospective studies can illuminate some of the theoretical issues from acute-dose research. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 184, 567–576.

- Parsons, O. A., and Nixon, S. J. (1993). Neurobehavioral sequelae of alcoholism. *Neurol. Clin.* 11, 205–218.
- Raz, N., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., and Land, S. (2009). Genetic and vascular modifiers of agesensitive cognitive skills: effects of COMT, BDNF, ApoE, and hypertension. *Neuropsychology* 23, 105–116.
- Reitan, R. M., and Wolfson, D. (1985). The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery: Theory and Interpetation. Tucson, AZ: Neuropsychological Press.
- Rezvani, A. H., and Levin, E. D. (2001). Cognitive effects of nicotine. *Biol. Psychiatry* 49, 258–267.
- Rosa, A., Peralta, V., Cuesta, M. J., Zarzuela, A., Serrano, F., Martinez-Larrea, A., et al. (2004). New evidence of association between COMT gene and prefrontal neurocognitive function in healthy individuals from sibling pairs discordant for psychosis. Am. J. Psychiatry 161, 1110–1112.
- Rourke, S. B., and Loberg, T. (2009). "Neurobehavioral correlates of alcoholism," in Neuropsychological Assessment of Neuropsychiatric Disorders: Revised, eds I. Grant and K. M. Adams (New York: Oxford University Press), 398–454.
- Sacco, K. A., Bannon, K. L., and George, T. P. (2004). Nicotinic receptor mechanisms and cognition in normal states and neuropsychiatric disorders. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 18, 457–474.
- Salthouse, T. A. (1996). The processingspeed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychol. Rev.* 103, 403–428.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2000). Aging and measures of processing speed. *Biol. Psychol.* 54, 35–54.
- Sankoh, A. J., Huque, M. F., and Dubey, S. D. (1997). Some comments on frequently used multiple endpoint adjustment methods in clinical trials. *Stat. Med.* 16, 2529–2542.
- Savitz, J., Solms, M., and Ramesar, R. (2006). The molecular genetics of cognition: dopamine, COMT and BDNF. *Genes Brain Behav.* 5, 311–328.
- Schafer, K., Butters, N., Smith, T., Irwin, M., Brown, S., Hanger, P., et al. (1991). Cognitive performance of alcoholics: a longitudinal evaluation of the role of drinking history, depression, liver function, nutrition, and family history. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 15, 653–660.

- Schofield, P. R., Williams, L. M., Paul, R. H., Gatt, J. M., Brown, K., Luty, A., et al. (2009). Disturbances in selective information processing associated with the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism: evidence from cognition, the P300 and fronto-hippocampal systems. *Biol. Psychol.* 80, 176–188.
- Sher, K. J., Grekin, E. R., and Williams, N. A. (2005). The development of alcohol use disorders. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 1, 493–523.
- Skinner, H. A., and Sheu, W. J. (1982). Reliability of alcohol use indices. The lifetime drinking history and the MAST. J. Stud. Alcohol 43, 1157–1170.
- Sobell, L. C., Sobell, M. B., Riley, D. M., Schuller, R., Pavan, D. S., Cancilla, A., et al. (1988). The reliability of alcohol abusers' self-reports of drinking and life events that occurred in the distant past. *J. Stud. Alcohol* 49, 225–232.
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., Lushene, R., Vagg, P. R., and Jacobs, G. A. (1977). Self-Evaluation

*Questionaire.* Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists' Press.

- Stinson, F. S., Grant, B. F., Dawson, D. A., Ruan, W. J., Huang, B., and Saha, T. (2005). Comorbidity between DSM-IV alcohol and specific drug use disorders in the United States: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on alcohol and related conditions. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 80, 105–116.
- Sullivan, E. V., Rosenbloom, M. J., and Pfefferbaum, A. (2000). Pattern of motor and cognitive deficits in detoxified alcoholic men. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 24, 611–621.
- Swan, G. E., and Lessov-Schlaggar, C. N. (2007). The effects of tobacco smoke and nicotine on cognition and the brain. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 17, 259–273.
- Tan, Y. L., Zhou, D. F., Cao, L. Y., Zou, Y. Z., Wu, G. Y., and Zhang, X. Y. (2005). Effect of the BDNF Val66Met genotype on episodic memory in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 77, 355–356.

- Tsai, S. J., Hong, C. J., Yu, Y. W., and Chen, T. J. (2004). Association study of a brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) Val66Met polymorphism and personality trait and intelligence in healthy young females. *Neuropsychobiology* 49, 13–16.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). *The Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale*. 3rd Edn. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Wetzel, L., and Boll, T. J. (1987). Short Category Test, Booklet Format. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Wishart, H. A., Roth, R. M., Saykin, A. J., Rhodes, C. H., Tsongalis, G. J., Pattin, K. A., et al. (2011). COMT Val158Met genotype and individual differences in executive function in healthy adults. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 17, 174–180.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that

could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 July 2012; accepted: 16 September 2012; published online: 11 October 2012.

Citation: Durazzo TC, Hutchison KE, Fryer SL, Mon A and Meyerhoff DJ (2012) Associations of cigarette smoking and polymorphisms in brain-derived neurotrophic factor and catechol-Omethyltransferase with neurocognition in alcohol dependent individuals during early abstinence. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:178. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00178

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Durazzo, Hutchison, Fryer, Mon and Meyerhoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# Rapid effect of nicotine intake on neuroplasticity in non-smoking humans

# Jessica Grundey<sup>1</sup>\*, Nivethida Thirugnanasambandam<sup>1</sup>, Kim Kaminsky<sup>1</sup>, Anne Drees<sup>1</sup>, Angela C. Skwirba<sup>1</sup>, Nicolas Lang<sup>2</sup>, Walter Paulus<sup>1</sup> and Michael A. Nitsche<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Georg-August-University, Göttingen, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, Christian-Albrechts University, Kiel, Germany

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Erik Wong, AstraZeneca, USA Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Jessica Grundey, Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Georg-August-University, Robert-Koch Street 40, Göttingen 37075, Germany. e-mail: jgrundey@med. uni-goettingen.de In various studies nicotine has shown to alter cognitive functions in non-smoking subjects. The physiological basis for these effects might be nicotine-generated modulation of cortical structure, excitability, and activity, as mainly described in animal experiments. In accordance, a recently conducted study demonstrated that application of nicotine for hours via nicotine patch in non-smoking humans alters the effects of neuroplasticity-inducing non-invasive brain stimulation techniques on cortical excitability. Specifically, nicotine abolished inhibitory plasticity independent from the focality of the stimulation protocol. While nicotine prevented also the establishment of non-focal facilitatory plasticity, focal synapsespecific facilitatory plasticity was enhanced. These results agree with a focusing effect of prolonged nicotine application on facilitatory plasticity. However, since nicotine induces rapid adaption processes of its receptors, this scenario might differ from the effect of nicotine in cigarette smoking. Thus in this study we aimed to gain further insight in the mechanism of nicotine on plasticity by exploring the effect of nicotine spray on non-focal and focal plasticity-inducing protocols in non-smoking subjects, a fast-acting agent better comparable to cigarette smoking. Focal, synapse-specific plasticity was induced by paired associative stimulation (PAS), while non-focal plasticity was elicited by transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). Forty eight non-smokers received nicotine spray respectively placebo combined with one of the following protocols (anodal tDCS, cathodal tDCS, PAS-25, and PAS-10). Corticospinal excitability was monitored via motor-evoked potentials elicited by transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Nicotine spray abolished facilitatory plasticity irrespective of focality and PAS-10-induced excitability diminution, while tDCS-derived excitability reduction was delayed and weakened. Nicotine spray had thus a clear effect on neuroplasticity in non-smoking subjects. However, the effects of nicotine spray differ clearly from those of prolonged nicotine application, which might be due to missing adaptive nicotinic receptor alterations. These results enhance our knowledge about the dynamic impact of nicotine on plasticity, which might be related to its heterogenous effect on cognition.

Keywords: neuroplasticity, nicotine, non-smokers, PAS, tDCS

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Nicotine binds to the nicotinergic type of cholinergic receptors, which are ligand-gated cation channels. Nicotine also affects other transmitter systems by regulating the release of dopamine, adrenaline, serotonin, and glutamate, amongst others. Hereby nicotine is thought to be critically involved in the induction and modulation of neuroplasticity (Burnashev, 1998; Dajas-Bailador and Wonnacott, 2004; Levin et al., 2006), the likely physiological basis of learning and memory formation (Rioult-Pedotti et al., 1998, 2000). Specifically, in animal experiments the activation of nicotinic receptors results in a facilitation of long-term potentation (LTP), both dependent and independent of NMDA-receptor activation (Sawada et al., 1994; Huerta and Lisman, 1995; Matsuyama et al., 2000).

#### **COGNITIVE EFFECTS OF NICOTINE**

On a functional basis, in animal experiments nicotine has been shown to improve working memory function (Levin et al., 1994) and attention (Hahn and Stolerman, 2002), while in humans cognitive results are heterogeneous. Kleykamp et al. (2005) have found no effect of nicotine gum in different doses on attention and working memory in never-smokers. In contrast, other studies have shown that nicotine improves alerting attention-accuracy (Barr et al., 2008), visuospatial attention (Thiel et al., 2005), and working memory (Kumari et al., 2003) in non-smoking subjects. However, nicotinic plasticity modulation has been explored only in few studies in humans so far.

#### NICOTINIC PLASTICITY MODULATION

Recently it was shown that global cholinergic activation via the cholinesterase-inhibitor rivastigmine enhances focal plasticity induced by paired associative stimulation (PAS) and abolishes/reverses non-focal facilitatory plasticity generated by transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), thus resulting in a focusing effect of acetylcholine on facilitatory plasticity (Kuo et al., 2007). Similar results have been found for nicotinic effects

in non-smokers (Thirugnanasambandam et al., 2011). However, in difference to global cholinergic activation, nicotine reduced, or abolished inhibitory plasticity in these subjects. In principal accordance, nicotine enhanced the facilitatory effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation in the human motor cortex (Swayne et al., 2009). However, nicotine pharmacokinetics in the abovementioned study of Thirugnanasambandam et al. (2011) differ from that present in cigarette smokers, because in that study nicotine patches were applied, which are characterized by a slow build-up and long duration of enhanced nicotine concentration, whereas cigarette smoking results in a fast build-up and decay of nicotine concentration. Since nicotinic receptor activation induces rapid adaptive processes like desensitization (Alkondon et al., 2000; Mansvelder and McGehee, 2000), upregulation, and greater density of AChR (Flores et al., 1992; Mukhin et al., 2008) these might have affected the impact of nicotine on plasticity relevantly in that study.

#### PLASTICITY INDUCTION PROTOCOLS

In the present study, we therefore aimed to mimic the pharmacokinetics of cigarette smoking by exploring the impact of nicotine spray, which results in maximal nicotine plasma concentration within a few minutes, on focal and non-focal plasticity. Facilitatory and inhibitory plasticity were induced by tDCS (Nitsche and Paulus, 2000, 2001) and PAS (Stefan et al., 2000). Both stimulation protocols induce non-invasively NMDA- and calcium channeldependent plasticity (Stefan et al., 2002; Nitsche et al., 2003, 2004), though tDCS is supposed to induce non-focal plasticity changes due to affecting large neuron populations under large electrodes (Purpura and McMurtry, 1965; Nitsche et al., 2007), while PASinduced plasticity is restricted to synaptic connections between somatosensory and motor cortex (Weise et al., 2006). As outlined above, in non-smokers nicotine patch abolished inhibitory plasticity and focused facilitatory plasticity. Since nicotine receptors are rapidly modified by chronic nicotine exposure, we hypothesize that administration of a single dose of fast-acting nicotine might affect plasticity differently as compared to nicotine patch.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS SUBJECTS

Altogether 48 otherwise healthy non-smoking subjects participated in this study. **Table 1** displays the characteristics of the subjects in terms of age and gender. All subjects were of Caucasian origin. Chronic and acute medical diseases or any history of neurological/psychiatric disease were excluded before entering the study by assessment of medical history, likewise intake of chronic and acute medication. Pregnancy, family history of epilepsy, presence of any metallic implant, or cardiac pacemaker were ruled out. All subjects gave written informed consent before participating in the study. The experiments were approved by the local Ethics Committee and conformed to the principles laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. Allocation of the subjects to the respective experimental conditions as well as order of sessions was randomized.

#### PAIRED ASSOCIATIVE STIMULATION

Altogether twenty-four subjects participated in the PAS experiment. Twelve non-smokers participated in the inhibitory PAS

## Table 1 | Characteristics of the subjects participating in the experiments.

tDCS         tDCS           Number of subjects         12         12         12         12           Number of females(%)         6(50)         7(58)         6(50)         6(50)					
Number of females(%) 6(50) 7(58) 6(50) 6(50)	Stimulation Parameter		••••••	PAS-10	PAS-25
	Number of subjects	12	12	12	12
Age 24.4 ± 26.9 ± 25.9 ± 24.5 ±	Number of females(%)	6(50)	7(58)	6(50)	6(50)
	Age	$24.4\pm$	$26.9\pm$	$25.9\pm$	$24.5\pm$
1.2 3.6 2.1 1.3		1.2	3.6	2.1	1.3
S1 mV before nicotine spray 41.3 45.6 43.9 43.6	S1 mV before nicotine spray	41.3	45.6	43.9	43.6
S1 mV after nicotine spray 42.3 44.9 44.4 43.3	S1 mV after nicotine spray	42.3	44.9	44.4	43.3

protocol (PAS-10) and 12 in the excitatory PAS protocol (PAS-25). Peripheral nerve stimulation was delivered to the right ulnar nerve at the wrist level by a Digitimer D185 multipulse stimulator (Digitimer, Welwyn Garden City, UK) at an intensity of 300% of the sensory perceptual threshold followed by single pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) applied with a stimulator output resulting in motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) of approximately 1 mV amplitude ("baseline intensity," see description in Section "Monitoring of Cortical Excitability"). The paired pulses were repeated 90 times at a frequency of 0.05 Hz. This protocol induces long-lasting excitability changes in the motor cortex depending on the interstimulus interval (ISI). An ISI of 10 ms induces excitability diminution (PAS-10) whereas an ISI of 25 ms induces facilitation (PAS-25; Stefan et al., 2000; Wolters et al., 2003). The PAS-protocols were combined with either nicotine or placebo spray for each subject in different experimental sessions.

#### TRANSCRANIAL DIRECT CURRENT STIMULATION

Twenty four subjects participated in the tDCS experiments (12 non-smoking subjects participated in the inhibitory tDCS protocol and 12 in the excitatory tDCS protocol). We used a batterydriven constant current stimulator (Schneider Electronics, Gleichen, Germany) with a maximum output of 2 mA. tDCS was administered via rubber electrodes covered by saline soaked sponges (35 cm<sup>2</sup>). One electrode was positioned over the motor cortex representational area of the right abductor digiti minimi muscle (ADM), the other electrode above the right orbit. All subjects received 1 mA of either anodal or cathodal stimulation for 13 min (anodal tDCS) or 9 min (cathodal tDCS), which had been demonstrated to induce cortical excitability enhancement or inhibition lasting for about 1 h after the end of stimulation (Nitsche and Paulus, 2001; Nitsche et al., 2003) combined with nicotine spray or placebo medication in different experimental sessions.

#### Monitoring of motor cortex excitability

Transcranial magnetic stimulation-elicited MEPs were recorded to measure excitability changes of the representational motor cortical area of the right ADM. Single pulse TMS was conducted by a Magstim 200 magnetic stimulator (Magstim Company, Whitland, Dyfed, UK) at a frequency of 0.25 Hz with a figure of eight-shaped coil (diameter of one winding 70 mm, peak magnetic field, 2.2 T). The coil was held tangentially to the scalp at an angle of 45° to the sagittal plane with the coil handle pointing laterally and posterior. The optimal position was defined as the site where stimulation resulted consistently in the largest MEPs. Surface EMG was recorded from the right ADM with Ag–AgCl electrodes in a belly tendon montage. The signals were amplified and filtered with a time constant of 10 ms and a low-pass filter of 2.5 kHz, then digitized at an analog-to-digital rate of 5 kHz and further relayed into a laboratory computer using the Signal software and CED 1401 hardware (Cambridge Electronic Design). The intensity was adjusted to elicit, on average, baseline MEPs of 1 mV peak-to-peak amplitude, and was kept constant for the post-stimulation.

#### PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION

Each subject participated in two sessions in randomized order. Nasal spray contained nicotine or inactive placebo. Nicotine was administered by nasal spray, containing 10 mg/ml nicotine, in a cumulative dose of 1 mg (Nicorette ®Nasal Spray, McNeil Products, UK) to all subjects in combination with one of the stimulation protocols, anodal tDCS, cathodal tDCS, PAS-10, and PAS-25. The rise time of nicotine by nasal spray in venous blood levels is close to venous blood levels of nicotine delivered by cigarets (Schneider et al., 1995) with a plasma peak level after 5-10 min. Side effects of the nasal nicotinic administration were coughing, sneezing, throat irritation, and dizziness like it has been described from prior clinical trials (Sutherland et al., 1992). Symptoms subsided rapidly after some minutes. To have a comparability to the nicotine patch study, we chose a dose of nicotine spray (1 mg) that delivers nicotine blood levels comparable to those of nicotine patch (8–9 ng/ml, see also Tønnesen et al., 1991; Pomerleau et al., 1992).

#### **COURSE OF THE EXPERIMENT**

Subjects were seated comfortably in a reclined chair with headand armrest and asked to relax completely. EMG electrodes were placed at the right ADM as described above. Their exact position was marked with a pen. Then TMS was applied over the left representational area of the right ADM to determine the spot with the consistently highest MEPs in the resting ADM (optimal site), which was then marked with a pen. The TMS-intensity was adjusted to elicit MEP amplitudes of 1 mV (S1 mV). Twenty MEPs were recorded at this stimulus intensity and the mean MEP amplitude was calculated at baseline. Then nicotine nasal spray respective placebo spray was administered. Side effects like coughing and sneezing, that could interfere with the measurements subsided quickly and 10 min later one of the stimulation protocols, either tDCS or PAS, was administered, followed by immediate recording of at least 20 MEPs at the time points of 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min. For the nicotine spray condition, the after-measurements were also conducted the evening of the stimulation day and in the morning and evening of the day following the plasticity induction procedure. Sessions were conducted in randomized order, and an inter-session interval of at least 1 week was obligatory to avoid interferences. See also Figure 1 for course of the experiment.

#### DATA ANALYSIS AND STATISTICS

For all subjects the means of 20 MEP amplitudes recorded at each time point was calculated. The post-intervention mean MEP amplitudes from each subject were then normalized to the respective individual mean baseline MEP amplitude (quotient of postvs. pre-intervention MEP amplitudes). Statistical analysis used SPSS general linear model analysis for variances for repeated measurements on normalized data. MEP amplitude was the dependent variable including all time points up to 120 min after stimulation. Drug (nicotine vs. plc) and time points were included as within-subjects factors. Stimulation protocol (atDCS, ctDCS,


PAS-25, and PAS-10) served as between-subject factors. Mauchly's sphericity test was performed and Greenhouse–Geisser correction was applied when necessary. Student's *t*-tests (paired samples, two-tailed, p < 0.05, not adjusted for multiple comparisons) were performed to compare the MEP amplitudes before and after the interventional brain stimulations in each condition and between drug conditions (nicotine/placebo) for each time point. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered significant for all statistical analyses. Significances of differences in demographic factors were tested by one-way ANOVA and chi-square for gender. All data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard of error (SEM).

### RESULTS

All subjects tolerated the experiments well, even though nearly all of the subjects (44 of 46 subjects, 96%) complaint about sneezing and coughing after inhalation of nicotine spray. No significant group differences were found in terms of age, gender, TMS-intensity to elicit an MEP of 1 mV (S1 mV) before and after administration of nicotine spray (see **Table 1**). Absolute baseline MEP amplitudes did not differ significantly within and between stimulation groups and medication conditions (Student's *t*-test, two-tailed, unpaired/paired, p > 0.05for all cases). The ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of the between-subject factor timepoint and stimulation. The interactions drug × stimulation, timepoint × stimulation, and drug × timepoint × stimulation were also significant (see also **Table 2** for results of degrees of freedom, *F*-value, *p*-value, \*indicates significant values with p < 0.05).

# EFFECTS OF NICOTINE SPRAY ON tDCS-INDUCED PLASTICITY IN NON-SMOKERS

In the PLC condition the anodal tDCS-induced excitability increased MEP amplitudes stayed significant until 90 min after stimulation, and the cathodal tDCS-induced inhibition lasted until 90 min after tDCS. As revealed by the *post hoc t*-test (paired, two-tailed, p < 0.05) nicotine spray abolished the atDCS-induced long-lasting excitability enhancements in non-smoking subjects. For the cathodal tDCS protocol under influence of nicotine spray excitability diminuation started delayed after 15 min and lasted only until 20 min after stimulation. A second diminuation peak could be seen after 90 min and lasted until 120 min post-stimulation (**Figure 2**). Thus nicotine spray administration delayed and weakened the ctDCS-induced after-effects.

Table 2   Results of the ANOVA.
---------------------------------

Parameters	df	F-Value	<i>p</i> -value
Drug	1	2.288	0.138
Timepoint	6.932	2.163	0.038*
Stimulation	3	11.423	0.001*
Drug × stimulation	3	8.673	0.001*
Timepoint $\times$ stimulation	30	2.056	0.001*
Drug × timepoint	5.446	1.478	0.192
$Drug \times timepoint \times stimulation$	30	1.831	0.027*

\*p < 0.05

# EFFECTS OF NICOTINE SPRAY ON PAS-INDUCED PLASTICITY IN NON-SMOKERS

As revealed by Student's *t*-test (paired, two-tailed, p < 0.05) in the PLC- condition PAS-25-induced excitability changes (MEPenhancements) were significantly increased for up to 90 min after stimulation, while the PAS-10-induced long-lasting after-effects returned to baseline 120 min after PAS. Nicotine spray abolished both the PAS-10-induced inhibitory MEP-changes and the PAS-25-induced excitatory after-effects completely (**Figure 3**). Thus nicotine spray prevented the induction of PAS-induced focal plasticity.

### EFFECT OF NICOTINE SPRAY ON MOTOR CORTEX EXCITABILITY MEASURED BY TMS-ELICITED MOTOR-EVOKED POTENTIALS

To rule out, that nicotine spray itself increases or decreases motor cortex excitability measured by TMS, we compared TMS-intensity needed to elicit an MEP of 1 mV before and after the administration of nicotine spray. The respective Student's *t*-test (paired, two-tailed) did not reveal any significant difference between different stimulation groups and before vs. after nicotine (see **Figure 4**).

### **DISCUSSION**

The results of the present study show that nicotine administration has a prominent and rapidly evolving effect on stimulationinduced neuroplasticity in the human primary motor cortex. In non-smoking humans, nicotine spray prevented completely the induction of focal and non-focal plasticity, as induced by PAS-25, and anodal tDCS. Moreover it reduced excitability-diminishing plasticity accomplished by PAS-10, whereas nicotine had no major impact on cathodal tDCS-generated plasticity.

These results are only in partial accordance with those of a former study in our group, where we explored the effects of longacting nicotine, administered via patch, on plasticity induced by the same stimulation techniques (Thirugnanasambandam et al., 2011). Here nicotine abolished inhibitory plasticity regardless of its focality, whereas facilitatory plasticity was enhanced, when the induction procedure was focal, but abolished, when it was non-focal. Moreover, the abolishing effect of nicotine spray on facilitatory plasticity in the present study differs prominently from the effects of nicotine lozenge application, which enhanced facilitatory plasticity induced by intermittent theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex (Swayne et al., 2009). The comparison between the present study and that of Thirugnanasambandam, in which resulting nicotine plasma level should be more or less identical, is in favor for an impact of the duration of nicotine application on human cortical plasticity. One reason for these different effects of acute (in terms of minutes), and chronic (in terms of hours) nicotine administration on plasticity might be adaptive receptor up- or downregulation, which takes place rapidly in nicotinic receptors (Flores et al., 1992; Alkondon et al., 2000; Mukhin et al., 2008; Mansvelder and McGehee 2000) and thus might have had an impact on the results of the patch study. With regard to the study of Swayne and co-workers, some other aspects differ between the respective studies, such as kind of stimulation protocol, duration of plasticity induced by the stimulation protocol alone, expected plasma level, and pharmacokinetics, which makes a comparison between studies difficult, but nevertheless is



symbols indicate statistically significant deviations from baseline and

begin of the stimulation protocols (standardized). Error bars indicate standard error of mean

in advance for a neuromodulatory effect of nicotine on plasticity, whose direction might be determined by diverse factors.

### **PROPOSED MECHANISM OF ACTION**

The results of the present study allow no definite conclusions about how nicotine has affected plasticity in the present

study, but some candidate mechanisms can be derived from the more general functions of nicotinic receptors, and the physiological basis of tDCS, and PAS. Nicotine binds to nicotinergic ACh-receptors that are widely distributed throughout the brain (Albuquerque et al., 2009). In the brain two major subunits compositions exist, the heteromeric assembly of  $\alpha 4\beta 2$ 



and the homomeric  $\alpha$ 7 subunit, both exhibiting different pharmacological and physiological properties (Jones et al., 1999), and both increasing intracellular calcium levels by serving as pre- and postsynaptic ligand-gated calcium channels. As the after-effects of tDCS and PAS are likewise calcium-dependent (Stefan et al., 2002; Nitsche et al., 2003), a possible effect of nicotine on neuroplasticity might be alteration of intracellular calcium levels. The amount of intracellular calcium determines if inhibitory, facilitatory, or no plasticity is induced (Lisman, 2001; Misonou et al., 2004). Given that nicotine enhances intracellular



calcium concentration via activation of the respective nicotinic receptors, nicotine administration might have caused a calcium concentration that overshoots the limit for LTP-like induction elicited by atDCS and PAS-25, thus resulting in an extinction of after-effects. The same might be true for LTD-induction processes.

This proposed mechanism of action is however hypothetical and highly speculative presently and needs to be further explored experimentally in the future. Due to the complex impact of nicotine on other neuromodulators and – transmitters, alternative mechanisms of action cannot be ruled out.

### **GENERAL REMARKS**

The results of our study demonstrate that nicotine spray influences neuroplasticity in non-smoking humans prominently. Nicotine spray in abolishes/reduces focal and non-focal plasticity. Here the connection to cognitive studies is not easily drawn, since the nicotinic effect on cognition and memory in non-smokers is discussed controversially. A review of Heishman (1998) reported about no true enhancement of sensory ability, selective attention, learning, and other cognitive abilities (e.g., problem solving, reasoning) in non-smoking subjects. Ernst et al. (2001) describe a nicotinic improvement of reaction time, but no effect on working memory in non-smokers. Poltavski and Petros (2005) have even shown a decrement in working memory in non-smokers. To further complicate argumentation the majority of the studies have used nicotine devices other than nicotine spray (nicotine patch, cigarets, inhaler), thus comparability to these studies is difficult because of different bioavailability. Only few studies have used nicotine spray in non-smokers and have found amelioration in rapid visual information processing (Rusted and Alvares, 2008) and fine motor-skills (Perkins et al., 2008). Potential connections of nicotinergic changes in LTP- and LTP-like plasticity and alterations in cognitive functions in smokers and non-smokers have to be explored more directly and intensively in the future. To clarify the specific receptor mechanisms, different nicotinic receptor subtypes have to be examined by pharmacological interventions (agonists and antagonists). Moreover further exploration of genetic differences between smokers and non-smokers might give further insight into the question, why people develop a nicotine addiction.

### LIMITING CONDITIONS

Some limitations of the present study should be taken into account. The study was conducted in a single-blinded manner, so that the person carrying out the experiments knew about the condition of the subject (nicotine spray vs. placebo), thus delivering a possible confounding factor. Furthermore, TMS-measurements of

### REFERENCES

- Albuquerque, E. X., Pereira, E. F., Alkondon, M., and Rogers, S. W. (2009). Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol. Rev.* 89, 73–120. [Review].
- Alkondon, M., Pereira, E. F., Almeida, L. E., Randall, W. R., and Albuquerque, E. X. (2000). Nicotine at concentrations found in cigarette smokers activates and desensitizes nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in CA1 interneurons of rat hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology* 39, 2726–2739.
- Barr, R. S., Pizzagalli, D. A., Culhane, M. A., Goff, D. C., and Evins, A. E. (2008). A single dose of nicotine

enhances reward responsiveness in nonsmokers: implications for development of dependence. *Biol. Psychiatry* 1, 1061–1065.

- Burnashev, N. (1998). Calcium permeability of ligand-gated channels. *Cell Calcium* 24, 325–332.
- Dajas-Bailador, F., and Wonnacott, S. (2004). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the regulation of neuronal signalling. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 25, 317–324. [Review].
- Ernst, M., Heishman, S. J., Spurgeon, L., and London, E. D. (2001). Smoking history and nicotine effects on cognitive performance. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 25, 313–319.

cortical excitability were not performed until the next day in the placebo group, which complicates evaluation of nicotinic longlasting effects on plasticity. Another limitation is the fact, that we cannot exclude non-linear dose-dependent effects of nicotine spray, since we performed the study with a stable dose of 1 mg. Dose-related effects on cortical excitability have p.e. been described for dopamine (Monte-Silva et al., 2009) and possible have to be taken into account also for other substances. This might be of special importance for the physiological effects of neuromodulators. Another restriction is that we did not obtain blood levels of nicotine, thus it cannot be excluded completely that different effects of nicotine patch and spray applications on plasticity are at least partially caused by different blood concentrations. It might furthermore complicate the comparability of the results of this study with other studies as well as cognitive testing. Still former pharmacological studies have measured blood levels in subjects taking 1 mg nicotine spray. With an average of 8-9 ng/ml, the blood level did not differ from the blood levels obtained after administration of nicotine patch 15 mg/16 h (8,9 ng/ml), which is the dosage we had chosen for the patch study (Tønnesen et al., 1991; Pomerleau et al., 1992; Thirugnanasambandam et al., 2011).

Moreover it should be mentioned that the explanation and discussion of the results is only hypothetical presently as currently direct correlation to cognitive studies is still missing. Possible future studies might test this linking between cortical excitability changes and impact on cognitive functions more directly and give further insight in the mechanisms of nicotine in smokers and non-smokers. Since chronic nicotine spray administration has fast and similar effects on craving and withdrawal symptoms than patch (Hajek et al., 1999) it would be further interesting in future possible studies to explore long-term effects of nicotine spray on neuroplasticity.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The study was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG grant NI683/4-1 "Toward risk prediction of nicotine dependency by exploring individual limits if cortical neuroplasticity in humans"; NI 683/4-2 "Impact of the nicotinergic alpha7 receptor in smokers and non-smokers)" within the DFG priority program "Nicotine: molecular and physiological effects in central nervous system."

- Flores, C. M., Rogers, S. W., Pabreza, L. A., Wolfe, B. B., and Kellar, K. J. (1992). A subtype of nicotinic cholinergic receptor in rat brain is composed of alpha 4 and beta 2 subunits and is up-regulated by chronic nicotine treatment. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 41, 31–37.
- Hahn, B., and Stolerman, I. P. (2002). Nicotine-induced attentional enhancement in rats: effects of chronic exposure to nicotine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 27, 712–722.
- Hajek, P., West, R., Foulds, J., Nilsson, F., Burrows, S., and Meadow,A. (1999). Randomized comparative trial of nicotine polacrilex, a

transdermal patch, nasal spray, and an inhaler. Arch. Intern. Med. 159, 2033–2038.

- Heishman, S. J. (1998). What aspects of human performance are truly enhanced by nicotine? *Addiction* 93, 317–320. [Review].
- Huerta, P. T., and Lisman, J. E. (1995). Bidirectional synaptic plasticity induced by a single burst during cholinergic theta oscillation in CA1 in vitro. *Neuron* 15, 1053–1063.
- Jones, H. E., Garrett, B. E., and Griffiths, R. R. (1999). Subjective and physiological effects of intravenous nicotine and cocaine in cigarette smoking cocaine abusers. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 288, 188–197.

- Kleykamp, B. A., Jennings, J. M., Blank, M. D., and Eissenberg, T. (2005). The effects of nicotine on attention and working memory in neversmokers. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 19, 433–438.
- Kumari, V., Gray, J. A., ffytche, D. H., Mitterschiffthaler, M. T., Das, M., Zachariah, E., et al. (2003). Cognitive effects of nicotine in humans: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 19, 1002–1013.
- Kuo, M. F., Grosch, J., Fregni, F., Paulus, W., and Nitsche, M. A. (2007). Focusing effect of acetylcholine on neuroplasticity in the human motor cortex. J. Neurosci. 27, 14442–14447.
- Levin, E. D., Briggs, S. J., Christopher, N. C., and Auman, J. T. (1994). Working memory performance and cholinergic effects in the ventral tegmental area and substantia nigra. *Brain Res.* 657, 165–170.
- Levin, E. D., McClernon, F. J., and Rezvani, A. H. (2006). Nicotinic effects on cognitive function: behavioral characterization, pharmacological specification, and anatomic localization. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 184, 523–539. [Review].
- Lisman, J. E. (2001). Three Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels affect plasticity differently: the LTP zone, the LTD zone and no man's land. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 532(Pt 2), 285.
- Mansvelder, H. D., and McGehee, D. S. (2000). Long-term potentiation of excitatory inputs to brain reward areas by nicotine. *Neuron* 27, 349–357.
- Matsuyama, S., Matsumoto, A., Enomoto, T., and Nishizaki, T. (2000). Activation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors induces long-term potentiation in vivo in the intact mouse dentate gyrus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12, 3741–3747.
- Misonou, H., Mohapatra, D. P., Park, E. W., Leung, V., Zhen, D., and Misonou, K., et al. (2004). Regulation of ion channel localization and phosphorylation by neuronal activity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 711–718.
- Monte-Silva, K., Kuo, M. F., Thirugnanasambandam, N., Liebetanz, D., Paulus, W., and Nitsche, M. A. (2009). Dose-dependent inverted Ushaped effect of dopamine (D2like) receptor activation on focal

and nonfocal plasticity in humans. *J. Neurosci.* 13, 6124–6131.

- Mukhin, A. G., Kimes, A. S., Chefer, S. I., Matochik, J. A., Contoreggi, C. S., Horti, A. G., et al. (2008). Greater nicotinic acetylcholine receptor density in smokers than in nonsmokers: a PET study with 2-18F-FA-85380. J. Nucl. Med. 49, 1628–1635.
- Nitsche, M. A., Fricke, K., Henschke, U., Schlitterlau, A., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., et al. (2003). Pharmacological modulation of cortical excitability shifts induced by transcranial direct current stimulation in humans. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 15(Pt 1), 293–301.
- Nitsche, M. A., Jaussi, W., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., Tergau, F., and Paulus, W. (2004). Consolidation of human motor cortical neuroplasticity by Dcycloserine. *Neuropsychopharmacol*ogy 29, 1573–1578.
- Nitsche, M. A., and Paulus, W. (2000). Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 527, 633–639.
- Nitsche, M. A., and Paulus, W. (2001). Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* 57, 1899–1901.
- Nitsche, M. A., Roth, A., Kuo, M. F., Fischer, A. K., Liebetanz, D., and Lang, N., et al. (2007). Timing-dependent modulation of associative plasticity by general network excitability in the human motor cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 3807–3812.
- Perkins, K. A., Lerman, C., Coddington, S. B., Jetton, C., Karelitz, J. L., Scott, J. A., et al. (2008). Initial nicotine sensitivity in humans as a function of impulsivity. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 200, 529–544.
- Poltavski, D. V., and Petros, T. (2005). Effects of transdermal nicotine on prose memory and attention in smokers and nonsmokers. *Physiol Behav.* 17, 833–843.
- Pomerleau, O. F., Flessland, K. A., Pomerleau, C. S., and Hariharan, M. (1992). Controlled dosing of nicotine via an Intranasal Nicotine Aerosol Delivery Device (INADD). *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 108, 519–526.
- Purpura, D. P., and McMurtry, J. G. (1965). Intracellular activities and

evoked potential changes during polarization of motor cortex. *J. Neurophysiol.* 28, 166–185.

- Rioult-Pedotti, M. S., Friedman, D., and Donoghue, J. P. (2000). Learninginduced LTP in neocortex. *Science* 290, 533–536.
- Rioult-Pedotti, M. S., Friedman, D., Hess, G., and Donoghue, J. P. (1998). Strengthening of horizontal cortical connections following skill learning. *Nat. Neurosci.* 1, 230–234.
- Rusted, J. M., and Alvares, T. (2008). Nicotine effects on retrieval-induced forgetting are not attributable to changes in arousal. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 196, 83–92.
- Sawada, S., Yamamoto, C., and Ohno-Shosaku, T. (1994). Long-term potentiation and depression in the dentate gyrus, and effects of nicotine. *Neurosci. Res.* 20, 323–329.
- Schneider, N. G., Olmstead, R., Mody, F. V., Doan, K., Franzon, M., Jarvik, M. E., et al. (1995). Efficacy of a nicotine nasal spray in smoking cessation: a placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. *Addiction* 90, 1671–1682.
- Stefan, K., Kunesch, E., Benecke, R., Cohen, L. G., and Classen, J. (2002). Mechanisms of enhancement of human motor cortex excitability induced by interventional paired associative stimulation. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 543(Pt 2), 699–708.
- Stefan, K., Kunesch, E., Cohen, L. G., Benecke, R., and Classen, J. (2000). Induction of plasticity in the human motor cortex by paired associative stimulation. *Brain* 123, 572–584.
- Sutherland, G., Russell, M. A., Stapleton, J., Feyerabend, C., and Ferno, O. (1992). Nasal nicotine spray: efficacy of a nicotine nasal spray in smoking cessation: a placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. *Addiction* 90, 1671–1682.
- Swayne, O. B., Teo, J. T., Greenwood, R. J., and Rothwell, J. C. (2009). The facilitatory effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation on corticospinal excitability are enhanced by nicotine. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 120, 1610–1615.
- Thiel, C. M., Zilles, K., and Fink, G. R. (2005). Nicotine modulates reorienting of visuospatial attention

and neural activity in human parietal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 810–820.

- Thirugnanasambandam, N., Grundey, J., Adam, K., Drees, A., and Skwirba, A. C. (2011). Nicotinergic impact on focal and non-focal neuroplasticity induced by non-invasive brain stimulation in non-smoking humans. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 879–886.
- Tønnesen, P., Nørregaard, J., Simonsen, K., and Säwe, U. (1991). A doubleblind trial of a 16-h transdermal nicotine patch in smoking cessation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 325, 311–315.
- Weise, D., Schramm, A., Stefan, K., Wolters, A., Reiners, K., Naumann, M., et al. (2006). The two sides of associative plasticity in writer's cramp. *Brain* 129(Pt 10), 2709–2721.
- Wolters, A., Sandbrink, F., Schlottmann, A., Kunesch, E., Stefan, K., Cohen, L. G., et al. (2003). A temporally asymmetric Hebbian rule governing plasticity in the human motor cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 89, 2339–2345.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 06 May 2012; accepted: 05 October 2012; published online: 26 October 2012.

Citation: Grundey J, Thirugnanasambandam N, Kaminsky K, Drees A, Skwirba AC, Lang N, Paulus W and Nitsche MA (2012) Rapid effect of nicotine intake on neuroplasticity in non-smoking humans. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:186. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00186

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Grundey, Thirugnanasambandam, Kaminsky, Drees, Skwirba, Lang, Paulus and Nitsche. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# The Yin and Yang of nicotine: harmful during development, beneficial in adult patient populations

### Danielle S. Counotte<sup>1</sup>, August B. Smit<sup>2</sup> and Sabine Spijker<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Anatomy and Neurobiology, School of Medicine, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Molecular and Cellular Neurobiology, Center for Neurogenomics and Cognitive Research, VU University, Amsterdam, Netherlands

### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

### Reviewed by:

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Raja S. Settivari, The Dow Chemical Company, USA

### \*Correspondence:

Sabine Spijker, Department of Molecular and Cellular Neurobiology, Center for Neurogenomics and Cognitive Research, Neuroscience Campus Amsterdam, VU University, De Boelelaan 1085, 1081 HV Amsterdam, Netherlands e-mail: s.spijker@vu.nl Nicotine has remarkably diverse effects on the brain. Being the main active compound in tobacco, nicotine can aversively affect brain development. However, it has the ability to act positively by restoring attentional capabilities in smokers. Here, we focus on nicotine exposure during the prenatal and adolescent developmental periods and specifically, we will review the long-lasting effects of nicotine on attention, both in humans and animal models. We discuss the reciprocal relation of the beneficial effects of nicotine, improving attention in smokers and in patients with neuropsychiatric diseases, such as schizophrenia and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, vs. nicotine-related attention deficits already caused during adolescence. Given the need for research on the mechanisms of nicotine's cognitive actions, we discuss some of the recent work performed in animals.

Keywords: nicotine, developmental stages, animal model, brain development, ADHD

### INTRODUCTION

Smoking is the leading preventable cause of death and disability in the USA (Novick, 2000), and nicotine, the main active compound in tobacco smoke can have health effects in very different ways. Obviously, the best known is its highly addictive property. In addition, it has various more subtle effects on the brain. Two prominent features are its effect on brain developmental and on attention. Moreover, nicotine has been shown to exert a protective effect on the display of neurodegenerative diseases. The mechanisms behind the adverse and potentially beneficial effects will need more research in the years to come. This review will highlight some of the salient features of nicotine along these lines.

With respect to development, there are two main developmental periods during which individuals are at risk to come into contact with biologically relevant doses of nicotine. The first window of vulnerability is during prenatal development, when women might smoke during pregnancy. The second is the developmental period of adolescence, during which when most smokers start their habit (Chassin et al., 1996). In adulthood the effects of nicotine may be less on neuronal development, but become apparent in its acute effects on neuronal circuitry properties (for review Poorthuis et al., 2009). This has immediate consequences for the attention state of the brain (for review Counotte et al., 2011b). Related to this, smokers use nicotine to self-medicate their attention deficits (Lerman et al., 2001), and patients with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) perform worse when abstinent from nicotine (McClernon et al., 2008). ADHD is a common clinically significant condition in school-aged children, affecting 5-10% of children worldwide, with persisting lifelong features (Pediatrics, 2000). There are reciprocal links between smoking and ADHD, with on one hand nicotine exposure during development

increasing the risk for ADHD, and on the other hand high rates of ADHD patients that are smokers, probably (at least partly) to alleviate their attention deficits. Thus, despite negative effects of nicotine on brain development and its persistent addictive properties, there are instances in which nicotine exposure can be beneficial for an individual.

Another interesting feature of nicotine is its reported long-term benefit in protection to neurodegenerative disease (Bordia et al., 2008; Echeverria et al., 2010, for review, see Shimohama, 2009). Both nicotine and its breakdown product cotinine have been suggested as cognitive enhancers for Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease in preclinical models (Bordia et al., 2008; Echeverria et al., 2010). Although potentially of interest, this aspect of nicotine action will not be discussed further here.

In this review, we will examine the long-term effects of nicotine exposure during two epochs of brain development (prenatal and peri-adolescent) in the attention domain of cognition. In humans, it is difficult to separate the effects of developmental nicotine exposure from confounding factors, such as demographics and pre-existing or co-morbid psychiatric disorders, which is why we will also review studies using animal models of developmental nicotine exposure. As recent studies have established a correlation of developmental nicotine use and attention, and studies describing the mechanisms behind these effects start to emerge, we will focus on studies assessing attention performance. Recent work using animal models has enabled us to study the molecular and synaptic mechanisms underlying the long-term effects of developmental nicotine exposure.

### **PRENATAL NICOTINE EXPOSURE**

Even though smoking by pregnant women is declining in recent years, still 13% of women reported smoking during pregnancy in 2005 (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009), which might even be an underestimation due to non-disclosure (Dietz et al., 2010). In some high-risk populations, smoking rates are as high as 25% (Arria et al., 2006). Many women find it hard to quit smoking when they are pregnant (Einarson and Riordan, 2009). Recommending nicotine replacement therapy may not be beneficial (Slotkin, 2008) considering that nicotine can cross the placenta and thus will enter the fetus through the mother's circulation. The developing fetus does not have the abilities to breakdown nicotine and its active metabolite cotinine as efficient as adults do, so nicotine and cotinine levels will buildup in the fetus (Sastry et al., 1998). A well-known more immediate consequence of maternal smoking during pregnancy is the increased risk for sudden infant death syndrome due to nicotine targeting monoamine pathways in brainstem and cardiac sympathetic innervation (Slotkin et al., 1999, 2010), and intra-uterine growth retardation resulting in reduced birth weight (Ernst et al., 2001b). Although it does not outweigh the negative effects of smoking, smoking during (late) pregnancy could protect the mother from hypertension and resulting pre-eclampsia (England and Zhang, 2007; Wikstrom et al., 2010).

### PRENATAL NICOTINE EXPOSURE AND DEVELOPMENT OF ADHD

There is a substantial body of literature of both retrospective population-based studies and case-control studies suggesting that prenatal nicotine exposure is associated with an increased occurrence of ADHD (Milberger et al., 1996; Thapar et al., 2003; Schmitz et al., 2006; Biederman et al., 2009; Galera et al., 2011; Sagiv et al., 2012; for review Winzer-Serhan, 2008; Cornelius and Day, 2009). Milberger et al. (1996) found a 2.7-fold increase in ADHD associated with maternal smoking, when comparing 140 boys with ADHD to 120 control boys and their first-degree biological relatives. Galera et al. (2011) found that prenatal tobacco exposure has a risk factor of 1.41 for attention deficits and impulsivity in a longitudinal cohort of 2057 individuals who were followed from 5 months of age to 8 years. Already shortly after birth, infants exposed to tobacco smoking in utero showed poorer attention skills (Espy et al., 2011). In patients with ADHD, heavy maternal smoking is associated with poorer performance on the continuous performance task (CPT; Motlagh et al., 2011). However, a causal link between maternal smoking and ADHD has not been established. Using a different experimental design examining 815 families in which infants were divided into two groups, one group that was genetically related to their parents, and one that was genetically unrelated to their mothers because of fertility treatments that used donor eggs, Thapar et al. (2009) found that ADHD was only related to maternal smoking in the genetically related infants, even though confounding factors (like parental ADHD) were controlled for. In the genetically unrelated infants, maternal smoking did lead to a decreased birth weight, but was not associated with ADHD, suggesting that in traditional observational designs it is impossible to adequately control for confounding factors. This also suggests that the link between maternal smoking and ADHD might be more complicated, involving the interaction of genetic vulnerability and environmental influences including nicotine exposure.

# $\label{eq:prenatal} \begin{array}{l} \text{PRENATAL NICOTINE AND GENE} \times \text{ENVIRONMENT INTERACTIONS} \\ \text{EXPLORED IN ANIMAL RESEARCH} \end{array}$

A way to have better control over confounding factors and complex gene  $\times$  environment interactions in humans is to use an animal model. Importantly, nicotine in rodents was found to have similar rewarding properties and cognitive effects to humans. This makes rodent nicotine research to large extent valid to in translating to human brain development, addictive properties, and attention.

Prenatal exposure to nicotine in rodents has been shown to modulate normal developmental activation of nAChRs, which is of importance for cell survival, synapse formation, and synapse maturation (for review Dwyer et al., 2009). Rats that had been previously exposed to nicotine in utero, in a paradigm where mothers were exposed to 0.06 mg/ml nicotine in the drinking water before and during pregnancy, show impairments in attention performance in the 5-CSRTT, both when tested during adolescence and adulthood (Schneider et al., 2011, 2012). Specifically, animals tested as adults showed decreased correct responses and an increased number of omissions (not paying attention; Schneider et al., 2011). Animals tested during adolescence only showed an increase in anticipatory responses but no difference in accuracy (Schneider et al., 2012). Also, prenatal nicotine exposure caused increased motor impulsivity in adult animals, indicated by the increased number of anticipatory responses, but it did not cause an increase in impulsive choice, since there was no difference in delay-discounting (Schneider et al., 2011). In addition, in a paradigm modeling third trimester nicotine exposure, where pups were exposed to 6 mg/kg nicotine per day by gastric intubation from P1 to P7, it was confirmed that this did not lead to differences in impulsive choice, and similarly, there were no differences in risky decision-making (Mitchell et al., 2012). Together, these findings show that prenatal nicotine exposure does lead to attention deficits, but animals show only some of the cognitive deficits (e.g., impulsive action) that are observed in humans. This suggests that some deficits may be due to human-specific genetic or environmental factors, or are due to other components than nicotine in tobacco smoke (Baker et al., 2004).

### **ADOLESCENT NICOTINE EXPOSURE**

Brain development continues during adolescence, and nicotine from tobacco smoke can interfere with normal development (for review Slotkin et al., 2007; Counotte et al., 2011b), thus leading to deficits in attention and impulsivity. Jacobsen et al. (2005, 2007) showed that adolescent smokers perform worse on working memory and attention tasks. Individuals who were exposed to prenatal maternal smoking were even more severely impaired than those that were not (Jacobsen et al., 2007). Similarly, there were gender differences; female adolescent smokers were impaired on both a visual and auditory attention task, whereas male adolescent smokers were only impaired on the auditory attention task (Jacobsen et al., 2007). It is important to note that the smokers were allowed to smoke during a break between the tests to make sure they were not inattentive because of withdrawal from nicotine (West and Hack, 1991). These deficits in attention are accompanied by reduced attention-associated prefrontal cortical blood-oxygen level dependent (BOLD)-responses (Musso et al., 2007), indicating the importance of the prefrontal cortex in attention.

Smokers in general have been reported to have higher levels of impulsivity, both impulsive choice (Bickel et al., 1999; Mitchell, 1999) and impulsive action, or inhibitory control (Mitchell, 1999; Spinella, 2002; Skinner et al., 2004). However, it is difficult to determine whether nicotine exposure leads to impulsivity, or that impulsivity leads people to start smoking. There is currently no data showing that adolescent smokers have increased impulsivity or that adolescent nicotine exposure has long-lasting effects on impulsivity.

To address the issue of causality, we used an animal model to study the long-term effect of adolescent nicotine exposure on attention and impulsivity and found that 10 days of adolescent nicotine exposure (three daily injections of 0.4 mg/kg) impairs attention in the 5-CSRTT in adult animals, even after a relatively long nicotine-free period (Counotte et al., 2009, 2011a). Also, these animals showed increased motor impulsivity, indicated by an elevated number of premature responses in the 5-CSRTT but no deficits in impulsive choice (Counotte et al., 2009). We found that the decrease in attention following adolescent nicotine exposure was (at least in part) caused by a decreased synaptic expression of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR2 in the medial prefrontal cortex, because stimulation of this receptor by local infusion of an mGluR2/3 agonist relieved the attention deficits and brought the adolescent nicotine exposed animals back to the level of their control counterparts (Counotte et al., 2011a). This change in mGluR2 signaling in the mPFC in turn leads to an alteration of the rules for spike timing-dependent plasticity, meaning that the ability to filter information has decreased (Goriounova and Mansvelder, 2012). Thus, adolescent nicotine exposure affects synaptic signaling mechanisms involving metabotropic glutamate signaling in the mPFC. These signaling mechanisms are known to be important for plasticity and synaptic maturation (Michalon et al., 2012).

### **BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF NICOTINE-LIKE SUBSTANCES**

Nicotine has complex effects on cognitive performance that are in part determined by the existing state of the cholinergic system and by signaling via nicotinic receptors. Smokers, healthy non-smokers, and patients with impaired prefrontal cortical function, all differ in to what extent nicotine affects their cognitive performance. In healthy subjects, nicotine has no or only weak effects on cognitive performance. However, subjects with suboptimal performance, such as patients with ADHD, schizophrenia, or Alzheimer's disease are more likely to benefit from nicotine, and nicotinic drugs can act beneficial on attention and sensory gating (Newhouse et al., 2004). Compared with the percentage of smokers in the general population [currently around 20% in the US (Services and U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010), a higher percentage of mentally ill patients smoke regularly (26-88%, depending on the mental illness; Lasser et al., 2000)]. Particularly patients with schizophrenia, depression, posttraumatic stress disorder, or ADHD smoke, and they have a lower chance of quitting smoking (Lambert and Hartsough, 1998; Services and U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010). It has been postulated that tobacco smoking may ameliorate some of the major cognitive deficits in mentally ill patients and may act as self-medication (Lerman et al., 2001; Newhouse

et al., 2004). On the other hand, abstinence worsens performance on attention tasks such as the human CPT in ADHD patients, but not in controls (McClernon et al., 2008). In healthy nonsmokers the evidence of beneficial effects from nicotine on cognition is less clear. Performance in some cognitive tasks shows improvement by nicotine, whereas other aspects of cognition are impaired (Levin et al., 1997, 1998; Ernst et al., 2001a; Wignall and de Wit, 2011). For example, in non-smokers, nicotine can lead to faster reaction times in attention and working memory tasks, although this improvement might come at the expense of fewer correct responses (Le Houezec et al., 1994; Foulds et al., 1996). It is of note that even in smokers, the presence of nicotine may not necessarily improve their attention to the levels of their non-smoking counterparts. In a study by Jacobsen et al. (2007) adolescent smokers were allowed to smoke during a midway break on an attention task, and they still performed worse than non-smokers.

The dichotomy in the beneficial effects of nicotine and related compounds is probably due to alterations in the cholinergic and/or cortical attention system of smokers and patients with distinct psychiatric diseases. Various factors maybe causing this. For instance, it might relate to some extent to smoking-induced changes in nicotinic receptor number and sensitivity (Kadir et al., 2006; Brasic et al., 2012), or alternatively, disease-specific developmental disturbances in receptor expression or aberrant development of circuitry may underlie this.

In smokers, whose nicotinic acetylcholine receptor signaling pathways have undergone adaptations due to chronic nicotine exposure, nicotine can be beneficial for attention performance. However, this beneficial effect of nicotine is in the context of generally impaired attention and cognitive ability after nicotine deprivation (Kleykamp et al., 2011; Vossel et al., 2011). In fact, the effect of nicotine, as that of many other drugs, resembles an inverted U-shape function in which subjects who perform at suboptimum levels will show increased performance after drug stimulation (Newhouse et al., 2011). Thus, smoking or nicotine administration in nicotine-dependent smokers only reverses the impairment in cognitive function caused by abstinence from smoking (Sacco et al., 2004).

This difference in altered state of nicotine sensitive pathways is reflected in studies in which compounds, directly or indirectly targeting nAChRs, are tested in (pre)clinical trials for their cognitive enhancing effects. One of these, AZD3480/TC1734, a partial agonist of α4β2\* nAChR, exhibits memory-enhancing properties in healthy rodents and man (Obinu et al., 2002; Dunbar et al., 2007), albeit with mixed results in different patient populations (Dunbar et al., 2011; Frolich et al., 2011; Velligan et al., 2012). Despite initial positive reports on the effects in a phase II clinical trial, in which AZD3480 seemingly improved symptoms of ADHD, as well as results on the Stop Signal Reaction task, no further publication has yet appeared. In rats however, AZD3480 has been shown to improve MK801-induced impairments in accuracy as measured in an operant signal detection task, without having an effect on its own (Rezvani et al., 2012). Thus, novel drugs targeting the nicotinic receptors might have beneficial effects in a brain in which cholinergic signaling is disturbed (Figure 1).



### **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

Nicotine acts in the brain via a complex repertoire of receptor subtypes. Not surprisingly, many of the precise underlying mechanisms of action of nicotine on cognitive function still need to be revealed. Experimental work on animal models might assist in this.

Results from clinical and preclinical studies show that efficacy of nicotinic receptor targeting drugs could in principle be profoundly influenced by differences in the state of the cholinergic system and/or that of the involved circuitry, and hence possibly the health or disease status of the individual. Nicotinic-compounds are promising as cognitive enhancers, and most likely act only in patients. This has the consequence that the type of animal model used to screen treatment efficacy should well fit the disease state targeted. Modeling such a state at the preclinical level can

### REFERENCES

- Arria, A. M., Derauf, C., Lagasse, L. L., Grant, P., Shah, R., Smith, L., et al. (2006). Methamphetamine and other substance use during pregnancy: preliminary estimates from the Infant Development, Environment, and Lifestyle (IDEAL) study. Matern. Child Health J. 10, 293–302.
- Baker, R. R., Massey, E. D., and Smith, G. (2004). An overview of the effects

of tobacco ingredients on smoke chemistry and toxicity. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 42(Suppl.), S53–S83.

- Bickel, W. K., Odum, A. L., and Madden, G. J. (1999). Impulsivity and cigarette smoking: delay discounting in current, never, and ex-smokers. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 146, 447–454.
- Biederman, J., Monuteaux, M. C., Faraone, S. V., and Mick, E. (2009). Parsing the associations

agents. Nicotine exposure during specific developmental periods maybe one of these, thereby assuring that stable alterations in receptor levels or signaling state of patients is mimicked. In addition, studying animals carrying human gene mutations offers the possibility of specifically addressing the functional role in behavioral output related to the human disease (Trueman et al., 2012). Moreover, it should be noted that "cognitive improvement" is a broad concept, and that preclinical models should try to address a large panel of behavioral phenotypes, including altered states of attentional performance, which are in general more difficult to address. Current improvements in technology and animal behavioral paradigms hold a promise for the further mechanistic understanding of the effects of nicotine on the brain (Endo et al., 2011; Winter and Schaefers, 2011).

be achieved with genetic alterations, or by using pharmacological

between prenatal exposure to nicotine and offspring psychopathology in a nonreferred sample. *J. Adolesc. Health* 45, 142–148.

- Bordia, T., Campos, C., Huang, L., and Quik, M. (2008). Continuous and intermittent nicotine treatment reduces L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA)-induced dyskinesias in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 327, 239–247.
- Brasic, J. R., Cascella, N., Kumar, A., Zhou, Y., Hilton, J., Raymont, V., et al. (2012). Positron emission tomography experience with 2-[(1)(8)F]fluoro-3-(2(S)azetidinylmethoxy)pyridine (2-[(1)(8)F]FA) in the living human brain of smokers with paranoid schizophrenia. Synapse 66, 352–368.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009). Trends in smoking

before, during, and after pregnancy. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 58, 1–29.

- Chassin, L., Presson, C. C., Rose, J. S., and Sherman, S. J. (1996). The natural history of cigarette smoking from adolescence to adulthood: demographic predictors of continuity and change. *Health Psychol.* 15, 478–484.
- Cornelius, M. D., and Day, N. L. (2009). Developmental consequences of prenatal tobacco exposure. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 22, 121–125.
- Counotte, D. S., Goriounova, N. A., Li, K. W., Loos, M., Van Der Schors, R. C., Schetters, D., et al. (2011a). Lasting synaptic changes underlie attention deficits caused by nicotine exposure during adolescence. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 417–419.
- Counotte, D. S., Smit, A. B., Pattij, T., and Spijker, S. (2011b). Development of the motivational system during adolescence, and its sensitivity to disruption by nicotine. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 1, 430–443.
- Counotte, D. S., Spijker, S., Van De Burgwal, L. H., Hogenboom, F., Schoffelmeer, A. N., De Vries, T. J., et al. (2009). Long-lasting cognitive deficits resulting from adolescent nicotine exposure in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 299–306.
- Dietz, P. M., Homa, D., England, L. J., Burley, K., Tong, V. T., Dube, S. R., et al. (2010). Estimates of nondisclosure of cigarette smoking among pregnant and nonpregnant women of reproductive age in the United States. Am. J. Epidemiol. 173, 355–359.
- Dunbar, G., Boeijinga, P. H., Demazieres, A., Cisterni, C., Kuchibhatla, R., Wesnes, K., et al. (2007). Effects of TC-1734 (AZD3480), a selective neuronal nicotinic receptor agonist, on cognitive performance and the EEG of young healthy male volunteers. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 191, 919–929.
- Dunbar, G. C., Kuchibhatla, R. V., and Lee, G. (2011). A randomized double-blind study comparing 25 and 50 mg TC-1734 (AZD3480) with placebo, in older subjects with age-associated memory impairment. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 25, 1020–1029.
- Dwyer, J. B., McQuown, S. C., and Leslie, F. M. (2009). The dynamic effects of nicotine on the developing brain. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 122, 125–139.
- Echeverria, V., Zeitlin, R., Burgess, S., Patel, S., Barman, A., Thakur, G., et al. (2010). Cotinine reduces amyloid-beta aggregation and improves memory in Alzheimer's

disease mice. J. Alzheimers Dis. 24, 817-835.

- Einarson, A., and Riordan, S. (2009). Smoking in pregnancy and lactation: a review of risks and cessation strategies. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 65, 325–330.
- Endo, T., Maekawa, F., Voikar, V., Haijima, A., Uemura, Y., Zhang, Y., et al. (2011). Automated test of behavioral flexibility in mice using a behavioral sequencing task in IntelliCage. *Behav. Brain Res.* 221, 172–181.
- England, L., and Zhang, J. (2007). Smoking and risk of preeclampsia: a systematic review. *Front. Biosci.* 12, 2471–2483.
- Ernst, M., Heishman, S. J., Spurgeon, L., and London, E. D. (2001a). Smoking history and nicotine effects on cognitive performance. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 25, 313–319.
- Ernst, M., Moolchan, E. T., and Robinson, M. L. (2001b). Behavioral and neural consequences of prenatal exposure to nicotine. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 40, 630–641.
- Espy, K. A., Fang, H., Johnson, C., Stopp, C., and Wiebe, S. A. (2011). Prenatal tobacco exposure: developmental outcomes in the neonatal period. *Dev. Psychol.* 47, 153–156.
- Foulds, J., Stapleton, J., Swettenham, J., Bell, N., McSorley, K., and Russell, M. A. (1996). Cognitive performance effects of subcutaneous nicotine in smokers and never-smokers. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 127, 31–38.
- Frolich, L., Ashwood, T., Nilsson, J., and Eckerwall, G. (2011). Effects of AZD3480 on cognition in patients with mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease: a phase IIb dose-finding study. J. Alzheimers Dis. 24, 363–374.
- Galera, C., Cote, S. M., Bouvard, M. P., Pingault, J. B., Melchior, M., Michel, G., et al. (2011). Early risk factors for hyperactivity-impulsivity and inattention trajectories from age 17 months to 8 years. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 68, 1267–1275.
- Goriounova, N. A., and Mansvelder, H. D. (2012). Nicotine exposure during adolescence leads to short- and long-term changes in spike timingdependent plasticity in rat prefrontal cortex. J. Neurosci. 32, 10484–10493.
- Jacobsen, L. K., Krystal, J. H., Mencl, W. E., Westerveld, M., Frost, S. J., and Pugh, K. R. (2005). Effects of smoking and smoking abstinence on cognition in adolescent tobacco smokers. *Biol. Psychiatry* 57, 56–66.
- Jacobsen, L. K., Slotkin, T. A., Mencl, W. E., Frost, S. J., and Pugh, K. R. (2007).

Gender-specific effects of prenatal and adolescent exposure to tobacco smoke on auditory and visual attention. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 2453–2464.

- Kadir, A., Almkvist, O., Wall, A., Langstrom, B., and Nordberg, A. (2006). PET imaging of cortical 11Cnicotine binding correlates with the cognitive function of attention in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 188, 509–520.
- Kleykamp, B. A., Jennings, J. M., and Eissenberg, T. (2011). Effects of transdermal nicotine and concurrent smoking on cognitive performance in tobacco-abstinent smokers. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 19, 75–84.
- Lambert, N. M., and Hartsough, C. S. (1998). Prospective study of tobacco smoking and substance dependencies among samples of ADHD and non-ADHD participants. *J. Learn. Disabil.* 31, 533–544.
- Lasser, K., Boyd, J. W., Woolhandler, S., Himmelstein, D. U., McCormick, D., and Bor, D. H. (2000). Smoking and mental illness: a populationbased prevalence study. *JAMA* 284, 2606–2610.
- Lawrence, N. S., Ross, T. J., and Stein, E. A. (2002). Cognitive mechanisms of nicotine on visual attention. *Neuron* 36, 539–548.
- Le Houezec, J., Halliday, R., Benowitz, N. L., Callaway, E., Naylor, H., and Herzig, K. (1994). A low dose of subcutaneous nicotine improves information processing in non-smokers. *Psychopharmacol*ogy (Berl.) 114, 628–634.
- Lerman, C., Audrain, J., Tercyak, K., Hawk, L. W. Jr., Bush, A., Crystal-Mansour, S., et al. (2001). Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) symptoms and smoking patterns among participants in a smoking-cessation program. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 3, 353–359.
- Levin, E. D., Conners, C. K., Silva, D., Hinton, S. C., Meck, W. H., March, J., et al. (1998). Transdermal nicotine effects on attention. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 140, 135–141.
- Levin, E. D., Kaplan, S., and Boardman, A. (1997). Acute nicotine interactions with nicotinic and muscarinic antagonists: working and reference memory effects in the 16-arm radial maze. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 8, 236–242.
- McClernon, F. J., Kollins, S. H., Lutz, A. M., Fitzgerald, D. P., Murray, D. W., Redman, C., et al. (2008). Effects of smoking abstinence on adult smokers with and without attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: results

of a preliminary study. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 197, 95–105.

- Michalon, A., Sidorov, M., Ballard, T. M., Ozmen, L., Spooren, W., Wettstein, J. G., et al. (2012). Chronic pharmacological mGlu5 inhibition corrects fragile X in adult mice. *Neuron* 74, 49–56.
- Milberger, S., Biederman, J., Faraone, S. V., Chen, L., and Jones, J. (1996). Is maternal smoking during pregnancy a risk factor for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children? *Am. J. Psychiatry* 153, 1138–1142.
- Mitchell, M. R., Mendez, I. A., Vokes, C. M., Damborsky, J. C., Winzer-Serhan, U. H., and Setlow, B. (2012). Effects of developmental nicotine exposure in rats on decision-making in adulthood. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 23, 34–42.
- Mitchell, S. H. (1999). Measures of impulsivity in cigarette smokers and non-smokers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 146, 455–464.
- Motlagh, M. G., Sukhodolsky, D. G., Landeros-Weisenberger, A., Katsovich, L., Thompson, N., Scahill, L., et al. (2011). Adverse effects of heavy prenatal maternal smoking on attentional control in children with ADHD. J. Atten. Disord. 15, 593–603.
- Musso, F., Bettermann, F., Vucurevic, G., Stoeter, P., Konrad, A., and Winterer, G. (2007). Smoking impacts on prefrontal attentional network function in young adult brains. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 191, 159–169.
- Newhouse, P. A., Potter, A., and Singh, A. (2004). Effects of nicotinic stimulation on cognitive performance. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 4, 36–46.
- Newhouse, P. A., Potter, A. S., Dumas, J. A., and Thiel, C. M. (2011). Functional brain imaging of nicotinic effects on higher cognitive processes. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 82, 943–951.
- Novick, L. F. (2000). Smoking is the leading preventable cause of death and disability in the United States. J. Public Health Manag. Pract. 6, vi.
- Obinu, M. C., Reibaud, M., Miquet, J. M., Pasquet, M., and Rooney, T. (2002). Brain-selective stimulation of nicotinic receptors by TC-1734 enhances ACh transmission from frontoparietal cortex and memory in rodents. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 26, 913–918.
- Pediatrics, A. A. O. (2000). Clinical practice guideline: diagnosis and evaluation of the child with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics* 105, 1158–1170.
- Poorthuis, R. B., Goriounova, N. A., Couey, J. J., and Mansvelder, H. D.

(2009). Nicotinic actions on neuronal networks for cognition: general principles and long-term consequences. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 78, 668–676.

- Rezvani, A. H., Cauley, M. C., Johnson, E. C., Gatto, G. J., and Levin, E. D. (2012). Effects of AZD3480, a neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist, and donepezil on dizocilpine-induced attentional impairment in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 223, 251–258.
- Sacco, K. A., Bannon, K. L., and George, T. P. (2004). Nicotinic receptor mechanisms and cognition in normal states and neuropsychiatric disorders. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 18, 457–474.
- Sagiv, S. K., Epstein, J. N., Bellinger, D. C., and Korrick, S. A. (2012). Pre- and postnatal risk factors for ADHD in a nonclinical pediatric population. *J. Atten. Disord.* PMID: 22298092. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sastry, B. V., Chance, M. B., Hemontolor, M. E., and Goddijn-Wessel, T. A. (1998). Formation and retention of cotinine during placental transfer of nicotine in human placental cotyledon. *Pharmacology* 57, 104–116.
- Schmitz, M., Denardin, D., Laufer Silva, T., Pianca, T., Hutz, M. H., Faraone, S., et al. (2006). Smoking during pregnancy and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, predominantly inattentive type: a case-control study. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 45, 1338–1345.
- Schneider, T., Bizarro, L., Asherson, P. J., and Stolerman, I. P. (2012). Hyperactivity, increased nicotine consumption and impaired performance in the five-choice serial reaction time task in adolescent rats prenatally exposed to nicotine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* PMID: 22562524. [Epub ahead of print].

- Schneider, T., Ilott, N., Brolese, G., Bizarro, L., Asherson, P. J., and Stolerman, I. P. (2011). Prenatal exposure to nicotine impairs performance of the 5-choice serial reaction time task in adult rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 1114–1125.
- Services and U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2010). How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease. A Report of the Surgeon General. Available at: http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/ library/reports/tobaccosmoke/full\_ report.pdf
- Shimohama, S. (2009). Nicotinic receptor-mediated neuroprotection in neurodegenerative disease models. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 32, 332–336.
- Skinner, M. D., Aubin, H. J., and Berlin, I. (2004). Impulsivity in smoking, nonsmoking, and ex-smoking alcoholics. *Addict. Behav.* 29, 973–978.
- Slotkin, T. A. (2008). If nicotine is a developmental neurotoxicant in animal studies, dare we recommend nicotine replacement therapy in pregnant women and adolescents? *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 30, 1–19.
- Slotkin, T. A., Epps, T. A., Stenger, M. L., Sawyer, K. J., and Seidler, F. J. (1999). Cholinergic receptors in heart and brainstem of rats exposed to nicotine during development: implications for hypoxia tolerance and perinatal mortality. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 113, 1–12.
- Slotkin, T. A., Ryde, I. T., and Seidler, F. J. (2007). Separate or sequential exposure to nicotine prenatally and in adulthood: persistent effects on acetylcholine systems in rat brain regions. *Brain Res. Bull.* 74, 91–103.
- Slotkin, T. A., Seidler, F. J., and Spindel, E. R. (2010). Prenatal nicotine

exposure in rhesus monkeys compromises development of brainstem and cardiac monoamine pathways involved in perinatal adaptation and sudden infant death syndrome: amelioration by vitamin C. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 33, 431–434.

- Spinella, M. (2002). Correlations between orbitofrontal dysfunction and tobacco smoking. *Addict. Biol.* 7, 381–384.
- Thapar, A., Fowler, T., Rice, F., Scourfield, J., Van Den Bree, M., Thomas, H., et al. (2003). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms in offspring. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 160, 1985–1989.
- Thapar, A., Rice, F., Hay, D., Boivin, J., Langley, K., Van Den Bree, M., et al. (2009). Prenatal smoking might not cause attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: evidence from a novel design. *Biol. Psychiatry* 66, 722–727.
- Trueman, R. C., Dunnett, S. B., Jones, L., and Brooks, S. P. (2012). Five choice serial reaction time performance in the Hdh(Q92) mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Brain Res. Bull.* 88, 163–170.
- Velligan, D., Brenner, R., Sicuro, F., Walling, D., Riesenberg, R., Sfera, A., et al. (2012). Assessment of the effects of AZD3480 on cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 134, 59–64.
- Vossel, S., Warbrick, T., Mobascher, A., Winterer, G., and Fink, G. R. (2011). Spatial and sustained attention in relation to smoking status: behavioural performance and brain activation patterns. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 25, 1485–1495.
- West, R., and Hack, S. (1991). Effect of cigarettes on memory search and subjective ratings. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 38, 281–286.

- Wignall, N. D., and de Wit, H. (2011). Effects of nicotine on attention and inhibitory control in healthy nonsmokers. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 19, 183–191.
- Wikstrom, A. K., Stephansson, O., and Cnattingius, S. (2010). Tobacco use during pregnancy and preeclampsia risk: effects of cigarette smoking and snuff. *Hypertension* 55, 1254–1259.
- Winter, Y., and Schaefers, A. T. (2011). A sorting system with automated gates permits individual operant experiments with mice from a social home cage. J. Neurosci. Methods 196, 276–280.
- Winzer-Serhan, U. H. (2008). Longterm consequences of maternal smoking and developmental chronic nicotine exposure. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 636–649.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 June 2012; accepted: 18 September 2012; published online: 08 October 2012.

Citation: Counotte DS, Smit AB and Spijker S (2012) The Yin and Yang of nicotine: harmful during development, beneficial in adult patient populations. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:180. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00180

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Counotte, Smit and Spijker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



### Re-evaluation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat brain by a tissue-segment binding assay

# Mao-Hsien Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Hatsumi Yoshiki<sup>1</sup>, Abu Syed Md Anisuzzaman<sup>1</sup>, Junsuke Uwada<sup>1,3</sup>, Atsushi Nishimune<sup>1,3</sup>, Kung-Shing Lee<sup>1</sup>, Takanobu Taniguchi<sup>4</sup> and Ikunobu Muramatsu<sup>1,3,5</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Division of Pharmacology, Department of Biochemistry and Bioinformative Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan

<sup>3</sup> Organization for Life Science Advancement Programs, Graduate School of Medicine, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan

<sup>5</sup> Child Development Research Center, Graduate School of Medicine, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan

### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

### Reviewed by:

David M. Lovinger, National Institutes of Health, USA Muzamil Ahmad, Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, India Enrico Sanna, University of Cagliari, Italy

### \*Correspondence:

Ikunobu Muramatsu, Division of Pharmacology, Department of Biochemistry and Bioinformative Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Fukui, 23-3 Matsuoka-Shimoaizuki, Eiheiji, Fukui 910-1193, Japan. e-mail: muramatu@u-fukui. ac.jp Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) of the cerebral cortex and cerebellum of rats were evaluated by a radioligand binding assay, employing tissue segments, or homogenates as materials. [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine specifically bound to nAChRs in rat cortex or cerebellum, but the dissociation constants for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine differed between segments and homogenates (187 pM for segments and 42 pM for homogenates in the cortex and 160 pM for segments and 84 pM for homogenates in the cerebellum). The abundance of total nAChRs was approximately 310 fmol/mg protein in the segments of cortex and 170 fmol/mg protein in the segments of cerebellum, which were significantly higher than those estimated in the homogenates (115 fmol/mg protein in the homogenates of the cortex and 76 fmol/mg protein in the homogenates of the cerebellum). Most of the [<sup>3</sup>H]epibatidine binding sites in the cortex segments (approximately 70% of the population) showed high affinity for nicotine ( $pK_i = 7.9$ ), dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine, and cytisine, but the binding sites in the cerebellum segments had slightly lower affinity for nicotine ( $pK_i = 7.1$ ). An upregulation of nAChRs by chronic administration of nicotine was observed in the cortex segments but not in the cerebellum segments with [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine as a ligand. The upregulation in the cortex was caused by a specific increase in the high-affinity sites for nicotine (probably  $\alpha 4\beta 2$ ). The present study shows that the native environment of nAChRs is important for a precise quantitative as well as qualitative estimation of nAChRs in rat brain.

Keywords: nicotinic receptor, tissue-segment binding, upregulation

### **INTRODUCTION**

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) in the nervous system are members of a family of ligand-gated ion channels, pentametric in structure, with at least 11 different subunits ( $\alpha 2-\alpha 10$  and  $\beta 2-\beta 4$ ) characterized (Lindstrom et al., 1996; Alexander et al., 2009). Because different subunit compositions produce distinct nAChR subtypes, the potential nAChR subtype diversity is vast (Lindstrom et al., 1996). However, in general,  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and  $\alpha 7$  are the predominant subtypes expressed in the central nervous system (CNS), whereas the  $\alpha 3\beta 4$  subtype is the predominant subtype expressed in the autonomic ganglia (Lindstrom, 2000; Alexander et al., 2009).

The nAChRs in the CNS are physiologically relevant in a wide range of neuronal functions (such as cognition, motor control, analgesia, and reward), and may be involved in pathological states such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Grady et al., 2007; Quik et al., 2007; Drever et al., 2010). Chronic nicotine exposure, including smoking, is known to increase the number of nAChRs in the CNS of rodents and humans, although there is a region-specific variation in the upregulation (Marks et al., 1992; Sanderson et al., 1993; Davil-Garcia et al., 2003; Govind et al., 2009). Thus, smoking seems to have certain therapeutic effects for Alzheimer's disease, although this conclusion is controversial (Hellstrom-Lindahl et al., 2004; Connelly and Prentice, 2005; Picciotto and Zoli, 2008). In addition, nAChRs have recently attracted attention as a novel target of general anesthetics and antidepressants (McMorn et al., 1993; Shytle et al., 2002; Tassonyi et al., 2002; Picciotto et al., 2008).

Identifying individual nAChR subtypes in the CNS has been a difficult task. The "high-affinity agonist binding"  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  subtype (labeled by  $[^{3}H]$ -acetylcholine,  $[^{3}H]$ -cytisine, (-)- $[^{3}H]$ -nicotine) and the predominantly or entirely  $\alpha$ 7 subtype (labeled by [<sup>125</sup>I]- $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin) have been extensively characterized (Whiting and Lindstrom, 1987; Schoepfer et al., 1990; Flores et al., 1992; Picciotto et al., 1995; Orr-Urtreger et al., 1997; Marubio et al., 1999). Subsequently, the discovery of epibatidine (an azabicycloheptane alkaloid isolated from the skin of the Ecuadorian frog *Epipedobates tricolor*) that binds to multiple nAChR subtypes with high-affinity provided a tool to identify novel nAChR subtypes (Houghtling et al., 1995; Perry and Kellar, 1995; Marks et al., 1998; Whiteaker et al., 2000; Grady et al., 2007). In the CNS of rodents, the majority of high-affinity [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding sites represent the  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  subtype, but the minority of the sites were distinguished by their relatively low-affinity for cytisine or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Anesthesia, En-Chu-Kon Hospital, San-Xia District, New Taipei City, Taiwan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Division of Cellular Signal Transduction, Department of Biochemistry, Asahikawa Medical University, Asahikawa, Japan

dihydro-β-erythroidine in small nuclei dispersed across the brain (Grady et al., 2007).

In most studies of nAChRs and other receptors in the CNS, brain tissue was homogenized, and the resulting membrane or particulate preparations have been exclusively used in the radioligand binding assay (Bylund and Toews, 1993; Houghtling et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1998; Marubio et al., 1999; Whiteaker et al., 2000; Schneider and Michel, 2010). Although such a grind-and-bind approach has been successfully used to identify receptor pharmacology for more than two decades, tissue homogenization may cause alterations in receptor environments, resulting in different properties from the inherent profile in some receptors (Hiraizumi-Hiraoka et al., 2004; Anisuzzaman et al., 2008, 2011; Morishima et al., 2008). These recent studies suggest that the in situ environment significantly contributes to some receptor properties. To avoid artificial modification of the receptor environment as much as possible, a binding assay for use with intact tissue segments and with physiological solution (such as Krebs solution) was recently developed and has been demonstrated to be a powerful method for detecting the inherent profiles of receptors in a native manner (Tanaka et al., 2004; Muramatsu et al., 2005; Yoshiki et al., 2009; Anisuzzaman et al., 2011). In contrast to the conventional membrane binding assay, the tissue-segment binding assay is less prone to have a yield loss of receptors and to have a modification of the natural environment/conformation of receptors, which may be caused during tissue homogenization and membrane fractionation.

Previously, we detected a difference in  $[{}^{3}H]$ -epibatidine binding in the rat cerebral cortex between the tissue-segment binding assay and the conventional membrane binding assay (Muramatsu et al., 2005). In this study, we extensively evaluated  $[{}^{3}H]$ -epibatidine binding to nAChRs in the intact segments of rat cerebral cortex and cerebellum, and compared the pharmacological profiles with those in the homogenized preparations. Furthermore, the effects on nAChRs of chronic nicotine administration were examined by the tissue-segment binding assay.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### ANIMALS

Male Wistar rats weighing 250–350 g (SLC, Shizuoka, Japan) were used. The present study was performed according to the Guidelines for Animal Experiments, University of Fukui (which is accredited by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology, Japan).

### **TISSUE-SEGMENT BINDING ASSAY**

Rats were anesthetized with pentobarbital and killed by cervical dislocation. The brain was rapidly isolated and immersed in modified Krebs–Henseleit solution containing: NaCl, 120.7 mM; KCl, 5.9 mM; MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.2 mM; CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.0 mM; NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.2 mM; NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 25.5 mM; and D-(+)-glucose, 11.5 mM (pH = 7.4). This solution had been oxygenated with a mixture of 95% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and was kept at 0°C. The brain was cleaned from the pia mater and substantia alba, and then the cerebral cortex and cerebellum were cut into small pieces (approximately 2 mm × 2 mm × 1 mm). The tissue-segment binding assay was performed at 4°C for 26– 30 h, according to the method previously described (Muramatsu et al., 2005; Anisuzzaman et al., 2011). Each segment of the cortex or cerebellum was incubated in 0.5 ml of the modified Krebs–Henseleit solution.

In saturation binding experiments, [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was used at concentrations ranging from 30 to 2000 pM. In competition experiments, 400 pM [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine competed against various concentrations of tested drugs. After incubation at 4°C, tissue segments were quickly moved into a plastic tube containing 1.5 ml of ice-cold (4°C) modified Krebs-Henseleit solution and carefully washed by vortexing for 1 min. By this procedure, most of the unbound radioligand was released from the segments into the buffer medium and adsorbed to the plastic tube. The segments were then solubilized in 0.3 M NaOH solution to estimate the bound radioactivity and protein content. Non-specific binding was determined in the presence of 100 µM nicotine. The bound radioactivity was measured using a liquid scintillation counter (Aloka, Tokyo, Japan). Protein concentration in each tissue segment was measured by the Bio-Rad commercial protein assay. Experiments were done in duplicate at each concentration of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine for binding saturation experiments or at each concentration of competing ligand for competition binding experiments.

### HOMOGENATE BINDING ASSAY

As reported previously (Anisuzzaman et al., 2011), the rat cerebral cortex and cerebellum were homogenized in 40 volumes (v/w; for cortex) or 20 volumes (v/w; for cerebellum) of the modified Krebs-Henseleit solution using a Polytron homogenizer at 4°C. The resulting homogenates were incubated with [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine in a final volume of 0.5 ml modified Krebs-Henseleit solution for 5 h at 4°C. In competition experiments, 200 pM (for cortex) and 300 pM (for cerebellum) of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine were used. Nonspecific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was determined with 100 µM nicotine. The assay was terminated by rapid filtration over Whatman GF/C filters presoaked with 0.3% polyethyleneimine using a Brandel cell harvester and filters were rapidly washed with 5-ml aliquots of ice-cold modified Krebs-Henseleit solution. The filters were then dried and the radioactivity retained on the filter paper was measured by liquid scintillation counting. The protein contents of the homogenates were determined by the Bio-Rad commercial protein assay.

### **CHRONIC ADMINISTRATION OF NICOTINE**

Nicotine was administered for 3 weeks in drinking water. The concentration of nicotine in the drinking water was  $50 \mu$ g/ml. The control rats drank tap water during the experimental period. The plasma concentration of nicotine after 3 weeks of oral nicotine exposure was measured with high performance liquid chromatography; the plasma level was  $18 \pm 3$  ng/ml (n = 5), which was similar to the nicotine concentrations (10–50 ng/ml) reported in smokers (Benowitz et al., 1982; Pekonen et al., 1993).

After nicotine administration for 3 weeks, rats were killed and the cortex or cerebellum segments were used in the binding experiments, as described above.

### DATA ANALYSIS

Binding data were analyzed using PRISM software (Version 5.01, Graph Pad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA), as previously described

(Muramatsu et al., 2005; Yoshiki et al., 2009). Briefly, the data from saturation binding studies were fitted by a one-site saturation binding isotherm and the  $K_d$  values and the binding capacity were then calculated. The abundance of the nAChRs is indicated as the maximum binding capacity per milligram of total tissue protein (Bmax). For the competition studies, the data were analyzed using the Binding-Competitive Equation of the PRISM software. A two-site model was adopted only when the residual sums of squares were significantly less (P < 0.05) for a two-site fit to the data than for a one-site by F test comparison.

Data are represented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM with the number of experiments (*n*). Results were considered to be significant where *P* values were less than 0.05 (Student's *t*-test).

### DRUGS

The following drugs were used in the present study: [5,6bicycloheptyl-<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine (specific activity, 2065 GBq/mmol; PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA, USA); 1-quinuclidinyl-[phenyl-4-<sup>3</sup>H]-benzilate ([<sup>3</sup>H]-QNB; specific activity, 1.81 TBq/mmol; GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK); nicotine, nicotine tartrate dihydrate, and hexamethonium chloride (Nacalai Tesque, Kyoto, Japan); dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine, cytisine, and mecamylamine hydrochloride (Tocris Cookson Ltd., Bristol, UK); and  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin (Peptide Institute, Osaka, Japan). For chronic administration of nicotine, aqueous nicotine was used.

### RESULTS

# [<sup>3</sup>H]-EPIBATIDINE BINDING IN RAT CEREBRAL CORTEX AND CEREBELLUM

The representative time courses of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding to the intact segments (Figure 1A) and homogenate preparations (Figure 1B) of rat cerebral cortex and to the intact segments (Figure 2A) and homogenate preparations (Figure 2B) of rat cerebellum are shown. At 4°C, the binding to the segments was extremely slow compared with that in the homogenates; therefore, different incubation periods were applied in the segment binding assay (26-30 h) and the homogenate binding assay (5 h). In the saturation experiments, the specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine to both the intact segments (Figure 1C) and homogenate preparations (Figure 1D) of rat cortex was saturable at the concentrations tested and fitted a single-site model. However, the slopes of the saturation curves were apparently different; the slope was steeper for the homogenates than for the segments. Thus, the dissociation constant  $(K_d)$  for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was estimated to be four times higher in the segment binding assay than in the homogenate binding assay (Table 1). Furthermore, the maximum binding capacity (Bmax) of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was also approximately three times higher in the segments than in the homogenates of rat cortex (Table 1). Differences in the time course, the density, and the dissociation constant for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding were also observed between the segments and homogenates of rat cerebellum (Figure 2 and Table 1). The affinity for  $[^{3}H]$ -QNB (a





Table 1 l	Binding parameters	of [ <sup>3</sup> H]-epibatidine and [ <sup>3</sup> H]-QN	B in rat cortex and cerebellum.
-----------	--------------------	---	---------------------------------

Tissue	Radioligand	Segments		Homogenates	
		K <sub>d</sub> (pM)	Bmax	K <sub>d</sub> (pM)	Bmax
Cortex	[ <sup>3</sup> H]-epibatidine	$187 \pm 20^{a}$	$313\pm6^{a}$	$42\pm10^{a}$	$115\pm13^{a}$
	(Nicotine-treated)	(388 ± 15) <sup>a,b</sup>	(632 ± 25) <sup>a,b</sup>	(163 ± 8) <sup>a,b</sup>	(179 ± 14) <sup>a,b</sup>
	[ <sup>3</sup> H]-QNB	$1237\pm104^{\text{a}}$	$2354 \pm 189$	$285\pm56^{\text{a}}$	$2287 \pm 105$
Cerebellum	[ <sup>3</sup> H]-epibatidine	$160\pm34^{a}$	$172\pm12^{a}$	$84\pm3^{a}$	$76\pm8^{a}$

Segment and homogenates binding experiments with l<sup>o</sup>H]-epibatidine and l<sup>o</sup>H]-QNB were conducted at 4°C in the cortex and cerebellum of nicotine-untreated rats. l<sup>o</sup>H]-epibatidine binding in the cortex of nicotine-treated rats was also represented in parenthesis.

Data represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of four to six experiments. Bmax: fmol/mg tissue protein.

<sup>a</sup>Significantly different between segments and homogenates (P < 0.05).

<sup>b</sup>Significantly different from control and nicotine-treated rats (P < 0.05).

muscarinic receptor ligand that was used as control) was also lower in the cortex segments than in the homogenates, but the binding capacity was not significantly different between the segments and the homogenates (**Table 1**).

**Figures 1** and **2** further demonstrate that non-specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was significantly higher in the segments than in the homogenates. The non-specific binding in the segments was rapidly equilibrated compared with specific binding (**Figures 1A** and **2A**) and increased lineally with increasing concentrations of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine (**Figures 1C** and **2C**). Because the non-specific binding was insensitive to not only nicotine but also the other tested ligands (see the competition experiments), it was considered that there was a significant amount of non-nAChR sites in the segments that were undetectable after homogenization.

Because the binding capacity and dissociation constant for  $[{}^{3}H]$ -epibatidine were significantly different between tissue segments and homogenates, the pharmacological profiles of  $[{}^{3}H]$ -epibatidine binding sites in both preparations of rat cortex were compared in competition binding experiments using various drugs. Nicotine, dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine, and cytisine showed shallow competition curves in the segments of cortex and approximately 70% of the specific binding sites were identified



as high-affinity sites for these ligands (**Figure 3A**). In the homogenates, dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine and cytisine also showed shallow curves, but the competition curve for nicotine better fitted a one-site model with a slightly higher p $K_i$  value than that in the segments (**Figure 3B** and **Table 2**). Hexamethonium at concentrations higher than 10  $\mu$ M were competitive, but mecamy-lamine (1 mM) and  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin (1–30 nM) failed to compete in the [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding assay with both segment and homogenate preparations (**Table 2**). In general, the estimated ligand affinities were higher in the homogenates compared with the segments.

Because of the tissue limitation, the pharmacological profile at  $[^{3}H]$ -epibatidine binding sites in the cerebellum was examined with nicotine and dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine. Figure 3 shows the competition curves in the segments (Figure 3C) and the homogenates (Figure 3D) of rat cerebellum. Nicotine showed biphasic competition in the homogenates (pKi = 8.2 and 6.3), but competed for binding to the segments monotonically with an intermediate affinity (pKi = 7.1). These results are summarized in Table 2.

# EFFECTS OF CHRONIC ADMINISTRATION OF NICOTINE ON [<sup>3</sup>H]-EPIBATIDINE BINDING SITES

Chronic administration of nicotine is known to cause an increase in nAChRs in the brain, which is called upregulation. Because the number of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding sites was underestimated in homogenates as mentioned above, the nicotine-induced upregulation was re-evaluated by the tissue-segment binding approach. Administration of nicotine for 3 weeks increased the binding density of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine with a slight decrease in affinity

Table 2   Pharmacological characteristics of [ <sup>3</sup> H]-epibatidine binding
sites in rat cortex and cerebellum.

Drugs (selectivity)	$\frac{\text{Segments}}{pK_{i_{high}}(\%)  pK_{i_{low}}(\%)}  \frac{\text{H}}{pK_{i_{high}}}$		Homog	lomogenates	
			р <i>К</i> <sub>i<sub>high</sub>(%)</sub>	p <i>K</i> <sub>ilow</sub> %)	
CORTEX					
Nicotine	7.9 ± 0.1	$6.5\pm0.1$	$8.4\pm0.1$		
$(\alpha 4\beta 2 > \alpha 4\beta 4)$	(72%)	(28%)	(100%)		
Dihydro-β-erythroidine	$7.1 \pm 0.1$	$5.7\pm0.2$	$7.7 \pm 0.2$	$6.3\pm0.1$	
(α4β2, α4β4)	(69%)	(31%)	(66%)	(34%)	
Mecamylamine	NI		NI		
Cytisine	8.7±0.1	$6.7\pm0.1$	$9.4\pm0.0$	$7.2\pm0.2$	
(α4β2, α4β4)	(73%)	(27%)	(85%)	(15%)	
Hexamethonium	3.4±0.1 (100%)		$4.0\pm0.1$		
			(100%)		
α-Bungarotoxin	NI		NI		
(α7, α9)					
CEREBELLUM					
Nicotine	7.1 ± 0.2		$8.2\pm0.1$	$6.3\pm0.1$	
$(\alpha 4\beta 2 > \alpha 4\beta 4)$	(100%)		(68%)	(32%)	
Dihydro-β-erythroidine	$7.4 \pm 0.3$	$5.1\pm0.3$	7.1±0.1	$4.6\pm0.2$	
(α4β2, α4β4)	(70%)	(30%)	(67%)	(33%)	

%, Proportion of high or low-affinity sites. Mean $\pm$  SE of four to five rats. NI, no inhibition.

Selectivity: subtype selectivity at concentrations around 10 nM.

in the rat cortex segments (**Table 1**). A similar tendency was observed in the cortex homogenates, but the density and affinity were also significantly different from the values estimated in the

cortex segments of chronically nicotine-treated rats (**Table 1**). The binding affinities for nicotine in nicotine-treated rat cortex (pKi<sub>high</sub> and pKi<sub>low</sub> =  $7.8 \pm 0.2$  and  $6.3 \pm 0.2$  in the segments and pKi =  $8.1 \pm 0.1$  in the homogenates) were not significantly different from those in rats not treated with nicotine (**Table 2**). However, the proportion of nicotine-high-affinity sites in the cortex segments increased from 72% in control rats to 86% in nicotine-treated rats (**Figure 4**). On the other hand, no upregulation was caused by chronic nicotine administration in the cerebellum.

### DISCUSSION

In the binding study with [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine, the nAChRs in the rat cerebral cortex and cerebellum were evaluated and compared between the segments and the homogenates. Two major differences were observed in the present study. The first is different affinities for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine and other nicotinic ligands between the two preparations. Previous reports with particulate preparations of rat cortex showed an extremely high affinity for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine ( $K_d$  = approximately 20 pM; Houghtling et al., 1995; Marks et al., 1998). In the present study as well, such a high affinity for [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was estimated in the cortex homogenates ( $K_d$  = 42 pM), whereas the affinity in the segments was significantly low ( $K_d$  = 187 pM). Consistent with this difference in affinity, the binding time course of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine was faster in the homogenates than in the segments.

It has been classically considered that antagonist affinities are constant for a given receptor subtype, regardless of the cell/tissue background in which the receptor is expressed; this has been called "antagonist assumption." However, this traditional view has now





been challenged by the observation of different pharmacological antagonist profiles for the same gene product in different cells/tissues (Kenakin, 2003; Baker and Hill, 2007; Nelson and Challiss, 2007; Muramatsu et al., 2008; Nishimune et al., 2011). The present results also suggest that the pharmacological properties of nAChRs are not necessarily constant, but rather may be easily modified by assay conditions and probably by distinct receptor environments.

In general, there is a tendency for antagonist affinity to become higher after homogenization, even though the other experimental conditions were the same. The tendency was observed in the binding of  $[^{3}H]$ -epibatidine to nAChRs (present study) and  $[^{3}H]$ -QNB or  $[^{3}H]$ -*N*-methylscopolamine to muscarinic AChRs (present results and the results of Anisuzzaman et al., 2011). Although the precise mechanisms underlying the change in pharmacological profile by homogenization remain to be solved, intact tissue can demonstrate distinct submembrane effector interactions in the presence of constrained membrane architecture, which may be easily destroyed by homogenization. In general, the relatively universal high-affinity obtained in the classical grind-and-bind approach seems to be one of the bases of "antagonist assumption."

The second difference observed in the present study is distinct densities of nAChRs estimated between segments and homogenates. This is unique for nAChRs ([<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding sites), because the abundance of muscarinic AChRs (<sup>3</sup>H]-ONB binding sites) did not change after homogenization (Table 1). However, it has been generally reported that homogenization causes a yield loss of receptors (Colucci et al., 1981; Kwan et al., 1981; Faber et al., 2001; Tanaka et al., 2004; Su et al., 2008). The density of [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding sites estimated in the present segment study with rat cortex (313 fmol/mg tissue protein) is greater than the estimates reported previously in conventional membrane binding assays with rat cortex (5-83 fmol/mg of membrane protein; Houghtling et al., 1995; Flores et al., 1997; Davil-Garcia et al., 2003) and with mouse cortex (54.9 fmol/mg of membrane protein; Marks et al., 1998). Previously, we showed that the protein yield of crude membrane preparations in rat cortex after simple centrifugation or fractionation was approximately 50% of the total tissue protein (Morishima et al., 2008). Therefore, it seems that the density of nAChRs estimated previously in the concentrated membrane preparations may be much lower, if the values were adjusted at the same denominator level (that is, per mg of "total tissue protein").

As mentioned above, the present study reveals that intact tissue conditions or the native physiological environment are very important in the quantitative and qualitative evaluation of nAChRs. However, we are not neglecting the classical grindand-bind approach and recognize its successful and significant contribution to receptor pharmacology over the past two decades. Indeed, the present competition study with segments and homogenates clearly shows high- and low-affinity sites for dihydro- $\beta$ -erythroidine and cytisine in the [<sup>3</sup>H]-epibatidine binding sites, which is consistent with the previous results obtained in membrane binding studies (Whiteaker et al., 2000; Grady et al., 2007). The high-affinity sites in the cortex are major in proportion and seem to correspond to  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and/or  $\alpha 4\beta 4$ , as reported previously. In the segments, the  $[{}^{3}H]$ -epibatidine binding sites were composed of high- and low-affinity sites for nicotine in the cortex but a single affinity site in the cerebellum. It is interesting to note that the high affinity for nicotine in the cortex (pKi = 7.9) was slightly higher than the affinity in the cerebellum (pKi = 7.1). Because plasma concentrations of nicotine are reported to be 10–50 ng/ml in nicotine-treated rats and in smokers (present study; Benowitz et al., 1982; Pekonen et al., 1993), the high-affinity sites for nicotine in the cortex may mainly contribute to the upregulation, as shown in **Figure 4**. The extent of upregulation estimated in the cortex segments (nearly 100%) was greater than those reported in previous membrane binding studies and in the present data of homogenate binding (approximately 50%). On the other hand, no upregulation was observed in the cerebellum in the present segment binding assay as well as previous membrane

### REFERENCES

- Alexander, S. P., Mathie, A., and Peters, J. A. (2009). Guide to receptors and channels (GRAC), 4th edition. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 158(Suppl. 1), S1–S254.
- Anisuzzaman, A. S. M., Morishima, S., Suzuki, F., Tanaka, T., Yoshiki, H., and Muramatsu, I. (2008). Identification of M1 muscarinic receptor subtype in rat stomach using a tissue segment binding method, and the effects of immobilization stress on the muscarinic receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 599, 146–151.
- Anisuzzaman, A. S. M., Nishimune, A., Yoshiki, H., Uwada, J., and Muramatsu, I. (2011). Influence of tissue integrity on pharmacological phenotypes of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in the rat cerebral cortex. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 339, 168–193.
- Baker, J. G., and Hill, S. J. (2007). Multiple GPCR conformations and signalling pathways: implications for antagonist affinity estimates. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 28, 374–381.
- Benowitz, N. L., Jacob, P., Jones, R. T., and Rosenberg, J. (1982). Interindividual variability in the metabolism and cardiovascular effects of nicotine in man. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 221, 368–372.
- Bylund, D. B., and Toews, M. L. (1993). Radioligand binding methods: practical guide and tips. Am. J. Physiol. 265, L421–L429.
- Colucci, W. S., Gimbrone, J. R., and Alexander, R. W. (1981). Regulation of the postsynaptic alpha-adrenergic receptor in rat mesenteric artery. Effects of chemical sympathectomy and epinephrine treatment. *Circ. Res.* 48, 104–111.
- Connelly, P. J., and Prentice, N. P. (2005). Current smoking and response to cholinesterase inhibitor therapy in

Alzheimer's disease. *Dement. Geiatr. Cogn. Disord.* 19, 11–14.

- Davil-Garcia, M. I., Musachio, J. L., and Keller, K. J. (2003). Chronic nicotine administration does not increase nicotinic receptors labeled by [125]epibatidine in adrenal gland, superior cervical ganglia, pineal or retina. J. Neurochem. 85, 1237–1246.
- Drever, B. D., Riedel, G., and Platt, B. (2010). The cholinergic system and hippocampal plasticity. *Behav. Brain Res.* 221, 505–514.
- Faber, J. E., Yang, N., and Xin, X. H. (2001). Expression of αadrenoceptor subtypes by smooth muscle cell and adventitial fibroblast in rat aorta and in culture. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 298, 441–452.
- Flores, C. M., Davila-Gracia, M. I., Ulrich, Y. M., and Keller, K. J. (1997). Differential regulation of neuronal nicotinic receptor binding sites following chronic nicotine administration. J. Neurochem. 69, 2216–2219.
- Flores, C. M., Rogers, S. W., Pabreza, L. A., Wolfe, B. B., and Kellar, K. J. (1992). A subtype of nicotinic cholinergic receptor in the brain is composed of α4 and β2 subunits and is upregulated by chronic nicotine treatment. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 41, 31–37.
- Govind, A. P., Vezina, P., and Green, W. N. (2009). Nicotine-induced upregulation of nicotinic receptors: underlying mechanisms and relevance to nicotine addiction. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 78, 756–765.
- Grady, S. R., Salminen, O., Laverty, D. C., Whiteaker, P., McIntosh, J. M., Collins, A. C., and Marks, M. J. (2007). The subtypes of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on dopaminergic terminals of mouse striatum. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 74, 1235–1246.

binding assays (Marks et al., 1992; Flores et al., 1997; Pietila et al., 1998), confirming regional variation of the nicotine-induced upregulation.

In summary, the present comparative binding study with tissue segments and homogenates shows that the native conformation and inherent properties of nAChRs are strongly modified by the receptor environment and suggests that keeping intact tissue conditions in the assays is important for determining the properties of nAChRs and probably other receptors.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported in part by a Grant-in Aid for Scientific Research from the Japan Society of the Promotion of Science (JSPS) and a grant from the Smoking Research Foundation of Japan.

- Hellstrom-Lindahl, E., Mousavi, M., Ravid, R., and Nordberg, A. (2004). Reduced levels of Abeta 40 and Abeta 42 in brains of smoking controls and Alzheimer's patients. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 15, 351–360.
- Hiraizumi-Hiraoka, Y., Tanaka, T., Yamamoto, H., Suzuki, F., and Muramatsu, I. (2004). Identification of alpha-1L adrenoceptor in rabbit ear artery. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 310, 995–1002.
- Houghtling, R. A., Davila-Garcia, M. I., Hurt, S. D., and Kellar, K. J. (1995). Characterization of [3H]epibatidine binding to nicotinic cholinergic receptors in rat and human brain. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 48, 280–287.
- Kenakin, T. (2003). Predicting therapeutic value in the lead optimization phase of drug discovery. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2, 429–438.
- Kwan, C. Y., Lee, R. M. K. W., and Daniel, E. E. (1981). Isolation of plasma membranes from rat mesenteric veins; a comparison of their physical and biochemical properties with arterial membranes. *Blood Vessels* 18, 171–186.
- Lindstrom, J. (2000). "The structure of neuronal nicotinic receptors," in *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, Vol. 144, eds F. Clementi, D. Fornasari, and C. Gotti (Berlin: Springer-Verlag), 101–162.
- Lindstrom, J., Anand, R., Gerzanich, V., Peng, X., Wang, F., and Wells, G. (1996). Structure and function of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Prog. Brain Res.* 109, 125–137.
- Marks, M. J., Pauly, J. R., Gross, S. D., Deneris, E. S., Hermans, B. I., Heinemann, S. F., and Collins, A. C. (1992). Nicotine binding and nicotinic receptor subunit RNA after chronic nicotine treatment. J. Neurosci. 12, 2765–2784.

- Marks, M. J., Smith, K. W., and Collins, A. C. (1998). Differential agonist inhibition identifies multiple epibatidine binding sites in mouse brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 285, 377–386.
- Marubio, L. M., Arroyo-Jimenez, M. M., Cordero-Erausquin, A. G., Lina, C., Lenovere, N., Exaerde, A. K., Huchet, M., Damaj, M. I., and Changeux, J.-P. (1999). Reduced antinociception in mice lacking neuronal nicotinic receptor subunits. *Nature* 398, 805–810.
- McMorn, R. B., Reeve, H. L., Wyatt, C. N., Vaughan, P. F., and Peers, C. (1993). Inhibition of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors by imipramine and desipramine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 250, 247–251.
- Morishima, S., Suzuki, F., Yoshiki, H., Anisuzzaman, A. S. M., Sathi, Z. S., Tanaka, T., and Muramatsu, I. (2008). Identification of alpha-1L adrenoceptor in rat cerebral cortex and possible relationship between alpha-1L and alpha-1A adrenoceptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 153, 1485–1494.
- Muramatsu, I., Morishima, S., Suzuki, F., Yoshiki, H., Anisuzzaman, A. S., Tanaka, T., Rodrigo, M. C., Myagmar, B. E., and Simpson, P. C. (2008). Identification of alpha 1Ladrenoceptor in mice and its abolition by alpha 1A-adrenoceptor gene knockout. Br. J. Pharmacol. 155, 1224–1234.
- Muramatsu, I., Tanaka, T., Suzuki, F., Li, Z., Hiraizumi-Hiraoka, Y., Anisuzzaman, A. S., Yamamoto, H., Horinouchi, T., and Morishima, S. (2005). Quantifying receptor properties: the tissue segment binding method – a powerful tool for the pharmacome analysis of native receptors. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 98, 331–339.

- Nelson, C. P., and Challiss, R. A. (2007) "Phenotypic" pharmacology: the influence of cellular environment on G protein-coupled receptor antagonist and inverse agonist pharmacology. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 737–751.
- Nishimune, A., Yoshiki, H., Uwada, J., Anisuzzaman, A. S. M., Umada, H., and Muramatsu, I. (2011). Phenotype pharmacology of α1-adrenoceptors in lower urinary tract. Br. J. Pharmacol. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01591.x (in press).
- Orr-Urtreger, A., Göldner, F. M., Saeki, M., Lorenzo, I., Goldberg, L., De Biasi, M., Dani, J. A., Patrick, J. W., and Beaudet, A. L. (1997). Mice deficient in the alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor lack alpha-bungarotoxin binding sites and hippocampal fast nicotinic currents. *J. Neurosci.* 17, 9165–9171.
- Pekonen, K., Karlsson, C., Laakso, I., and Ahtee, L. (1993). Plasma nicotine and cotinine concentrations in mice after chronic oral nicotine administration and challenge doses. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 1, 13–18.
- Perry, D. C., and Kellar, K. J. (1995). [3H]epibatidine labels nicotinic receptors in rat brain: an autoradiographic study. *J. Pharma*col. Exp. Ther. 275, 1030–1034.
- Picciotto, M. R., Addy, N. A., Mineur, Y. S., and Brunzell, D. H. (2008). It's not "either/or": activation and desensitization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors both contribute to behaviors related to nicotine addiction and mood. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 84, 329–342.

- Picciotto, M. R., and Zoli, M. (2008). Neuroprotective via nAChRs: the role of nAChRs in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Front. Biosci.* 1, 492–504.
- Picciotto, M. R., Zoli, M., Léna, C., Bessis, A., Lallemand, Y., Le Novère, N., Vincent, P., Pich, E. M., Brûlet, P., and Changeux, J. P. (1995). Abnormal avoidance learning in mice lacking functional high-affinity nicotine receptor in the brain. *Nature* 374, 65–67.
- Pietila, K., Lahde, T., Attila, M., Ahtee, L., and Nordberg, A. (1998). Regulation of nicotinic receptors in the brain of mice withdrawn from chronic nicotine treatment. *Naunyn Schmeideberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 357, 176–182.
- Quik, M., O'neil, M., and Perez, X. A. (2007). Nicotine neuroprotection against nigrostriatal damage: importance of the animal model. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 28, 229–235.
- Sanderson, E. M., Drasdo, A. L., McCrea, K., and Wonnacott, S. (1993). Upregulation of nicotinic receptors following continuous infusion of nicotine is brain-region-specific. *Brain Res.* 617, 349–352.
- Schoepfer, R., Conroy, W. G., Whiting, P., Gore, M., and Lindstrom, J. (1990). Brain alpha-bungarotoxin binding protein cDNAs and MAbs reveal subtypes of this branch of

the ligand-gated ion channel gene superfamily. *Neuron* 5, 35–48.

- Shytle, R. D., Silver, A. A., Lukas, R. J., Newman, M. B., Sheehan, D. V., and Sanberg, P. R. (2002). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as targets for antidepressants. *Mol. Psychiatry* 7, 525–535.
- Su, T. H., Morishima, S., Suzuki, F., Yoshiki, H., Anisuzzaman, A. S., Tanaka, T., Cheng, J. T., and Muramatsu, I. (2008). Native profiles of α1A-adrenoceptor phenotypes in rabbit prostate. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 155, 906–912.
- Tanaka, T., Zang, L., Suzuki, F., and Muramatsu, I. (2004). Alpha-1 adrenoceptors: evaluation of receptor subtype-binding kinetics in intact arterial tissues and comparison with membrane binding. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 141, 468–476.
- Tassonyi, E., Charpantier, E., Muller, D., Dumont, L., and Bertrand, D. (2002). The role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the mechanisms of anesthesia. *Brain Res. Bull.* 57, 133–150.
- Whiteaker, P., Jimenez, M., McIntosh, J. M., Collins, A. C., and Marks, M. J. (2000). Identification of a novel nicotinic binding site in mouse brain using [1251]-epibatidine. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 131, 729–739.
- Whiting, P., and Lindstrom, J. (1987). Purification and characterization of a nicotinic acetylcholine receptor from rat brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 84, 595–599.
- Yang, M., Reese, J., Cotecchia, S., and Michel, M. C. (1998). Murine alpha1-adrenoceptor subtypes.

I. Radioligand binding studies. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 286, 841–847.

Yoshiki, H., Nishimune, A., Suzuki, F., Yoshiki, H., Morishima, S., Ikeda, T., Sasaki, M., Audigane, L. M., Gauthier, C., and Muramatsu, I. (2009). Evaluation of β1L-adrenoceptors in rabbit heart by tissue segment binding assay. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* 110, 389–396.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 July 2011; accepted: 05 October 2011; published online: 19 October 2011.

Citation: Wang M-H, Yoshiki H, Anisuzzaman ASM, Uwada J, Nishimune A, Lee K-S, Taniguchi T and Muramatsu I (2011) Re-evaluation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat brain by a tissuesegment binding assay. Front. Pharmacol. 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2011.00065

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2011 Wang, Yoshiki, Anisuzzaman, Uwada, Nishimune, Lee, Taniguchi and Muramatsu. This is an open-access article subject to a nonexclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



### Nicotine, auditory sensory memory, and *sustained* attention in a human ketamine model of schizophrenia: moderating influence of a hallucinatory trait

# Verner Knott<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>\*, Dhrasti Shah<sup>3</sup>, Anne Millar<sup>2</sup>, Judy McIntosh<sup>1</sup>, Derek Fisher<sup>6</sup>, Crystal Blais<sup>4</sup> and Vadim Ilivitsky<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Mental Health Research, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup> Neuroscience Program, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup> School of Psychology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup> Institute of Cognitive Science, Carleton University, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>5</sup> Royal Ottawa Mental Health Centre, Ottawa, ON, Canada

<sup>6</sup> Department of Psychology, Mount Saint Vincent University, Halifax, NS, Canada

### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

### Reviewed by:

Boris B. Quednow, University Hospital of Psychiatry, Switzerland Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA

### \*Correspondence:

Verner Knott, Clinical Neuroelectrophysiology and Cognitive Research Laboratory, Institute of Mental Health Research, University of Ottawa, 1145 Carling Avenue, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1Z 7K4. e-mail: verner.knott@theroyal.ca

Background: The procognitive actions of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) agonist nicotine are believed, in part, to motivate the excessive cigarette smoking in schizophrenia, a disorder associated with deficits in multiple cognitive domains, including low-level auditory sensory processes and higher-order attention-dependent operations. Objectives: As N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) hypofunction has been shown to contribute to these cognitive impairments, the primary aims of this healthy volunteer study were to: (a) to shed light on the separate and interactive roles of nAChR and NMDAR systems in the modulation of auditory sensory memory (and sustained attention), as indexed by the auditory event-related brain potential – mismatch negativity (MMN), and (b) to examine how these effects are moderated by a predisposition to auditory hallucinations/delusions (HD). Methods: In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled design involving a low intravenous dose of ketamine (0.04 mg/kg) and a 4 mg dose of nicotine gum, MMN, and performance on a rapid visual information processing (RVIP) task of sustained attention were examined in 24 healthy controls psychometrically stratified as being lower (LHD, n = 12) or higher (H-HD) for HD propensity. Results: Ketamine significantly slowed MMN, and reduced MMN in H-HD, with amplitude attenuation being blocked by the co-administration of nicotine. Nicotine significantly enhanced response speed [reaction time (RT)] and accuracy (increased % hits and d' and reduced false alarms) on the RVIP, with improved performance accuracy being prevented when nicotine was administered with ketamine. Both % hits and d', as well as RT were poorer in H-HD (vs. L-HD) and while hit rate and d' was increased by nicotine in H-HD, RT was slowed by ketamine in L-HD. Conclusions: Nicotine alleviated ketamine-induced sensory memory impairment and improved attention, particularly in individuals prone to HD.

Keywords: nicotine, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, *N*-methyl-d-aspartate receptor, sensory memory, mismatch negativity, attention, rapid visual information processing task, schizophrenia

### **INTRODUCTION**

In patients with schizophrenia, the cardinal clinical (positive and negative) symptoms are, to variable degrees, accompanied by a wide range of neurocognitive impairments, particularly in the domains of attention and working memory. The various cognitive deficits are neither state-related nor specific to subtypes of the illness, but are considered as enduring features which remain relatively constant over the course of the disease and are at the very core of the dysfunction in schizophrenia patients (Eleväg and Goldberg, 2000; Heinrichs, 2005). As cognitive impairments in schizophrenia are highly correlated with functional (social and vocational) outcome, and both are relatively unaffected by dopamine-based antipsychotic drugs, pharmacotherapeutic initiatives are focusing on alternative molecular mechanisms as promising pharmacological targets for improving cognitive abilities in this disorder (Green, 2007; Tcheremissine et al., 2012).

Converging evidence from preclinical and human research points to the therapeutic potential of drugs targeted at nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) in the treatment of schizophrenia cognition (Ochoa and Lasalde-Dominicci, 2007; Evans and Drobes, 2009; D'Souza and Markou, 2011). nAChRs are strongly implicated in normal cognitive information processes (Mansvelder et al., 2006). Nicotine, the primary psychoactive chemical in tobacco smoke, is a prototypical nAChR agonist and the increased prevalence of smoking in schizophrenia (~70–80%) compared to the general population (~20%) has been interpreted as a form of self-medication (Kumari and Postman, 2005; Winterer, 2010), perhaps to compensate for reduced expression of nAChRs observed in post-mortem hippocampal and cortical brain regions of patients (Breese et al., 2000). Although recent evidence of nicotine interacting with schizophrenia risk genes with regards to the expression of endophenotypes such as sensory gating may suggest that smoking might act as a causal factor for schizophrenia and related cognitive deficits (Quednow et al., 2012), meta-analysis has shown significant enhancing effects of acute nicotine on multiple cognitive domains in healthy smokers and non-smokers (Heishman et al., 2010). Although null findings have been reported in the cognitive literature, acute doses of nicotine in animal models of schizophrenia and in non-smoking and smoking schizophrenia patients also transiently improve elementary pre-attentive sensory processing deficits as well as performance impairments in higherorder attention and working memory tasks (Olincy and Stevens, 2007; Radek et al., 2010).

Neurochemical models of schizophrenia have implicated glutamatergic mechanisms in general and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) in particular. NMDAR-type glutamate receptors are widely distributed throughout the brain and single subanesthetic doses of NMDAR antagonists, such as phencyclidine or ketamine, induce transient and reversible neurochemical, symptomatic and neurocognitive aspects of the disorder in healthy controls, with information processing deficits being observed not only in higher cortical regions, but also in subcortical systems and sensory cortices (Javitt, 2010; Adell et al., 2012). Over the past decade, bottom-up sensory processing deficits have become increasingly well documented in schizophrenia, co-existing with top-down, more complex forms of cognitive impairments and mirroring the pattern of deficits seen with NMDAR antagonists, thus supporting a NMDAR hypofunction model of the disease (Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010).

Disturbance in low-level sensory problems in the auditory system is a robust cognitive deficit in schizophrenia patients and is strongly indexed by impaired generation of an event-related brain potential (ERP) component - the mismatch negativity (MMN). Generated within the primary auditory cortex and receiving contributions from frontal cortical generators (Rinne et al., 2000), the MMN is automatically elicited (at ~150-200 ms) in an auditory "oddball" paradigm in response to infrequent changes (i.e., deviants, such as shifts in sound pitch, intensity, duration, location, or pattern) in a repetitive stream of auditory stimuli. Presumed to reflect the stored representations of the characteristics of auditory stimuli (for seconds to minutes), MMN is an index of auditory sensory ("echoic") memory, a pre-attentive component of the brain working memory system (Naatanen et al., 2011). Impaired MMN generation, which is specific to schizophrenia (vs. other psychiatric disorders), is well established (Naatanen and Kahkonen, 2009), with a mean effect size of ~1 d across studies (Umbricht and Krljes, 2005). Neither typical nor atypical antipsychotics affect the amplitude or latency of the ERP, and deficits in MMN generation have been reported in both clozapine- and risperidone-treated patients (Schall et al., 1998; Umbricht et al., 1998; Umbricht and Vollenweider, 1999; Kasai et al., 2002).

*N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists have dosedependently blocked the MMN response recorded in auditory primary cortex in animals (Javitt et al., 1994, 1996) and have

diminished the MMN in healthy controls (Umbricht et al., 2000; Kreitschmann-Andermahr et al., 2001; Heekeren et al., 2008). Nicotine effects on MMN on the other hand have been relatively consistent with increased amplitude and shorter latencies to tone pitch deviants being observed in patients with Alzheimer' disease (Engeland et al., 2002), whereas in healthy controls, nicotine has augmented MMN amplitudes to pitch (Harkrider and Hedrick, 2005), inter-stimulus interval (Martin et al., 2009), and duration deviants (Baldeweg et al., 2006), with the two former MMN effects being observed both in smokers and non-smokers, while the latter effect was shown only in smokers. The latency of the pitch-MMN has also been shortened with nicotine administration in non-smokers (Inauri et al., 2005), who have also evidenced a shortened latency and an increased amplitude of the pitch-MMN with an acute dose of the selective nAChR agonist AZD3480 (Dunbar et al., 2007), as well as an amplitude increase of the visual MMN with nicotine (Fisher et al., 2010).

In the first of two studies in schizophrenia patients, acute nicotine treatment did not alter the pitch-MMN amplitude in non-smoking patients and controls, but in the latter group, it shortened MMN latency relative both to placebo and to the MMN latency seen in the patient group (Inami et al., 2007). In the second study, conducted in our laboratory, nicotine also increased duration- (but not pitch) MMN in smoking patients, normalizing their amplitude relative to control smokers (Dulude et al., 2010). These effects were not associated with tobacco withdrawal symptoms or antipsychotic medication.

Nicotine modulates the release of neurotransmitters other than acetylcholine (e.g., dopamine, GABA, norepinephrine, and glutamate), with presynaptic nAChRs facilitating NMDAR-mediated glutamatergic neurotransmission in a multitude of brain regions including (but not limited to) the prefrontal cortex (Lambe et al., 2003). nAChRs are heavily expressed in the primary auditory cortex (Soto et al., 2006) where nicotine has enhanced tone-evoked physiological sensitivity through NMDAR activation (Metherate, 2004). Previous preclinical cognitive studies of nAChR-NMDAR interactions have shown mixed findings (Timofeeva and Levin, 2011), with some reporting nicotine blockade of the disruptive pre-attentive (sensorimotor gating), attentional, and mnemonic effects of NMDAR antagonists (Thompson and Winsaver, 1986; Terry et al., 2002; Rezvani and Levin, 2003; Spieleway and Markov, 2004; Andreasen et al., 2006; Levin and Rezvani, 2006; Rezvani et al., 2008), while others reported no interactions, or observed a potentiation of impairments induced with NMDAR antagonist treatment (Levin et al., 2003, 2005; Rezvani and Levin, 2003; Quarta et al., 2007; Rasmussen et al., 2008). In the few human studies, the NMDAR antagonist memantine did not oppose the smoking-induced improvements in sustained attention (Jackson et al., 2009), and in our work with ketamine, nicotine moderation of the arousal and attentional modulating actions of this NMDAR antagonist were found to be dependent on smoker vs. non-smoker status (Knott et al., 2006, 2011).

Mismatch negativity deficits in schizophrenia are highly correlated with cognitive and functional outcome and as the NMDAR antagonist model has shown predictive ability for a range of novel treatments that have reached clinical trials (Large, 2007), the human ketamine model, together with the use of putative endophenotypes such as MMN, offer a good opportunity to study new drugs with novel and distinct cognitive enhancing mechanisms that go beyond dopamine transmission. In the present study, the first to investigate the role of NMDAR-mediated glutamatergic neurotransmission in nicotine-modulated sensory memory, the separate and combined actions of nicotine and ketamine were examined with respect to auditory MMN. In addition, as NMDAR antagonism also impairs sustained attentional performance, typically slowing response speed and reducing accuracy in continuous performance tasks (CPT), a performance pattern similar to that observed in schizophrenia patients (Newcomer et al., 1999; Krystal et al., 2005a,b), the study also examined the effects of these drugs and their interactions on the Rapid Visual Information Processing (RVIP) task, a CPT with putative endophenotypic sensitivity (Hilti et al., 2010). As it is unclear as to whether ketamine-induced cognitive impairments reflect the direct effects of ketamine or are secondary to the induced schizophrenia-like clinical symptoms, we followed our previous studies and administered a sub-perceptual, non-psychotomimetic dose of ketamine (Knott et al., 2006, 2011).

Although the human ketamine model in healthy volunteers is well established and allows for the investigation of neurotransmitter systems participating in NMDAR-mediated cognitive deficiency, these findings may not necessarily be relevant to cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. Confounding factors (prior or concomitant drug treatment, chronicity, lack of cooperation, lower education) make the in vivo study of ketamine-drug interactions in schizophrenia difficult. However, the use of healthy surrogate populations (e.g., unaffected relatives of patients or people with schizotypal personality features), defined as groups that feature a component of the main disease process but do not have the fully developed condition - is gaining momentum as a potential methodology for detecting novel drug treatment for schizophrenia and as such may be relevant for capturing NMDAR-nicotinic interactions regulating cognitive endophenotypes of schizophrenia. In this approach, schizophrenia is viewed as an extreme of normally distributed cognitive functions and, for people who express some of the phenotype without the full disease (psychoses), their endophenotypes (such as MMN and RVIP) are thought to be more sensitive to drug effects and/or neurochemical disturbances than unselected healthy volunteers because they share the same elements of the disorder (Koychev et al., 2011). One phenotype, auditory hallucinations (AHs), is strongly associated with psychotic disorders such as schizophrenia but is also observed in other clinical and non-clinical groups (i.e., are "trans-diagnostic"). Increasingly, AHs are being investigated in non-psychotic conditions with cognitive and behavioral paradigms developed for schizophrenia (Waters et al., 2012). As the trait that makes humans prone to AHs appears to be related to brain areas involved in auditory stimuli processing/speech perception (i.e., auditory cortex; Kuhn and Gallinat, 2010), the same brain regions participating in MMN generation, and as schizophrenia patients with AHs (vs. those without AHs) have exhibited reduced MMN-indexed auditory sensory memory in our laboratory studies (Fisher et al., 2008, 2011, 2012a,b), this present investigation examined the effects of ketamine, nicotine, and their interactions in healthy volunteers psychometrically assessed as varying in hallucination/delusion (HD) proneness.

It was expected that individuals with higher (vs. lower) HD proneness would exhibit reduced MMN and RVIP performance, be more susceptible to the detrimental effects of ketamine, and be more responsive to the enhancing actions of nicotine when administered alone and in combination with ketamine.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### STUDY PARTICIPANTS

A sample of 24 participants (10 males, 14 females) was selected from a larger group of 38 healthy volunteers recruited from advertisements in local media and universities. All potential participants were screened via a semi-structured interview for psychiatric disorders (including alcohol/drug abuse) and general health, and were also assessed with the Family Instrument for Genetic Studies (Nurnberger et al., 1994) to rule out those with psychiatric disorders within first-degree relatives. They were also administered the Bell Object Relations and Reality Testing Inventory (BORRTI; Bell, 1992), a 90-item, self-report true-false pencil-and-paper questionnaire: 45 items assessing object relations, and the other 45 reality testing, with the latter yielding three subscale factors (Reality of Distortions, Uncertainty of Perceptions, and Hallucinations and Delusions), which are thought to identify those with a predisposition for psychotic symptoms. Only the HD subscale was used in this study. HD scores correlate significantly with the Hallucinatory Behavior and Unused Thought Content scales of the widely used Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS; Overall and Gorham, 1962) and HD is the only subscale of the BORRTI on which high scores are specific to schizophrenia vs. other criterion groups (Bell et al., 1985). Standardized HD t scores of the total sample ranged from 30 to 67 (mean = 46.5) and those individuals with the 12 lowest (L-HD) scores (mean = 36.9, range 30-42) and the 12 highest (H-HD) scores (mean = 56.3, range 52-67) were selected for this study. A t score of 60 or more is indicative of a deficit and three of the H-HD group exhibited scores of 61, 61, and 67. L-HD and H-HD groups did not differ with respect to their scores on the Reality of Distortions and Uncertainty of Perception subscale factors. Groups were similar with respect to age, gender, and nonsmoker/smoker status (L-HD: seven non-smokers, five smokers; H-HD: six non-smokers, six smokers). All the non-smokers had not smoked a cigarette in the past year, and the smoking characteristics of the smoking in the two groups was similar, with smokers smoking on average for 7.8 years (range 4–12) and smoking a mean of 16.8 cigarettes/day (range 15-20). None of these participants reported a personal or first-degree family psychiatric history, use of medications or a serious medical problem, and none exhibited abnormal results during a physical examination (with electrocardiogram) or with routine laboratory tests (complete blood count, blood chemistry, urine analysis, and urine toxicology for drug use).

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Board of the Royal Ottawa Health Care Group and all participants signed an informed consent prior to study participation.

### **EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN**

The study involved four test sessions couched within a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, cross-over design with two parallel groups, L-HD and H-HD. Each session involved the intravenous infusion of ketamine (KI) or a comparable placebo (PI) as well as oral administration (gum) of nicotine (NG) or a comparable placebo (PG). Two of the four test sessions involved a KI and in the remaining two sessions participants received a PI. Also, in one of the KI and PI sessions, participants were pretreated with NG, and in the other two (KI and PI) sessions they were pretreated with PG. Order of the four treatments (PG–PI, PG–KI, NG–PI, NG–KI) was counterbalanced and sessions were separated by a minimum one-day interval.

### SESSION PROCEDURES

In each of the four test sessions, participants arrived at the laboratory (08:00 a.m.) following overnight (beginning 12:00 a.m.) abstinence from food, drugs, alcohol, caffeine, and cigarettes. Smoking abstinence was verified by an expired air carbon monoxide (CO) reading, which was required to be below 5 parts per million (ppm). Following insertion of an antecubital intravenous line, a 45-min adaptation period and EEG electrode placement, participants were administered either NG or PG, and after a 30min nicotine absorption period, KI or PI was initiated along with the RVIP task and simultaneous ERP recordings for MMN. Vital signs were assessed both before drug treatment and at the end of the session.

### DRUG ADMINISTRATION

### Nicotine

An oral dose of nicotine was administered in the form of nicotine polacrilex gum, providing delivery primarily via buccal absorption (Hukkanen et al., 2005). A 4 mg Nicorette Plus (Hoechst Roussell) gum piece or matching placebo was chewed (with nose plugs, to help reduce any possible sensory impact differences between nicotine and placebo) over a 25-min period according to manufacturer guidelines, with participants using an audiotape to instruct them to bite the gum twice per minute and to park the gum (i.e., inside the mouth between teeth and cheeks) after each bite. An additional 5-min absorption period, involving the chewing of a strong mint gum to help disguise any placebo vs. nicotine flavor differences, followed the gum chewing so that peak blood levels from the subsequent infusion of ketamine coincided with slower rising blood nicotine concentrations, which typically exhibit a  $T_{\text{max}}$  of ~30-min and are expected to range between 10 and 17 ng/ml (Hukkanen et al., 2005). Plasma levels of nicotine were not assessed. The elimination half-life of plasma nicotine is approximately 120 min.

### Ketamine

Human ketamine studies of acute psychoses typically involve systemic infusions of ketamine at dose levels well below the 1–2 mg/kg dose range used in human anesthesia, either by administering a constant dose (0.5 mg/kg) over a ~60-min period (Krystal et al., 1994), or by administering an initial bolus (Malhotra et al., 1996) or loading dose (Newcomer et al., 1999), both followed by infusion of a maintenance dose of ketamine to achieve steady state ketamine blood levels over a ~60-min period. As loading doses of 0.27 and 0.08 mg/kg have produced marked and mild psychotomimetic-like reactions, respectively, with no subjective effects or measurable plasma ketamine levels being observed with 0.024 mg/kg (Newcomer et al., 1999), this study utilized an intermediate low loading

dose of 0.04 mg/kg, but no maintenance dose, with the aim of avoiding the experience of schizophrenia-like clinical symptoms. Although there are significant relations between MMN Amplitudes and psychoses-like symptoms induced by ketamine (Umbricht et al., 2002), our use of a relatively low dose allows us to study the effects of ketamine independent of psychotic symptoms. An automated pump apparatus (Imed Gemini PC-1) infused 0.04 mg/kg ketamine hydrochloride or placebo [saline (0.9% sodium chloride) solution] over a 10-min period in order to maximize safety. This dose level, previously used in our laboratory, had been associated with arousal EEG, and cognitive changes in healthy volunteers (Knott et al., 2006, 2011) and produced ketamine blood levels (25-37 mg/ml) that equated with levels seen in a prior study that administered a 0.08 mg/kg dose of ketamine (Newcomer et al., 1999). Although not able to be assessed in all the study participants due to prohibitive costs, gas chromatography (National Medical Services, Philadelphia, PA, USA) carried out on five plasma samples obtained from the PG-KI condition (collected at termination of the infusion) found KI to produce ketamine levels ranging from 25 to 37 ng/ml (M = 31 ng/ml). These ketamine levels approximate the average ketamine level reported with the 0.08 mg/kg dose of ketamine (Newcomer et al., 1999).

### STUDY ASSESSMENTS

In order to minimize attention to the auditory stimuli eliciting the MMN, these ERPs are typically acquired while participants are engaged in a secondary visual task, which in this case, was the RVIP task.

### **RVIP** paradigm

Employing the original RVIP paradigm of Wesnes and Warburton (1984), participants viewed 50-ms duration single digits (1–9) presented (black on white) in the center of a monitor at a fixed rate of 110 digits/min, the average inter-stimulus interval being 545 ms and ranging between 445 and 645 ms. Button presses were required on the detection of targets, which were defined as the third of three consecutive odd digits. Over the 12-min task, a total of 1320 digits, including 120 targets (10 per min) were presented, with each target sequence being separated by a minimum of five digits. Volunteers were instructed to respond (with right index finger) as quickly and accurately as possible and performance measures included: the number of correct responses (expressed as % hits), with correct responses being defined as a button press to the third digit of each target triad within 100-1000 ms post-stimulus onset; the number (%) of incorrect or false alarm (FA) responses, defined as button presses to non-target stimuli, and reaction times (RT) of correct responses. In addition, signal detection methodology was used to equally weight hits and FAs into a single measure (d'), which is considered to be a purer index of perceptual accuracy/sensitivity (Macmillan and Creelman, 1997). Response measures were separated into three successive time blocks of 4-min each to assess performance changes with drugs across time.

### MMN paradigm

Auditory stimuli eliciting the MMN during ERP recordings consisted of a total of 1200, 80 dB tones (50 ms duration 10 ms rise/decay time) presented binaurally through headphones (80 dB sound pressure level) with a stimulus onset asynchrony of 545 ms (ranging between 445 and 645 ms) and between individual RVIP stimuli; resulting in no temporal overlap of the two stimulus modalities. Ten percent of the tones (deviants) were 100 Hz and were randomly presented among the standard tones (1000 Hz). Electrical activity was recorded from frontal  $(F_z)$ , central  $(C_z)$ , and parietal  $(P_z)$  midline scalp sites using a linked earlobe reference. Although choice of reference site may potentially alter outcomes, ketamine-induced reductions in MMN have been observed with a variety of references, including linked ears (Gunduz-Bruce et al., 2012) and linked mastoids (Umbricht et al., 2000). Recordings were also taken from orbital sites and amplifier bandpass filters and EEG sampling rate set at 0.1-40 Hz and 250 Hz, respectively. ERP processing included epoch segmentation (500 ms, beginning 50 ms pre-stimulus onset), ocular correction, artifacting (eliminating ocular corrected epochs with  $EEG > 100 \,\mu\text{V}$ ), baseline correction, and separate averaging of standard and deviant epochs. As with the RVIP data, averages were separated into three equal time blocks, with each block containing 400 stimuli (40 deviants). There were no significant differences between the study conditions in terms of the number of epochs comprising standard and deviant averages and all deviant averages contained a minimum of 30 stimuli. MMNs were derived by digital point-by-point subtraction of standard waveforms from deviant waveforms. Since out own work found frontal MMN in schizophrenia to be effected by acute nicotine (Dulude et al., 2010) and as ketamine-induced reductions in MMN in healthy volunteers was evidenced only at frontal (vs. temporal) sites (Schmidt et al., 2012a), the MMN was measured from  $F_{z_1}$  the site of maximal amplitude. Based on grand averages, MMN amplitude was defined as the peak negative voltage (relative to pre-stimulus baseline) in an 80-220 ms window. Latency (ms) was measured as the time (from stimulus onset) to reach peak negativity.

### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Performance measures (hits, FA, d', RT) were subjected to separate split-plot ANOVAs with one between-group factor (HD, two levels) and three within-group factors (gum, two levels; drug, two levels; time block, three levels). Similar ANOVAs were carried out with the ERP measures (MMN amplitude and latency). Greenhouse–Geisser corrections were applied where appropriate to compensate for violations of sphericity assumed with univariate ANOVAs. Significant (p < 0.05) main or interaction effects were followed up with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons.

Exploration of relationships between MMN and sustained attention were examined with Pearson r correlations between MMN amplitude and d' (collapsed across groups and time blocks) using placebo data (i.e., PG plus PI condition) as well as change score data, derived by subtracting values in the placebo condition (PG–PI) from values derived in each of the three non-placebo sessions.

### RESULTS

### **EFFECTS ON MMN**

Robust MMN amplitudes to pitch deviants were shown in each of the four test sessions and in each of the three time blocks within each session. No significant main effects were observed for drug, gum, group, or time block but a significant group × drug × block (F = 4.05, df = 2, 44, p = 0.031) interaction was demonstrated for amplitudes. Although exhibiting a general amplitude reduction with KI, planned comparisons showed that compared to placebo, KI (vs. PI) significantly reduced MMN only during time block 3 in the H-HD group (p = 0.038). In addition, the MMN amplitude of the H-HD group during time block 3 was significantly smaller (p = 0.05) than that of the L-HD group during KI (**Figure 1**).

Follow-up analysis of a significant group × drug × gum interaction (F = 3.945, df = 1, 22, p = 0.049) showed a significant ketamine effect in the H-HD group. More specifically, when administered with PG, KI (vs. PI) significantly (p = 0.004) attenuated



www.frontiersin.org





MMN amplitudes of the H-HD participants (**Figure 2**). Additionally, in this same condition when KI was combined with PG, the H-HD exhibited significantly smaller MMN amplitudes than the L-HD group (p = 0.004). In the H-HD group, KI did not attenuate MMN when it was administered with NG (i.e., nicotine blocked KI effects on MMN) and MMN was shown to be significantly smaller when KI was combined with PG compared to when it was combined with NG (p = 0.007).

In addition to amplitude, latency of MMN was slightly but significantly affected by drug (F = 4.38, df = 1, 22, p = 0.048), with KI resulting in a slowing of MMN relative to PI (**Figure 3**).



### **EFFECTS ON RVIP**

Response accuracy as expressed by % hits varied significantly in relation to time block (F = 5.27, df = 2, 44, p = 0.01), with hits being reduced (p=0.01) in time blocks 2 (M=79.94%),  $SE \pm 4.98$ ) and 3 (M = 79.16%,  $SE \pm 5.18$ ) compared to time block 1 (M = 84.38%, SE  $\pm 3.76$ ). A significant gum (F = 11.15, df = 1, 22, p = 0.003) and a gum × drug interaction (F = 10.05, df = 1, 22, p = 0.004) demonstrated a general enhancing effect of NG (vs. PG) on target detection, which was blocked by KI. Specifically, in the PI conditions, NG significantly elevated % hits relative to PG (p = 0.0001) but this gum effect was not observed under KI conditions (Figure 4). The blockade of nicotine-induced increases in hit rates was further reflected in the comparison of the two NG conditions, where hits during the combined NG-KI condition were significantly reduced compared to when nicotine was combined with PI (p = 0.05) and when KI was administered alone (p < 0.05).

In a group × gum × block interaction (F = 3.64, df = 1, 44, p = 0.046), the H-HD group exhibited significantly (p = 0.04) reduced % hits than the L-HD group in time block 1 (p = 0.05) and time block 2 (**Figure 5**). For the H-HD group, NG (relative to PG) was shown to elevate hit rate in the H-HD during time block 1 (p = 0.006) and during time block 2 (p = 0.001).

As shown in **Figure 6**, FAs were moderated by a gum × time block interaction (F = 3.23, df = 2, 44, p = 0.032), with NG acting to prevent the response errors seen in time block with PG (p = 0.038).

The analysis of d' yielded a significant gum (F = 13.63, df = 1, 44, (p = 0.001), drug × gum (F = 7.06, df = 1, 44, (p = 0.014) and a drug × gum × block × group effects (F = 3.64, df = 1, 44, (p = 0.05). NG (vs. PG) increased scores (p = 0.001) but this was shown only during PI (not KI) and, as displayed in **Table 1**, was







limited to the H-HD group during time block 1 (p = 0.001) and 2 (p = 0.009). During administration of placebo (PG–PI), d' scores of the H-HD group were also significantly lower than those of the L-HD group in time block 1 (p = 0.05) and 3 (p = 0.05). Also for the H-HD group in the combined Ki-NG condition, d' scores significantly declined from block 1 to block 2 (p = 0.01).

Response speed was significantly influenced by gum (F = 4.77, df = 1, 22, p = 0.040), with NG speeding RT relative to PG. In a group × drug interaction (F = 4.77, df = 1.22, p = 0.040) RT of the H-HD group was found to be significantly slower (p = 0.032) than the L-HD during administration of PG and PI (**Figure 7**). Although not affecting the H-HD participants, *there was a trend for* KI (vs. PI) *to slow* RT (p = 0.06) in the L-HD group, and during

the KI condition there were no differences in RT between the L-HD and H-HD groups.

### CORRELATIONS

No significant correlations were observed between MMN and d' in the placebo condition (PG–PI) nor were there any significant correlations between ketamine/nicotine-induced changes in MMN and ketamine/nicotine-induced change in d'.

### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the moderating role of nicotine on ketamine-induced changes in both sensory and attentional processing, two domains which are highly dysfunctional in schizophrenia and are differentially modulated by the NMDAR antagonist ketamine and the nAChR agonist nicotine. Specifically, the study investigated the hypothesis that MMN - an index of auditory sensory memory that depends on intact NMDAR functioning, would be impaired by ketamine but not when coadministered with nicotine. The results support this hypothesis in that healthy volunteers, assessed to be more prone to experiencing hallucinatory activity (H-HD), evidenced a significantly diminished MMN generation with ketamine alone but not when ketamine was combined with nicotine. During ketamine infusion, MMN amplitudes of H-HD participants were significantly reduced compared to L-HD participants, assessed to be less prone to HD.

Although not observed in one previous study (Oranje et al., 2000), the reduction of MMN with intravenous ketamine is consistent with prior reports of MMN attenuation in healthy volunteers with sub-anesthetic doses of the NMDA antagonist ketamine (Umbricht et al., 2000) and parallels the reduction of MMN in monkeys following infusion of NMDAR antagonists into primary auditory cortex (Javitt et al., 1992, 1994, 1996) as well as the dose-dependent blockade of the MMN recorded from rat auditory cortex after intra-peritoneal injections of the NMDAR

Treatment		L-HD			H-HD	
	B1	B2	B3	B1	B2	B3
PG-PI	3.49/0.18	3.45/0.27	3.39/0.28	3.10/0.18	3.02/0.27	2.95/0.28
PG–KI	3.44/0.23	3.38/0.24	3.04/0.29	3.26/0.23	3.04/0.24	3.38/0.29
NG-PI	3.66/0.19	3.62/0.24	3.49/0.25	3.86/0.19	3.27/0.24	3.44/0.25
NG–KI	3.46/0.21	3.23/0.2	3.44/0.25	3.26/0.21	3.29/0.22	3.05/0.25

Table 1 | Mean/±SE d' scores of L-HD and H-HD groups across treatment conditions and time blocks (B1–B3).



antagonist, MK-P01, and memantine (Tikhonravov et al., 2008, 2010). Together with the observation of robust reductions of MMN (effect size of 0.99) in schizophrenia patients (Umbricht and Krljes, 2005) and the wealth of evidence suggesting that psychosis is secondary to NMDAR hypofunction with a downstream effect in dopaminergic activity (Fu et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2012), these present findings provide indirect evidence supporting the glutamate/NMDAR hypothesis of schizophrenia and specifically reinforce the implication that deficits in glutamatergic signaling underlie auditory sensory memory impairment characterizing this disorder.

Unlike previous cognitive and MMN studies that purposefully used ketamine doses which were psychotomimetic (i.e., typically involving initial loading dose of  $\sim$ 0.25 mg/kg followed by a maintenance dose of  $\sim$ 0.5–0.9 mg/kg/h) and transiently reproduced schizophrenia-like negative and positive symptoms in healthy volunteers (e.g., Newcomer et al., 1999), this present study used a single, low dose bolus infusion (0.04 mg/kg) which had previously been shown to induce only mild subjective arousal and euphoric but not clinically relevant behavioral changes. MMN is indirectly proportional to the prevalence of negative symptoms (Urban

et al., 2007) and as such, ketamine-induced behavioral effects with psychotomimetic doses may potentially contribute to cognitive deficits including sensory processing abnormality. However, in healthy controls administered the psychotomimetic psilocybin (a 5-HT2A agonist), a reduction in MMN was not shown despite the experienced marked behavioral changes (Umbricht and Vollenweider, 1999). Viewed in the context of previous reports of greater MMN deficits in patients prone to AH (Fisher et al., 2008, 2011, 2012a,b) and of studies showing the magnitude of MMN deficit in patients to be correlated with clinical ratings of hallucinatory behavior (Youn et al., 2003; see also, Hirayasu et al., 1998 and Thonnesen et al., 2008), our finding of diminished MMN generation with a low sub-psychotomimetic dose of ketamine in H-HD (vs. L-HD) participants suggests that glutamatergic neurotransmission in the auditory cortex of individuals with a trait that predisposes to AH may be more vulnerable to disruption of NDMAR activity.

Keeping in mind that AHs of non-patients may not be similar to those of psychotic or non-psychotic clinical patients (Daalman et al., 2011), hallucinations in general are essentially perceptions that arise through an interaction stemming from neural activations and top-down activity. The basic neural signal contributing to a tonic trait-like vulnerability to experience AHs appears to arise from hyperactivation of functional networks involving the auditory cortex that generate aberrant auditory signals (Kuhn and Gallinat, 2010; Waters et al., 2012). Although AHs were not formally assessed during the testing sessions, it is possible that NMDAR antagonism induced an abnormality in auditory signaling and increased hallucinating activity, which may have impacted MMN generation. In support of this argument, patients in general exhibit reduced sensory-level processing of auditory input (e.g., diminished auditory acuity, elevated thresholds for tone discrimination; Mathew et al., 1993; Holcomb et al., 1995; Strous et al., 1995; Wexler et al., 1998; Rabinowicz et al., 2000); patients with (vs. without) AHs have greater difficulty in sound (speech) discrimination (Hugdahl et al., 2008), and the temporal cortex evidences both high glutamate levels in patients (Marsman et al., 2011) and hypofunctional activation in controls during ketamine infusion (Hugdahl et al., 2008). However, impaired auditory MMN generation during ketamine infusion is unlikely to be related to competing influences resulting from increasing auditory verbal hallucinations as organized AH (i.e., identifiable as speech) as seen in established schizophrenia are rarely observed during a ketamine challenge (Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010). Also, any evoked auditory disturbances during ketamine infusion resemble the pattern observed in the early course of schizophrenia and as such, altered auditory processing during a ketamine challenge may be

viewed more as a model of prodromal or acute incipient schizophrenia, rather than late, chronic schizophrenia (Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010).

Nicotine alone did not affect MMN but it prevented the MMN attenuation induced with ketamine. Failure to observe enhanced sensory memory processing with nicotine as shown in earlier reports may be related to methodological differences between studies, including dose and route of nicotine administration, stimulus feature and presentation parameters, ERP recording and processing procedures, and composition of participant samples. However, the ability of nicotine to block the NMDAR antagonist actions of ketamine on auditory sensory memory is consistent with findings that acetylcholine is one of the major modulators of auditory cortical activity (Edeline, 2003; Soto et al., 2006), with both high ( $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2) and low ( $\alpha$ 7) nicotine affinity nAChRs being densely, and widely expressed in the auditory pathway (Morley and Happe, 2000), particularly where thalamocortical inputs terminate (Metherate, 2004; Bieszczad et al., 2012).

The underlying mechanism of nicotine's protective action is unclear and although it may involve the regulation of sensory processes by tonic release of endogenous acetylcholine at nAChRs, thalamocortical synapses are excitatory and glutamatergic (Kharazia and Weinberg, 1994). Hence, nicotine blockade of ketamine effects may implicate nicotinic regulation of thalamocortical glutamate release by presynaptic (or preterminal) nAChRs, and possibly nicotinic regulation of GABAergic interneurons (Radcliffe et al., 1999; Schilström et al., 2000; Metherate and Hsieh, 2003; Liang et al., 2008; Intskirveli and Metherate, 2012). As an additional or alternative mechanism, nicotinic agonists have also been shown to inhibit NMDAR-mediated cortical currents, possibly by displacing the obligatory NMDAR co-agonist glycine (Flores-Hernandez et al., 2009). Regardless of the mechanism of action, these present study findings of diminished ketamineinduced MMN impairment were observed with a smoking-dose of nicotine, as was the previous finding of nicotine-induced normalization of MMN in schizophrenia patients (Dulude et al., 2010). Together they provide tentative support for the contention that excessive tobacco use in schizophrenia in patients may be an attempt to correct sensory deficiencies related to dysfunctional nAChR and/or NMDAR systems. The increase in MMN latency with NMDAR antagonism, reported previously by other studies using larger ketamine doses (Umbricht et al., 2000; Kreitschmann-Andermahr et al., 2001; Roser et al., 2011), was not moderated by nicotine, suggesting that nicotine's protective actions in the human ketamine model are specific to the strength and not the speed of sensory memory processes.

Performance in the RVIP task was also investigated and was generally found to be enhanced during acute nicotine administration, with both response accuracy (*hit rate and d'*) and speed (RT) being improved relative to placebo. Indexing sustained attention and working memory aspects of cognition, task performance in CPT paradigms such as RVIP has consistently been impaired both in schizophrenia (Hilti et al., 2010; Barch et al., 2012) and tobacco abstaining smokers (Heishman, 1999). Nicotine has been shown to improve CPT efficiency in schizophrenia (Smith et al., 2006; Barr et al., 2008), with attentional improvements in some studies being reported to be selective for non-smoking (vs. smoking) patients (Harris et al., 2004). *For sustained attention measured with* 

RVIP, nicotine improved but did not normalize performance in schizophrenia and it exerted no significant reversal of the impaired frontalparietal-cingulate-thalamic attention network associated with schizophrenia (Hong et al., 2011). Although typically viewed as a task of sustained attention, RVIP also involves a significant working memory component and nicotine improvement of RVIP and attentiondependent tasks may be related to its demonstrated ability to activate posterior (parietal) brain areas traditionally associated with visual attention (Lawrence et al., 2002) and/or to increase functional connectivity in frontal, executive-based cortical regions (Jacobsen et al., 2004).

The increased hit rate and d' seen with nicotine (vs. placebo) gum during placebo infusion was absent when nicotine was administered with ketamine. Ionotropic- but not metabotropicglutamate antagonist treatment also blocked nicotine improved response accuracy in rodent attentional tasks (Quarta et al., 2007; Amitai and Markou, 2009). Together these observations suggest that nAChR modulation of glutamate release underlies nicotineenhanced target detection and is diminished by NMDAR blockade. However, nAChR and NMDAR ligands appear to overlap in their ligand affinities (Aracava et al., 2005; Plazas et al., 2007) and as anesthetics are potent inhibitors of presynaptic nAChRs, with ketamine being shown to block  $\alpha 4 \beta 2$  nAChRs (Irnaten et al., 2002; Tassonyi et al., 2002), it may have attenuated the nicotinic stimulation required for improvements in correct response rates.

Nicotine-facilitated target detection was found to vary between HD groups, with increased d' and hit rates during nicotine (vs. placebo) administration being limited to the higher scoring individuals (H-HD), who also exhibited reduced hit rates and d' compared to L-HD participants in the non-drug condition. Although in schizophrenia hallucinators, the reduced activation shown in primary auditory cortex during auditory target detection was not seen in visual cortex (Ford et al., 2009), recent neurophysiological evidence has pointed to early visual processing deficits in patients who tend to hallucinate (Kayser et al., 2012). Perhaps extending to healthy controls with a hallucinating propensity, these findings in patient hallucinators suggested a broader early perceptual deficit that extends beyond the auditory modality. The performance improving effect of nicotine on RVIP in H-HD is consistent with previous ERP research showing preferential enhancement in visual (vs. auditory) processing (e.g., increased amplitude of the N100 and P300 ERPs) with smoking/nicotine (Knott, 1989; Knott et al., 1995, 1999; Pritchard et al., 2004) and it also parallels reports showing nicotine - induced cognitive facilitation to be more prevalent in poorer performing, cognitively deficient populations (Newhouse et al., 2004).

The H-HD group were also slower in responding to RVIP targets than the L-HD group but ketamine, not nicotine, influenced response speed only in the L-HD participants, increasing RT relative to placebo. Together with reduced target detection rates, response slowing in non-patient hallucinators support and extend the contention applied to schizophrenia voice-hearers (Ford et al., 2009), that their auditory cortex may be "turned on" and tonically "tuned in" to internal acoustic information at the cost of processing not only external sounds but on the basis of these findings, external visual input as well. Perhaps reflecting a "floor" effect that prevents further slowing of RT, ketamine-induced slowing was not seen in H-HD and its appearance in L-HD indicates that, as shown with nicotine's attentional enhancing properties, the RVIP impairing actions of NMDAR blockade in healthy volunteers are baseline dependent. MMN failed to show any relationship to d' in the placebo or active conditions. In schizophrenia, MMN has been found to be related and contribute to higher-order cognitive impairments as well as deficits in social cognition (Javitt et al., 1995; Baldeweg et al., 2004; Sehatpour et al., 2010; Wynn et al., 2010). Unlike our present findings, modeling study suggested ketamine reductions in MMN in healthy volunteers to be mediated by changes in short-term plasticity (of "forward" inter-regional connections) of the auditory hierarchy, which significantly correlated with ratings of ketamine-induced impairments in cognition and control (Schmidt et al., 2012b). Although RVIP may be an exception, reexamination of this task in larger sample of healthy volunteers and patients and with larger doses of nicotine and ketamine may show unique relationships between MMN and sustained attention that are moderated by SZ pathology and/or nicotinic/glutamatergic activity.

### LIMITATIONS

Methodological weakness in the present study may have moderated the findings and limited the conclusions and implications of this research. First, both nicotine and ketamine were administered as single doses and accordingly, it is not know if the observed results with each drug and their combination are dose-dependent. Second, ketamine was infused as a low bolus dose and the related cognitive findings may be distinct from those observed with the majority of human ketamine studies that have assessed cognition with sustained psychotogenic doses of this drug. Also, blood levels of the two drugs were not assayed to determine bioavailability and the cognitive effects of nicotine administered via slow buccal absorption may not mirror the effects of acute smoking, which delivers rapid nicotine boli to the brain. *Performance* assessments

### REFERENCES

- Adell, A., Jimenez-Sanchez, L., Lopez-Gil, X., and Roman, T. (2012). Is the acute NMDA receptor hyopfunction a valid model of schizophrenia? *Schizophr. Bull.* 38, 9–14.
- Amitai, N., and Markou, A. (2009). Chronic nicotine improves cognitive performance in a test of attention but does not attenuate cognitive disruption induced by repeated phencyclidine administration. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 202, 275–286.
- Andreasen, J., Anderson, K., Neilsen, F., Matheasen, L., and Mirzen, N. (2006). Nicotine and clozapine selectivity reverse a PCP-induced deficit of PPI in BALB/cBy but not MMRI mice: comparison with risperidone. *Behav. Brain Res.* 167, 118–127.
- Aracava, Y., Pereira, E., Maelicke, A., and Albuquerque, E. (2005). Memantine blocks alpha7 nicotine acetylcholine receptors more potently than N-methyl-D-aspartate

receptors in hippocampal neurons. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 312, 1195–1205.

- Baldeweg, T., Klugman, A., Gruzwliwe, J., and Hirsch, S. (2004). Mismatch negativity and cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 69, 203–217.
- Baldeweg, T., Wong, D., and Stephan, K. (2006). Nicotinic modulation of hourly auditory sensory memory: evidence from mismatch negativity potentials. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 59, 49–58.
- Barch, D., Moore, H., Nee, D., Manoach, D., and Luck, S. (2012). CNTRCS imaging biomarkers selection: working memory. *Schizophr. Bull.* 38, 43–52.
- Barr, R., Culhane, M., Jubelt, L., Mufti, R., Dyer, M., Weiss, A., Deckersbach, T., Kelly, J., Freudenreich, O., Goff, D., and Evens, A. (2008). The affects of transdermal nicotine on cognition in nonsmokers with schizophrenia and nonpsychiatric controls. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 3, 480–490.

were also limited and did not encompass the range of information processing deficits that characterize schizophrenia, each of which are valid targets for novel nicotinic and glutamatergic therapies. Finally, the L-HD and H-HD study samples were relatively small *and* were drawn from a healthy population and although there are advantages to this approach, similar challenge studies are required with healthy surrogate populations (e.g., schizotypal personality disorder, unaffected first-degree relatives of patients) with genetic links to schizophrenia.

### **CONCLUSION**

This study produced novel findings which underscore the potential role of nAChR and NMDAR systems and their interplay in the etiology of core neurocognitive deficits characterizing schizophrenia. The disturbance in sensory and attentional processing evident with a sub-psychotomimetic dose of ketamine reflects the widespread distribution of brain NMDARs and their sensitivity to minimal perturbations in glutamate signaling. Nicotine exhibited strong *attentional enhancing* properties, which in part were dependent on glutamate neurotransmission and were also evident by its ability to counter *impaired deviance detection* induced with NMDAR blockade. That these effects were moderated by a hallucinatory trait in a healthy population suggests that nicotine's sensory-*attentional* properties and its modulatory effects on NMDAR systems are relevant to neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia and may be specific to patient subtypes.

### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Research supported by Philip Morris USA Inc. and Philip Morris International. Parts of this data have been presented at the 50th Annual Meeting of the Society for Psychophysiological Research in Portland, Oregon from September 29 to October 3, 2010.

- Bell, M. (1992). Bell Object Relations and Reality Testing Inventory. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Bell, M., Billington, R., and Becker, B. (1985). Scale for the assessment of reality testing: reliability, validity, and factorial invariance. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 553, 506–511.
- Bieszczad, K., Kant, R., Constantinescu, C., Pandey, S., Kauai, H., Metherate, R., Weinberger, N., and Mukherjee, J. (2012). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat forebrain that bind 18F-Nifene: relating PET imagining, autoradiography, and behaviour. Synapse 66, 418–434.
- Breese, C. R., Lee, M. J., Adams, C. E., Sullivan, B., Logel, J., Gillen, K. M., Marks, M. J., Collins, A. C., and Leonard, S. (2000). Abnormal regulation of high affinity nicotinic receptors in subjects with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23, 351–354.
- D'Souza, M., and Markou, D. (2011). Schizophrenia and tobacco

smoking comorbidity: nAChR agonists in the treatment of schizophrenia-associated cognitive deficits. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 1564–1573.

- Daalman, K., Boks, M., Dierderen, K., Weijer, A., Blom, J., Kahn, R., and Sommer, I. (2011). The same or different? A phenomenological comparison of auditory verbal hallucinations in healthy and psychotic individuals. J. Clin. Psychiatry 72, 320–3250.
- Dulude, L., Labelle, A., and Knott, V. (2010). Acute nicotine alteration of sensory memory impairment in smokers with schizophrenia. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 30, 541–548.
- Dunbar, G., Boeijinga, P. H., Demazières, A., Cisterni, C., Kuchibhatla, R., Wesnes, K., and Luthringer, R. (2007). Effects of TC-1734 (AZD3480), a selective neuronal nicotinic receptor agonist on cognitive performance and the EEG of young healthy male volunteers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 191, 919–929.

- Edeline, J. (2003). The thalamo-cortical auditory receptive fields: regulation by the states of vigilance, learning and the neuromodulatory systems. *Exp. Brain Res.* 153, 554–572.
- Eleväg, B., and Goldberg, T. (2000). Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia as the core of the disorder. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.* 14, 1–21.
- Engeland, C., Mahoney, C., Mohr, E., Ilivitsky, V., and Knott, V. J. (2002). Acute nicotine effects on auditory sensory memory in tacrine treated and nontreated patients with Alzheimer's disease: an event-related potential study. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 72, 457–464.
- Evans, D., and Drobes, D. (2009). Nicotine self-medication of cognitiveattentional processing. *Addict. Biol.* 14, 32–42.
- Fisher, D., Grant, B., Smith, D., Borracci, G., Labelle, A., and Knott, V. (2011). Effects of auditory hallucinations on the mismatch negativity (MMN) in schizophrenia as measured by a modified 'optimal' multifeature paradigm. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 81, 245–251.
- Fisher, D., Labelle, A., and Knott, V. (2008). Auditory hallucinations and the mismatch negativity: processing speech and non-speech sounds in schizophrenia. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 70, 3–15.
- Fisher, D., Labelle, A., and Knott, V. (2012a). Alterations of mismatch negativity (MMN) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations experiencing acute exacerbation of illness. *Schizophr. Res.* 139, 237–245.
- Fisher, D., Smith, D., Labelle, A., and Knott, V. (2012b). Auditory mismatch negativity (MMN) in acutely ill and stable schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* (in press).
- Fisher, D., Scott, T., Shah, D., Prise, S., Thompson, M., and Knott, V. (2010). Light up and see: enhancement of the visual mismatch negativity (vMMN) by nicotine. *Brain Res.* 1313, 162–171.
- Flores-Hernandez, J., Saigadog, H., De La Rosa, V., Avita-Ruiz, T., Torres-Ramiresz, O., Lopez-Lopez, G., and Atzori, M. (2009). Cholinergic direct inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated currents in the rat neocortex. *Synapse* 63, 308–318.
- Ford, J. M., Roach, B. J., Jorgensen, K. W., Turner, J. A., Brown, G. G., Notestine, R., Bischoff-Grethe, A., Greve, D., Wible, C., Lauriello, J., Belger, A., Mueller, B. A., Calhoun, V., Preda, A.,

Keator, D., O'Leary, D. S., Lim, K. O., Glover, G., Potkin, S. G., FBIRN, and Mathalon, D. H. (2009). Tuning in to the voices: a multisite FMRI study of auditory hallucinations. *Schizophr. Bull.* 35, 58–66.

- Fu, Y., Matta, S., Gao, W., Brower, V., and Sharp, B. (2000). Systemic nicotine stimulates dopamine release in nucleus accumbens: re-evaluation of the role of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in the ventral area. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 294, 458–465.
- Green, M. (2007). Stimulating the development of drug treatments to improve cognition in schizophrenia. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 3, 159–180.
- Gunduz-Bruce, H., Reinhart, R., Roach, B., Gueorguieva, R., Oliver, S., D'Souza, D., Ford, J., Krystal, J., and Mathalon, D. (2012). Glutamatergic modulation of auditory information processing in the human brain. *Biol. Psychiatry* 71, 969–977.
- Harkrider, D., and Hedrick, M. (2005). Acute effects of nicotine on auditory gating in smokers and non-smokers. *Hear. Res.* 202, 114–128.
- Harris, J., Kongs, S., Allensworth, D., Martin, L., Tregellas, J., Sullivan, B., Zerbe, G., and Freedman, R. (2004). Effects of nicotine on cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29, 1378–1385.
- Heekeren, K., Daumann, J., Neukirch, A., Stock, C., Kawohl, W., Norra, C., Waberski, T., and Gouzoules-Mayfrank, E. (2008). Mismatch negativity generators in the human 5HT2A agonist and NMDA model of psychosis. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 199, 77–88.
- Heinrichs, R. W. (2005). The primacy of cognition in schizophrenia. *Am. Psychol.* 60, 229–242.
- Heishman, S. (1999). Behavioural and cognitive effects of nicotine: relationship to nicotine addiction. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 1(Suppl. 2), S143–S147.
- Heishman, S., Kleykamp, B., and Singleton, E. (2010). Meta-analysis of the acute effects of nicotine and smoking on human performance. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 210, 453–469.
- Hilti, C., Hilti, L., Heinemann, D., Robbins, T., Seifritz, E., and Cattapan-Ludewig, K. (2010). Impaired performance in the rapid visual information task (RVIP) could be an endophenotype of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 177, 60–64.
- Hirayasu, Y., Potts, G., O'Donnell, B., Kwon, J., Arakaki, H., Akdag, S., Levitt, J., Shenton, M., and McCarley, R. (1998). Auditory mismatch negativity in schizophrenia: topographic evaluation with a high density

recording montage. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 155, 1281–1284.

- Holcomb, H., Ritzl, F., Medoffi, D., Nevitt, J., Gordon, B., and Tamminga, C. (1995). Tone discrimination performance in schizophrenia patients and normal volunteers: impact of stimulus presentation levels and frequency differences. *Psychiatry Res.* 57, 75–82.
- Hong, L., Schroeder, M., Ross, T., Bucholz, B., Salmeron, B., Wonodi, I., Thaker, G. K., and Stein, E. A. (2011). Nicotine enhances but does not normalize visual sustained attention and the associated brain network in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 34, 416–425.
- Hugdahl, K., Lobery, E.-M., Specht, K., Steen, V., van Wageningen, H., and Jorgensen, H. (2008). Auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia: the role of cognitive, brain structural and genetic disturbances in the left temporallobe. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 1:6. doi:10.3389/neuro.09.006.2007
- Hukkanen, J., Jacob, P. 3rd, and Benowaitz, N. (2005). Metabolism and deposition kinetics of nicotine. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 37, 79–115.
- Inami, R., Kirino, E., Inoue, R., Suzuki, T., and Arai, H. (2007). Nicotine effects on mismatch negativity in schizophrenia patients. *Neuropsychobiology* 36, 64–72.
- Inauri, R., Kirino, E., Inoue, R., and Arai, H. (2005). Transdermal nicotine administration enhances automatic auditory processing reflected by mismatch negativity. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 80, 453–461.
- Intskirveli, I., and Metherate, R. (2012). Nicotinic neuromodulation in auditory cortex requires XNAPK activation in thalamocortical and intracortical circuits. *J. Neurophysiol.* 107, 2782–2793.
- Irnaten, M., Wang, J., Venkatesan, P., Evans, C. K., Chang, K. S., Andresen, M. C., and Mendelowitz, D. (2002). Ketamine inhibits presynaptic and postsynaptic excitation of cardiac parasympathetic neuron in nucleus ambiguous. *Anesthesiology* 96, 667–674.
- Jackson, A., Nesic, J., Groombridge, C., Clowry, O., Rusted, J., and Duka, J. (2009). Differential involvement of glutamatergic mechanisms in the cognitive and subjective effects of smoking. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 257–265.
- Jacobsen, L. K., D'Souza, D. C., Mencl, W. E., Pugh, K. R., Skudlarski, P., and Krystal, J. H. (2004). Nicotine effects on brain function and functional connectivity in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 55, 850–858.

- Javitt, D. (2010). Glutamatergic theories of schizophrenia. *Isr. J. Psychiatry Relat. Sci.* 47, 4–16.
- Javitt, D., Doneshka, P., Grochowski, D., and Ritter, W. (1995). Impaired mismatch negativity generation reflects widespread dysfunction of working memory on schizophrenia. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 52, 550–558.
- Javitt, D., Schroeder, C., Steinschneider, M., Arizzo, J., and Vaughan, H. (1992). Demonstration of mismatch negativity in the monkey. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 83, 87–90.
- Javitt, D., Steinschneider, M., Schroeder, C., and Arezzo, J. (1996). Role of cortical N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in auditory sensory memory and mismatch negativity generation: implications for schizophrenia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 11962–11967.
- Javitt, D., Steinschneider, M., Schroeder, C., Vaughan, H., and Arezzo, J. (1994). Detection of stimulus deviance within primate auditory cortex: intracortical mechanisms of mismatch negativity (MMN) generation. *Brain Res.* 667, 192–200.
- Kantrowitz, J., and Javitt, D. (2010). Thinking glutamatergically: changing concepts of schizophrenia based upon changing neurochemical models. *Clin. Schizophr. Relat. Psychoses* 4, 189–200.
- Kasai, K., Yamada, H., Kamio, S., Nakagome, K., Iwanami, A., Fukuda, M., Yumoto, M., Itoh, K., Koshida, I., Abe, O., and Kato, N. (2002). Do high or low doses of anxiolytics and hypnotics affect mismatch negativity in schizophrenia subjects? An EEG and MEG study. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 113, 141–150.
- Kayser, J., Tenke, C., Kroppmann, C., Alschuler, D., Fekri, S., Gil, R., Jarskog, L., Harkavey-Friedman, J., and Buder, G. (2012). Auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia are associated with neurophysiological deficits in early visual processing. *Presented at 67th Annual Meeting of the Society for Biological Psychiatry*, Philadelphia.
- Kharazia, V., and Weinberg, R. (1994). Glutamate in thalamic fibres terminating in layer IV of primary sensory cortex. J. Neurosci. 14, 6021–6032.
- Knott, V. (1989). "Brain event-related potentials in smoking performance research," in *Smoking and Human Behaviour*, eds T. Ney and A. Gale (Chichester: John Wiley & Sons), 93–114.
- Knott, V., Bosman, M., Mahoney, C., Ilivitsky, V., and Quirt, K. (1999).

Transdermal nicotine: single dose effects on mood, EEG, performance and event-related potentials. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 63, 253–261.

- Knott, V., Hooper, C., Lusk-Mikkelsen, S., and Kerr, C. (1995). "Aspects of brain electric event-related potential (ERP) topography related to cigarette smoking, attention, cognition and psychopathology," in *Brain Imaging of Nicotine and Tobacco Smoking*, ed. E. Domino (Ann Arbor, MI: NPP Books), 191–221.
- Knott, V., McIntosh, J., Millar, A., Fisher, D., Villeneuve, C., Ilivitsky, V., and Horn, E. (2006). Nicotine and smoker status moderate brain electric and mood activation induced by ketamine and Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 85, 228–242.
- Knott, V., Millar, A., McIntosh, J., Shah, D., Fisher, D., Blais, C., Ilivitsky, V., and Horn, E. (2011). Separate and combined effects of low dose ketamine and nicotine in behavioural and neural correlates of sustained attention. *Biol. Psychol.* 88, 83–93.
- Koychev, I., Barkus, E., Ettinger, V., Killcross, S., Roiser, J., Wilkinson, L., and Deakin, B. (2011). Evaluation of state and trait biomarkers in healthy volunteers for the development of novel drug treatments in schizophrenia. J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 25, 1207–1225.
- Kreitschmann-Andermahr, I., Rosburg, T., Demme, U., Gaser, E., Nowak, H., and Javer, H. (2001). Effect of ketamine on the neuromagnetic mismatch field in healthy humans. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 12, 109–116.
- Krystal, J. H., Karper, L. P., Seibyl, J. P., Freeman, G. K., Delaney, R., Bremner, J. D., Heninger, G. R., Bowers, M. B. Jr., and Charney, D. S. (1994). Subanesthetic effects of noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist, ketamine, in humans: psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine responses. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 51, 199–214.
- Krystal, J. H., Perry, E. B. Jr., Gueorguieva, R., Belger, A., Madonick, S. H., Abi-Dargham, A., Cooper, T. B., MacDougall, L., Abi-Saab, W., and D'Souza, D. C. (2005a). Comparative and interaction human psychopharmacologic effects of ketamine and amphetamine. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62, 985–995.
- Krystal, J. H., Abi-Saab, W., Perry, E., D'Souza, D. C., Liu, N., Gueorguieva,
  R., McDougall, L., Hunsberger, T., Belger, A., Levine, L., and Breier,
  A. (2005b). Preliminary evidence of

attenuation of the disruptive effects of NMDA glutamate receptor antagonist, ketamine, on working memory by pretreatment with the group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist, 24354340, in healthy human subjects. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 129, 303–309.

- Kuhn, S., and Gallinat, J. (2010). Quantitative meta-analyses on state and trait aspects of auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia. *Schizophr .Bull.* 126, 20–27.
- Kumari, V., and Postman, P. (2005). Nicotine use in schizophrenia: the self-medication hypotheses. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 29, 1021–1024.
- Lambe, E., Picciotto, M., and Aghajanian, G. (2003). Nicotine induces glutamate release from thalamacortical terminals in prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28, 216–225.
- Large, C. (2007). Do NMDA receptor antagonist models of schizophrenia predict the clinical efficacy of antipsychotic drugs? J. Psychopharmacol. (Oxford) 21, 283–301.
- Lawrence, N., Ross, T., and Stein, E. (2002). Cognitive mechanisms of nicotine on visual attention. *Neuron* 36, 539–548.
- Levin, E., and Rezvani, A. (2006). "Nicotine-antipsychotic drug interactions and cognitive function," in Neurotransmitter Interactions and Cognitive Functions, ed. E. Levin (Berlin: Birkhauser Veclas), 185–205.
- Levin, E., Rizabis, Y., Rezvani, A., Caldwell, D., Petro, A., and Getachew, B. (2005). Chronic nicotine and dizocilpine effects on regionally specific nicotinic and NMDA glutamate receptor binding. *Brain Res.* 1041, 132–142.
- Levin, E., Sledge, D., Varvah, A., and Addy, M. (2003). Ventral hippocampal NMDA blockade and nicotinic effects of memory function. *Brain Res. Bull.* 61, 489–495.
- Liang, K., Poytress, B., Weinberger, N., and Metherate, R. (2008). Nicotinic modulation of tone-evoked responses in auditory cortex reflects the strength of prior auditory learning. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 90, 138–146.
- Lin, C.-H., Lane, H. Y., and Tzai, G. (2012). Glutamate signaling in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 100, 665–677.
- Macmillan, M., and Creelman, C. (1997). d' plus: A program to calculate accuracy and bias measures from detection and discrimination data. *Spat. Vis.* 11, 141–143.

- Malhotra, A., Pinals, D., Weingartner, H., Sirocco, K., Messar, C., and Pickar, D. (1996). NMDA receptor hypofunction and human cognition: the effects of ketamine in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 14, 301–307.
- Mansvelder, H., van Aerde, K., Covey, J. J., and Brussaard, A. B. (2006). Nicotine modulation of neuronal networks: from receptors to cognition. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 184, 292–305.
- Marsman, A., van den Heuvel, M., Klomp, D., Kahn, R., Lujten, P., and Hulsholf Pol, H. (2011). Glutamate in schizophrenia: a focused review and meta-analysis of H-MRS studies. *Schizophr. Bull.* [Epub ahead of print].
- Martin, L., Davalos, D., and Kisley, M. (2009). Nicotine enhances automatic temporal processing as measured by the mismatch negativity waveform. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 11, 698–706.
- Mathew, V., Gruzelier, J., and Liddle, P. (1993). Lateral asymmetries in auditory acuity distinguish hallucinating from nonhallucinating schizophrenic patients. *Psychiatry Res.* 46, 127–138.
- Metherate, R. (2004). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in sensory cortex. *Learn. Mem.* 11, 50–59.
- Metherate, R., and Hsieh, C. (2003). Regulation of glutamate synapses by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in auditory cortex. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 80, 285–290.
- Morley, B., and Happe, H. (2000). Cholingergic receptors: dual roles in transduction and plasticity. *Hear. Res.* 147, 104–112.
- Naatanen, R., and Kahkonen, S. (2009). Central auditory dysfunction in schizophrenia as revealed by the mismatch negativity (MMN) and its magnetic equivalent MMNm: a review. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 125–135.
- Naatanen, R., Kujala, T., and Winkler, J. (2011). Auditory processing that leads to conscious perception: a unique window to central auditory processing opened by the mismatch negativity and related responses. *Psychophysiology* 48, 4–22.
- Newcomer, J. W., Farber, N. B., Jevtovic-Todorovic, V., Selke, G., Melson, A. K., Hershey, T., Craft, S., and Olney, J. W. (1999). Ketamine-induced NMDA receptor hypofunction as a model of memory impairment and psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 20, 106–118.

- Newhouse, P., Potter, A., and Singh, A. (2004). Effects of nicotinic stimulation on cognitive performance. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 4, 36–46.
- Nurnberger, J. I. Jr., Blehar, M. C., Kaufmann, C. A., York-Cooler, C., Simpson, S. G., Harkavy-Friedman, J., Severe, J. B., Malaspina, D., and Reich, T. (1994). Diagnostic interview for genetic studies. Rationale, unique features, and training. NIMH Genetics Initiative. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 51, 848–859.
- Ochoa, E., and Lasalde-Dominicci, J. (2007). Cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: focus on neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and smoking. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 27, 609–639.
- Olincy, A., and Stevens, K. (2007). Treating schizophrenia symptoms with an a7 nicotinic agonist, from mice to men. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 74, 1192–1201.
- Oranje, B., van Berckel, B., Kemmer, C., van Ree, J., Kahn, R., and Verbaten, M. (2000). The effects of subanaesthetic dose of ketamine on human selective attention. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 3, 293–302.
- Overall, J., and Gorham, D. (1962). The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychol. Rep.* 10, 799–812.
- Plazas, P., Savino, J., Kracun, S., Gomez-Casati, M., Katz, E., Parsons, C., Millar, N., and Elgoyhen, A. (2007). Inhibition of the alpha9 alpha10 nicotinic cholinergic receptors neramexane, an open channel blocker of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 566, 11–19.
- Pritchard, W., Sokhadze, E., and Houlihan, M. (2004). Effects of nicotine and smoking on event-related potentials: a review. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 6, 961–984.
- Quarta, D., Naylor, C., Morris, N., Patel, S., Genn, R., and Stolermay, I. (2007). Different effects of ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists on attention and the attentional properties of nicotine. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 421–430.
- В., Ouednow. Brinkmever. I., Mobascher, A., Nothnagel, M., Musso, F., Grunder, G., Savary, N., Petrovsky, N., Frommann, I., Lennertz, L., Spreckelmeyer, K. N., Wienker, T. F., Dahmen, N., Thuerauf, N., Clepce, M., Kiefer, F., Majic, T., Mössner, R., Maier, W., Gallinat, J., Diaz-Lacava, A., Toliat, M. R., Thiele, H., Nürnberg, P., Wagner, M., and Winterer, G. (2012). Schizophrenia risk polymorphisms in the TCF4 gene interact with smoking in the modulation of auditory sensory

gating. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 6271–6276.

- Rabinowicz, E., Silipo, G., Goldman, R., and Javitt, D. (2000). Auditory sensory dysfunction in schizophrenia: imprecision or distractibility? *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 57, 1149–1155.
- Radcliffe, K., Fisher, J., Gray, R., and Dani, J. (1999). Nicotinic modulation of glutamate and GABA synaptic transmission of hippocampal neurons. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 868, 591–510.
- Radek, R., Kohlhaas, K., Rueter, L., and Mohler, E. (2010). Treating the cognitive deficits of schizophrenia with alpha4beta2 neuronal nicotinic receptor agonists. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 16, 304–322.
- Rasmussen, B., Perry, D., O'Neil, J., Manaye, K., and Tizubis, Y. (2008). Effects of nicotine on sensorimotor gating impairment induced by long term treatment with neurotoxic NMDA antagonism. *Neurotox. Res.* 13, 151–161.
- Rezvani, A., Kholderbarin, E., Dawson, E., and Levin, E. (2008). Nicotine and clozapine effects on attentional performance by the NMDA antagonist dizocilpine in female rats. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 11, 63–70.
- Rezvani, A., and Levin, E. (2003). Nicotinic-glutamatergic interactions of attentional performance on an apparent visual signal detection task in female rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 465, 83–90.
- Rinne, T., Alho, K., Ilmonlemi, R., Virtanen, J., and Naatanen, R. (2000). Separate time behaviours of the temporal and frontal mismatch negativity sources. *Neuroimage* 12, 14–19.
- Roser, P., Hauzsfeiter, I., Chong, H.-J., Maler, C., Kawohl, W., Norra, C., and Juckel, G. (2011). Inhibition of cerebral type I cannabinoids receptors is associated with impaired auditory mismatch negativity generation in the ketamine model of schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 218, 611–620.
- Schall, U., Catts, S., Chaturvedi, S., Liebert, B., Redenbach, J., Karayandis, F., and Ward, P. (1998). The effect of clozapine therapy on frontal lobe dysfunction in schizophrenia: neuropsychology and extent-related potential measures. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 1, 19–29.
- Schilström, B., Fagerquist, M. V., Zhang, X., Hertel, P., Panagis, G., Nomikos, G. G., and Svensson, T. H. (2000). Putative role of presynoptic alpha 7 nicotinic receptors in nicotine stimulated increases of extracellular levels of glutamate and aspartate in the ventral tegmental area. *Synapse* 38, 375–383.

- Schmidt, A., Bachmann, R., Kometer, M., Csmor, P., Stephan, K., Seifritz, E., and Voklenweider, F. (2012a). Mismatch negativity encoding of prediction errors predicts S-ketamine-induced cognitive impairments. *Neuropsycho pharmacology* 37, 865–875.
- Schmidt, A., Diaconescu, A., Kometer, M., Friston, L., Stephan, K., and Vollenweider, F. (2012b). Modeling ketamine effects on synaptic plasticity during the mismatch negativity. *Cereb. Cortex* [Epub ahead of print].
- Sehatpour, L., Higgins, B., Foxe, J., and Javitt, D. (2010). Sensory deficits and distributed hierarchical dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167, 818–827.
- Smith, R., Warner-Cohen, J., Matute, M., Butler, E., Kelly, E., Vaidhyanathaswamy, S., and Khan, A. (2006). Effects of nicotine spray on cognitive function in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 637–643.
- Soto, G., Kopell, N., and Sen, K. (2006). Network architecture, receptive fields, and neuromodulation: computational and functional implications of cholinergic modulation in primary auditory cortex. *J. Neurophysiol.* 96, 2972–2983.
- Spieleway, C., and Markov, A. (2004). Strain-specificity in nicotine attraction of phencyclidine-induced disruption of prepulse inhibition in mice and relevance to smoking in schizophrenia patients. *Behav. Genet.* 34, 343–354.
- Strous, R., Grochowski, S., Cowan, N., and Javitt, D. (1995). Dysfunctional encoding of auditory information in schizophrenia. *Schiozphr. Res.* 15, 135.
- Tassonyi, E., Charpantier, E., Muller, D., Dumont, L., and Bertrand, D. (2002). The role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the mechanisms of anesthesia. *Brain Res. Bull.* 57, 133–150.
- Tcheremissine, O., Castro, M. A., and Gardner, D. (2012). Targeting cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: a review of the development of a new class of medicines from the perspective of community health researchers. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* 21, 7–14.
- Terry, A., Rishbrough, V., Buccafusco, J., and Menzush, F. (2002). Effects of (+/-)-4-[[2-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinylethyl]
  - thio]phenol hydrochloride (SIB-1553A), a selective ligand for nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, in tests of visual attention and distractibility in rats and monkeys. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 301, 284–292.

- Thompson, D., and Winsaver, P. (1986). Nicotine can attenuate the disruptive effects of phencyclidine on repeated acquisition in monkeys. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 25, 185–190.
- Thonnesen, H., Zryagintsev, M., Harke, K., Boers, F., Danmers, J., Norra, C., and Mathiak, K. (2008). Optimized mismatch negativity paradigm effects deficits in schizophrenia patients: a combined EEG and MEG study. *Biol. Psychol.* 77, 205–216.
- Tikhonravov, D., Neuvonen, T., Pertovaara, A., Savioja, K., Ruusuvirta, T., Naatanen, R., and Carlson, S. (2008). Effects of an NMDA-receptor antagonist MK-801 on an MMN-like response recorded in anesthetized rats. *Brain Res.* 1203, 97–102.
- Tikhonravov, D., Neuvonen, T., Pertovgara, A., Savioja, K., Rousuvirta, T., Naatanen, R., and Carklson, S. (2010). Dose-related effects of Memantine on a mismatch negativity-like response in anesthetized rats. *Neuroscience* 167, 1175–1182.
- Timofeeva, O., and Levin, E. (2011). Glutamate and nicotinic receptor interactions in working memory: importance for the cognitive impairment of schizophrenia. *Neuroscience* 195, 21–36.
- Umbricht, D., Javitt, D., Novak, G., Bates, J., Pollack, S., Lieberman, J., and Kane, J. (1998). Effects of clozapine and auditory event-related potentials in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 44, 716–725.
- Umbricht, D., Koller, R., Vollenweider, F., and Schmid, L. (2002). Mismatch negativity predicts psychotic experiences induced by NMDA receptor antagonist in healthy volunteers. *Biol. Psychiatry* 51, 400–406.
- Umbricht, D., and Krljes, S. (2005). Mismatch negativity in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr. Res.* 76, 1–23.
- Umbricht, D., Schmid, L., Koller, R., Vollenweider, F. X., Hell, D., and Javitt, D. C. (2000). Ketamineinduced deficits in auditory and visual context-dependent processing in healthy volunteers. Implications for models of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 37, 1139–1147.
- Umbricht, D., and Vollenweider, F. (1999). Effects of the NMDA antagonists and 5-HT2A agonists on generation of MMN in human volunteers [abstract]. *Biol. Psychiatry* 45, 51S–52S.
- Urban, A., Kremlacek, J., and Libiger, J. (2007). Mismatch negativity in patients with schizophrenia. *Acta Medica Cordoba* 50, 23–28.

- Waters, F., Allen, P., Aleman, A., Fernyhough, C., Woodward, T., Badcock, J., Barkhaus, E., Johns, L., Varese, F., Menon, M., Vercammen, A., and Lavoi, F. (2012). Auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia and non-schizophrenic populations: a review and integrated model of cognitive mechanisms. *Schizophr. Bull.* 38, 683–693.
- Wesnes, K., and Warburton, D. (1984). Effects of scopolamine and nicotine on human information processing performance. *Psychopharmacol.* 82, 147–150.
- Wexler, B., Stevens, A., Bowers, A., Sernyak, M., and Goldman-Rakic, P. (1998). Word and tone working memory deficits in schizophrenia. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 55, 1093–1096.
- Winterer, G. (2010). Why do patients with schizophrenia smoke? *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 23, 112–119.
- Wynn, J., Sugar, C., Horan, W., Kem, R., and Green, M. (2010). Mismatch negativity, social cognition, and functioning in schizophrenia patients. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 940–947.
- Youn, T., Park, H.-J., Kim, J.-J., Kim, M., and Kwon, J. (2003). Altered hemispheric asymmetry and positive symptoms in schizophrenia: equivalent current dipole of auditory mismatch negativity. *Schizophr. Res.* 59, 253–260.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 June 2012; paper pending published: 16 July 2012; accepted: 04 September 2012; published online: 28 September 2012.

Citation: Knott V, Shah D, Millar A, McIntosh J, Fisher D, Blais C and Ilivitsky V (2012) Nicotine, auditory sensory memory, and sustained attention in a human ketamine model of schizophrenia: moderating influence of a hallucinatory trait. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:172. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00172

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Knott, Shah, Millar, McIntosh, Fisher, Blais and Ilivitsky. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

# Cotinine: beyond that expected, more than a biomarker of tobacco consumption

### Valentina Echeverria Moran<sup>1,2,3</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Research and Development, Department of Veterans Affairs, Bay Pines VA Healthcare System, Bay Pines, FL, USA

<sup>2</sup> Tampa VA Healthcare System, Tampa, FL, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Molecular Medicine, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA

### Edited by:

Nick Andrews, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Li Zhang, National Institutes of Health, USA Mariela Fernanda Perez, Universidad Nacional de Córdoba, Argentina

### \*Correspondence:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Laboratory of Molecular Psychiatry, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, Bay Pines Blvd, Building 22, Room 123, Bay Pines, FL 33744, USA. e-mail: valentina.echeverria@va.gov

A greater incidence of tobacco consumption occurs among individuals with psychiatric conditions including post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), bipolar disorder, major depression, and schizophrenia, compared with the general population. Even when still controversial, it has been postulated that smoking is a form of self-medication that reduces psychiatric symptoms among individuals with these disorders. To better understand the component(s) of tobacco-inducing smoking behavior, greater attention has been directed toward nicotine. However, in recent years, new evidence has shown that cotinine, the main metabolite of nicotine, exhibits beneficial effects over psychiatric symptoms and may therefore promote smoking within this population. Some of the behavioral effects of cotinine compared to nicotine are discussed here. Cotinine, which accumulates in the body as a result of tobacco exposure, crosses the blood-brain barrier and has different pharmacological properties compared with nicotine. Cotinine has a longer plasma half-life than nicotine and showed no addictive or cardiovascular effects in humans. In addition, at the preclinical level, cotinine facilitated the extinction of fear memory and anxiety after fear conditioning, improved working memory in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and in a monkey model of schizophrenia. Altogether, the new evidence suggests that the pharmacological and behavioral effects of cotinine may play a key role in promoting tobacco smoking in individuals that suffer from psychiatric conditions and represents a new potential therapeutic agent against psychiatric conditions such as AD and PTSD.

Keywords: cotinine, tobacco, fear, memory, nicotine

### **INTRODUCTION**

The use of tobacco dates back as early as 5,000-3,000 BC, when tobacco plants were first cultivated in South America (Gately, 2003). Initially, tobacco was regarded has a medicinal plant to be used for medical purposes such as, a painkiller for earaches and toothaches (Balls, 1962). However, later studies clearly established the deleterious effects of tobacco smoking on health (Peto et al., 1996). As a result, the progressive establishment of more restrictive anti-tobacco laws has discouraged tobacco smoking worldwide. These new restrictions and public health campaigns have dramatically decreased tobacco use. However, there is a high rate of tobacco consumption among individuals that suffer from mental disorders such as, major depression disorder (MDD), schizophrenia, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD; Leonard et al., 2001; Weaver and Etzel, 2003; Thorndike et al., 2006; Buggia-Prevot et al., 2008; Aubin et al., 2012). The idea that tobacco consumption in these populations is a form of self-medication is controversial and some evidence suggests that smoking is associated with poorer mental health outcomes in some mental disorders such as, bipolar and schizoaffective disorder (Dodd et al., 2010). The desire to identify the component of tobacco that may explain this correlation has encouraged the study of the mental effect(s) of nicotine [3-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl) pyridine], an alkaloid that is present in tobacco leaves, over the psychiatric symptoms.

Nicotine treatment had been shown to improve cognitive function including attention, concentration, executive function, and learning and memory (Elzinga and Bremner, 2002; Horner and Hamner, 2002; Bowie and Harvey, 2005; Gray and Roth, 2007; Tapia et al., 2007; Burriss et al., 2008; Luck and Gold, 2008; Terry et al., 2008; Hinkelmann et al., 2009; Johnsen and Asbjornsen, 2009; Veltmeyer et al., 2009; Baune et al., 2010). However, nicotine's undesirable cardiovascular and addictive side-effects have limited its therapeutic use (Karaconji, 2005). Recently, new studies have shown that the main metabolite of nicotine, an alkaloid named cotinine [(5S)-1-methyl-5-(3-pyridyl)-pyrrolidin-2-one], has beneficial therapeutic properties, while not having nicotine's negative side-effects. In preclinical studies, cotinine has shown to improve reference and working memories, attention, and the extinction of fear memory, as well as to reduce both the startle response and anxiety in animal models of aging, Alzheimer's disease (AD), PTSD, and schizophrenia (Figure 1). Here the psychopharmacology and the potential therapeutic use of cotinine are discussed.

### DISCUSSION

### **COTININE PHARMACOKINETIC**

Cotinine is an alkaloid found in tobacco leaves and the main metabolite of nicotine. The active form of cotinine, the isomer



S(-)-cotinine accumulates in the body after tobacco consumption. The pharmacokinetic profiles of cotinine administered orally or intravenously have been investigated in humans. These reports show that cotinine is well-absorbed orally (De Schepper et al., 1987), has a long plasma half-life (19–24 h; Benowitz et al., 1983; Benowitz and Sharp, 1989) and crosses the blood-brain barrier (Riah et al., 1998). Approximately 80–85% of nicotine is metabolized in the liver and converted into cotinine by enzymes such as cytochrome P450 2A6 (CYP2A6; Lewis et al., 1999) and cytochrome P4502A5 (CYP2A5) in human and mouse, respectively (Donato et al., 2000; Visoni et al., 2008).

In humans, cotinine is excreted in the urine, mainly as trans-3'-hydroxycotinine (90% of cotinine) and glucuronide (Caldwell et al., 1992; Ghosheh and Hawes, 2002; Kuehl and Murphy, 2003).

The expression of different variants of the CYP2A6 gene, coding for enzymes with different catalytic activities, influences the level of cotinine achieved in the body after nicotine consumption and, seems to influence nicotine addiction (Malaiyandi et al., 2006; Strasser et al., 2007). For example, individuals that express a catalytically deficient form of CYP2A6 (i.e., CYP2A6\*4) showed a lower rate of cigarette consumption compared with individuals that express the normal allele (Yamanaka et al., 2004). The alleles that express the polymorphic forms of the CYP2A6 gene, with low or high enzymatic activity, are distinctly represented in diverse ethnic groups (Bramer and Kallungal, 2003; Nakajima et al., 2006). The distinct expression of the different forms of CYP2A6 may explain the varying metabolism of cotinine observed in individuals of diverse ethnic backgrounds (Nakajima et al., 2006). Therefore cotinine metabolism and, consequently, smoking behavior can be influenced by ethnicity. Furthermore, other factors such as the consumption of a specific food can also affect cotinine metabolism (Nakajima et al., 2006). For example, some components of grapefruit juice inhibit the activity of CYP2A6 and, consequently, cotinine synthesis (Tassaneeyakul et al., 2000; Hukkanen et al., 2006).

### **COTININE PHARMACODYNAMIC EFFECTS**

Early studies of cotinine effects in humans showed that cotinine has a good safety profile (Borzelleca et al., 1962; Bowman and Mc, 1962). One of these seminal studies demonstrated that daily doses of cotinine of up to 1,800 mg for a period of 4 days did not induce deleterious side-effects in humans (Bowman and Mc, 1962). Another clinical study investigating the psychogenic effects of cotinine showed that when administered intravenously to abstinent smokers, this compound reduced the self-reported irritability and tobacco cravings experienced by the participants (Benowitz et al., 1983). A follow-up phase II clinical study investigated the effects of cotinine on smoking cessation in an inpatient, 10-day study in abstinent cigarette smokers (Hatsukami et al., 1997). This study showed that oral cotinine treatment of up to 160 mg/day had no addictive, cardiovascular (e.g., heart rate and blood pressure), or behavioral effects in individuals between 21 and 42 years of age (Hatsukami et al., 1997). A follow-up study from the same research group also found that cotinine at the doses studied did not help with tobacco cessation and antagonized the reduction of the withdrawal symptoms induced by a nicotine patch (Hatsukami et al., 1998). These results confirmed that orally administered cotinine exhibits behavioral effects in humans, likely by modulating the nAChR sensitivity to agonists; however, this concept requires further experimental validation.

### Cotinine is a cognitive enhancer in a mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease

Cotinine has been shown to prevent working and reference memory loss in a mouse model of AD (Echeverria et al., 2011). In this study, the ability of cotinine to prevent plaque development and memory loss in the Tg6799 mice (Ohno et al., 2006) was investigated. Two-month-old Tg and same age non-Tg (NT) mice were orally treated with vehicle (PBS) or 2.5 mg/kg of cotinine for 4.5 months via gavage and tested for working memory using the circular platform, the Radial Arm Water maze (RAWM), and cognitive interference tests. These behavioral study showed that cotinine prevented memory loss in Tg6799 mice and significantly decreased plaques burden in the cortex of the Tg6799 mice. Cotinine treatment also reduced the number and size of the amyloid plaques. The decrease in plaque load also correlated with a decrease in the levels of insoluble AB in the cortex of the cotinine-treated Tg mice when compared with the vehicle-treated Tg mice (Echeverria et al., 2011). This evidence suggest that cotinine may be a new therapeutic agent against this devastating condition (Echeverria and Zeitlin, 2012).

### Cotinine reduced anxiety and fear in a mouse model of PTSD – like symptoms

Post-traumatic stress disorder is an anxiety disorder that appears after exposure to life-threatening events (Martenyi et al., 2007). PTSD is characterized by symptoms such as anxiety, fear, working memory impairment, hyperarousal, emotional numbing, and sleep disorders. These symptoms have been associated with a permanent alteration of the physiological response to stress induced by over-activation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis (Yehuda et al., 1991). These changes are generally accompanied by dysregulation of several neurotransmitter systems including the serotoninergic, dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and cholinergic systems. The hyperarousal and aggressive behavior observed in patients with PTSD are caused, at least in part, by a decrease in serotonin neurotransmission (Nutt, 2000). Consistent with this idea, serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) such as paroxetine and sertraline are currently used in the treatment of PTSD (Brady et al., 2000; Davidson et al., 2001; Brady and Clary, 2003; Corchs et al., 2009; Stein et al., 2009). Because serotonin promotes acetylcholine release, and acetylcholine signaling positively affects attention and memory, an increase of serotonin levels in the brain, may simultaneously improve mood, reduce aggressiveness (Buhot et al., 2000), and positively affect cognitive abilities. Although SSRIs are useful in the treatment of PTSD (Cohen et al., 2000), they are effective only in a small percentage of patients (approximately 30%; Veltmeyer et al., 2009).

Post-traumatic stress disorder patients are commonly heavy smokers, and an association between tobacco dependence and

PTSD has previously been established (Hapke et al., 2005). In the search of new drugs that could diminish fear and anxiety and enhance the extinction of fear memories, rodent models of fear conditioning (FC) has been extensively used. These animal models have permitted to characterize the effect of drugs, including cotinine, over anxiety, fear, and contextual memory in anxiety disorders. FC is a broadly used model of associative memory that involves the pairing of neutral conditioning stimuli (CS; sound and context) with an aversive unconditioned stimulus (US; electric shock). After conditioning, the presentation of the CS alone elicits both a conditioned fear response (freezing behavior) and anxiety in the animal. Experimentally, the extinction of contextual fear (FE) after FC is expressed as a progressive decrease in fear responses attained after repetitive exposures to the CS (context) in the absence of the pairing with an aversive US (Steckler and Risbrough, 2012).

A devastating symptom in PTSD is the failure to extinguish traumatic memories that force the patient to continue re-experiencing the trauma (Izquierdo et al., 2004). Thus, the identification of drugs that would enable the extinction of fear memories would be an essential therapeutic goal.

One recent study investigated the effect of pre- and posttreatment with cotinine over the stability of contextual fear memory after repetitive or single re-exposure to the CS (Zeitlin et al., 2012). Male adult mice were pre-treated or post-treated with cotinine before or after FC, respectively, and tested for fear responses and anxiety after being exposed to the CS (context). These studies showed that cotinine accelerated the extinction and reduced the stability of the contextual fear memory. FE is considered a "new learning" process that involves the acquisition of inhibitory memories that compete with the original fear memory consolidation. For this reason, it has been proposed that cognitive enhancers may have a positive effect over the extinction of fear memories. Thus the improvement of cognitive abilities induced by cotinine may be relevant for its effects on FE. Thus, cotinine may promote the extinction of contextual fear memory by stimulating the acquisition of new inhibitory memories.

In addition, because cotinine reduces anxiety and helps to extinguish fear memory, it is feasible that cotinine may also be useful, alone or in a combined treatment, with psychotherapy to reduce both non-cognitive and cognitive symptoms of PTSD. However, these ideas need to be tested in placebo-controlled clinical trials.

### Cell signaling changes associated with fear extinction triggered by cotinine

This enhancement of contextual FE in mice subjected to FC described above, correlated with an increase in the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK)1/2 (ERKs) activity in the hippocampus (Chen et al., 2005; Fischer et al., 2007). This increase has been regarded as a key molecular event during the fear extinction process because this brain region is involved in contextual FE (Bouton et al., 2006; Quirk and Mueller, 2008) and also because that ERK1/2 inhibition immediately after memory retrieval prevented the extinction of contextual memory (Chen et al., 2005). Consistent with these findings, the enhancement of FE induced by cotinine treatment in the C57BL/6, mice positively correlated
with an increase in the levels of the active form of ERK1/2 (phospho-ERKs) in the hippocampus.

In addition this study showed that cotinine also reduced anxiety in the conditioned mice. Since it has been demonstrated that cotinine inhibited serotonin reuptake and increased its spontaneous release in rat brains (Fuxe et al., 1979), an increase in serotonin in the brain induced by cotinine may explain the reduction in anxiety after FC in the cotinine-treated mice. A similar effect may also explain the common perception of a "calming effect" experienced by tobacco smokers.

# COTININE, IS A MEMORY ENHANCER IN ANIMAL MODELS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA-LIKE SYMPTOMS

#### Effect of smoking on psychiatric symptoms in schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a mental disorder characterized by cognitive deficits and both positive and negative symptoms (Van Snellenberg, 2009). The positive symptoms include delusions, hallucinations, and difficulty in thought organization and oral expression. The negative symptoms include deficits in attention and motivation, social withdrawal, and emotional numbness (Van Snellenberg, 2009). Although the causes of schizophrenia are not well understood, abnormalities in the activity of several neurotransmitters such as, dopamine, acetylcholine, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), and glutamate have been proposed (Lang et al., 2007). Since the development of clozapine, current drugs used to treat schizophrenia are mostly antagonists of the serotoninergic/dopaminergic signaling systems. These drugs have been effective in the management of positive psychotic symptoms; however, they do not effectively target the negative symptoms and cognitive deficits observed in schizophrenic patients. Thus, the identification of new drugs are needed to adequately treat these symptoms (Biedermann and Fleischhacker, 2011; Karam et al., 2012).

Patients with schizophrenia may often die prematurely due to health risk factors commonly associated with this condition including obesity and smoking behavior (Sagud et al., 2009; van Os and Kapur, 2009; von Hausswolff-Juhlin et al., 2009; Kelly et al., 2011).

A percentage of patients report, that smoking helps in decreasing psychiatric symptoms (Glynn and Sussman, 1990) which, become worse during tobacco withdrawal (Dalack and Meador-Woodruff, 1996). There are few and incomplete clinical data supporting the therapeutic effects of cotinine in psychiatric conditions, however, in one clinical study it was found that smoking high-nicotine cigarettes, compared to smoking de-nicotinized cigarettes, reduced negative symptoms without affecting positive symptoms (Smith et al., 2002). This effect is considered to be the result of the increase of dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex induced by nicotine (Corrigall and Coen, 1991). This increase in dopamine may stimulate active coping, improve attention, environmental engagement, and emotional responding, that are commonly absent in schizophrenic patients with prominent negative symptoms.

Cognitive impairment is one of the main challenges experienced by these patients. Growing evidence suggests that a deficit in cholinergic neurotransmission plays an important role in mediating cognitive deficits (Araki et al., 2002; Levin, 2002; Money et al., 2012). This evidence suggests that activation of the nicotinic receptors can be useful in treating some symptoms of schizophrenia particularly the cognitive deficits (Taly et al., 2009; Toyohara and Hashimoto, 2010).

# The nicotinic receptors as targets of cotinine effects in schizophrenia

The nicotinic receptors are involved in mediating attention, sensory gating, and learning and memory (AhnAllen, 2012; Yakel, 2012). The most broadly expressed nicotinic receptor (90%) is formed by  $\alpha 4$  and  $\beta 2$  subunits and binds nicotine with high affinity while, not binding  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin (McGehee and Role, 1995); this receptor is highly represented in the striatum and substantia nigra and, poorly expressed in the neocortex and hippocampus (Rubboli et al., 1994b).

No less relevant, although less expressed, is the  $\alpha$ 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ( $\alpha$ 7 nAChR), a low affinity receptor for nicotine that is highly expressed in the midbrain, neocortex, thalamus, and hippocampus, with lower levels in the striatum (Sugaya et al., 1990; Freedman et al., 1993; Rubboli et al., 1994a,b). This receptor that has high affinity for  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin (McGehee and Role, 1995) and, plays a key role mediating several cognitive functions including attention, memory, executive function, and sensory gating (Woodruff-Pak and Gould, 2002; Leiser et al., 2009; AhnAllen, 2012).

A cholinergic deficit has been proposed as a factor leading to cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. Numerous studies have shown that expression of the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR is decreased in the brains of patients with schizophrenia when compared to healthy controls (Breese et al., 2000; Leonard et al., 2000). This idea is supported by clinical evidence showing that the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, galantamine, which increases the synaptic levels of acetylcholine, improved the cognitive abilities in patients with schizophrenia (Ago, 2010; Ago et al., 2011).

The high rate of smoking in individuals with schizophrenia, although not a evidence of causation, has permitted speculation of the beneficial effect of a tobacco-derivative, but not smoking itself (Dalack and Meador-Woodruff, 1999) on some schizophrenia symptoms such as working memory impairment (Leonard et al., 1998, 2001). For example, evidence has been reported suggesting that  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR expression is significantly lower in schizophrenic non-smokers than in control non-smokers (Mexal et al., 2010).

In a rat model of Schizophrenia-like symptoms, the administration of nicotine attenuated the working memory deficits induced by the dopamine antagonist dizocilpine (Levin et al., 1998; Ciamei et al., 2001). In patients with schizophrenia, nicotine administration via a nasal spray has shown to ameliorate deficits in working memory, attention, and anxiety (Smith et al., 2006; Buckley et al., 2007). In addition, other clinical studies have shown that chronic treatment with nicotine improved the cognitive abilities in schizophrenic patients treated with antipsychotics (McEvoy et al., 1999; Freedman et al., 2008).

Several modulators of nAChRs have been tested against schizophrenia. For example, a partial agonist of the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR, DMXB-A (GTS-21) was investigated in a phase 2 clinical study investigating the therapeutic effects of this drug over the symptoms of schizophrenia. Although GTS-21 improved some negative symptoms, it did not ameliorate the cognitive deficits observed in schizophrenic patients (Olincy and Stevens, 2007; Freedman et al., 2008).

Despite cotinine acting as a weak agonist (100 times less potent than nicotine) of the nAChRs, in rats it reversed the cognitive deficits induced by antagonism of the glutamate receptor, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), with ketamine. In this rodent model cotinine improved sustained attention and attenuated behavioral alterations induced by ketamine (Terry et al., 2012).

This pro-cognitive effect is not limited to rodent models of this disorder as cotinine, at similar doses, also improved performance accuracy on the delayed matching to sample (DMTS) task in aged rhesus monkeys. The DMTS task assesses recognition memory for novel non-verbal patterns, and tests short-term visual memory. This test has 19 outcome measures, including latency to response, the number of correct choices selected, and the probability of an error after a correct or incorrect response. In this task, cotinine-treated monkeys performed significantly better than vehicle-treated controls (Terry et al., 2005), indicating that cotinine improved visual short-term memory. These results also suggest that cotinine is a general cognitive enhancer that is useful in different species and types of cognitive abilities.

But the positive effects of cotinine are not limited to cognitive abilities. A recent study tested the effect of acute subcutaneous (0.03-10 mg/kg) and chronic oral administration of cotinine on sustained attention and behavioral alterations in rats induced by the glutamate (NMDA) antagonist MK-801 (Terry et al., 2012). The effects of cotinine were assessed in a five-choice serial reaction timed task (5CSRTT), a test broadly used to measure visual attention and impulsivity in rats. The 5CSRTT is implemented in a specially designed operant chamber with multiple response locations ("nine-hole box") using food reinforcers to maintain performance on baseline sessions (about 100 trials). The test gives the rat a brief 0.5 s visual stimulus, measuring the time, and accuracy of the animal's reactions, as well as the errors made by the rat. The 5CSRTT is used for measuring various aspects of attentional control over performance with its main measures of accuracy, premature responding, correct response latencies, and latency to collect earned food pellets (Robbins, 2002; Robinson et al., 2009).

The results showed that acute treatment with cotinine diminished MK-801-induced impairments in accuracy and elevations in timeout responses while increasing the number of completed trials. Furthermore, chronic treatment with cotinine induced similar beneficial effects even when the difficulties of the task were increased. The authors concluded that cotinine was useful in improving sustained attention and, in decreasing the impulsive and compulsive behaviors that were related to the postulated glutamate receptor signaling dysfunction in schizophrenia (Terry et al., 2012).

# Effect of cotinine on sensory gating in animal models of schizophrenia

A deficit in sensory gating is also a characteristic of schizophrenic patients as well as patients with other psychiatric conditions such

as PTSD, borderline personality disorder, and bipolar disorder (Braff et al., 1992; Swerdlow et al., 2006). Individuals with this deficit cannot filter out irrelevant stimuli, as their brains are unable to inhibit its responsiveness to similar and repeated stimuli. The activation of cholinergic nicotinic receptors in the hippocampus is one of the main molecular mechanisms that control this inhibitory gating. Because the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR is required for supporting sensory gating abilities (Freedman et al., 1994), a cognitive ability that is reduced in the patients with schizophrenia, this receptor is considered a potential therapeutic target for diminishing sensory gating deficit in this disorder (Olincy and Stevens, 2007).

The NMDAR antagonist, dizocilpine, or the dopamine agonist, apomorphine are used in rodents to induce memory and sensory gating deficits resembling those observed in persons with schizophrenia (Seillier and Giuffrida, 2009). For example, apomorphine is used to induce in rodents the deficit in prepulse inhibition (PPI) observed in schizophrenia. PPI is the decrease in the startle response to an auditory stimulus after repetitive exposure to the stimulus and a measure of sensory gating. The sensory gating deficit is expressed as an increase in the startle response (Geyer, 2006). To assess the effect of drugs on PPI animals are treated with vehicle, or the study drug, and are exposed to a weak acoustic stimulus (the prepulse); then, changes in the reflexive flinching response (startle) displayed as a result of a second stimulus of higher intensity (the pulse) is measured. Effective antipsychotic agents prevent the inhibition of PPI induced by psychogenic compounds such as apomorphine and dizolcipine. Previous studies have shown that nicotine blocks the apomorphine-induced disruption of the PPI of the acoustic startle in rats (Suemaru et al., 2004).

In fact, several studies have reported a positive effect of smoking on sensory gating and cognitive function in schizophrenia. In one study, the relationship between sensory gating and smoking levels was assessed by investigating the correlation between PPI and smoking behavior in schizophrenic and control patients (Rabin et al., 2009). The authors found that schizophrenic non-smokers have poorer PPI performances than schizophrenic smokers, whose levels did not differ from non-schizophrenic controls.

In addition to the observed effects of nicotine on sensory gating, other studies have demonstrated that nicotine also improved other schizophrenic symptoms (Lyon, 1999). These results support the view that smoking is a form of self-medication to alleviate psychotic symptoms and the unpleasant side-effects of antipsychotics (Matthews et al., 2011). Interestingly, cotinine, the longlived metabolite of nicotine, also ameliorated the apomorphineinduced deficits in PPI of the acoustic startle response in rats (Risner et al., 1985; Terry et al., 2005). This result suggested that cotinine may have antipsychotic effects and underlie the beneficial effects of nicotine on attention and sensory gating, in addition to its predicted positive effect over working memory. In addition, as mentioned before, cotinine facilitates fear extinction a measure of executive function which has been found also impaired in people suffering from schizophrenia (Holt et al., 2009). Unfortunately, no clinical studies have been performed to investigate the effect of cotinine over these symptoms in schizophrenia.

	*I/IC <sub>50</sub> [ <sup>3</sup> H] nicotine	$I/IC_{50}$ <sup>125</sup> I-labeled $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin	Male		Female	
			LD <sub>50</sub>	LD <sub>90</sub>	LD <sub>50</sub>	LD <sub>90</sub>
Nicotine	$100/(2 \pm 0.1) \times 10^{-7}$	$100/(1 \pm 0.3) \times 10^{-5}$	31±4	43±6	37±6	51±9
Cotinine	$100/(2\pm0.2)\times10^{-3}$	$100/(1\pm0.2) \times 10^{-3}$	$2\pm0.1$	$4\pm0.1$	$3\pm0.1$	$4\pm0.1$

#### Table 1 | Potencies and affinities of cotinine and nicotine to different subtypes of nAChRs in the rat brain and values of acute toxicity in mice.

\*I/IC50, percentage maximum inhibition/concentration of drug that inhibits 50% radioligand binding (in M). Values of IC50, mean ± SD. LD, lethal dose with nicotine attributed 100% toxicity (Riah et al., 1999).

# MOLECULAR MECHANISMS POTENTIALLY MEDIATING THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF COTININE ON COGNITION

Thus far, the molecular mechanisms of cotinine action have been elusive. A previous report suggested that cotinine binds to an unknown type of receptor (Riah et al., 2000). Unfortunately, no follow-up studies pursued the characterization of this "cotinine receptor". Other study based in the fact that cotinine increased serotonin levels in the rat brain, investigated whether granisetron, a 5HT(3) receptor antagonist, could enhance the efficacy of the nicotine patch. The results indicated that 5HT(3) antagonism was an unlikely mechanism of cotinine's actions (Hatsukami et al., 2003). On the other hand, pharmacological evidence using <sup>125</sup>Ilabeled  $\alpha$ -bungarotoxin and [<sup>3</sup>H] nicotine to differentiate subtypes of nAChRs affinities show that cotinine is a weak agonist of the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChRs and nicotine has more than 100 times higher affinity than cotinine for agonist binding sites of both subtypes of receptors. In addition the toxicological analysis using acute intraperitoneal injections of drugs in saline, showed that cotinine has in comparison to nicotine less than 1.5% toxicity (Table 1; Riah et al., 1999).

It has been suggested that a7 nAChRs is not the main target of cotinine (Riah et al., 1999) and other type of receptors for cotinine have been suggested (Riah et al., 2000). Also, using <sup>3</sup>H]dopamine release assays and ligand-binding autoradiography in monkey striatum, it was concluded that cotinine functionally interacts with both  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and  $\alpha 3\alpha 6\beta 2$  nAChR subtypes in the caudate with a IC<sub>50</sub> for the inhibition of specific agonists in the micromolar range (O'Leary et al., 2008). In recent years, we and others have proposed that cotinine functions as a positive allosteric modulator of a7 nAChRs (Buccafusco et al., 2009; Zeitlin et al., 2012). Positive allosteric modulators, are compounds that facilitate endogenous neurotransmission without directly stimulating the target receptors (Bertrand and Gopalakrishnan, 2007; Faghih et al., 2007). For example the compound PNU-120596, acts as a positive allosteric modulator of nAChRs both in vitro and in vivo (see Young et al., 2008). PNU-120596 inhibited the ability of amphetamine to suppress auditory gating in rats, suggesting its potential for use in schizophrenia, characterized by auditory gating deficits. The effects of PNU-120596 in vitro were shown to be mediated by α7 nAChRs. As a positive allosteric modulator, PNU-120596 positively modulates nicotinic cholinergic neurotransmission mostly by preventing receptor desensitization. Because, cotinine has been shown to be a memory enhancer (Echeverria et al., 2011), and also inhibit sensory gating disruption it has been speculated that can have similar beneficial effects

on memory in AD or schizophrenia (Hajos and Rogers, 2010). However this is highly speculative at this point and needs to be demonstrated.

Another hypothesis proposed to explain the beneficial effects of cotinine on cognition is the theory of desensitization of specific population of the a7nAChRs. This hypothesis speculates that cotinine desensitization of the a7 nAChRs expressed on inhibitory GABAergic neurons of the hippocampus, may result in the activation of excitatory glutamate receptors mediating the synaptic plasticity changes required for memory (Buccafusco et al., 2007, 2009). Functional assays of human α7 nAChR expressed in Xenopus leavis oocytes showed that cotinine acted as weak agonists at the human a7 nAChR (1% response at 1 mM) and inhibited the response to ACh with IC50 value of 175 µM (Briggs and McKenna, 1998). Although this hypothesis is intriguing, the doses required for inducing the receptor desensitization are higher than those showing pharmacological effects and direct evidence that cotinine may have this effect in the brain is still missing. The idea of a desensitization of the a7nAChR induced by cotinine is contradictory with the fact that in mice, the chronic treatment with cotinine induced the activation of the Akt/GSK3ß signaling pathway, which is activated by the a7 nAChR, in both the hippocampus and cortex (Echeverria et al., 2011). In fact, cotinine prevented apomorphineinduced deficits in PPI of acoustic startle in rats (Buccafusco and Terry, 2003), a behavioral task that greatly depends on the activity of the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR. The effects of cotinine can be better explained by cotinine functioning as a positive allosteric modulator of the human α7 nAChR.

As a positive modulator, cotinine may improve learning and memory performance and reverse the apomorphine-induced deficits of PPI, in addition to stimulating the protein kinase B (Akt)/GSK3 $\beta$  pathway. Furthermore, stimulation of  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR signaling may explain the neuroprotective effects of cotinine because Akt can promote neuronal survival via several mechanisms including stimulation of the expression of anti-apoptotic factors such as CREB and Bcl-2 while inactivating pro-apoptotic enzyme such as Ask1 (Kim et al., 2001). Evidence of an allosteric effect of cotinine on the  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR or other receptors.

# CONCLUSION

Altogether the evidence suggests that cotinine is less toxic and has different mechanism(s) of action than nicotine. Cotinine's properties and the preclinical evidence of its nootropic effects in animal models of psychiatric conditions, suggests that cotinine as a pure agent, in absence of nicotine, represents a new therapeutic agent to reduce anxiety, facilitate the extinction of fear memories, and improve attention and working memory in individuals with psychiatric conditions such as AD.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This material is the result of work supported with resources and the use of facilities at the Bay Pines VA Healthcare System and the James A. Haley Veterans' Hospital. The contents do not represent

# REFERENCES

- Ago, Y. (2010). Beneficial effect of galantamine on sensory informationprocessing deficits. Yakugaku Zasshi 130, 1305–1310.
- Ago, Y., Koda, K., Takuma, K., and Matsuda, T. (2011). Pharmacological aspects of the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor galantamine. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* 116, 6–17.
- AhnAllen, C. G. (2012). The role of the alpha7 nicotinic receptor in cognitive processing of persons with schizophrenia. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 25, 103–108.
- Araki, H., Suemaru, K., and Gomita, Y. (2002). Neuronal nicotinic receptor and psychiatric disorders: functional and behavioral effects of nicotine. *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.* 88, 133–138.
- Aubin, H. J., Rollema, H., Svensson, T. H., and Winterer, G. (2012). Smoking, quitting, and psychiatric disease: a review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 36, 271–284.
- Balls, E. K. (1962). *Early Uses of California Plants*. University of California Press.
- Baune, B. T., Miller, R., McAfoose, J., Johnson, M., Quirk, F., and Mitchell, D. (2010). The role of cognitive impairment in general functioning in major depression. *Psychiatry Res.* 176, 183–189.
- Benowitz, N. L., Kuyt, F., Jacob, P. III, Jones, R. T., and Osman, A. L. (1983). Cotinine disposition and effects. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 34, 604–611.
- Benowitz, N. L., and Sharp, D. S. (1989). Inverse relation between serum cotinine concentration and blood pressure in cigarette smokers. *Circulation* 80, 1309–1312.
- Bertrand, D., and Gopalakrishnan, M. (2007). Allosteric modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 74, 1155–1163.
- Biedermann, F., and Fleischhacker, W. W. (2011). Emerging drugs for schizophrenia. *Expert Opin. Emerg. Drugs* 16, 271–282.
- Borzelleca, J. F., Bowman, E. R., Mc, K. H. Jr. (1962). Studies on the respiratory and cardiovascular effects of (-)-cotinine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 137, 313–318.

- Bouton, M. E., Westbrook, R. F., Corcoran, K. A., and Maren, S. (2006). Contextual and temporal modulation of extinction: behavioral and biological mechanisms. *Biol. Psychiatry* 60, 352–360.
- Bowie, C. R., and Harvey, P. D. (2005). Cognition in schizophrenia: impairments, determinants, and functional importance. *Psychiatr. Clin. North Am.* 28, 613–633, 626.
- Bowman, E. R., and Mc, K. H. Jr. (1962). Studies on the metabolism of (-)cotinine in the human. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 135, 306–311.
- Brady, K., Pearlstein, T., Asnis, G. M., Baker, D., Rothbaum, B., Sikes, C. R., et al. (2000). Efficacy and safety of sertraline treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 283, 1837–1844.
- Brady, K. T., and Clary, C. M. (2003). Affective and anxiety comorbidity in post-traumatic stress disorder treatment trials of sertraline. *Compr. Psychiatry* 44, 360–369.
- Braff, D. L., Grillon, C., and Geyer, M. A. (1992). Gating and habituation of the startle reflex in schizophrenic patients. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 49, 206–215.
- Bramer, S. L., and Kallungal, B. A. (2003). Clinical considerations in study designs that use cotinine as a biomarker. *Biomarkers* 8, 187–203.
- Breese, C. R., Lee, M. J., Adams, C. E., Sullivan, B., Logel, J., Gillen, K. M., et al. (2000). Abnormal regulation of high affinity nicotinic receptors in subjects with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23, 351–364.
- Briggs, C. A., and McKenna, D. G. (1998). Activation and inhibition of the human alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by agonists. *Neuropharmacology* 37, 1095–1102.
- Buccafusco, J. J., Beach, J. W., and Terry, A. V. Jr. (2009). Desensitization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as a strategy for drug development. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 328, 364–370.
- Buccafusco, J. J., Shuster, L. C., and Terry, A. V. Jr. (2007). Disconnection between activation and desensitization of autonomic nicotinic receptors by nicotine and cotinine. *Neurosci. Lett.* 413, 68–71.

the views of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the United States Government. This work was also supported by the Bay Pines Foundation, Inc., and a grant obtained from the James and Esther King Biomedical Research Program 1KG03-33968 (to Valentina Echeverria Moran). Also, I am especially grateful to Dr. Hugo Fernandez, who has recently departed, for his friendship, guidance, and generous support to cotinine research. The scientific community will be forever indebted to you.

- Buccafusco, J. J., and Terry, A. V. Jr. (2003). The potential role of cotinine in the cognitive and neuroprotective actions of nicotine. *Life Sci.* 72, 2931–2942.
- Buckley, T. C., Holohan, D. R., Mozley, S. L., Walsh, K., and Kassel, J. (2007). The effect of nicotine and attention allocation on physiological and self-report measures of induced anxiety in PTSD: a double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 15, 154–164.
- Buggia-Prevot, V., Sevalle, J., Rossner, S., and Checler, F. (2008). NFkappaBdependent control of BACE1 promoter transactivation by Abeta42. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 10037–10047.
- Buhot, M. C., Martin, S., and Segu, L. (2000). Role of serotonin in memory impairment. Ann. Med. 32, 210–221.
- Burriss, L., Ayers, E., Ginsberg, J., and Powell, D. A. (2008). Learning and memory impairment in PTSD: relationship to depression. *Depress. Anxiety* 25, 149–157.
- Caldwell, W. S., Greene, J. M., Byrd, G. D., Chang, K. M., Uhrig, M. S., deBethizy, J. D., et al. (1992). Characterization of the glucuronide conjugate of cotinine: a previously unidentified major metabolite of nicotine in smokers' urine. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 5, 280–285.
- Chen, X., Garelick, M. G., Wang, H., Lil, V., Athos, J., and Storm, D. R. (2005). PI3 kinase signaling is required for retrieval and extinction of contextual memory. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 925–931.
- Ciamei, A., Aversano, M., Cestari, V., and Castellano, C. (2001). Effects of MK-801 and nicotine combinations on memory consolidation in CD1 mice. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 154, 126–130.
- Cohen, H., Kotler, M., Matar, M., and Kaplan, Z. (2000). Normalization of heart rate variability in posttraumatic stress disorder patients following fluoxetine treatment: preliminary results. *Isr. Med. Assoc. J.* 2, 296–301.
- Corchs, F., Nutt, D. J., Hood, S., and Bernik, M. (2009). Serotonin and sensitivity to trauma-related exposure in selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors-recovered posttraumatic

stress disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 66, 17–24.

- Corrigall, W. A., and Coen, K. M. (1991). Selective dopamine antagonists reduce nicotine self-administration. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl.*) 104, 171–176.
- Dalack, G. W., and Meador-Woodruff, J. H. (1996). Smoking, smoking withdrawal and schizophrenia: case reports and a review of the literature. *Schizophr. Res.* 22, 133–141.
- Dalack, G. W., and Meador-Woodruff, J. H. (1999). Acute feasibility and safety of a smoking reduction strategy for smokers with schizophrenia. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 1, 53–57.
- Davidson, J., Pearlstein, T., Londborg, P., Brady, K. T., Rothbaum, B., Bell, J., et al. (2001). Efficacy of sertraline in preventing relapse of posttraumatic stress disorder: results of a 28-week double-blind, placebocontrolled study. Am. J. Psychiatry 158, 1974–1981.
- De Schepper, P. J., Van Hecken, A., Daenens, P., and Van Rossum, J. M. (1987). Kinetics of cotinine after oral and intravenous administration to man. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 31, 583–588.
- Dodd, S., Brnabic, A. J., Berk, L., Fitzgerald, P. B., de Castella, A. R., Filia, S., et al. (2010). A prospective study of the impact of smoking on outcomes in bipolar and schizoaffective disorder. *Compr. Psychiatry* 51, 504–509.
- Donato, M. T., Viitala, P., Rodriguez-Antona, C., Lindfors, A., Castell, J. V., Raunio, H., et al. (2000). CYP2A5/CYP2A6 expression in mouse and human hepatocytes treated with various in vivo inducers. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 28, 1321–1326.
- Echeverria, V., and Zeitlin, R. (2012). Cotinine: a potential new therapeutic agent against Alzheimer's disease. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* 18, 517–523.
- Echeverria, V., Zeitlin, R., Burgess, S., Patel, S., Barman, A., Thakur, G., et al. (2011). Cotinine Reduces Amyloid-β aggregation and improves memory in Alzheimer's disease mice. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 24, 817–835.
- Elzinga, B. M., and Bremner, J. D. (2002). Are the neural substrates of

memory the final common pathway in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD)? *J. Affect. Disord.* 70, 1–17.

- Faghih, R., Gfesser, G. A., and Gopalakrishnan, M. (2007). Advances in the discovery of novel positive allosteric modulators of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Recent Pat. CNS Drug Discov.* 2, 99–106.
- Fischer, A., Radulovic, M., Schrick, C., Sananbenesi, F., Godovac-Zimmermann, J., and Radulovic, J. (2007). Hippocampal Mek/Erk signaling mediates extinction of contextual freezing behavior. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 87, 149–158.
- Freedman, R., Adler, L. E., Bickford, P., Byerley, W., Coon, H., Cullum, C. M., et al. (1994). Schizophrenia and nicotinic receptors. *Harv. Rev. Psychiatry* 2, 179–192.
- Freedman, R., Olincy, A., Buchanan, R. W., Harris, J. G., Gold, J. M., Johnson, L., et al. (2008). Initial phase 2 trial of a nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 165, 1040–1047.
- Freedman, R., Wetmore, C., Stromberg, I., Leonard, S., and Olson, L. (1993). Alpha-bungarotoxin binding to hippocampal interneurons: immunocytochemical characterization and effects on growth factor expression. J. Neurosci. 13, 1965–1975.
- Fuxe, K., Everitt, B. J., and Hokfelt, T. (1979). On the action of nicotine and cotinine on central 5hydroxytryptamine neurons. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 10, 671–677.
- Gately, I. (2003). Tobacco: A Cultural History of How an Exotic Plant Seduced Civilization. Diane.
- Geyer, M. A. (2006). Are cross-species measures of sensorimotor gating useful for the discovery of procognitive cotreatments for schizophrenia? *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 8, 9–16.
- Ghosheh, O., and Hawes, E. M. (2002). N-glucuronidation of nicotine and cotinine in human: formation of cotinine glucuronide in liver microsomes and lack of catalysis by 10 examined UDPglucuronosyltransferases. Drug Metab. Dispos. 30, 991–996.
- Glynn, S. M., and Sussman, S. (1990). Why patients smoke. *Hosp. Community Psychiatry* 41, 1027–1028.
- Gray, J. A., and Roth, B. L. (2007). Molecular targets for treating cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 33, 1100–1119.
- Hajos, M., and Rogers, B. N. (2010). Targeting alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 16, 538–554.
- Hapke, U., Schumann, A., Rumpf, H. J., John, U., Konerding, U., and Meyer,

- C. (2005). Association of smoking and nicotine dependence with trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in a general population sample. *J. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 193, 843–846.
- Hatsukami, D., Pentel, P. R., Jensen, J., Nelson, D., Allen, S. S., Goldman, A., et al. (1998). Cotinine: effects with and without nicotine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 135, 141–150.
- Hatsukami, D. K., Grillo, M., Pentel, P. R., Oncken, C., and Bliss, R. (1997). Safety of cotinine in humans: physiologic, subjective, and cognitive effects. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 57, 643–650.
- Hatsukami, D. K., Jensen, J., Brauer, L. H., Mooney, M., Schulte, S., Sofuoglu, M., et al. (2003). Lack of effect of 5HT3 antagonist in mediating subjective and behavioral responses to cotinine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 75, 1–7.
- Hinkelmann, K., Moritz, S., Botzenhardt, J., Riedesel, K., Wiedemann, K., Kellner, M., et al. (2009). Cognitive impairment in major depression: association with salivary cortisol. *Biol. Psychiatry* 66, 879–885.
- Holt, D. J., Lebron-Milad, K., Milad, M. R., Rauch, S. L., Pitman, R. K., Orr, S. P., et al. (2009). Extinction memory is impaired in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 455–463.
- Horner, M. D., and Hamner, M. B. (2002). Neurocognitive functioning in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 12, 15–30.
- Hukkanen, J., Jacob, P. III, and Benowitz, N. L. (2006). Effect of grapefruit juice on cytochrome P450 2A6 and nicotine renal clearance. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 80, 522–530.
- Izquierdo, I., Cammarota, M., Vianna, M. M., and Bevilaqua, L. R. (2004). The inhibition of acquired fear. *Neurotox. Res.* 6, 175–188.
- Johnsen, G. E., and Asbjornsen, A. E. (2009). Verbal learning and memory impairments in posttraumatic stress disorder: the role of encoding strategies. *Psychiatry Res.* 165, 68–77.
- Karaconji, I. B. (2005). Facts about nicotine toxicity. Arh. Hig. Rada Toksikol. 56, 363–371.
- Karam, C. S., Ballon, J. S., Bivens, N. M., Freyberg, Z., Girgis, R. R., Lizardi-Ortiz, J. E., et al. (2012). Signaling pathways in schizophrenia: emerging targets and therapeutic strategies. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 31, 381–390.
- Kelly, D. L., McMahon, R. P., Wehring, H. J., Liu, F., Mackowick, K. M., Boggs, D. L., et al. (2011). Cigarette smoking and mortality risk in people with schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 37, 832–838.

- Kim, A. H., Khursigara, G., Sun, X., Franke, T. F., and Chao, M. V. (2001). Akt phosphorylates and negatively regulates apoptosis signalregulating kina(se 1). *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 893–901.
- Kuehl, G. E., and Murphy, S. E. (2003). N-glucuronidation of trans-3'-hydroxycotinine by human liver microsomes. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 16, 1502–1506.
- Lang, U. E., Puls, I., Muller, D. J., Strutz-Seebohm, N., and Gallinat, J. (2007). Molecular mechanisms of schizophrenia. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 20, 687–702.
- Leiser, S. C., Bowlby, M. R., Comery, T. A., and Dunlop, J. (2009). A cog in cognition: how the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is geared towards improving cognitive deficits. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 122, 302–311.
- Leonard, S., Adler, L. E., Benhammou, K., Berger, R., Breese, C. R., Drebing, C., et al. (2001). Smoking and mental illness. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 70, 561–570.
- Leonard, S., Breese, C., Adams, C., Benhammou, K., Gault, J., Stevens, K., et al. (2000). Smoking and schizophrenia: abnormal nicotinic receptor expression. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 393, 237–242.
- Leonard, S., Gault, J., Adams, C., Breese, C. R., Rollins, Y., Adler, L. E., et al. (1998). Nicotinic receptors, smoking and schizophrenia. *Restor. Neurol. Neurosci.* 12, 195–201.
- Levin, E. D. (2002). Nicotinic receptor subtypes and cognitive function. J. Neurobiol. 53, 633–640.
- Levin, E. D., Bettegowda, C., Weaver, T., and Christopher, N. C. (1998). Nicotine-dizocilpine interactions and working and reference memory performance of rats in the radialarm maze. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 61, 335–340.
- Lewis, D. F., Dickins, M., Lake, B. G., Eddershaw, P. J., Tarbit, M. H., and Goldfarb, P. S. (1999). Molecular modelling of the human cytochrome P450 isoform CYP2A6 and investigations of CYP2A substrate selectivity. *Toxicology* 133, 1–33.
- Luck, S. J., and Gold, J. M. (2008). The construct of attention in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 34–39.
- Lyon, E. R. (1999). A review of the effects of nicotine on schizophrenia and antipsychotic medications. *Psychiatr. Serv.* 50, 1346–1350.
- Malaiyandi, V., Goodz, S. D., Sellers, E. M., and Tyndale, R. F. (2006). CYP2A6 genotype, phenotype, and the use of nicotine metabolites as biomarkers during ad libitum

smoking. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 15, 1812–1819.

- Martenyi, F., Brown, E. B., and Caldwell, C. D. (2007). Failed efficacy of fluoxetine in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: results of a fixed-dose, placebo-controlled study. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 27, 166–170.
- Matthews, A. M., Wilson, V. B., and Mitchell, S. H. (2011). The role of antipsychotics in smoking and smoking cessation. *CNS Drugs* 25, 299–315.
- McEvoy, J. P., Freudenreich, O., and Wilson, W. H. (1999). Smoking and therapeutic response to clozapine in patients with schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 46, 125–129.
- McGehee, D. S., and Role, L. W. (1995). Physiological diversity of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed by vertebrate neurons. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 57, 521–546.
- Mexal, S., Berger, R., Logel, J., Ross, R. G., Freedman, R., and Leonard, S. (2010). Differential regulation of alpha7 nicotinic receptor gene (CHRNA7) expression in schizophrenic smokers. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 40, 185–195.
- Money, T. T., Scarr, E., Udawela, M., Gibbons, A. S., Jeon, W. J., Seo, M. S., et al. (2012). Treating schizophrenia: novel targets for the cholinergic system. CNS Neurol Disord. Drug Targets 9, 241–256.
- Nakajima, M., Fukami, T., Yamanaka, H., Higashi, E., Sakai, H., Yoshida, R., et al. (2006). Comprehensive evaluation of variability in nicotine metabolism and CYP2A6 polymorphic alleles in four ethnic populations. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 80, 282–297.
- Nutt, D. J. (2000). The psychobiology of posttraumatic stress disorder. J. *Clin. Psychiatry* 61(Suppl. 5), 24–29; discussion 30–22.
- Ohno, M., Chang, L., Tseng, W., Oakley, H., Citron, M., Klein, W. L., et al. (2006). Temporal memory deficits in Alzheimer's mouse models: rescue by genetic deletion of B(ACE1). *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 251–260.
- O'Leary, K., Parameswaran, N., McIntosh, J. M., and Quik, M. (2008). Cotinine selectively activates a subpopulation of alpha3/alpha6beta2 nicotinic receptors in monkey striatum. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 325, 646–654.
- Olincy, A., and Stevens, K. E. (2007). Treating schizophrenia symptoms with an alpha7 nicotinic agonist, from mice to men. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 74, 1192–1201.

- Peto, R., Lopez, A. D., Boreham, J., Thun, M., Heath, C. Jr., and Doll, R. (1996). Mortality from smoking worldwide. *Br. Med. Bull.* 52, 12–21.
- Quirk, G. J., and Mueller, D. (2008). Neural mechanisms of extinction learning and retrieval. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 56–72.
- Rabin, R. A., Sacco, K. A., and George, T. P. (2009). Correlation of prepulse inhibition and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test in schizophrenia and controls: effects of smoking status. *Schizophr. Res.* 114, 91–97.
- Riah, O., Courriere, P., Dousset, J. C., Todeschi, N., and Labat, C. (1998). Nicotine is more efficient than cotinine at passing the blood-brain barrier in rats. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 18, 311–318.
- Riah, O., Dousset, J. C., Bofill-Cardona, E., and Courriere, P. (2000). Isolation and microsequencing of a novel cotinine receptor. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 20, 653–664.
- Riah, O., Dousset, J. C., Courriere, P., Stigliani, J. L., Baziard-Mouysset, G., and Belahsen, Y. (1999). Evidence that nicotine acetylcholine receptors are not the main targets of cotinine toxicity. *Toxicol. Lett.* 109, 21–29.
- Risner, M. E., Goldberg, S. R., Prada, J. A., and Cone, E. J. (1985). Effects of nicotine, cocaine and some of their metabolites on schedule-controlled responding by beagle dogs and squirrel monkeys. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 234, 113–119.
- Robbins, T. W. (2002). The 5-choice serial reaction time task: behavioural pharmacology and functional neurochemistry. *Psychopharmacol*ogy (Berl.) 163, 362–380.
- Robinson, E. S., Eagle, D. M., Economidou, D., Theobald, D. E., Mar, A. C., Murphy, E. R., et al. (2009).
  Behavioural characterisation of high impulsivity on the 5-choice serial reaction time task: specific deficits in "waiting" versus "stopping." *Behav. Brain Res.* 196, 310–316.
- Rubboli, F., Court, J. A., Sala, C., Morris, C., Chini, B., Perry, E., et al. (1994a). Distribution of nicotinic receptors in the human hippocampus and thalamus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 6, 1596–1604.
- Rubboli, F., Court, J. A., Sala, C., Morris, C., Perry, E., and Clementi, F. (1994b). Distribution of neuronal nicotinic receptor subunits in human brain. *Neurochem. Int.* 25, 69–71.
- Sagud, M., Mihaljevic-Peles, A., Muck-Seler, D., Pivac, N., Vuksan-Cusa, B., Brataljenovic, T., et al. (2009).
  Smoking and schizophrenia. *Psychiatr. Danub.* 21, 371–375.

- Seillier, A., and Giuffrida, A. (2009). Evaluation of NMDA receptor models of schizophrenia: divergences in the behavioral effects of sub-chronic PCP and MK(-801). Behav. Brain Res. 204, 410–415.
- Smith, R. C., Singh, A., Infante, M., Khandat, A., and Kloos, A. (2002). Effects of cigarette smoking and nicotine nasal spray on psychiatric symptoms and cognition in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 27, 479–497.
- Smith, R. C., Warner-Cohen, J., Matute, M., Butler, E., Kelly, E., Vaidhyanathaswamy, S., et al. (2006). Effects of nicotine nasal spray on cognitive function in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 637–643.
- Steckler, T., and Risbrough, V. (2012). Pharmacological treatment of PTSD – Established and new approaches. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 617–627.
- Stein, D. J., Ipser, J., and McAnda, N. (2009). Pharmacotherapy of posttraumatic stress disorder: a review of meta-analyses and treatment guidelines. *CNS Spectr.* 14, 25–31.
- Strasser, A. A., Malaiyandi, V., Hoffmann, E., Tyndale, R. F., and Lerman, C. (2007). An association of CYP2A6 genotype and smoking topography. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 9, 511–518.
- Suemaru, K., Yasuda, K., Umeda, K., Araki, H., Shibata, K., Choshi, T., et al. (2004). Nicotine blocks apomorphine-induced disruption of prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle in rats: possible involvement of central nicotinic alpha7 receptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 142, 843–850.
- Sugaya, K., Giacobini, E., and Chiappinelli, V. A. (1990). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes in human frontal cortex: changes in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 27, 349–359.
- Swerdlow, N. R., Light, G. A., Cadenhead, K. S., Sprock, J., Hsieh, M. H., and Braff, D. L. (2006). Startle gating deficits in a large cohort of patients with schizophrenia: relationship to medications, symptoms, neurocognition, and level of function. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 1325–1335.
- Taly, A., Corringer, P. J., Guedin, D., Lestage, P., and Changeux, J. P. (2009). Nicotinic receptors: allosteric transitions and therapeutic targets in the nervous system. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 8, 733–750.
- Tapia, G., Clarys, D., El Hage, W., Belzung, C., and Isingrini, M. (2007). PTSD psychiatric patients exhibit a deficit in remembering. *Memory* 15, 145–153.

- Tassaneeyakul, W., Guo, L. Q., Fukuda, K., Ohta, T., and Yamazoe, Y. (2000). Inhibition selectivity of grapefruit juice components on human cytochromes (P450). Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 378, 356–363.
- Terry, A. V. Jr., Buccafusco, J. J., Schade, R. F., Vandenhuerk, L., Callahan, P. M., Beck, W. D., et al. (2012). The nicotine metabolite, cotinine, attenuates glutamate (NMDA) antagonist-related effects on the performance of the five choice serial reaction time task (5C-SRTT) in rats. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 83, 941–951.
- Terry, A. V. Jr., Buccafusco, J. J., and Wilson, C. (2008). Cognitive dysfunction in neuropsychiatric disorders: selected serotonin receptor subtypes as therapeutic targets. *Behav. Brain Res.* 195, 30–38.
- Terry, A. V. Jr., Hernandez, C. M., Hohnadel, E. J., Bouchard, K. P., and Buccafusco, J. J. (2005). Cotinine, a neuroactive metabolite of nicotine: potential for treating disorders of impaired cognition. *CNS Drug Rev.* 11, 229–252.
- Thorndike, F. P., Wernicke, R., Pearlman, M. Y., and Haaga, D. A. (2006). Nicotine dependence, PTSD symptoms, and depression proneness among male and female smokers. *Addict. Behav.* 31, 223–231.
- Toyohara, J., and Hashimoto, K. (2010). alpha7 nicotinic receptor agonists: potential therapeutic drugs for treatment of cognitive impairments in schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. *Open Med. Chem. J.* 4, 37–56. van Os, J., and Kapur, S. (2009). Schizo-
- phrenia. *Lancet* 374, 635–645. Van Snellenberg, J. X. (2009). Working memory and long-term memory deficits in schizophrenia: is there a common substrate? *Psychiatry Res.* 174, 89–96.
- Veltmeyer, M. D., Clark, C. R., McFarlane, A. C., Moores, K. A., Bryant, R. A., and Gordon, E. (2009). Working memory function in posttraumatic stress disorder: an eventrelated potential study. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 120, 1096–1106.
- Visoni, S., Meireles, N., Monteiro, L., Rossini, A., and Pinto, L. F. (2008). Different modes of inhibition of mouse Cyp2a5 and rat CYP2A3 by the food-derived 8methoxypsoralen. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 46, 1190–1195.
- von Hausswolff-Juhlin, Y., Bjartveit, M., Lindstrom, E., and Jones, P. (2009). Schizophrenia and physical health problems. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand. Suppl.* 15–21.
- Weaver, T. L., and Etzel, J. C. (2003). Smoking patterns, symptoms of

PTSD and depression: preliminary findings from a sample of severely battered women. *Addict. Behav.* 28, 1665–1679.

- Woodruff-Pak, D. S., and Gould, T. J. (2002). Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: involvement in Alzheimer's disease and schizophrenia. *Behav. Cogn. Neurosci. Rev.* 1, 5–20.
- Yakel, J. L. (2012). Nicotinic ACh receptors in the hippocampus: role in excitability and plasticity. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* [Epub ahead of print].
- Yamanaka, H., Nakajima, M., Nishimura, K., Yoshida, R., Fukami, T., Katoh, M., et al. (2004). Metabolic profile of nicotine in subjects whose CYP2A6 gene is deleted. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 22, 419–425.
- Yehuda, R., Giller, E. L., Southwick, S. M., Lowy, M. T., and Mason, J. W. (1991). Hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal dysfunction in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 30, 1031–1048.
- Young, G. T., Zwart, R., Walker, A. S., Sher, E., and Millar, N. S. (2008). Potentiation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors via an allosteric transmembrane site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 14686–14691.
- Zeitlin, R., Patel, S., Solomon, R., Tran, J., Weeber, E. J., and Echeverria, V. (2012). Cotinine enhances the extinction of contextual fear memory and reduces anxiety after fear conditioning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 228, 284–293.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 July 2012; accepted: 10 September 2012; published online: 10 October 2012.

Citation: Moran VE (2012) Cotinine: beyond that expected, more than a biomarker of tobacco consumption. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:173. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00173

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Moran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



# Beta amyloid differently modulate nicotinic and muscarinic receptor subtypes which stimulate *in vitro* and *in vivo* the release of glycine in the rat hippocampus

# Stefania Zappettini<sup>1</sup>, Massimo Grilli<sup>1</sup>, Guendalina Olivero<sup>1</sup>, Elisa Mura<sup>2</sup>, Stefania Preda<sup>2</sup>, Stefano Govoni<sup>2</sup>, Alessia Salamone<sup>1</sup> and Mario Marchi<sup>1,3</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup> Section of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

<sup>2</sup> Department of Drug Sciences, Centre of Excellence in Applied Biology, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

<sup>3</sup> Centre of Excellence for Biomedical Research, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Enrico Sanna, University of Cagliari, Italy Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Mario Marchi, Section of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Genoa, Viale Cembrano 4, 16148 Genoa, Italy. e-mail: marchi@pharmatox.unige.it

Using both in vitro (hippocampal synaptosomes in superfusion) and in vivo (microdialysis) approaches we investigated whether and to what extent  $\beta$  amyloid peptide 1–40 (A $\beta$ 1-40) interferes with the cholinergic modulation of the release of glycine (GLY) in the rat hippocampus. The nicotine-evoked overflow of endogenous GLY in hippocampal synaptosomes in superfusion was significantly inhibited by Aβ 1-40 (10 nM) while increasing the concentration to 100 nM the inhibitory effect did not further increase. Both the Choline (Ch; α7 agonist; 1 mM) and the 5-lodo-A-85380 dihydrochloride (5IA85380, α4β2 agonist; 10 nM)-evoked GLY overflow were inhibited by AB 1-40 at 100 nM but not at 10 nM concentrations. The KCI evoked [<sup>3</sup>H]GLY and [<sup>3</sup>H]Acetylcholine (ACh) overflow were strongly inhibited in presence of oxotremorine; however this inhibitory muscarinic effect was not affected by A $\beta$  1–40. The effects of A $\beta$  1–40 on the administration of nicotine, veratridine, 5IA85380, and PHA543613 hydrochloride (PHA543613; a selective agonist of a7 subtypes) on hippocampal endogenous GLY release in vivo were also studied. A $\beta$  1–40 significantly reduced (at 10  $\mu$ M but not at 1  $\mu$ M) the nicotine-evoked in vivo release of GLY. A $\beta$  1–40 (at 10  $\mu$ M but not at 1  $\mu$ M) significantly inhibited the PHA543613 (1 mM)-elicited GLY overflow while was ineffective on the GLY overflow evoked by 5IA85380 (1 mM). A $\beta$  40–1 (10  $\mu$ M) did not produce any inhibitory effect on nicotine-evoked GLY overflow both in the in vitro and in vivo experiments. Our results indicate that (a) the cholinergic modulation of the release of GLY occurs by the activation of both  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChRs) as well as by the activation of inhibitory muscarinic ACh receptors (mAChRs) and (b) A $\beta$  1–40 can modulate cholinergic evoked GLY release exclusively through the interaction with α7 and the  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  nAChR nicotinic receptors but not through mAChR subtypes.

Keywords:  $\beta$  amyloid, glycine release, nicotinic receptors, muscarinic receptors, microdialysis

# **INTRODUCTION**

Nicotinic and muscarinic receptors are widely expressed in the brain and implicated in the pathophysiology of many neurological conditions, including Alzheimer's disease (AD), where typical symptoms include the loss of cognitive function and dementia. The presence of extracellular neuritic plaques composed of  $\beta$ amyloid  $(A\beta)$  peptide is a characteristic feature of AD, however, although neurotoxicity is a prominent feature of A $\beta$ , recent data emphasize the existence of synaptic functional roles of this peptide which can modulate the release of several neurotransmitters (see Mura et al., 2012 and references therein). Accordingly,  $A\beta$ isoforms and oligomers of increasing molecular dimensions may have different biological actions in a continuum from physiology to pathology, determining loss and gains of function along the course of the disease (Mura et al., 2010a). Indeed, it has been shown that non-neurotoxic A $\beta$  1–40 concentrations were able to modulate (predominantly, but not exclusively, to inhibit) the release of several neurotransmitters (dopamine,  $\gamma$  aminobutyric

acid, aspartate, glutamate) elicited by the stimulation of cholinergic muscarinic and nicotinic receptor [muscarinic ACh receptors (mAChR); nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChR)] subtypes in different brain areas; (Preda et al., 2008; Puzzo et al., 2008; Grilli et al., 2009; Jürgensen and Ferreira, 2010;Mura et al., 2010a,b, 2012; Ondrejcak et al., 2010). The hippocampus, an area which is particularly vulnerable and early target of Alzheimer's disease and in which the cholinergic pathways are critical for modulation of attention and memory (Parri et al., 2011), A $\beta$  regulates the nicotine-evoked release of both excitatory (glutamate and aspartate) and inhibitory ( $\gamma$  aminobutyric acid) aminoacids (Mura et al., 2012).

Increasing evidence demonstrate that glycine (GLY) is an important aminoacid at hippocampal level which may have a dual role acting as an inhibitory neurotransmitter, when interacting with the strychnine-sensitive receptors, and playing a stimulatory role, when co-activating excitatory *N*-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors together with glutamate (Johnson and Ascher, 1987; Luccini et al., 2008; Romei et al., 2009, 2011; Zappettini et al., 2011). No

data are available so far on the possible effects of  $A\beta$  on the cholinergic receptors which modulate GLY release at the hippocampal level.

In the present study using both *in vitro* (hippocampal synaptosomes in superfusion) and *in vivo* (microdialysis) approaches we investigated whether and to what extent  $A\beta$  interferes with the cholinergic modulation of the release of GLY in the rat hippocampus.

The results indicate that (a) the cholinergic modulation of the release of GLY occurs by the activation of both  $\alpha7$  and  $\alpha4\beta2$  (nAChRs) as previously reported (Zappettini et al., 2011) as well as by the activation of inhibitory mAChRs; (b) the nicotinic modulation of GLY release by  $\alpha4\beta2$ , and  $\alpha7$  nAChRs is inhibited *in vitro* in presence of a nanomolar concentration of A $\beta$  1–40 which is on the contrary ineffective on the inhibitory mAChR receptor subtypes.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# ANIMALS

Adult male Wistar rats (200-250 g, Harlan, Udine) were used for both in vivo experiments and as brain tissue source for in vitro experiments. Animals were housed at constant temperature  $(22 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$  and relative humidity (50%) under a regular light-dark schedule (light 7 a.m. to 7 p.m.). The in vitro experimental procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee of the Pharmacology and Toxicology Section, Department of Experimental Medicine, in accordance with the European legislation (European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986, 86/609/EEC) and were approved by Italian legislation on animal experimentation (Decreto Ministeriale number 124/2003-A). The in vivo protocol was approved by Ethical Committee of Pavia's University (registered as 2/2008) according to international regulations for the care and treatment of laboratory animals, to the Italian Act (DL n 116, GU, suppl 40, 18 February, 1992) and to EEC Council Directive (86/609, OJ L 358, 1, 12 December, 1987). All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to use the minimal number of animals necessary to produce reliable results.

# IN VITRO EXPERIMENTS

#### **Experiments of release**

Rats were killed by decapitation and the hippocampus rapidly removed at 0-4°C. Purified synaptosomes were prepared on Percoll® gradients (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) essentially according to (Nakamura et al., 1993), with only minor modifications. Briefly, the tissue was homogenized in six volumes of 0.32 M sucrose, buffered at pH 7.4 with Tris-HCl, using a glass-teflon tissue grinder (clearance 0.25 mm, 12 up-down strokes in about 1 min). The homogenate was centrifuged (5 min,  $1000 \times g$  at 4°C) to remove nuclei and debris; the supernatant was gently stratified on a discontinuous Percoll<sup>®</sup> gradient (2, 6, 10, and 20% v/v in Tris-buffered sucrose) and centrifuged at  $33,500 \times g$  for 5 min at 4°C. The layer between 10 and 20% Percoll® (synaptosomal fraction) was collected, washed by centrifugation, and resuspended in physiological HEPES-buffered medium having the following composition (mM): NaCl 128, KCl 2.4, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 3.2, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, HEPES 25, pH 7.5, glucose 10, pH 7.2-7.4 (Lu et al., 1998). Synaptosomal protein content following purification was 10–15% of that in the supernatant stratified on the Percoll<sup>®</sup> gradient.

The synaptosomal suspension was layered on microporous filters at the bottom of a set of parallel superfusion chambers maintained at 37°C (Raiteri and Raiteri, 2000; Superfusion System, Ugo Basile, Comerio, Varese, Italy). Synaptosomes were superfused at 1 ml/min with standard physiological medium as previously described. The system was first equilibrated during 36.5 min of superfusion; subsequently, four consecutive 90s fractions of superfusate were collected and the endogenous GLY content was measured by high performance liquid chromatography as below described. Synaptosomes were exposed to agonists for 90 s starting from the second fraction collected (t = 38 min), with antagonists being added 8 min before agonists. The evoked overflow was calculated by subtracting the corresponding basal release from each fraction and was expressed as pmol/mg of synaptosomal proteins. We previously demonstrated that in our superfusion system the indirect drug effects exerted by other mediators in the monolayer of synaptosomes in superfusion are absolutely minimized (Raiteri and Raiteri, 2000).

When studying the release of  $[{}^{3}H]GLY$  or  $[{}^{3}H]Acetylcholine (ACh) hippocampal synaptosomes were incubated for 20 min at 37°C with <math>[{}^{3}H]GLY$  (final concentration 0.1  $\mu$ M) in the presence of the selective GLY transporter 1 transporter blocker *N*-[(3R)-3-([1,1'-biphenyl]-4-yloxy)-3-(4-fluorophenyl)propyl]-*N*-methylglycine hydrochloride (final concentration 0.3  $\mu$ M) or with  $[{}^{3}H]Choline$  (Ch, final concentration 0.08  $\mu$ M). The K<sup>+</sup>-induced overflow from synaptosomes was estimated by subtracting the neurotransmitter content into the first and the third fractions collected (basal release, b1 and b3) from that in the 6-min fraction collected during and after the depolarization pulse (evoked release, b2). The amount of radioactivity released into each superfusate fraction was expressed as a percentage of the total synaptosomal tritium content at the start of the fraction collected (fractional efflux).

#### **ENDOGENOUS GLY DETERMINATION**

Endogenous GLY was measured by high performance liquid chromatography analysis following precolumn derivatization with *o*phthalaldehyde and resolution through a C18-reverse phase chromatographic column (10 mm  $\times$  4.6 mm, 3  $\mu$ m; Chrompack, Middleburg, The Netherlands) coupled with fluorometric detection (excitation wavelength 350 nm; emission wavelength 450 nm). Homoserine was used as internal standard. Buffers and gradient program were prepared and executed as follows: solvent A, 0.1 M sodium acetate (pH 5.8)/methanol, 80:20; solvent B, 0.1 M sodium acetate (pH 5.8)/methanol, 20:80; solvent C, sodium acetate (pH 6.0)/methanol, 80:20; gradient program, 100% C for 4 min from the initiation of the program; 90% A and 10% B in 1 min; 42% A and 58% B in 14 min; 100% B in 1 min; isocratic flow 2 min; 100% C in 3 min; flow rate 0.9 ml/min.

#### **IN VIVO EXPERIMENTS**

#### Microdialysis probe implantation

Rats were anesthetized with Equithesin 3 ml/kg (pentobarbital 9.7 g, chloral hydrate 42.5 g, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 21.3 g for 1 l, 10% ethanol, 40% propylene glycol v/v) administered intraperitoneally and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (David Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA, USA). The skin was shaved, disinfected, and cut

with a sterile scalpel to expose the skull. A hole was drilled to allow the implantation of the probe into the brain parenchyma. The probe was implanted in the hippocampus (CA1/CA2 regions; AP -5.8 mm, ML  $\pm$  5.0 mm from bregma, and DV -8.0 mm from dura) according to the Paxinos and Watson (1986) atlas, and secured to the skull with one stainless steel screw and dental cement. All *in vivo* experiments were performed using microdialysis probes, made in our laboratory according to the original method described by Di Chiara (1990; Emophan Bellco Artificial OR-internal diameter 200  $\mu$ m, cutoff 40 kDa; Bellco, Mirandola, Modena, Italy), with a nominal active length of 5 mm. Finally, the skin was sutured, and the rats were allowed to recover from anesthesia for at least 24 h before the neurotransmitter release study.

# Microdialysis samples collection

Microdialysis experiments were performed on conscious freely moving rats. On the day of the experiments (24 h after the surgical procedure), the probe was perfused with artificial CSF containing 145 mM NaCl, 3.0 mM KCl, 1.26 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.0 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.4 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, buffered at pH 7.2–7.4, and filtered through a Millipore 0.2 µm pore membrane. In all experiments, the microdialysis membrane was allowed to stabilize for 1 h at the flow rate of 4 µl/min, without collecting samples. At the end of the stabilization period, three samples were collected to evaluate baseline release of GLY and then the specific treatment started. All treatments were administered by manually switching syringes and tubing connections to allow drugs diluted in artificial CSF to flow through the probes. Tubing switches were performed taking care to maintain constant flow rates and collection volumes. Both basal and treatment samples were collected every 20 min in 100 µl Eppendorf tubes. The flow rate of 4 µl/min was maintained using a 1000-µl syringe (Hamilton) and a microinjection pump (CMA/100, CMA/Microdialysis AB). In vitro recovery of the probe for GLY was about 20%. Each rat was used for only one microdialysis session. At the end of each experiment animals were sacrificed by guillotine, rat brains were removed and the position of the microdialysis probe was verified by histological procedures, slicing the tissues by a cryostat microtome (LEICA CM 1510). Only data from rats in which probe tracks were exactly located in the target area were used for statistical analysis.

# Immunohistochemical analysis

Immunohistochemical analysis was performed to verify the presence of A $\beta$  in the perfused tissue and to confirm (according to HOECHST 33342 staining) the absence of neurotoxic-induced apoptotic phenomenon. Brain tissue samples were frozen and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. For immunodetection of infused A $\beta$  peptide, 10  $\mu$ m coronal sections (obtained on a cryostat Leica CM 1510) were incubated with a primary monoclonal antibody recognizing A $\beta$  protein (clone 4G8; Chemicon International). Sections were then incubated with a mouse anti-IgG antibody RPE conjugated (Dako). After the fluorescent labeling procedures, sections were finally counterstained for DNA with HOECHST 33342 and mounted in a drop of Mowiol (Calbiochem, Inalco SpA, Milan, Italy). Fluorescent micrographs were acquired with a Leica TCS SP5 II confocal microscope. After acquisition of fluorescent micrographs, the slides were demounted and then the same sections were slightly counterstained with Mayer hematoxylin, dehydrated, and mounted in DPX for microanatomical analysis. The images were acquired with a BX51 Olympus microscope.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

# In vitro experiments

Multiple comparisons were performed with one-way ANOVA followed by an appropriate *post hoc* test (Dunnett and Bonferroni). Data were considered significant for p < 0.05, at least.

# In vivo experiments

Values were expressed either as amount of GLY measured in the dialyzate (pmol/80  $\mu$ l) or as area under the curve (AUC), evaluating the cumulative release over time. AUC was used as a measure of treatment exposure and was calculated, for each animal, using GraphPad Prism (version 4.03 GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA), defining as baseline of the area the basal value (average concentration of three consecutive samples immediately preceding the drug dose).

D'Agostino–Pearson Omnibus Test (GraphPad Prism, version 4.03, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) and Grubb's Test (GraphPad QuickCalcs, online calculator for scientists at http://www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) were used as preliminary tests in order to evaluate whether data were sampled from a Gaussian distribution and to detect outliers respectively. All outliers were excluded from the analysis. Data were then analyzed by analysis of variance (one-or two-way ANOVA) followed, when significant, by an appropriate *post hoc* comparison test. Data were considered significant for p < 0.05. The reported data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM. The number of animals used for each experiment is reported in the legend to figures.

# PREPARATION OF BETA AMYLOID SOLUTIONS

In the case of both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments, synthetic human A $\beta$  1–40 (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) was dissolved in aCSF at a concentration of 100 mM (stock solution). Then, this solution was filtered through a Millipore 0.2  $\mu$ m pore membrane and stocked in small aliquots. Working solutions were freshly prepared by diluting an aliquot of A $\beta$  1–40 stock solution at the final concentrations (10 mM, 1 mM, or 100 nM A $\beta$  1–40 for *in vivo* experiments, 100 nM, 10 nM, 1 nM, or 100 pM for *in vitro* analysis).

# CHEMICALS

Beta amyloid (1–40; 40–1), percoll<sup>®</sup>, choline, himbacine, dimethyl sulfoxide, veratridine, nicotine hydrogen tartrate salt (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA); NFPS (ALX 5407), 5IA85380, PHA543613, AQRA741 (Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, UK); all salts used for the preparation of aCSF (NaCl, KCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub>, MgCl<sub>2</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) and for Equithesin (MgSO<sub>4</sub>) were purchased at Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany; chloral hydrate, ethanol 96%, and propylene glycol were used for the preparation of Equithesin and were obtained at VWR BDH Prolabo, Belgium;[<sup>3</sup>H]Choline (specific activity: 60–90 Ci/mmol) and [<sup>3</sup>H]Glycine (specific activity: 15 Ci/mmol) were purchased from Perkin Elmer SpA.

# RESULTS

It is known that Aβ peptides structure and aggregation properties depend on several factors. It is therefore important when using AB peptides to specify both the concentration of the soluble A $\beta$  but also the methods used to prepare AB solution and to verify the presence of AB aggregates (see Parri et al., 2011). This facilitates the interpretation of the results when reporting on Aβ effects and, which is even more important, would facilitate the comparison of data obtained in different laboratories. Hence, in our previous paper we characterized the AB peptide conformation we administered in vivo by Western Blot procedure (Mura et al., 2012) showing that we administered, at least predominantly,  $A\beta$  monomers. We cannot completely exclude by the adopted methods that small amounts of AB oligomers are present and may participate to produce the observed effects. In regard to the *in vitro* AB preparations, since we did not observe aggregation at the concentrations and the timing (up to 40 min) analyzed in vivo, we also do not expect to observe aggregation at the lower concentrations and shorter times used in vitro in light of the fact that aggregation is a concentration and time-dependent process.

**Figure 1A** shows that the nicotine-evoked overflow of endogenous GLY was significantly inhibited by A $\beta$  1–40 already at a concentration of 10 nM while increasing the concentration to 100 nM the inhibitory effect did not further increase. The 1-nM A $\beta$  1–40 concentration was ineffective. The reverse peptide A $\beta$ 40–1 was ineffective even at high (100 nM) concentration. A $\beta$  1– 40 (100 nM) did not affect the veratridine (10 nM)-evoked GLY overflow.

Since it has been shown that two different nAChR subtypes,  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2, modulate GLY release (Zappettini et al., 2011), the possibility that A $\beta$  may differentially inhibit the nicotinic control of GLY release has been investigated. In order to verify this point we have studied the effects of two different agonists, Ch and 5-IA85380 hydrochloride (5IA85380), known to act selectively on the  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nAChR subtypes respectively (Mukhin et al., 2000; Uteshev et al., 2003; Dickinson et al., 2007; Zappettini et al., 2010). Ch (1 mM) and the 5IA85380 (10 nM)-evoked a similar overflow of GLY confirming the involvement of the two receptor subtypes. Both the Ch (1 mM) and the 5IA85380 (10 nM)-evoked GLY overflow were significantly inhibited by A $\beta$  1–40 at 100 nM but not at 10–1 nM concentrations compared to controls (**Figure 1B**). A $\beta$  1–40 (100 nM) did not modify the basal release of endogenous GLY (data not shown).

It has been demonstrated that also different mAChR subtypes are involved in the modulation of both ACh and GLY release from brain hippocampal synaptosomes (Raiteri et al., 1984; Russo et al., 1993). We investigated whether A $\beta$  was able to affect the muscarinic control of the release of these two transmitters as it was able to disrupt the nicotinic control of GLY release. **Figure 2A** shows that the KCl evoked [<sup>3</sup>H]GLY overflow was strongly inhibited in presence of oxotremorine. This inhibitory effect was totally antagonized by himbacine but was not affected by A $\beta$  1–40 (100 nM). In presence of oxotremorine also the KCl evoked release of [<sup>3</sup>H]ACh from hippocampal nerve endings was significantly inhibited (**Figure 2B**). This result was unexpected but demonstrates quite interestingly that the cholinergic muscarinic modulation of GLY release could be different according to the different brain areas or the different species studied since previous findings using human cortical nerve endings have shown a potentiating effect of oxotremorine on GLY release (Russo et al., 1993). Interestingly also the inhibitory effect of oxotremorine on  $[^{3}H]$ ACh release was antagonized, as expected, by the specific M2 mAChR antagonist AQRA741 but was not affected by A $\beta$  1–40 (100 nM; **Figure 2B**).

Based on the *in vitro* data we then analyzed the effects of A $\beta$  1–40 on the administration of nicotine, veratridine, 5IA85380, and PHA543613 hydrochloride (PHA543613, a selective agonist of  $\alpha$ 7 subtypes) on hippocampal GLY release *in vivo*. In order to test whether the administration of A $\beta$  1–40 through the dialysis probe allowed the delivery of the peptide to the tissue we performed an immunohistochemical analysis. **Figure 3** shows the presence of the peptide for the two concentrations tested *in vivo* (1 and 10  $\mu$ M) within the hippocampus. Despite the fact that we do not know the exact amounts of A $\beta$  reaching the tissue, there was a visible positive correlation between the concentration administered and the signal of A $\beta$  immunoreactivity in the tissue. Moreover, immunohistochemical analysis shows that no evident signs of apoptosis were observed within the area of amyloid diffusion as shown by Hoechst staining.

The choice of the concentration of the nicotinic cholinergic agonists to be delivered in vivo was derived from previous data demonstrating that the administration by microdialysis of 50 mM nicotine was able to significantly increase the levels of GLY in hippocampal extracellular compartment (Toth, 1996; Fedele et al., 1998; Zappettini et al., 2011). As previously shown in our experimental conditions 40 min-long administration of 50 mM nicotine was able to greatly enhance GLY release from basal values. Figure 4A show that A $\beta$  1–40 significantly reduced (at 10  $\mu$ M but not at  $1 \mu M$ ) the nicotine-evoked in vivo release of GLY. Ab 40–1 did not produce any inhibitory effect used at 10  $\mu$ M concentration. The GLY overflow stimulated by veratridine was unaltered in presence of A $\beta$  1–40 (Figure 4B). Then we compared the effects Aβ 1–40 after exposure to the selective nAChRs agonists, 5IA85380, and PHA543613. As shown in Figure 4C, AB 1-40 (at 10 µM but not at 1 µM) significantly inhibited the PHA543613 (1 mM)elicited GLY overflow while was ineffective on the GLY overflow evoked by 5IA85380 (1 mM).

# DISCUSSION

It is expected that cognitive deficits and memory impairments in AD patients could be related, at least in part, to A $\beta$  mediated decrease of cholinergic function (Wang et al., 2009a,b, 2010; Parri et al., 2011). However it is still unclear whether these impairments are a consequence of a loss of cholinergic neurons and a decrease of nAChRs or of a direct molecular interaction of A $\beta$  with nAChRs leading to a dysregulation of receptor function or of both mechanisms. To shed some light on these mechanisms we investigated in the present study as well as in previous researches whether A $\beta$ , at concentrations not producing acutely neurotoxicity, is able to disrupt the cholinergic control of neurotransmitter release. To do this we took advantage of the fact that both  $\alpha 4\beta 2$ , and  $\alpha 7$  nAChRs receptors are known to be expressed in rat hippocampal interneurons (McQuiston and Madison, 1999; Sudweeks and Yakel, 2000; Yakel and Shao, 2004), and it is well-known that they have a positive





role in regulating cognitive function (Picciotto et al., 1995; Levin and Simon, 1998). Being aware that several neurotransmitters that play important roles in cognitive functions could be affected either directly or indirectly by  $A\beta$ , we focused our attention on GLY. Indeed increasing evidence demonstrate that GLY is an important aminoacid at hippocampal level which has a dual role (a) acting as an inhibitory neurotransmitter when interacting with the strychnine-sensitive receptors and (b) playing a fundamental stimulatory role when co-activating excitatory *N*-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors together with glutamate (Johnson and Ascher, 1987; Hirai et al., 1996; Luccini et al., 2008; Kubota et al., 2010; Zappettini et al., 2011). The changes in the GLY release may therefore directly interfere with glutamate neurotransmission, which plays an important role in the processes of learning and memory in this brain area.

We here report that the cholinergic modulation of GLY release at the presynaptic level on hippocampal nerve endings was modulated not only by stimulatory  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and  $\alpha 7$  nAChRs as previously reported (Zappettini et al., 2011) but also by an inhibitory, mAChR subtype. We do not know whether both nicotinic and muscarinic receptors are present on all nerve endings or they are peculiar of a specific neuronal population and/or their physiological importance in the intact tissue. It is quite interesting however that the two modulatory mechanisms display a different sensitivity to A $\beta$ . The stimulatory effects of both  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and  $\alpha 7$  nAChRs were partially blocked by nanomolar concentration of A $\beta$  1–40 which was on the contrary inactive on the mAChRs inhibiting GLY release. This observation allows to speculate that an excess of A $\beta$  (the range of active concentrations was between 10 and 100 nM *in vitro* and 10  $\mu$ M *in vivo*) as it may happen because of the disease may dysregulate the cholinergic modulation of hippocampal activity leading to a disproportionate inhibition since it leaves unaffected the muscarinic inhibitory control and impairs the nicotinic stimulatory one. All this occurs in absence of A $\beta$  acutely induced neuronal damage.

The decreased release of GLY may have several functional consequences. Some of them may be relevant to the development of AD pathology. As an example, a decrease of GLY release may reduce the tonic inhibition exerted through the activation of GLY receptors (Mori et al., 2002; Petrini et al., 2004; Farrant and Nusser, 2005) normally providing neuroprotection under pathological conditions, when extracellular GLY levels are elevated (Baker et al., 1991; Saransaari et al., 1997; Zhao et al., 2005; Saransaari and Oja, 2008). A second relevant event caused by a reduced glycine release may consist in a decrease of *N*-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors co-activation. At this regard it is important to recall that intracerebroventricular injection of A $\beta$  1–40 significantly suppress high frequency stimulation-induced LTP (Chen et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2008).

The exact nature of the  $A\beta$  interaction with nAChR subtypes is so far not well understood.

Interestingly in our study both the  $\alpha$ 7 and the  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nAChR subtypes which almost equally contribute to the stimulation of GLY release, were functionally inhibited *in vitro* apparently in a similar extent by A $\beta$  concentrations in the nanomolar range (**Figure 2B**). However we do not know whether A $\beta$  might have



a similar mechanism of action on the two different nAChR subtypes. The inhibitory effect on both the  $\alpha$ 7 and the  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nAChR was incomplete with a maximal inhibition of about 30–40%. A recently described allosteric binding pocket located within the trans membrane domain of the  $\alpha$ 7 and of non- $\alpha$ 7 nAChRs might provide a potential structure-function mechanism to explain the inhibitory effects of A $\beta$  (Young et al., 2008; Gill et al., 2011, 2012).

Indeed A $\beta$  at concentration in the upper nanomolar range (10 nM) produced full effect while did not produced any effect at 1 nM concentration. Ten nanomolars A $\beta$  beyond the estimated normal concentrations in human CSF but may be caused by the altered precursor protein processing as it occurs along with the disease (Reaume et al., 1996) or be related to defects in the removal of the peptide from the extracellular space as it may occur in the disease in association with the ApoE  $\epsilon$ 4 genotype (Cramer et al., 2012).

Of course talking about cholinergic modulation of GLY release we have also to consider the possibility that  $A\beta$  might for instance interfere directly with the mechanisms which modulate the release of ACh. However our data show that  $A\beta$  was ineffective also on the inhibitory muscarinic autoreceptors which inhibit ACh release



FIGURE 4 |The figure shows the *in vivo* effect of A $\beta$  1–40 on the nicotine-, veratrine-, PHA543613-, and 5IA85380-induced overflow of GLY, in rat hippocampus [(A–C) respectively]. A $\beta$  1–40 (10  $\mu$ M but not 1  $\mu$ M) significantly inhibited the 50-mM nicotine-induced overflow of GLY \*p < 0.01 versus nicotine (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test). A $\beta$  40–1 10  $\mu$ M was ineffective (A). A $\beta$  1–40 (10  $\mu$ M) which significantly inhibited the 1-mM PHA543613-induced overflow of GLY was unable to inhibit both the 100- $\mu$ M veratridine- and the 5IA85380-induced overflow of GLY (B,C). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM of 4–15 individual rats for each experimental group. \*p < 0.01 versus PHA543613 (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test.

(Figure 2). We can therefore foresee that in an integrated system, where cellular networks and their functional relationships are completely preserved and several direct and indirect processes are

simultaneously taking place in neurons, the effect of  $A\beta$  on the cholinergic modulation of GLY function may mostly depend on the interaction of  $A\beta$  with the nAChRs.

Our findings in vivo largely support this view even if AB was unable to inhibit the release of GLY elicited by the specific  $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nAChRs agonist while it exerted an inhibition (over 40%) of both nicotine and PHA543613 stimulated GLY release. On the other hand in vivo important differences were noticed at the baseline in the ability of the two specific nAChRs agonists to elicit GLY release as compare to in vitro. Indeed in vitro both  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nAChRs agonists were able to stimulate to the same extent GLY release; while in vivo the release elicited by 5IA85380 was less than a half that obtained in response to PHA543613. In vivo to many variables may take place, and in spite of the above described discrepancy, there is a general good agreement of the effects in vivo and in vitro of AB on the release of various neurotransmitters (present work and references) including the observation that so far A $\beta$  has never been able to modify the depolarization (veratridine or potassium)-elicited release of neurotransmitters, but only the one modulated by presynaptic receptors.

#### REFERENCES

- Baker, A. J., Zornow, M. H., Scheller, M. S., Yaksh, T. L., Skilling, S. R., Smullin, D. H., Larson, A. A., and Kuczenski, R. (1991). Changes in extracellular concentrations of glutamate, aspartate, glycine, dopamine, serotonin, and dopamine metabolites after transient global ischemia in the rabbit brain. *I. Neurochem*, 57, 1370–1379.
- Chen, L., Yamada, K., Nabeshima, T., and Sokabe, M. (2006). alpha7 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor as a target to rescue deficit in hippocampal LTP induction in beta-amyloid infused rats. *Neuropharmacology* 50, 254–268.
- Cramer, P. E., Cirrito, J. R., Wesson, D. W., Lee, C. Y., Karlo, J. C., Zinn, A. E., Casali, B. T., Restivo, J. L., Goebel, W. D., James, M. J., Brunden, K. R., Wilson, D. A., and Landreth, G. E. (2012). ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear β-amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models. *Science* 335, 1503–1506.
- Di Chiara, G. (1990). In-vivo brain dialysis of neurotransmitters. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 11, 116–121.
- Dickinson, J. A., Hanrott, K. E., Mok, M. H., Kew, J. N., and Wonnacott, S. (2007). Differential coupling of alpha7 and non-alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors to calcium-induced calcium release and voltage-operated calcium channels in PC12 cells. J. Neurochem. 100, 1089–1096.
- Farrant, M., and Nusser, Z. (2005). Variations on an inhibitory theme: phasic and tonic activation of GABA(A)

receptors. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 215–229.

- Fedele, E., Varnier, G., Ansaldo, M. A., and Raiteri, M. (1998). Nicotine administration stimulates the in vivo N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor/nitric oxide/cyclic GMP pathway in rat hippocampus through glutamate release. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 125, 1042–1048.
- Gill, J. K., Dhankher, P., Sheppard, T. D., Sher, E., and Millar, N. S. (2012). A series of α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor allosteric modulators with close chemical similarity but diverse pharmacological properties. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 81, 710–718.
- Gill, J. K., Savolainen, M., Young, G. T., Zwart, R., Sher, E., and Millar, N. S. (2011). Agonist activation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors via an allosteric transmembrane site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 5867–5872.
- Grilli, M., Zappettini, S., Raiteri, L., and Marchi, M. (2009). Nicotinic and muscarinic cholinergic receptors coexist on GABAergic nerve endings in the mouse striatum and interact in modulating GABA release. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 610–614.
- Hirai, H., Kirsch, J., Laube, B., Betz, H., and Kuhse, J. (1996). The glycine binding site of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor subunit NR1: identification of novel determinants of co-agonist potentiation in the extracellular M3-M4 loop region. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 6031–6036.
- Johnson, J. W., and Ascher, P. (1987). Glycine potentiates the NMDA

In conclusion our findings show that A $\beta$  can modulate cholinergic evoked GLY release exclusively through the interaction with  $\alpha$ 7 and the  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nAChR nicotinic receptors, acting probably through different mechanisms of action, but not through mAChRs. The present study may therefore provide further insight into the mechanism by which AB impairs synaptic plasticity and cholinergic function in AD brain.

# **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by from the Italian Ministero Università Ricerca to Prof. Mario Marchi (Prot. No 2009R7WCZS\_003), by Compagnia di San Paolo, by University of Genoa "Progetto Ricerca Ateneo," and by project AROMA (ALCOTRA 2007-2013) by the European Community Project PYRGI, project no. B51H1000000006, and by the project 7FP-KBBE BAMMBO and to Prof. Govoni (MIUR 2009). This work is supported by a grant of the Alzheimer's Association (NIRG-11-205183) to Elisa Mura. We wish to thank Dr. Cristina Lanni for technical support in immunohistochemical analysis, Maura Agate for editorial assistance and Dr. Silvia E. Smith, Ph.D. (University of Utah) for reviewing the manuscript.

response in cultured mouse brain neurons. *Nature* 325, 529–531.

- Jürgensen, S., and Ferreira, S. T. (2010). Nicotinic receptors, amyloid-beta, and synaptic failure in Alzheimer's disease. J. Mol. Neurosci. 40, 221–229.
- Kubota, H., Alle, H., Betz, H., and Geiger, J. R. (2010). Presynaptic glycine receptors on hippocampal mossy fibers. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 393, 587–591.
- Levin, E., and Simon, B. (1998). Nicotinic acetylcholine involvement in cognitive function in animals. *Psychopharmacology* (Berl.) 138, 217–230.
- Lu, Y., Grady, S., Marks, M. J., Picciotto, M., Changeux, J. P., and Collins, A. C. (1998). Pharmacological characterization of nicotinic receptor-stimulated GABA release from mouse brain synaptosomes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 287, 648.
- Luccini, E., Romei, C., and Raiteri, L. (2008). Glycinergic nerve endings in hippocampus and spinal cord release glycine by different mechanisms in response to identical depolarizing stimuli. *J. Neurochem.* 105, 2179–2189.
- McQuiston, A. R., and Madison, D. V. (1999). Nicotinic receptor activation excites distinct subtypes of interneurons in the rat hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 2887–2896.
- Mori, M., Gähwiler, B. H., and Gerber, U. (2002). Beta-alanine and taurine as endogenous agonists at glycine receptors in rat hippocampus in vitro. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 539, 191–200.

- Mukhin, A. G., Gündisch, D., Horti, A. G., Koren, A. O., Tamagnan, G., Kimes, A. S., Chambers, J., Vaupel, D. B., King, S. L., Picciotto, M. R., Innis, R. B., and London, E. D. (2000). 5-Iodo-A-85380, an alpha4beta2 subtypeselective ligand for nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 57, 642–649.
- Mura, E., Lanni, C., Preda, S., Pistoia, F., Sarà, M., Racchi, M., Schettini, G., Marchi, M., and Govoni, S. (2010a). Beta-amyloid: a disease target or a synaptic regulator affecting age-related neurotransmitter changes? *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 16, 672–683.
- Mura, E., Preda, S., Govoni, S., Lanni, C., Trabace, L., Grilli, M., Lagomarsino, F., Pittaluga, A., and Marchi, M. (2010b). Specific neuromodulatory actions of amyloid-beta on dopamine release in rat nucleus accumbens and caudate putamen. J. Alzheimers Dis. 19, 1041–1053.
- Mura, E., Zappettini, S., Preda, S., Biundo, F., Lanni, C., Grilli, M., Cavallero, A., Olivero, G., Salamone, A., Govoni, S., and Marchi, M. (2012). Dual effect of beta-amyloid on  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 nicotinic receptors controlling the release of glutamate, aspartate and GABA in rat hippocampus. *PLoS ONE* 7, e29661. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029661
- Nakamura, Y., Iga, K., Shibata, T., Shudo, M., and Kataoka, K. (1993). Glial plasmalemmal vesicles: a subcellular fraction from rat hippocampal homogenate distinct from synaptosomes. *Glia* 9, 48–56.

- Ondrejcak, T., Klyubin, I., Hu, N. W., Barry, A. E., Cullen, W. K., and Rowan, M. J. (2010). Alzheimer's disease amyloid beta-protein and synaptic function. *Neuromolecular Med.* 12, 13–26.
- Parri, H. R., Hernandez, C. M., and Dineley, K. T. (2011). Research update: alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 82, 931–942.
- Paxinos, G., and Watson, C. (1986). The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, 2nd Edn. New York: Academic Press.
- Petrini, E. M., Marchionni, I., Zacchi, P., Sieghart, W., and Cherubini, E. (2004). Clustering of extrasynaptic GABA(A) receptors modulates tonic inhibition in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 45833–45843.
- Picciotto, M., Zoli, M., Léna, C., Bessis, A., Lallemand, Y., Le Novère, N., Vincent, P., Pich, E., Brûlet, P., and Changeux, J. (1995). Abnormal avoidance learning in mice lacking functional high-affinity nicotine receptor in the brain. *Nature* 374, 65–67.
- Preda, S., Govoni, S., Lanni, C., Racchi, M., Mura, E., Grilli, M., and Marchi, M. (2008). Acute betaamyloid administration disrupts the cholinergic control of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 1062–1070.
- Puzzo, D., Privitera, L., Leznik, E., Fà, M., Staniszewski, A., Palmeri, A., and Arancio, O. (2008). Picomolar amyloid-beta positively modulates synaptic plasticity and memory in hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 14537–14545.
- Raiteri, L., and Raiteri, M. (2000). Synaptosomes still viable after 25 years of superfusion. *Neurochem. Res.* 25, 1265–1274.
- Raiteri, M., Leardi, R., and Marchi, M. (1984). Heterogeneity of presynaptic muscarinic receptors regulating neurotransmitter release in the rat brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 228, 209.

- Reaume, A. G., Howland, D. S., Trusko, S. P., Savage, M. J., Lang, D. M., Greenberg, B. D., Siman, R., and Scott, R. W. (1996). Enhanced amyloidogenic processing of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in gene-targeted mice bearing the Swedish familial Alzheimer's disease mutations and a "humanized" Abeta sequence. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 23380–23388.
- Romei, C., Di Prisco, S., Raiteri, M., and Raiteri, L. (2011). Glycine release provoked by disturbed Na<sup>+</sup>, Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis in cerebellar nerve endings: roles of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, Na<sup>+</sup>/Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchangers and GlyT2 transporter reversal. J. Neurochem. 119, 50–63.
- Romei, C., Luccini, E., Raiteri, M., and Raiteri, L. (2009). GABA(B) presynaptic receptors modulate glycine exocytosis from mouse spinal cord and hippocampus glycinergic nerve endings. *Pharmacol. Res.* 59, 154–159.
- Russo, C., Marchi, M., Andrioli, G. C., Cavazzani, P., and Raiteri, M. (1993). Enhancement of glycine release from human brain cortex synaptosomes by acetylcholine acting at M4 muscarinic receptors. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 266, 142.
- Saransaari, P., and Oja, S. S. (2008). Effects of inhibitory amino acids on adenosine release in the mouse hippocampus. *Proc. West. Pharmacol. Soc.* 51, 15–17.
- Saransaari, P., Oja, S. S., Borkowska, H. D., Koistinaho, J., Hilgier, W., and Albrecht, J. (1997). Effects of thioacetamide-induced hepatic failure on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex in the rat cerebral cortex, striatum, and hippocampus. Binding of different ligands and expression of receptor subunit mRNAs. *Mol. Chem. Neuropathol.* 32, 179–193.
- Sudweeks, S. N., and Yakel, J. L. (2000). Functional and molecular characterization of neuronal nicotinic ACh receptors in rat CA1 hippocampal neurons. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 527(Pt 3), 515–528.

- Toth, E. (1996). Effect of nicotine on the level of extracellular amino acids in the hippocampus of rat. *Neurochem. Res.* 21, 903–907.
- Uteshev, V., Meyer, E., and Papke, R. (2003). Regulation of neuronal function by choline and 4OH-GTS-21 through alpha 7 nicotinic receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 89, 1797–1806.
- Wang, H. Y., Bakshi, K., Shen, C., Frankfurt, M., Trocmé-Thibierge, C., and Morain, P. (2010). S 24795 limits beta-amyloid-alpha7 nicotinic receptor interaction and reduces Alzheimer's disease-like pathologies. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 522–530.
- Wang, H. Y., Stucky, A., Liu, J., Shen, C., Trocme-Thibierge, C., and Morain, P. (2009a). Dissociating beta-amyloid from alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by a novel therapeutic agent, S 24795, normalizes alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine and NMDA receptor function in Alzheimer's disease brain. J. Neurosci. 29, 10961–10973.
- Wang, Y., Zhang, G., Zhou, H., Barakat, A., and Querfurth, H. (2009b). Opposite effects of low and high doses of Abeta42 on electrical network and neuronal excitability in the rat prefrontal cortex. *PLoS ONE* 4, e8366. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008366
- Wu, M. N., He, Y. X., Guo, F., and Qi, J. S. (2008). Alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are required for the amyloid beta proteininduced suppression of long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal CA1 region in vivo. *Brain Res. Bull.* 77, 84–90.
- Yakel, J., and Shao, Z. (2004). Functional and molecular characterization of neuronal nicotinic ACh receptors in rat hippocampal interneurons. *Prog. Brain Res.* 145, 95–107.
- Young, G. T., Zwart, R., Walker, A. S., Sher, E., and Millar, N. S. (2008). Potentiation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors via an allosteric transmembrane site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 14686–14691.

- Zappettini, S., Grilli, M., Salamone, A., Fedele, E., and Marchi, M. (2010). Pre-synaptic nicotinic receptors evoke endogenous glutamate and aspartate release from hippocampal synaptosomes by way of distinct coupling mechanisms. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 161, 1161–1171.
- Zappettini, S., Mura, E., Grilli, M., Preda, S., Salamone, A., Olivero, G., Govoni, S., and Marchi, M. (2011). Different presynaptic nicotinic receptor subtypes modulate in vivo and in vitro the release of glycine in the rat hippocampus. *Neurochem. Int.* 59, 729–738.
- Zhao, P., Qian, H., and Xia, Y. (2005). GABA and glycine are protective to mature but toxic to immature rat cortical neurons under hypoxia. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 289–300.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 May 2012; accepted: 09 July 2012; published online: 27 July 2012. Citation: Zappettini S, Grilli M, Olivero G, Mura E, Preda S, Govoni S, Salamone A and Marchi M (2012) Beta amyloid differently modulate nicotinic and muscarinic receptor subtypes which stimulate in vitro and in vivo the release of glycine in the rat hippocampus. Front. Pharmacol. 3:146. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00146 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology. Copyright © 2012 Zappettini, Grilli, Olivero, Mura, Preda, Govoni, Salamone and Marchi. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms

of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

**REVIEW ARTICLE** published: 06 November 2012 doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00185



# Potential contribution of aromatase inhibition to the effects of nicotine and related compounds on the brain

# Anat Biegon\*, Nelly Alia-Klein and Joanna S. Fowler

Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, NY, USA

#### Edited by:

Valentina Echeverria Moran, Bay Pines VA Medical Center, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Muzamil Ahmad, Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine India Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Anat Biegon, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Building 490 Medical, Upton, NY 11973, USA. e-mail: biegon@bnl.gov

Cigarette smoking continues to be a major public health problem, and while smoking rates in men have shown some decrease over the last few decades, smoking rates among girls and young women are increasing. Practically all of the important aspects of cigarette smoking and many effects of nicotine are sexually dimorphic (reviewed by Pogun and Yararbas, 2009). Women become addicted more easily than men, while finding it harder to quit. Nicotine replacement appears to be less effective in women. This may be linked to the observation that women are more sensitive than men to non-nicotine cues or ingredients in cigarettes. The reasons for these sex differences are mostly unknown. Several lines of evidence suggest that many of the reported sex differences related to cigarette smoking may stem from the inhibitory effects of nicotine and other tobacco alkaloids on estrogen synthesis via the enzyme aromatase (cyp19a gene product). Aromatase is the last enzyme in estrogen biosynthesis, catalyzing the conversion of androgens to estrogens. This review provides a summary of experimental evidence supporting brain aromatase as a potential mediator and/or modulator of nicotine actions in the brain, contributing to sex differences in smoking behavior. Additional research on the interaction between tobacco smoke, nicotine, and aromatase may help devise new, sex specific methods for prevention and treatment of smoking addiction.

Keywords: smoking, sex, CYP19, extragonadal estrogen, amygdala, PET imaging, vorozole

# INTRODUCTION

Cigarette smoke and nicotine produce diverse behavioral and physiological effects in the developing as well as the adult human brain (Benowitz, 2008), including changes in cognition, anxiety, and aggression. These effects are traditionally explained by an interaction with nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR). However, some well established peripheral effects of smoking in women are not easily explained by this mechanism. Specifically, female cigarette smokers reach menopause at an earlier age and have lower plasma estrogen levels than non-smoking females (Daniell, 1972; MacMahon et al., 1982; Nusbaum et al., 2000). Female smokers are also at increased risk of osteoporosis, which is a well known correlate of decreased peripheral estrogen levels (Daniell, 1972; Pant and Shapiro, 2008; Korkor et al., 2009).

# AROMATASE

Estrogen biosynthesis depends on the enzyme aromatase (Cyp19a gene product, Figure 1), which irreversibly converts androgens such as androstenedione and testosterone synthesized in both the ovary and testes, to the estrogens estrone and estradiol, respectively. The mechanism is depicted in Figure 2. In humans, the gene is located on chromosome 15q21.1 and is composed of 10 exons. Among them, exons II-X encode the aromatase protein and the 3'-untranslated region of the mRNA, whereas the tissuespecific first exon is alternatively spliced giving rise to a differential 5'-untranslated region of the mRNA in different tissues. Correspondingly, tissue-specific promoters are used for tissue-specific regulation of the CYP19 gene expression (e.g., Kamat et al., 2002).

Aromatase has a molecular weight of 55 kDa, a K<sub>m</sub> for testosterone ranging from  $\sim 60$  to  $\sim 240$  nmol and a  $K_{\rm m}$  for and rostenedione ranging from 0.1 to 30  $\mu$ M, depending on the source of the enzyme and the lab performing the assay (e.g., Nakajin et al., 1986; Guet et al., 1999; Cooke, 2002; Hong et al., 2007).

# NICOTINE AND RELATED ALKALOIDS INHIBIT AROMATASE **IN VITRO**

To explore the possible link between cigarette smoking and decreased endogenous estrogens, Barbieri et al. (1986) examined the effects of constituents of tobacco on estrogen production in human choriocarcinoma cells and term placental microsomes. In choriocarcinoma cell cultures, nicotine, cotinine (a major metabolite of nicotine), and anabasine (a minor tobacco constituent) all inhibited androstenedione conversion to estrogen in a dose-dependent fashion at concentrations in the low micromolar range. Removal of nicotine, cotinine, and anabasine from the culture medium resulted in the complete reversal of the inhibition of aromatase. Furthermore, a supraphysiologic concentration of and rost endione  $(73 \,\mu\text{M})$  in the culture medium blocked the inhibition of aromatase caused by nicotine, cotinine, and anabasine. In preparations of term placental microsomes, nicotine, cotinine, and anabasine also inhibited the conversion of testosterone to estrogen. Kinetic analysis demonstrated the inhibition to be competitive with respect to the substrate. These findings suggest that tobacco alkaloids exert a direct, competitive, and reversible inhibitory effect on aromatase activity at micromolar concentrations (Barbieri et al., 1986). Importantly, subsequent studies by another research group discovered additional tobacco constituents and nicotine derivatives with a significantly higher (sub-micromolar concentrations) activity in peripheral tissues including human placenta, similar to that of clinically useful aromatase inhibitors (Osawa et al., 1990; Bullion et al., 1991; Kadohama et al., 1993). To date there have been no published studies of the concentrations of nicotine or its analogs required for *in vitro* inhibition of aromatase in brain cells including astrocytes, microglia, and neurons.

The objective of this review is to summarize recent findings documenting the distribution of aromatase in the brain and its inhibition by nicotine *in vivo*; and to examine the implications these findings may have on our understanding of developmental and acute effects of nicotine on brain physiology and behavior. It is important to note that aromatase inhibition is expected to be mostly similar but not identical to estrogen receptor blockade,



FIGURE 1 | Structure of aromatse. Crystallographic structure of the human aromatase cytochrome P450 (rainbow colored cartoon, N-terminus = blue, C-terminus = red) in complex with the cofactor protoporphyrin IX (top) and the substrate androstenedione (bottom) depicted as stick diagrams (carbon = white, oxygen = red, nitrogen = blue, iron = orange; from Wikipedia).

since inhibition of aromatase not only lowers the absolute levels of estrogens but also may increase testosterone and thus further reduce the estrogen/testosterone ratio in males and females. Due to sex differences in regional morphology, levels of estrogen, testosterone, and their receptors in the brain (e.g., Cahill, 2005), manipulation of aromatase activity is likely to have sexually dimorphic functional outcomes. Therefore, this review is focused on findings in smoking and in aromatase and aromatase inhibitors rather than the vast body of literature related to effects of estrogen or testosterone on the brain, recently reviewed by McCall and Singer (2012) and by McEwen et al. (2012).

# AROMATASE IS EXPRESSED IN THE ADULT BRAIN AND INHIBITED BY NICOTINE *IN VIVO* BRAIN EXPRESSION OF AROMATASE

Aromatase expression is found in many brain regions in birds, rodents, non-human primates, and humans (Roselli et al., 1998; Roselli and Resko, 2001; Biegon et al., 2010b; recently reviewed in Biegon et al., 2010b, 2012; Azcoitia et al., 2011). In rodents, the highest concentration of aromatase were found in amygdala and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (e.g., Takahashi et al., 2006) with low though significant levels in other regions (e.g., Sierra et al., 2003).

Non-invasive assessment of aromatase availability throughout the primate brain has become possible following radiosynthesis, initial primate studies (Lidstrom et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2009; Biegon et al., 2010a), and validation in humans (Biegon et al., 2010b) of a radiolabeled aromatase inhibitor suitable for positron emission tomography (PET). PET studies in both rhesus monkeys and baboons revealed that the highest levels of aromatase were found in the amygdala and preoptic area while the thalamus and medulla contained low levels (Lidstrom et al., 1998; Roselli and Resko, 2001; Takahashi et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2009).

The most comprehensive study of aromatase distribution in the human brain to date, performed using PET and [<sup>11</sup>C]vorozole (Biegon et al., 2010b), revealed a highly specific and heterogeneous pattern which appears to be unique to humans. The highest levels were seen in the thalamus, though thalamic distribution was not uniform: within the thalamus, the highest levels were found in the dorsomedial and pulvinar nuclei with lower



FIGURE 2 | Biosynthesis of estrgoens by aromatase. (A) General reaction for the conversion of testosterone to estradiol catalyzed by aromatase. (B Catalytic mechanism of aromatase. The methyl group is a oxidized and subsequently eliminated.

density in reticular, lateral, and anterior-ventral thalamic nuclei (**Figure 3**). Very high levels were also found in the paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus.



FIGURE 3 | Regional distribution of aromatase in the living human brain. Summed frames obtained from PET acquisitions over 90 min after [<sup>11</sup>C]vorozole administration of a representative non-smoking subject were pseudocolored using the rainbow spectrum, such that red regions correspond with high density of radioactivity and blue corresponds to the lowest densities. The PET images are overlaid on a gray-level structural (T1 weighted) MRI scan of the same subject. From left to right: coronal slice at the level of amygdala and hypothalalmus; slice at the level of the medial thalamus and; slice at the level of the medulla (inferior olive; from Biegon et al., 2010b). Moderately high levels of aromatase were noted in amygdala and preoptic area/anterior hypothalamus and in the medulla (inferior olive). Basal ganglia levels were relatively low, with visibly higher levels in the ventral striatum/nucleus accumbens (Biegon et al., 2010b). Labeled vorozole distributed to all cortical regions, with hippocampus indistinguishable from the temporal cortex. The distribution volume values derived from a two compartment model (Gunn et al., 2001; Logan, 2003; Logan et al., 2011) in both men and women (regardless of menstrual cycle) followed the rank order: thalamus > amygdala = preoptic area > medulla (inferior olive) > cortex = hippocampus, putamen, cerebellum, and white matter.

Earlier published postmortem studies were limited to a small number of preselected regions, although the combination of studies by different research groups and different methodologies support the notion that aromatase is ubiquitous in the human brain, although only a few regions express high levels of the enzyme (reviewed in Azcoitia et al., 2011 and Biegon et al., 2012).

To elaborate, aromatase gene expression was examined in postmortem samples from eight brain regions (Sasano et al., 1998). The amount of aromatase mRNA determined by RT-PCR assay in six cases (four men, two women) was highest in pons, thalamus, hypothalamus, and hippocampus. Analysis of multiple exons 1 revealed that exons 1f, considered specific for brain, as well as 1b (fibroblast type) and 1d (gonadal type), were expressed in the brain. Exons 1d and 1f tended to be utilized in hypothalamus, thalamus, and amygdala. The amount of overall mRNA expression was also higher in hypothalamus, thalamus, and amygdala than in other regions of the brain. There were no differences of utilization of exons 1 and mRNA expression of aromatase between female and male brain. The authors concluded that their results demonstrate that aromatase is expressed widely in human brain tissues in both men and women. The presence of aromatase transcripts in human temporal cortex, frontal cortex, and hippocampus was also confirmed by Stoffel-Wagner et al. (1999).

Aromatase *immunoreactivity* was found in hypothalamus, amygdala, preoptic area, and (cholinergic) ventral forebrain nuclei (Ishunina et al., 2005) in humans. Additional studies confirmed aromatase immunoreactivity in temporal cortex, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex (Yague et al., 2006, 2010). Immunohistochemistry was also used to examine the cellular and subcellular distribution of aromatase in the human brain, establishing the presence of aromatase immunoreactivity in neurons as well as in glia. Thus, cortical and hippocampal aromatase was detected in pyramidal cells, granule cells, and interneurons; in perikarya, dendrites, axons, and axon terminals (Naftolin et al., 1996; Yague et al., 2006, 2010). The presence of glial aromatase was confirmed in prefrontal cortex, temporal cortex, and hippocampus, where it was associated with astrocytes (Yague et al., 2006, 2010).

Aromatase enzymatic activity was first described in the fetal human limbic system by Naftolin et al. (1971), followed by reports on activity in the adult brain and temporal cortex (Naftolin et al., 1996; Steckelbroeck et al., 1999). In agreement with the results from other methods described above, there were no differences in aromatase enzymatic activity between men and women and no significant effect of aging in these brain regions (Steckelbroeck et al., 1999).

# NICOTINE ADMINISTERED *IN VIVO* INHIBITS AROMATASE IN THE BRAIN

Nicotine modulation of brain aromatase *in vivo* was first reported by von Ziegler et al. (1991) in fetal and neonatal mice. After 1 or 2 weeks of prenatal exposure to 6 mg/kg nicotine delivered by an osmotic minipump, aromatase activity in male forebrains was significantly decreased at postnatal day 6, with no significant effects in females. The authors initially reported that nicotine alters brain aromatase activity only on postnatal day 6, the day when normal females show lower levels than normal males (von Ziegler et al., 1991). In subsequent studies in rats, it was shown that both nicotine and cotinine inhibited aromatase activity in the basal forebrain of male fetuses. Nicotine was twice as effective as cotinine and the effects of the two drugs were additive (Sarasin et al., 2003).

Using [<sup>11</sup>C]vorozole, we have recently shown that acute *in vivo* exposure to nicotine doses which produced plasma levels similar to those found in smokers, resulted in significant region- and dose-dependent decreases in aromatase availability in the female baboon brain. The largest and most significant inhibition was found in the amygdala, where intravenous injection of 0.03 mg/kg nicotine reduced brain aromatase availability by ~50% (Biegon et al., 2010b; **Figure 4**).



Nicotine 0.015mg/Kg

# Nicotine 0.03mg/Kg

**FIGURE 4 | Effect of nicotine on brain aromatase availability in the female baboon.** Top: **(A)** Baboon brain MRI, coronal section at the level of amygdala. S, striatum; P, preoptic area; A, amygdala. **(B)** Representative baseline PET image coregistered with MRI. **(C)** PET image of same baboon following low dose nicotine (0.015 mg/kg). **(D)** PET image following injection of high dose (0.03 mg/kg) nicotine. PET images show averaged frames acquired between 52.5 and 90 min after tracer injection, pseudocolored using the rainbow spectrum, with purple indicating the lowest density and red indicating the highest density of radioactivity (from Biegon et al., 2010a).

# BRAIN EFFECTS OF NICOTINE: SIMILARITIES AND DIFFERENCES WITH AROMATASE INHIBITION

The discovery of the ability of neuroendocrine tissues to aromatize androgens to estrogens was crucial to the formulation of the aromatization hypothesis (Naftolin and Ryan, 1975; McEwen et al., 1977), stating that testosterone synthesized by the fetal testis diffuses into the male brain where it is locally aromatized to estradiol and then initiates the process of masculinization, resulting, in adults, in the capacity to express male-typical sexual behaviors and high levels of aggression. In females, the aromatization process affects such functions as mood and appetite.

Consequently, aromatase inhibition can have a variety of sexually dimorphic effects on multiple domains including sexual functioning, mood, and cognition but the nature and persistence of the effects can vary greatly depending on the developmental status during exposure. The sections below provide a review of the brain effects of nicotine and aromatase inhibition. We highlight developmental, "organizational" brain effects (i.e., effects of maternal smoking during pregnancy) as well as effects of exposure in adolescents and adults when available in the literature, with the best supported similarities and differences summarized in **Table 1**.

# SEXUAL BEHAVIOR

Prenatal nicotine exposure was shown to decrease male sexual behavior and to demasculinize male offspring (Segarra and Strand, 1989), paralleling the effects in aromatase "knock-out" (ArKO), and prenatal treatment with AI. In adult males, acute nicotine administration resulted in decreased intromission frequency, though this occurred only at 1.6 mg/kg, the highest dose tested (Retana-Marquez et al., 1993). Decreased sexual performance was also self reported in men exposed to cigarette smoke (Weisberg, 1985).

Studies (reviewed in Roselli et al., 2009) confirmed that male copulation is severely impaired in ArKO domestic mice in which the aromatase gene was selectively inactivated, consistent with the role for aromatization in both the organizational and activational effects of testosterone. Testosterone administration did not improve male sexual behavior in castrated ArKO adults, whereas

	Male		Female		
	Nicotine	AI	Nicotine	AI	
Sexual behavior					
Prenatal exposure	Decrease	Decrease	Increase	Increase	
Adult exposure	Decrease	?	Decrease	Decrease	
Anxiety/Depression					
Prenatal exposure	No effect	No effect	Increase	Increase	
Adult exposure	No effect	No effect	Decrease	Increase	
Hot flashes			Increase	Increase	
Weight gain	Decrease	Decrease	Decrease	Increase	

 Table 1 | Similarities and differences in brain effects of nicotine and aromatase inhibition.

Al, aromatase inhibition. Nicotine refers to smoking as well as nicotine alone. ?, there is not enough data on males to justify an increase or decrease effect. combined treatment with estradiol and dihydrotestosterone (a non-aromatizable androgen) almost completely restored copulation behavior to levels observed in wild-type males. These results suggest that estrogens derived from aromatization of testosterone exert major activation effects on coital behavior in male C57Bl6 mice. The extent to which testosterone in men acts through aromatization to estradiol, is not yet clear. In eugonadal men, the estrogen receptor antagonist, tamoxifen, and the aromatase inhibitor, testolactone, had no adverse sexual effects. Furthermore, dihvdrotestosterone was as effective as testosterone in maintaining sexuality in hypogonadal men, suggesting that aromatase was not involved (Gooren, 1985). The comparison of two men with congenital aromatase deficiencies, one with accompanying hypogonadism, suggested that testosterone alone allows for a normal sexual activity, but that there is a synergistic effect between testosterone and estradiol derived from aromatization. These findings suggest that aromatization may be required in men for completely normal sexual behavior, but that androgens are the main steroids involved.

In human females, prenatal exposure to nicotine resulted in a significant increase in same-sex orientation among female offspring (Ellis and Cole-Harding, 2001). The influence of aromatization on female sexual behavior is less clear but studies in female rats show that sexual behavior was enhanced by prenatal inhibition of androgen aromatization (Clemens and Gladue, 1978). In humans, gender role and sexual behavior are disrupted in girls with congenital adrenocortical hyperplasia, which increases testosterone levels (see recent review by Barenbaum and Beltz, 2011). Acute effects show that treatment in adult female rats increased lordosis in estrogen-treated ovariectomized female rats (Fuxe et al., 1977; Weaver and Clemens, 1987), but acute exposure to nicotine in adult men and women significantly reduced sexual arousal (Harte and Meston, 2008a,b). In addition, adult women given aromatase inhibitors report a loss of libido (Mitwally and Casper, 2003; Zivian and Salgado, 2008). These few studies on the sexual behavior of females may not be sufficient to establish a solid hypothesis on the direction of effects.

#### AGGRESSION

Prenatal smoking exposure and high trait aggression are associated variables in numerous animal and human studies, particularly during adolescence (Escobedo et al., 1997). This effect has been replicated in epidemiological studies and after controlling for important variables of heritability as mother's antisocial behaviors (Moffitt et al., 2008; Wakschlag et al., 2010). The observation that tobacco smoke exposure inhibits brain monoamine oxidase A (MAO A; Fowler et al., 1996), has led to the suggestion that the mechanism responsible for aggressive behavior in the offspring of females exposed to cigarette smoke during pregnancy is MAO A inhibition (Wakschlag et al., 2010). Indeed brain MAO A activity predicts trait aggression at adulthood (Alia-Klein et al., 2008, 2009). An additional and perhaps interactive mechanism in the effects of smoking on aggression is the inhibition of aromatase and little is known about the interactive potential of chronic MAO and aromatase inhibition.

Prenatal and developmental effects of smoking on aggression appear to be different than the acute effects of smoking in adults. In adults, smoking appears to reduce irritability and Importantly, although numerous preclinical and clinical studies have shown that acute nicotine treatment reduces aggression, smoking deprivation results in negative mood, aggression, and hostility in adult rodents and humans (Schechter, 1974; Cherek, 1981). In a recent study, a lifetime history of cigarette smoking was associated with high traits of aggression and impulsivity in healthy and personality disorder participants and these effects may have started during prenatal development (Dakwar et al., 2011).

The effects on females appear to be similar to males in that smokers of both sexes exhibit negative emotionality as compared to non-smokers; however, the data is suggestive that smoking affects aggression in males more than in females, where it has a primary effect on depression (Pogun and Yararbas, 2009).

Aggressive behavior, long thought to be controlled by testosterone, also appears to be strongly dependent on aromatization and estrogen in both mammalian and non-mammalian species (see review by Trainor et al., 2006). Estrogen has been shown to modulate aggression in a variety of species. Although in most cases estrogen increases the probability and intensity of male-onmale aggressive behavior, there are exceptions in which estrogen decreases the intensity of aggression. Thus, the duration of aggressive behavior in resident-intruder tests was extremely low for ArKO mice compared to wild-type mice and estradiol injections restored aggression to wild-type levels. However, when the production of estrogen was blocked by an AI (fadrozole) in California mice, the males were more aggressive compared to controls, indicating that production of estrogen is associated with reduced aggression in California mice.

#### **DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY**

Developmental effects of prenatal smoking exposure increase the risk for depression particularly in females. Female offspring of rodents prenatally treated with nicotine show vulnerability during adolescence to depression and early smoking onset; more so than males (Romero and Chen, 2004; Vaglenova et al., 2004). Findings from human and animal studies infer sex and region specific effects and suggest a role for smoking in higher rates of depression, especially among adolescent females (Kandel et al., 1994; Cornelius and Day, 2009). Smoking during pregnancy has psychological effects on the mothers as well as their offspring. In a study of persistent pregnant smokers, the smokers reported higher prenatal stress and depression than non-persistent smokers or non-smokers (Eiden et al., 2011). Women were also found to be more vulnerable to the depressive symptoms of nicotine withdrawal (Gaffin et al., 2011). Acutely, nicotine has been found to be more anxiolytic in female than in male rats (Harrod et al., 2004), corroborating human studies which also document that females are more susceptible to the effects of nicotine on anxiety (Pogun and Yararbas, 2009).

In males nicotine has been shown to produce antidepressantlike responses in rats subjected to the forced swimming test, a popular model of depression in rodents. While this effect is not expected to reflect inhibition of aromatase, it is relevant to note that orchiectomy abolished the antidepressant effect of nicotine and its restoration required supplementation with estradiol (Bonilla-Jaime et al., 2010). Decreased aromatase availability appears to have sexually dimorphic effects on depression and anxiety in rodents. ArKO females displayed decreased active behaviors, such as struggling and swimming, and increased passive behaviors, such as floating, in repeated sessions of the forced swim test, indicating that these females exhibit "depressive-like" symptoms (Dalla et al., 2004). This effect was not observed in males (Dalla et al., 2005). By contrast, ArKO males did not differ from WT in spontaneous motor activity, exploration, or anxiety. These findings are in line with the absence of major neurochemical alterations in hypothalamus, prefrontal cortex, or striatum, which are involved in the expression of these behaviors.

Clinical and community studies of women have shown that both anxiety and depression are increased in women taking aromatase inhibitors for breast cancer (Mitwally and Casper, 2003; Zivian and Salgado, 2008). Long-term efficacy and safety of the use of AI in men and boys has not been established to date, although sex differences in brain-related effects are likely due to the inherently different implications of changing the estrogen/androgen ratio in males and females and also because higher levels of testosterone in males compared to females renders it more difficult to effectively inhibit aromatase in men (de Ronde and de Jong, 2011).

# APPETITE

Prenatal exposure to nicotine appear to alter saccharin preferences in a sexually dimorphic manner, eliminating an observation in untreated animals where females had a higher preference to saccharin than untreated males. In the animals exposed to nicotine prenatally, there was an increase in males preferring saccharin to the female level (Lichtensteiger and Schlumpf, 1985). This study provides another example of a demasculinizing effect of prenatal nicotine as would be expected to result from prenatal aromatase inhibition.

The situation is different in adults, where acute nicotine administration is considered to be a powerful appetite suppressant. In fact, the effects of smoking on body weight are a concern since more women than men report smoking to avoid weight gain (Pomerleau and Kurth, 1996). This effect is at least partly biologically based since studies of Sprague-Dawley rats showed greater effects of nicotine on food intake and body weight in female than male rats (Grunberg, 1986). The appetite-suppressing effect of nicotine appears to be mediated through direct interaction with neurons involved in initiation of feeding behavior (Mineur et al., 2011) and is not likely to be mediated through aromatase inhibition, though other effects of nicotine related to appetite may rely on this mechanism. Thus, nicotine appears to increase the reinforcing properties of food (reviewed in Donny et al., 2011) and older studies report increased consumption of sweet foods following nicotine deprivation (Hughes et al., 1991; Spring et al., 2003).

Estrogen is known to suppress feeding and weight gain in mammalian females including women. An important contribution to this effect of estrogen is suppression of feeding by direct action with brain centers engaged in appetite control (Nunez et al., 1980; Butera and Beikirch, 1989; Dagnault and Richard, 1997; reviewed in Geary, 2004). Consequently, inhibition of aromatase is expected to increase feeding and weight gain, as reported by Kubatka et al. (2008a,b) who found increased weight gain in female rats treated with two different aromatase inhibitors – anastrozole and letrozole. Increased weight gain was reported by close to 50% of a community sample of 1200 women taking aromatase inhibitors for breast cancer (Zivian and Salgado, 2008). In the same vein, we found a negative correlation between aromatase in the amygdala and BMI, which was more pronounced in women than in men (Wang et al., 2011). However it is noteworthy that loss of appetite is also reported by some women receiving aromatase inhibitors (Mitwally and Casper, 2003) amounting to 8% of responders in a community sample (Zivian and Salgado, 2008). There appear to be important sex differences in the control of food intake (Geary and Lovejoy, 2008). Interestingly, in male rodents, peripubertal inhibition of aromatase leads to a decrease rather than an increase in body growth and weight gain (Bajpai et al., 2010).

#### **HOT FLASHES**

Current smoking (and high BMI), reportedly predispose women to more severe or frequent hot flashes (Whiteman et al., 2003). In perimenopausal women ages 45–54, current smokers had significantly higher androstenedione levels and a higher androgen to estrogen ratio than never smokers. Current smokers also had lower progesterone levels and increased odds of experiencing hot flushes compared to never smokers (Cochran et al., 2008). This effects is sex specific since there are no reports on hot flushes in healthy male smokers. It is noteworthy that men treated for prostate cancer with androgen ablation therapy (e.g., by injections of gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogs) report daily hot flashes, which respond to estrogen treatment (Gerber et al., 2000).

Hot flashes are the most common adverse effect reported in clinical trials and community studies of aromatase inhibitors in women, with up to 75% of users reporting this adverse effect (Bonneterre et al., 2000; Mitwally and Casper, 2003; Howell et al., 2005; Zivian and Salgado, 2008). Hot flashes arise when the thermoregulatory centers in the hypothalalmus are deprived of estrogen (see review by Rossmanith and Ruebberdt, 2009) and are a classical symptom of estrogen deprivation resulting from menopause and ovariectomy as well as the most common side effect of estrogen receptor antagonists and selective estrogen receptor modulators like tamoxifen (e.g., Bonneterre et al., 2000; Howell et al., 2005).

#### **COGNITION AND NEUROPROTECTION**

Prenatal exposure to nicotine impairs cognitive functions, such as memory and attention, and this impairment is gender-specific. Deleterious effects in male but not female offspring were documented on synaptic function, cell signaling, and cell number. In terms of cognitive performance, marked deficits were observed in males in auditory attention (Niaura et al., 2001; Cornelius and Day, 2009). Other studies show that on average, male smokers perform more poorly than female smokers on attention and memory tasks (Abreu-Villaca et al., 2003; Jacobsen et al., 2007).

In females, stimulation of estrogen receptors, which enhances hippocampal neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity, may be protective through providing greater adaptive capacity (Tanapat et al., 1999; McEwen, 2002). However, this protection relative to males is diminished in prenatally exposed rats who were treated with nicotine later in adolescence (Slotkin et al., 2007). Human studies also documented that nicotine exposed females showed reduced performance accuracy in neuropsychological tasks (Niaura et al., 2001; Cornelius and Day, 2009).

A meta analysis of the acute effects of nicotine and smoking on adult human performance found significant positive effects of nicotine or smoking in several domains, including short-term and working memory, with effect sizes ranging from 0.16 to 0.44 (Heishman et al., 2010). Treatment with nicotine receptor agonists has been shown to elicit improvement of cognitive performance in a variety of behavioral tests in rats, monkeys, and humans (Reviewed in Mudo et al., 2007).

Evidence for the involvement of aromatase in support of cognitive function and neuroprotection in various species was recently reviewed by Garcia-Segura (2008) and Roselli et al. (2009). More recently, AI were found to inhibit hippocampal learning (longterm potentiation, LTP) and dendritic spine formation (Zhou et al., 2010; Vierk et al., 2012) although the effects on LTP appear to be sexually dimorphic, with significant effects found in female but not male mice. In humans, a testosterone-supplementation study in elderly men showed that the addition of an AI reversed the beneficial effects of testosterone on verbal memory with no effect on spatial memory (Cherrier et al., 2005). A similar study in women did not reveal statistically significant effects of AI, although the authors suggest the small size of the study may be a contributing factor (Shah et al., 2006).

In preliminary studies at our laboratory, availability of aromatase in the amygdala was negatively correlated with performance on verbal learning and memory tests in men, while in women, aromatase in the amygdala was positively correlated with high scores on trait constraint (Biegon et al., 2011a,b). Thus, although there were no sex differences in aromatase availability in amygdala or learning and memory scores nor traits in our sample, the amygdala aromatase availability was associated with sex specific effects on verbal learning, memory, and personality traits.

#### ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Acute nicotine injections and chronic treatment with nicotine patch have been found to improve attentional performance in patients with Alzheimer's Disease (AD; White and Levin, 1999). The neural substrate for nicotine-induced improvement in attention is hypothesized to be related to the basal forebrain cholinergic system (Lawrence and Sahakian, 1998).

Epidemiological studies initially indicating a lower incidence of AD in smokers now suggest conflicting results. Clinical and pathology findings also are mixed as to how smoking behavior affects the manifestation of AD markers and the relevance of aromatase inhibition is unclear. Studies that show nicotine-induced increases in nAChR and protection against age-related nAChR decline, contrast perhaps in a functionally relevant way, to losses of nAChR in AD. Although epidemiological, clinicopathological, and functional studies in humans do not present a cohesive picture, much *in vitro* data suggest neuroprotective properties of nicotine when used in models of neurodegenerative disorders. Studies of nicotine and nicotinic agonist effects on cognitive function in the non-demented and in AD are not compelling. More work is needed to ascertain whether acute or repetitive activation of nAChR with acute or intermittent exposure to nicotine or the persistent inactivation of nAChR with chronic nicotine exposure is a therapeutic objective and/or explains any pro-cognitive effects of those drugs. Other studies show complex interactions between nAChR, nicotinic agonists, and agents implicated in AD etiology (reviewed in Sabbagh et al., 2002).

Aromatase has been suggested to play a role in AD (for review see Hiltunen et al., 2006) although available data are not sufficient to establish a neuroprotective effect. Human genetic studies have revealed evidence of a relationship between mutations of the aromatase gene and AD risk. Subjects who had single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the CYP19 gene were reported to have an  $\sim$ 60% increase in the risk for AD (Iivonen et al., 2004). Likewise, a twofold increased risk for AD was observed in ApoE £4 carriers who had SNPs in the CYP19 gene (Huang and Poduslo, 2006). Studies on postmortem brains revealed enhanced aromatase expression in the nucleus basalis of Meynert and decreased aromatase expression in the hypothalamus of AD patients, with no sex differences observed in any of the nuclei studied (Ishunina et al., 2005). In contrast, in hippocampus samples from women, estrogen receptors (ERa subtype), and aromatase expression were found to increase with age, and to decrease in AD (Ishunina et al., 2007). An earlier study on frontal and temporal cortical samples did not find significant difference in aromatase activity between AD brains and controls (Wozniak et al., 1998).

# ADDICTION

The rates of cigarette smoking have declined over the last few decades, but smoking decreases among women are less pronounced (Mathers and Loncar, 2006) and smoking rates among girls and young women are increasing (CASA investigators, 2006). Paralleling animal studies, human females appear to become addicted faster than men, while finding it harder to quit (Bohadana et al., 2003). In offspring of women who smoked during pregnancy, the odds of progressing to nicotine dependence were almost doubled compared to offspring from non-smoking women (Cornelius and Day, 2009). Furthermore, nicotine replacement in the context of smoking cessation appears to be less effective in women (Bohadana et al., 2003; CASA investigators, 2006). A question remains how or through what mechanism might cigarette smoking become a gateway to smoking addiction and to other drugs. Another question is how observed sex differences in smoking age of onset and rates of smoking cessation may be related to the actions of aromatase inhibition by smoking.

There is no evidence that aromatase inhibitors are addictive, in stark contrast to the potent addictive properties of nictoine and smoking (Nusbaum et al., 2000; Bohadana et al., 2003). However, several lines of evidence suggest that aromatase may modulate various aspects of nicotine addiction in a sex specific manner. Addiction to other substances is also impacted. Female animals consume more alcohol than males and interestingly, this effect is reversible by gonadectomy (Almeida et al., 1998). This effect is not restricted to alcohol but is also observed with psychostimulants as cocaine.

Sex differences are also found in the context of relapse following periods of abstinence, where as with cigarette smoking, females find it harder to quit than males.

Cigarette smoking is very common among drug addicted individuals, and it appears that methadone, used to facilitate treatment of opioid addiction, is metabolized by aromatase and may act as a potent inhibitor of aromatase in vivo. These findings may contribute to variability in methadone clearance, to drugdrug interactions, and to side effects observed in male and female patients. Because methadone seems to be able to inhibit aromatase, it follows that methadone may alter the metabolism and disposition of endogenous testosterone and androstenedione. Lower concentrations of estradiol have been documented in men taking methadone (Hallinan et al., 2009), and low bone mineral density that may be due to low estrogen concentrations has been documented in 83% of patients in a methadone maintenance treatment program (Kim et al., 2006). It is conceivable that other side effects of methadone, which include flushing, muscle pain, and symptoms reminiscent of estrogen withdrawal (Senay, 1985; Backstrom, 1995), may be explained in part by the drug's action on aromatase.

# **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

As shown above, aromatase and its activity in the brain can be parsed to basic psychological processes; effects are observed in affect, learning, and memory, libido, and appetite; and sex differences in the direction and size of the effects are very common. The effects of smoking can also be parsed to the same psychological processes, and sex differences in nicotine action have been recognized in animals as well as human subjects (e.g., recent review by Pogun and Yararbas, 2009).

This literature review highlights findings from animals and humans indicating that smoking and nicotine target brain functions which are also shaped and influenced by aromatase activity. While it has been extensively documented that nicotine interacts with the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor as its mechanism of action, this does not exclude additional mechanisms contributing to the effects of smoking and nicotine on aggression, cognitive function, anxiety, depression, sexual drive, and appetite (e.g., Fowler et al., 1996).

Available findings summarized above highlight the possibility that several of the known effects of nicotine, most prominently effects on sexual and depression-like behavior and induction of hot flashes, may be mediated or modulated by changes in aromatase activity (**Table 1**) in an age- and sex-dependent manner. It is noteworthy that these effects of nicotine are more prominent

#### REFERENCES

- Abreu-Villaca, Y., Seidler, F. J., Qiao, D., Tate, C. A., Cousins, M. M., and Thillai, I. (2003). Short-term adolescent nicotine exposure has immediate and persistent effects on cholinergic systems: critical periods, patterns of exposure, dose thresholds. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28, 1935–1949.
- Alia-Klein, N., Goldstein, R. Z., Kriplani, A., Logan, J., Tomasi, D., Williams, B., et al. (2008). Brain monoamine oxidase A activity predicts trait aggression. J. Neurosci. 28, 5099–5104.
- Alia-Klein, N., Goldstein, R. Z., Tomasi, D., Woicik, P. A., Moeller, S. J.,

Williams, B., et al. (2009). Neural mechanisms of anger regulation as a function of genetic risk for violence. *Emotion* 9, 385–396.

- Allen, M. H., Feifel, D., Lesem, M. D., Zimbroff, D. L., Ross, R., Munzar, P., et al. (2011). Efficacy and safety of loxapine for inhalation in the treatment of agitation in patients with schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J. Clin. Psychiatry 72, 1313–1321.
- Almeida, O. F., Shoaib, M., Deicke, J., Fischer, D., Darwish, M. H., and Patchev, V. K. (1998). Gender differences in ethanol preference and

in periods such as prenatal development, adolescence and the perimenopausal period, which are associated with relatively abrupt changes in estrogen synthesis (a prenatal peak in brain aromatase in males, a peripubertal increase in ovarian production in girls and a perimenopausal decrease in oarain production in adult women). Such a profile is to be expected from a partial rather than complete inhibition of aromatase activity exerted by nictoine and similar compounds which act as competitive inhibitors of aromatase with low to moderate affinity (Barbieri et al., 1986; Biegon et al., 2010a). Thus, we have shown that nicotine doses producing plasma levels comparable with those found in smokers are capable of a significant but partial ( $\sim$ 50%) inhibition of aromatase. Obviously, more research is indicated to substantiate and better understand the effects of aromatase inhibition on brain function in this context. However, the notion that aromatase inhibition by nicotine and other tobacco alkaloids is an alternative/additional mechanism for the effects of cigarette smoking on human behavior, provides a mechanistic explanation to observed sex differences in smoking and a possible source of new treatment and prevention approaches for the initiation, physiological and psychological consequences, and for the cessation of smoking.

# **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

While research on the brain effects and mechanisms of nicotine action has been ongoing for many decades, specific AIs are relatively new agents. Furthermore, despite the fact that several AIs are approved drugs used in the clinical setting, the foremost clinical use of these agents is in the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer (e.g., Buzdar and Howell, 2001), and clinical studies of breast cancer do not include systematic investigation of neuropsychological effects. Consequently, there is a great need for additional basic research on the effects of aromatase inhibition in males and females across the life span. Such studies, as well as sideby-side comparisons of aromatase inhibitors and nicotine and other tobacco constituents have the potential to shed light on sexually dimorphic effects in brain function and structure and in important functioning domains such as mood, learning, and memory. Since smoking addiction is replete with sex differences, future exploration of sex specific, pharmacological interventions targeting specific androgen, or estrogen receptors for prevention or treatment is also warranted.

ingestion in rats. The role of the gonadal steroid environment. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 2677–2685.

- Azcoitia, I., Yague, J. G., and Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2011). Estradiol synthesis within the human brain. *Neuroscience* 191, 139–147.
- Backstrom, T. (1995). Symptoms related to the menopause and sex steroid treatments. *Ciba Found. Symp.* 191, 171–180.
- Bajpai, A., Simm, P. J., McPherson, S. J., Russo, V. C., Azar, W. J., Wark, J. D., et al. (2010). Peripubertal aromatase inhibition in male rats has adverse long-term effects on bone strength and growth and induces

prostatic hyperplasia. *J. Endocrinol.* 207, 27–34.

- Barbieri, R. L., Gochberg, J., and Ryan, K. J. (1986). Nicotine, cotinine, and anabasine inhibit aromatase in human trophoblast in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 77, 1727–1733.
- Barenbaum, S. A., and Beltz, A. M. (2011). Sexual differentiation of human behavior: effects of prenatal and pubertal organizational hormones. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 32, 183–200.
- Benowitz, N. L. (2008). Neurobiology of nicotine addiction: implications for smoking cessation treatment. Am. J. Med. 121, S3–S10.

- Biegon, A., Alia-Klein, N., Alexoff, D., Kim, S.-W., Logan, J., Telang, F., et al. (2011a). "Brain aromatase and cognition:[11C]vorozole PET studies in healthy human subjects," in 2011 Neuroscience Meeting Planner, Program No. 501.09 (Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience). [Online].
- Biegon, A., Alia-Klein, N., Kim, S.-W., Logan, J., Telang, F., Wang, G. J., et al. (2011b). "Aromatase availability in amygdala is positively correlated with trait constraint in women," in 2011 Neuroscience Meeting Planner, Program No. 501.09 (Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience). [Online].
- Biegon, A., Fowler, J., Kim, S.-W., Logan,
  J., Pareto, D., and Wang, G. J. (2012).
  "Distribution of aromatase in the human brain," in *Brain Aromatase*, *Estrogens and Behavior*, Chapt. 5, eds
  J. Balthazart and J. F. Ball (Oxford University Press), 89–99.
- Biegon, A., Kim, S. W., Logan, J., Hooker, J. M., Muench, L., and Fowler, J. S. (2010a). Nicotine blocks brain estrogen synthase (aromatase): in vivo positron emission tomography studies in female baboons. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 774–777.
- Biegon, A., Kim, S. W., Alexoff, D. L., Jayne, M., Carter, P., Hubbard, B., et al. (2010b). Unique distribution of aromatase in the human brain: in vivo studies with PET and [Nmethyl-11C]vorozole. Synapse 64, 801–807.
- Bohadana, A., Nilsson, F., Rasmussen, T., and Martinet, Y. (2003). Gender differences in quit rates following smoking cessation with combination nicotine therapy: influence of baseline smoking behavior. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* 5, 111–116.
- Bonilla-Jaime, H., Limon-Morales, O., Arteaga-Silva, M., Hernandez-Gonzalez, M., Guadarrama-Cruz, G., Alarcon-Aguilar, F., et al. (2010). Orchiectomy modifies the antidepressant-like response of nicotine in the forced swimming test. *Physiol. Behav.* 101. 456–461.
- Bonneterre, J., Thürlimann, B., Robertson, J. F., Krzakowski, M., Mauriac, L., Koralewski, P., et al. (2000). Anastrozole versus tamoxifen as first-line therapy for advanced breast cancer in 668 postmenopausal women: results of the tamoxifen or arimidex randomized group efficacy and tolerability study. J. Clin. Oncol. 18, 3748–3757.
- Bullion, K., Ohnishi, S., and Osawa, Y. (1991). Competitive inhibition of human placental aromatase by N-n-octanoylnornicotine and other

nornicotine derivatives. *Endocr. Res.* 17, 409–419.

- Butera, P. C., and Beikirch, R. J. (1989). Central implants of diluted estradiol: independent effects on ingestive and reproductive behaviors of ovariectomized rats. *Brain Res.* 491, 266–273.
- Buzdar, A., and Howell, A. (2001). Advances in aromatase inhibition: clinical efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of breast cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 7, 2620–2635.
- Cahill, L. (2005). His brain, her brain. *Sci. Am.* 292, 40–47.
- CASA investigators. (2006). *Women Under the Influence*. New York: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Cherek, D. R. (1981). Effects of smoking different doses of nicotine on human aggressive behavior. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 75, 339–345.
- Cherrier, M. M., Matsumoto, A. M., Amory, J. K., Ahmed, S., Bremner, W., Peskind, E. R., et al. (2005). The role of aromatization in testosterone supplementation: effects on cognition in older men. *Neurology* 64, 290–296.
- Clemens, L. G., and Gladue, B. A. (1978). Feminine sexual behavior in rats enhanced by prenatal inhibition of androgen aromatization. *Horm. Behav.* 11, 190–201.
- Cochran, C. J., Gallicchio, L., Miller, S. R., Zacur, H., and Flaws, J. A. (2008). Cigarette smoking, androgen levels, and hot flushes in midlife women. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 112, 1037–1044.
- Cooke, G. M. (2002). Effects of organotins on human aromatse activity in vitro. *Toxicol. Lett.* 126, 121–130.
  Cornelius, M. D., and Day, N. L. (2009).
  Developmental consequences of
- Developmental consequences of prenatal tobacco exposure. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 22, 121–125. Dagnault, A., and Richard, D. (1997).
- Dagnault, A., and Richard, D. (1997). Involvement of the medial preoptic area in the anorectic action of estrogens. Am. J. Physiol. 272:R311–R317.
- Dakwar, E., Popii, M., and Coccaro, E. F. (2011). Lifetime history of cigarette smoking associated with aggression and impulsivity in both healthy and personality disordered volunteers. *J. Pers. Disord.* 25, 645–655.
- Dalla, C., Antoniou, K., Papadopoulou-Daifoti, Z., Balthazart, J., and Bakker, J. (2004). Oestrogen-deficient female aromatase knockout (ArKO) mice exhibit depressive-like symptomatology. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 217–228.
- Dalla, C., Antoniou, K., Papadopoulou-Daifoti, Z., Balthazart, J., and Bakker, J. (2005). Male aromatase-knockout mice exhibit normal levels of activity, anxiety and "depressive-like"

symptomatology. Behav. Brain Res. 163, 186–193.

- Daniell, H. W. (1972). Osteoporosis and smoking. *JAMA* 221, 509.
- de Ronde, W., and de Jong, F. H. (2011). Aromatase inhibitors in men: effects and therapeutic options. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 9, 93.
- Donny, E. C., Caggiula, A. R., Weaver, M. T., Levin, M. E., and Sved, A. F. (2011). The reinforcementenhancing effects of nicotine: implications for the relationship between smoking, eating and weight. *Physiol. Behav.* 104, 143–148.
- Eiden, R. D., Leonard, K. E., Colder, C. R., Homish, G. G., Schuetze, P., Gray, T. R., et al. (2011). Anger, hostility, and aggression as predictors of persistent smoking during pregnancy. *J. Stud. Alcohol Drugs* 72, 926–932.
- Ellis, L., and Cole-Harding, S. (2001). The effects of prenatal stress, and of prenatal alcohol and nicotine exposure, on human sexual orientation. *Physiol. Behav.* 74, 213–226.
- Escobedo, L. G., Reddy, M., and Durant, R. H. (1997). Relationship between cigarette smoking and health risk and problem behaviors among US adolescents. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 151, 66–71.
- Fowler, J. S., Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Pappas, N., Logan, J., Shea, C., et al. (1996). Brain monoamine oxidase A inhibition in cigarette smokers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 26, 93, 14065–14069.
- Fuxe, K., Everitt, B. J., and Hokfelt, T. (1977). Enhancement of sexual behavior in the female rat by nicotine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 7, 147–151.
- Gaffin, R. D., Chowdhury, S. A., Alves, M. S., Dias, F. A., Ribeiro, C. T., Fogaca, R. T., et al. (2011). Effects of nicotine administration in a mouse model of familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, alpha-tropomyosin D175N. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 301, H1646–H1655.
- Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2008). Aromatase in the brain: not just for reproduction anymore. J. Neuroendocrinol. 20, 705–712.
- Geary, N. (2004). "The estrogenic inhibition of eating," in *Handbook of Behavioral Neurobiology*, Vol 14, eds E. M. Stricker and S. C. Woods (New York: Kluwer Academic), 307–345.
- Geary, N., and Lovejoy, L. (2008). "Sex differences in energy metabolism, obesity and eating behavior," in Sex on the Brain: From Genes to Behavior, ed. J. Becker (New York: Oxford Publishers), 253–274.

- Gerber, G. S., Zagaia, G. P., Ray, P. S., and Rukstalis, D. B. (2000). Transdermal estrogen in the treatment of hot flushes in men with prostate cancer. *Urology* 55, 97–101.
- Gooren, L. J. (1985). Human male sexual functions do not require aromatization of testosterone: a study using tamoxifen, testolactone, and dihydrotestosterone. *Arch. Sex. Behav.* 14, 539–548.
- Grunberg, N. E. (1986). Nicotine as a psychoactive drug: appetite regulation. *Psychopharmacol. Bull.* 22, 875–881.
- Guet, P., Royère, D., Paris, A., Lansac, J., and Driancourt, M.A. (1999). Aromatase activity of human granulosa cells in vitro: effects of gonadotrophins and follicular fluid. *Hum Reprod.* 14, 1182–1189.
- Gunn, R. N., Gunn, S. R., and Cunningham, V. J. (2001). Positron emission tomography compartmental models. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 21, 635–652.
- Hallinan, R., Byrne, A., Agho, K., McMahon, C. G., Tynan, P., and Attia, J. (2009). Hypogonadism in men receiving methadone and buprenorphine maintenance treatment. *Int. J. Androl.* 32, 131–139.
- Harrod, S. B., Mactutus, C. F., Bennett, K., Hasselrot, U., Wu, G., Welch, M., et al. (2004). Sex differences and repeated intravenous nicotine: behavioral sensitization and dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 78, 581–592.
- Harte, C. B., and Meston, C. M. (2008a). The inhibitory effects of nicotine on physiological sexual arousal in nonsmoking women: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, cross-over trial. *J. Sex. Med.* 5, 1184–1197.
- Harte, C. B., and Meston, C. M. (2008b). Acute effects of nicotine on physiological and subjective sexual arousal in nonsmoking men: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J. Sex. Med. 5(Suppl. 1), 110–121.
- Heishman, S. J., Kleykamp, B. A., and Singleton, E. G. (2010). Metaanalysis of the acute effects of nicotine and smoking on human performance. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 210, 453–469.
- Hiltunen, M., Iivonen, S., and Soininen, H. (2006). Aromatase enzyme and Alzheimer's disease. *Minerva Endocrinol.* 31, 61–73.
- Hong, Y., Yu, B., Sherman, M., Yuan, Y.
   C., Zhou, D., and Chen, S. (2007).
   Molecular basis for the aromatization reaction and exemestanemediated irreversible inhibition of

Nicotine and aromatase

human aromatase. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 21, 401–414.

- Howell, A., Cuzick, J., Baum, M., Buzdar, A., Dowsett, M., Forbes, J. F., et al. (2005). Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. *Lancet* 365, 60–62.
- Huang, R., and Poduslo, S. E. (2006). CYP19 haplotypes increase risk for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Med. Genet.* 43, e42.
- Hughes, J. R., Gust, S. W., Skoog, K., Keenan, R. M., and Fenwick, J. W. (1991). Symptoms of tobacco withdrawal. A replication and extension. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 48, 52–59.
- Iivonen, S., Corder, E., Lehtovirta, M., Helisalmi, S., Mannermaa, A., Vepsalainen, S., et al. (2004). Polymorphisms in the CYP19 gene confer increased risk for Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 62, 1170–1176.
- Ishunina, T. A., Fischer, D. F., and Swaab, D. F. (2007). Estrogen receptor alpha and its splice variants in the hippocampus in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 28, 1670–1681.
- Ishunina, T. A., Van Beurden, D., Van Der Meulen, G., Unmehopa, U. A., Hol, E. M., Huitinga, I., et al. (2005). Diminished aromatase immunoreactivity in the hypothalamus, but not in the basal forebrain nuclei in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 173–194.
- Jacobsen, L. K., Slotkin, T. A., Mencl, W. E., Frost, S. J., and Pugh, K. R. (2007). Gender-specific effects of prenatal and adolescent exposure to tobacco smoke on auditory and visual attention. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 2453–2464.
- Kadohama, N., Shintani, K., and Osawa, Y. (1993). Tobacco alkaloid derivatives as inhibitors of breast cancer aromatase. *Cancer Lett.* 75, 175–182.
- Kamat, A., Hinshelwood, M. M., Murry, B. A., and Mendelson, C. R. (2002). Mechanisms in tissue-specific regulation of estrogen biosynthesis in humans. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 13, 122–128.
- Kandel, D. B., Wu, P., and Davies, M. (1994). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and smoking by adolescent daughters. *Am. J. Public Health* 84, 1407–1413.
- Kim, S. W., Biegon, A., Katsamanis, Z. E., Ehrlich, C. W., Hooker, J. M., Shea, C., et al. (2009). Reinvestigation of the synthesis and evaluation of [N-methyl-(11)C]vorozole, a radiotracer targeting cytochrome P450 aromatase. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 36, 323–334.

Kim, T. W., Alford, D. P., Malabanan, A., Holick, M. F., and Samet, J. H. (2006). Low bone density in patients receiving methadone maintenance treatment. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 85, 258–262.

Korkor, A. B., Eastwood, D., and Bretzmann, C. (2009). Effects of gender, alcohol, smoking, and dairy consumption on bone mass in Wisconsin adolescents. WMJ 108, 181–188.

- Kubatka, P., Sadlonova, V., Kajo, K., Nosalova, G., and Fetisovova, Z. (2008a). Preventive effects of letrozole in the model of premenopausal mammary carcinogenesis. *Neoplasma* 55, 42–46.
- Kubatka, P., Sadlonová, V., Kajo, K., Nosál'ová, G., Ostatníková, D., and Adamicová, K. (2008b). Chemopreventive effects of anastrozole in a premenopausal breast cancer model. *Anticancer Res.* 28, 2819–2823.
- Lawrence, A. D., and Sahakian, B. J. (1998). The cognitive psychopharmacology of Alzheimer's disease: focus on cholinergic systems. *Neu*rochem. Res. 23, 787–794.
- Lichtensteiger, W., and Schlumpf, M. (1985). Prenatal nicotine affects fetal testosterone and sexual dimorphism of saccharin preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 23, 439–444.
- Lidstrom, P., Bonasera, T. A., Kirilovas, D., Lindblom, B., Lu, L., Bergstrom, E., et al. (1998). Synthesis, in vivo rhesus monkey biodistribution and in vitro evaluation of a 11C-labelled potent aromatase inhibitor: [N-methyl-11C]vorozole. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 25, 497–501.
- Logan, J. (2003). A review of graphical methods for tracer studies and strategies to reduce bias. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 30, 833–844.
- Logan, J., Alexoff, D., and Fowler, J. S. (2011). The use of alternative forms of graphical analysis to balance bias and precision in PET images. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 31, 535–546.
- MacMahon, B., Trichopoulos, D., Cole, P., and Brown, J. (1982). Cigarette smoking and urinary estrogens. N. Engl. J. Med. 307, 1062–1065.
- Mathers, C. D., and Loncar, D. (2006). Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med.* 3, e442. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442
- McCall, C., and Singer, T. (2012). The animal and human neuroendocrinology of social cognition, motivation and behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 681–688.
- McEwen, B. (2002). Estrogen actions throughout the brain. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 57, 357–384.

- McEwen, B. S., Akama, K. T., Spencer-Segal, J. L., Milner, T. A., and Waters, E. M. (2012). Estrogen effects on the brain: actions beyond the hypothalamus via novel mechanisms. *Behav. Neurosci.* 126, 4–16.
- McEwen, B. S., Lieberburg, I., Chaptal, C., and Krey, L. C. (1977). Aromatization: important for sexual differentiation of the neonatal rat brain. *Horm. Behav.* 9, 249–263.
- Mineur, Y. S., Abizaid, A., Rao, Y., Salas, R., DiLeone, R. J., Gündisch, D., et al. (2011). Nicotine decreases food intake through activation of POMC neurons. *Science* 332, 1330–1332.
- Mitwally, M. F., and Casper, R. F. (2003). Aromatase inhibition reduces gonadotrophin dose required for controlled ovarian stimulation in women with unexplained infertility. *Hum. Reprod.* 18, 1588–1597.
- Moffitt, T. E., Arsenault, L., Jaffee, S. R., Kim-Cohen, J., Koenen, K. C., Odgers, C. L., et al. (2008). Research Review: DSM-V conduct disorder: research needs for an evidence base. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 49, 3.
- Mudo, G., Belluardo, N., and Fuxe, K. (2007). Nicotinic receptor agonists as neuroprotective/neurotrophic drugs. Progress in molecular mechanisms. *J. Neural Transm.* 114, 135–147.
- Naftolin, F., Horvath, T. L., Jakab, R. L., Leranth, C., Harada, N., and Balthazart, J. (1996). Aromatase immunoreactivity in axon terminals of the vertebrate brain. An immunocytochemical study on quail, rat, monkey and human tissues. *Neuroendocrinology* 63, 149–155.
- Naftolin, F., and Ryan, K. J. (1975). The metabolism of androgens in central neuroendocrine tissues. J. Steroid Biochem. 6, 993–997.
- Naftolin, F., Ryan, K. J., and Petro, Z. (1971). Aromatization of androstenedione by limbic system tissue from human foetuses. J. Endocrinol. 51, 795–796.
- Nakajin, F., Shinoda, M., and Hall, P. F. (1986). Purification to homogeneity of aromatase from human placenta. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 134, 704–710.
- Niaura, R., Bock, B., Lloyd, E. E., Brown, R., Lipsitt, L. P., and Buka, S. (2001). Maternal transmission of nicotine dependence: psychiatric, neurocognitive and prenatal factors. *Am. J. Addict.* 10, 16–29.
- Nunez, A. A., Gray, J. M., and Wade, G. N. (1980). Food intake and adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase activity after hypothalamic estradiol benzoate implants in rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 25, 595–598.

- Nusbaum, M. L., Gordon, M., Nusbaum, D., Mccarthy, M. A., and Vasilakis, D. (2000). Smoke alarm: a review of the clinical impact of smoking on women. *Prim. Care Update Ob. Gyns.* 7, 207–214.
- Osawa, Y., Tochigi, B., Tochigi, M., Ohnishi, S., Watanabe, Y., Bullion, K., et al. (1990). Aromatase inhibitors in cigarette smoke, tobacco leaves, and other plants. *J. Enzym. Inhib.* 4, 187–200.
- Pant, S., and Shapiro, C. L. (2008). Aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss: clinical considerations. *Drugs* 68, 2591–2600.
- Pogun, S., and Yararbas, G. (2009). Sex differences in nicotine action. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 261–291.
- Pomerleau, C. S., and Kurth, C. L. (1996). Willingness of female smokers to tolerate postcessation weight gain. J. Subst. Abuse 8, 371–378.
- Retana-Marquez, S., Salazar, E. D., and Velazquez-Moctezuma, J. (1993). Muscarinic and nicotinic influences on masculine sexual behavior in rats: effects of oxotremorine, scopolamine, and nicotine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 44, 913–917.
- Romero, R. D., and Chen, W. J. (2004). Gender-related response in openfield activity following developmental nicotine exposure in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 78, 675–681.
- Roselli, C. E., Abdelgadir, S. E., Ronnekleiv, O. K., and Klosterman, S. A. (1998). Anatomic distribution and regulation of aromatase gene expression in the rat brain. *Biol. Reprod.* 58, 79–87.
- Roselli, C. E., Liu, M., and Hurn, P. D. (2009). Brain aromatization: classic roles and new perspectives. *Semin. Reprod. Med.* 27, 207–217.
- Roselli, C. E., and Resko, J. A. (2001). Cytochrome P450 aromatase (CYP19) in the non-human primate brain: distribution, regulation, and functional significance. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 79, 247–253.
- Rossmanith, W. G., and Ruebberdt, W. (2009). What causes hot flushes? The neuroendocrine origin of vasomotor symptoms in the menopause. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 25, 303–314.
- Sabbagh, M. N., Lukas, R. J., Sparks, D. L., and Reid, R. T. (2002). The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, smoking, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 4, 317–325.
- Sarasin, A., Schlumpf, M., Muller, M., Fleischmann, I., Lauber, M. E., and Lichtensteiger, W. (2003). Adrenalmediated rather than direct effects of nicotine as a basis of altered sex steroid synthesis in fetal and neonatal rat. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 17, 153–162.

- Sasano, H., Takashashi, K., Satoh, F., Nagura, H., and Harada, N. (1998). Aromatase in the human central nervous system. *Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.)* 48, 325–329.
- Schechter, M. D. (1974). Effect of nicotine on response to frustrative nonreward in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 29, 312–315.
- Segarra, A. C., and Strand, F. L. (1989). Perinatal administration of nicotine alters subsequent sexual behavior and testosterone levels of male rats. *Brain Res.* 480, 151–159.
- Senay, E. C. (1985). Methadone maintenance treatment. *Int. J. Addict.* 20, 803–821.
- Shah, S., Bell, R. J., Savage, G., Goldstat, R., Papalia, M. A., Kulkarni, J., et al. (2006). Testosterone aromatization and cognition in women: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Menopause* 13, 600–608.
- Sierra, A., Azcoitia, I., and Garcia-Segura, L. (2003). Endogenous estrogen formation is neuroprotective in model of cerebellar ataxia. *Endocrine* 21, 43–51.
- Slotkin, T. A., Mackillop, E. A., Rudder, C. L., Ryde, I. T., Tate, C. A., and Seidler, F. J. (2007). Permanent, sex-selective effects of prenatal or adolescent nicotine exposure, separately or sequentially, in rat brain regions: indices of cholinergic and serotonergic synaptic function, cell signaling, and neural cell number and size at 6 months of age. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 1082–1097.
- Spring, B., Pagoto, S., Mcchargue, D., Hedeker, D., and Werth, J. (2003). Altered reward value of carbohydrate snacks for female smokers withdrawn from nicotine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 76, 351–360.
- Steckelbroeck, S., Heidrich, D. D., Stoffel-Wagner, B., Hans, V. H.,

Schramm, J., Bidlingmaier, F., et al. (1999). Characterization of aromatase cytochrome P450 activity in the human temporal lobe. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 84, 2795–2801.

- Stoffel-Wagner, B., Watzka, M., Schramm, J., Bidlingmaier, F., and Klingmuller, D. (1999). Expression of CYP19 (aromatase) mRNA in different areas of the human brain. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 70, 237–241.
- Takahashi, K., Bergstrom, M., Frandberg, P., Vesstrom, E. L., Watanabe, Y., and Langstrom, B. (2006). Imaging of aromatase distribution in rat and rhesus monkey brains with [11C]vorozole. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 33, 599–605.
- Tanapat, P., Hastings, N. B., Reeves, A. J., and Gould, E. (1999). Estrogen stimulates a transient increase in the number of new neurons in the dentate gyrus of the adult female rat. J. Neurosci. 19, 5792–5801.
- Trainor, B. C., Kyomen, H. H., and Marler, C. A. (2006). Estrogenic encounters: how interactions between aromatase and the environment modulate aggression. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 27:170–179. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2005.11.001
- Vaglenova, J., Birru, S., Pandiella, N. M., and Breese, C. R. (2004). An assessment of the long-term developmental and behavioral teratogenicity of prenatal nicotine exposure. *Behav. Brain Res.* 150, 159–170.
- Vierk, R., Glassmeier, G., Zhou, L., Brandt, N., Fester, L., Dudzinski, D., et al. (2012). Aromatase inhibition abolishes LTP generation in female but not in male mice. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 8116–8126.
- von Ziegler, N. I., Schlumpf, M., and Lichtensteiger, W. (1991). Prenatal nicotine exposure selectively affects perinatal forebrain aromatase

activity and fetal adrenal function in male rats. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 62, 23–31.

- Wakschlag, L. S., Kistner, E. O., Pine, D. S., Biesecker, G., Pickett, K. E., Skol, A., et al. (2010). Interaction of prenatal exposure to cigarettes and MAOA genotype in pathways to youth antisocial behavior. *Mol. Psychiatry* 15, 928–937.
- Wang, G.-J., Biegon, A., Telang, F., Logan, J., Kim, S. W., Jayne, M., et al. (2011). Reduced brain aromatase availability in overweight humans. *J. Nucl. Med.* 52, 101P.
- Weaver, D. R., and Clemens, L. G. (1987). Nicotinic cholinergic influences on sexual receptivity in female rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 26, 393–400.
- Weisberg, E. (1985). Smoking and reproductive health. *Clin. Reprod. Fertil.* 3, 175–186.
- White, H. K., and Levin, E. D. (1999). Four-week nicotine skin patch treatment effects on cognitive performance in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 143, 158–165.
- Whiteman, M. K., Staropoli, C. A., Langenberg, P. W., Mccarter, R. J., Kjerulff, K. H., and Flaws, J. A. (2003). Smoking, body mass, and hot flashes in midlife women. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 101, 264–272.
- Wozniak, A., Hutchison, R. E., Morris, C. M., and Hutchison, J. B. (1998). Neuroblastoma and Alzheimer's disease brain cells contain aromatase activity. *Steroids* 63, 263–267.
- Yague, J. G., Azcoitia, I., Defelipe, J., Garcia-Segura, L. M., and Munoz, A. (2010). Aromatase expression in the normal and epileptic human hippocampus. *Brain Res.* 1315, 41–52.
- Yague, J. G., Munoz, A., De Monasterio-Schrader, P., Defelipe,

J., Garcia-Segura, L. M., and Azcoitia, I. (2006). Aromatase expression in the human temporal cortex. *Neuroscience* 138, 389–401.

- Zivian, M. T., and Salgado, B. (2008). Side Effects Revisited : Women Experience with Aromatase Inhibitors. A Report from Breast Cancer Action. Available at: http://archive.bcaction. org/uploads/PDF/AIReport.pdf
- Zhou, L., Fester, L., von Blittersdorff, B., Hassu, B., Nogens, H., Prange-Kiel, J., et al. (2010). Aromatase inhibitors induce spine synapse loss in the hippocampus of ovariectomized mice. *Endocrinology* 151, 1153–1160.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 June 2012; paper pending published: 16 July 2012; accepted: 05 October 2012; published online: 06 November 2012.

Citation: Biegon A, Alia-Klein N and Fowler JS (2012) Potential contribution of aromatase inhibition to the effects of nicotine and related compounds on the brain. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:185. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00185

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Biegon, Alia-Klein and Fowler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.